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NASDAQ’s Business in Brief

NASDAQ manages and provides services through two business
segments: Market Services and Issuer Services. Management
allocates resources, assesses performance and manages these
two business groups separately.

Market Services includes our interrelated, transaction-based
NASDAQ Market Center and NASDAQ Market Services
Subscriptions information businesses.

Issuer Services includes our securities-listings business, the
Corporate Client Group, and the financial products business,
NASDAQ Financial Products.

Originated in 1971, NASDAQ is the largest U.S. electronic
equity market and the fastest, most emulated market model
worldwide. Approximately 3,200 companies from 37 countries
and across all industry sectors are listed on NASDAQ.



FROM OUR CEO

There has been a worldwide convergence of interest around
the electronic model NASDAQ® pioneered 35 years ago.

The alignment of market forces around a transparent, electronic
market structure has tipped the balance decisively in our favor.
NASDAQ is the master in the electronic trading space and well
positioned for opportunity in 2006 and beyond.

In 2005, we continued to expand and enhance NASDAQ’s compelling value proposition for investors,
market participants and listed companies. We made three substantial acquisitions: INET, Carpenter-Moore
Insurance Services and Shareholder.com. We also completed our integration of the Brut ECN, and

began the integration of INET. NASDAQ welcomed high-profile companies representing over $25 billion
in market capitalization that switched their listings from the NYSE. We grew our share of trading in non-
NASDAQ stocks, and are well positioned to compete effectively when Regulation NMS is fully implemented.
In 2006, we’ll focus foremost on integrating recent acquisitions and competing nationally and globally as
one of the two major U.S. equity exchange players.

Looking at our bottom line, NASDAQ is no longer a turnaround story. We are performing and succeeding
on every measure. Our earnings have been on a strong incline, matched by a return to profitability. We
continue to reduce costs while at the same time integrating substantial new businesses.

The trademark fairness and integrity inherent in our open, transparent electronic market are more highly
valued by the marketplace than ever before. These principles guide a// our activities, from corporate
governance and listing standards, to how we operate our Market Center, and how we display information
equally to all investors.

On January 13, 2006, the SEC approved our application to become an exchange. Once we are opera-
tional as an exchange, we will be able to separate ownership from our regulator, the NASD, and set a
strong and independent regulatory standard. We believe good regulation is good business, and remain an
advocate of robust and balanced regulation.

Coinciding with our 35th anniversary in February 2006, NASDAQ announced a new premier market
segment: The NASDAQ Global Select Market®™, with the highest listings standards of any equity market in
the world. To more accurately identify our other market categories, we designated them as: The NASDAQ
Capital Market® (formerly SmallCap); and, to better reflect its international reach, The NASDAQ Global
Market®™ (formerly the National Market).

A significant development soon to impact U.S. stock trading is the SEC’s Regulation NMS. It allows
electronic markets to trade through slower non-electronic markets, which means manual markets will no
longer be an impediment to fast executions. Faster executions benefit investors by providing more
certainty of the price they want. Upon full implementation of Regulation NMS, we expect to see increased
volume in electronic trading and anticipate that a greater percentage of that volume will be pushed to
electronic venues like NASDAQ.



Underlying our progress and activities are three essential points for current and potential NASDAQ
investors to keep in mind. First, that our business is well and wisely diversified across Issuer Services and
Market Services. Second, much of our revenue is on a fee or recurring basis not on a transaction basis.
Our Issuer Services segment provides recurring revenue streams in the form of listing fees, and licensing
fees for products such as those based on the Nasdag-100 Index, including QQQ. Our Market Services
segment delivers real-time quote and trade data to investors through our extensive network of vendors,
generating recurring revenues from market data products and services.

So, while it is important, our financial fortunes and future don’t hinge on sheer volume. Third, we continue
to innovate across NASDAQ’s businesses to meet the rising marketplace demand for more high value
products, services and solutions.

NASDAQ has come a long way in a short time, particularly in the last two years, when we worked
through an intense period of consolidation and transition. The view ahead is clear, and we’re in an
exceptional position. A major competitor is grappling with the past, transforming its culture and making
the challenging transition to an electronic platform. In sharp contrast, NASDAQ is nimble, forward looking
and fast moving, with 35 years of experience and lead time running a time-tested and now widely-
emulated electronic market.

In fact, there’s no time in our history when NASDAQ’s opportunities and competitive advantages have
been as abundant as today. We intend to capitalize on this. By bringing all our proven resources to bear
— the fastest systems, best functionality and industry-standard interfaces, and all the right strategies —
we expect to succeed on every crucial level.

Our market and business is thriving because issuers, investors and market participants have confidence
in NASDAQ’s integrity, innovation, management and competitive momentum. We especially thank our
shareholders for their support, and our employees for their energy, enthusiasm and unyielding commit-
ment. As we move forward into 2006, we plan to grow NASDAQ’s business and revenues, continue to
achieve efficiencies and keep demonstrating how much more an equity market can be, do and deliver.

Robert Greifeld

President and Chief Executive Officer



Key Accomplishments

Corporate Client Group

Providing listed companies a leading market model;
lower listing fees; tighter spreads; greater trading
efficiencies and visibility; comprehensive support and
high-integrity NASD regulation.

NASDAQ won major listing switches in 2005
including Charles Schwab, Cadence, Sears Holdings,
Tasty Baking and Nashua. In 2006, United Airlines
moved to NASDAQ.

We achieved a record 99% retention rate of listed
companies.

With the addition of five new dual listings in 2005
and lvanhoe Mines in 2006, NASDAQ’s now has ten
dual listings.

NASDAQ attracted the majority of IPOs in 2005, 59%
percent of the year’s total.*

NASDAQ won major IPOs in 2005 including Under
Armour, Morningstar, iRobot and, from China, Baidu.

After taking full ownership of the NASDAQ Insurance
Agency™, we acquired Carpenter-Moore Insurance
Services, putting NASDAQ in the top ten of Directors
& Officers insurance brokers nationwide.

We also acquired Shareholder.com, to add to our
diversified revenue streams and increase our overall
value proposition to listed companies.

We launched the Independent Research Network
with Reuters, to provide research analyst coverage for
under covered companies.

*Source: Thomson Financial

NASDAQ Transaction Services Group

Providing the fastest and most competitive trading
platform; the most transparent investing environment;
the lowest-cost high quality trade execution; the ability
to connect in any way clients want and deep liquidity
for all equities — regardless of where they are listed.

In 2005, we acquired INET, a technologically advanced
trading system which in combination with the NASDAQ
Market Center creates the single largest liquidity pool
of NASDAQ-listed stock trading.

On high volume days, the NASDAQ Market Center
averages 29,000 transactions per second.**

We completely reinvented the trading day with the
NASDAQ Opening and Closing Crosses to set prices
that more accurately reflect buying and selling interest.

The new fully anonymous NASDAQ Crossing Network,
which includes Midday and Post-Close Crosses will
follow in 2006 to promote large trade execution
throughout the trading day.

On June 24, 2005 at the Russell Rebalance, 428.5
million shares representing $5.8 billion were executed
through the Closing Cross.**

The combination of NASDAQ, Brut and INET creates
one of the NYSE’s top-five liquidity providers.

**Source: NASDAQ Operations and Technology

NASDAQ Information Services Group

Providing deep and transparent data products and
services which offer traders strategic advantages,
including superior speed, depth and flexibility of data
management and delivery.

TotalView®, is fast becoming the standard for NASDAQ
order book data. In 2005, distributors increased 90%,
non-professional users increased 250% and professional
users increased 70%.***

Our TotalView subscribers doubled to a record 18,000
in 2005.***

Scottrade and Charles Schwab became the first
major retail brokers to make TotalView available to
active traders.

In 2005, we launched OpenView*", now with over

8,000 users, for market depth information on NASDAQ
trading of NYSE and Amex-listed stocks; ModelView™,
that provides historical insight into liquidity patterns;
and OrderView®™, a high-speed market data feed focused
on lowest latency delivery of data.

***Source Market Data Distribution

NASDAGQ Financial Products Group

A unigue stock market asset, offering institutional and
retail investors a rich portfolio of products, services
and programs; providing our listed companies with
direct and indirect investment and visibility; and adding
robustness to NASDAQ’s data products. The NFP
portfolio has grown from a few products and a single
index in the U.S. in 1996, to many indexes available for
licensing and over 400 products in 32 countries today.

EQQQ trading expanded in Europe with listings on the
London Stock Exchange and VIRTX. EQQQ assets grew
over 60% in the fourth quarter of 2005.

In 2005, the Chicago Mercantile Exchange launched

a single stock future on QQQ, The NASDAQ-100 Index
Tracking Stock®, and an e-Mini NASDAQ Biotechnology
Index® futures contract.

We rolled out an enhanced index engine, for unlimited
total return and price return indexes, real-time, for all
U.S. equities.

NASDAQ Index Watch®™ was launched, to allow easier
investor tracking of NASDAQ indexes.

Eight new indexes were launched in 2005, including
NASDAQ-100 Equal Weighted®, NASDAQ Biotechnology
Equal Weighted Index®, NASDAQ Health Care®™, CBOE
NASDAQ-100 BuyWrite®™, and the FTSE NASDAQ Index
Series including the FTSE NASDAQ 500", and
individual FTSE NASDAQ Large Cap®™, Mid Cap and
Small Cap indexes.



NASDAQ STOCK MARKET INC

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 3/15/2006 For Period Ending 12/31/2005

Address ONE LIBERTY PLAZA

NEW YORK, New York 10006
Telephone 212-858-4750
CIK 0001120193
Industry Investment Services
Sector Financial
Fiscal Year 12/31

powered 8y EINGA ROnline

hitpiherwew_edgar-online.com/
D Copyright 2005. All Rights Reservad
Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Onlines Terms of Use.




Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

XI ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number: 000-32651
(Exact name(c;flreglstrant as specified in its chaer)
Delaware 52-1165937
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)
One Liberty Plaza New York, New York 10006
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)
Registrant’s telephone number, including area code:
(212) 401-8700
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) afie Act:
Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered

None The Nasdaqg Stock Mark
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢ie Act:
Common Stock, $.01 par value per share

None
(Former name, former address and former fiscal yearif changed since last report)

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405ed8#dturities Act.  YedX] No
O

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act. Yes
O No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant @ filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (orsiech shorter period that the registrant was redquodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastif@s. Yes No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiélers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is oontained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgedéfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part 1l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-Kx]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer. See definition of
“accelerated filer and large accelerated filerRinle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filelx] Accelerated fileld Non-accelerated filel]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exgie Act). YesO No

As of June 30, 2005, the aggregate market valtieeofegistrant’'s common stock held by non-affikatd the registrant was
$1,005,272,589 (this amount represents 53,301 /88#s of Nasdag’'s common stock based on the lasitesl sales price of $18.86 of the
common stock on The Nasdaq Stock Market on sua).dat

Indicate the number of shares outstanding of ehtiiedssuer’s classes of common stock, as ofdtest practicable date.
Class Outstanding at March 8, 2006
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Document Parts Into Which Incorporated

Proxy Statement for the 2006 Annual Meeting of Shadders Part 11l




Table of Contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
Part I.
Item 1. Business 4
Item 1A.  Risk Factors 22
Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Commen 33
Item 2. Properties 33
Item 3. Legal Proceeding 33
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holc 34
Part Il.
Item 5. Market For Registra’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters asddsPurchases of Equity Securit 34
Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial D 35
Item 7. Managemer's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operatior 37
ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk 67
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary | 67
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants @moudting and Financial Disclosu 67
Item 9A.  Controls and Procedur 67
Item 9B.  Other Informatior 69
Part I11.
Item 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registi 69
ltem 11.  Executive Compensatic 69
Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners dehagement and Related Stockholder Mar 69
Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transact 71
Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servi 71
Part IV.
Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reportsorm K 71

About This Form 10-K

Unless otherwise noted, in this Form 10-K, the &ethasdaqg,” “we,” “us” and “our” refer to The Nagfi&tock Market, Inc. and its
wholly-owned subsidiaries.

This Form 10-K includes market share and indusaty dhat we obtained from industry publications aad/eys, reports of
governmental agencies and internal company survegastry publications and surveys generally stiaét the information they contain has
been obtained from sources believed to be relidbieye cannot assure you that this informatioacisurate or complete. We have not
independently verified any of the data from thi@Hy sources nor have we ascertained the underggogomic assumptions relied upon
therein. Statements as to our market position asedon the most currently available market datantarket comparison purposes, data in
this Form 10-K for initial public offerings or IPQGxd companies in the United States is based onptatdded by Thomson Financial, which
does not include best efforts underwritings (andharee chosen to exclude closed-end funds), therefioay not be comparable to other
publicly-available initial
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public offering data. Data in this Form 10-K foceadary offerings is also based on data provide@iiymson Financial. Data in this Form
10-K for new listings of equity securities on Thaddaq Stock Market is based on data generateddtiteby Nasdag, which includes best
efforts underwritings. Data in this Form 10-K feading activity by average daily share volume & @QQ is provided by FactSet Research
Systems, Inc. and Bloomberg L.P. While we are matra of any misstatements regarding industry datagmted herein, our estimates invi
risks and uncertainties and are subject to chaagecdion various factors, including those discusséitem 1.A Business—Risk Factors” in
this Form 10-K.

ACES®, Market Intelligence Desk, MarketSite®, Nasda® , Nasdaqg-10@, Nasdaqg-100 Inde%, Nasdag-100 Index Tracking Stock
®, Nasdag Biotechnology Indéx Nasdaq Canadd, Nasdag Composite, Nasdaq MarketSiteé, Nasdaqg National Markét, Nasdaq
Workstation 11®, QQQ®, SuperMontag€, The Nasdaq Stock Mark&and Nasdaqg Europe Plannifigre registered service/trademarks of
The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. Nasdaq Internati®aNasdaq Europ&', Nasdaqg Japai¥, Nasdaq Global™, Nasdag International Mark
InitiativessM, NIMI SM | Automated Confirmation Transaction Senfte ACT M, CAESSM, Level 1 ServicéM, Mutual Fund Quotation
ServiceSM (MFQSSM), Nasdaq Corporate Services Netwdrk Nasdaq Market Centél, Nasdaq Quotation Dissemination Servite

(NQDSSM), The Nasdaq Capital Mark&t, INET SMand the logos identifying Nasdag indexes and prizdai@ service/trademarks of The
Nasdaq Stock Market, In



Table of Contents

The SEC encourages companies to disclose forwalklrg information so that investors can better ustind a company'’s future
prospects and make informed investment decisidns.Annual Report on Form -K contains these types of statements. Words ssich a
“anticipates,” “estimates,” “expects,” “projects,”“intends,” “plans,” “believes” and words or terms of similar substance used imeation
with any discussion of future operating resultdinancial performance identify forward-looking statents.

Forward-looking statements involve risks and uraiettes. Factors that could cause actual resultsliféer materially from those
contemplated by the forward-looking statementsuithe] among others, the following:

* our operating results may be lower than expected,;

e our ability to implement our strategic initiativasd any consequences from our pursuit of our cafestrategy;
» competition, economic, political and market coratig and fluctuations, including interest rate risk;

e government and industry regulation;

» adverse changes that may occur in the securitiaket@generally.

In connection with our acquisition of Instinet Gplncorporated, owner and operator of the INET E@Nd the concurrent sale of
Instine’s institutional brokerage business to an affiliaeSilver Lake Partners, L.P., factors that maysmactual results to differ materially
from those contemplated by our forw-looking statements include, but are not limited(fg expected cost savings and other synergies fro
the acquisition cannot be fully realized or reatizgithin the expected time frame; (2) costs oidliffies related to the integration of the IN
ECN and/or the separation and sale of Insf's institutional brokerage business are greatertlepected; (3) revenues following the
acquisition are lower than expected; (4) regulatchanges occur that affect the integration; anddé&heral economic conditions are less
favorable than expecte

Most of these factors are difficult to predict acately and are generally beyond our control. Yoouwdd consider the uncertainty and
any risk related to forward-looking statements thvatmake. You are cautioned not to place unduaned on these forward-looking
statements, which speak only as of today’s date s¥ould carefully read this entire Form 10-K, imting “ltem 7. Managemerg’Discussio
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gkration,” “Item 1A. Business—Risk Factor,” andrdbonsolidated Financial
Statements and the related notes. Except as retjbiréhe federal securities laws, we undertakelsiation to release publicly any
revisions to any forward-looking statements, toort@vents or to report the occurrence of unanttgul events. For any forward-looking
statements contained in any document, we claimibection of the safe harbor for forward-looking®ments contained in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Part |

Item 1. Business.
Nasdaq Overview

We are a leading provider of securities listingding, and information products and services. @uenue sources are diverse and
include revenues from transaction services, matatt products and services, listing fees, and €ishproducts. We operate The Nasdaq
Stock Market, the largest electronic equity se@sitarket in the United States, both in termsushber of listed companies and traded share
volume. As of December 31, 2005, we were home poagimately 3,200 listed companies with a combinettket capitalization of over $3.8
trillion. We also operate The Nasdaq Market Centdich provides our market participants with thdighbto access, process, display and
integrate orders and quotes in The Nasdaq Stockéfland other national stock exchanges. Transactiwolving 363.3 billion equity
securities were executed on or reported to ouesysin 2005, 13.9% higher than the 319.1 billio2004. We manage, operate and provide
our products and services in two business segmaumtdssuer Services segment and our Market Sexrgegment.

4
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Issuer Services Our Issuer Services segment includes our seesitiitings business and our financial productsnass. The compani
listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market represent a slivarray of industries including information teclogy, financial services, healthcare,
consumer products and industrials. We also devahaplicense financial products and associated alivas based on Nasdaq indexes. These
include the QQQ, which is an exchange traded fan&TF, based on the Nasdaqg-100 Index. The QQ@ebthe most actively traded
ETFs in the world and the most actively tradecdbtistecurity in the United States. We have alsodhiced financial products based on other
Nasdag indexes, including the Nasdaq Compositexiadd the Nasdaq Biotechnology Index. In additiwe,generate revenues by licens
and listing third-party structured products anddparty sponsored ETFs.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, Issuer ®sraiccounted for revenues of $226.1 million, whegtresented 25.7% of our total
revenues and 43.0% of our gross margin (total neeetess cost of revenues). See “ltem 7. ManagésrRisicussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” andconsolidated financial statements.

Market Services Our Market Services segment includes our traimatiased business and our market information sesvbusiness.
The Nasdaqg Market Center is our transaction-bakdfbpm that provides our market participants vifib ability to access, process, display
and integrate orders and quotes, which enabledumiomers to execute trades in over 7,700 equityrés during 2005. The Nasdaq Mai
Center allows us to route and execute buy andsadirs as well as report transactions for Nasdagelisecurities and those listed on national
stock exchanges, including the New York Stock Exgea or the NYSE, and the American Stock Exchaogthe Amex, providing feéasec
revenues. We also generate revenues by providiryingalevels of quote and trade information to nenarticipants and to data vendors,
who in turn sell subscriptions for this informatitmthe public. Our systems enable vendors to diaétt access to our detailed order data,
index information, mutual fund pricing informaticsnd corporate action information on Nasdagq-liseclrities.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, Market SErvievenues were $653.6 million, which represee8% of Nasdaq's total
revenues. Market Services gross margin was $298liarmwhich represented 57.0% of total gross nrar§ee “ltem 7. Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations” and our consolidated finalnsiatements.

INET Acquisition. On December 8, 2005, we completed our acquisitfdnatinet Group Incorporated and the immediate sdl
Instinet’s Institutional Brokerage division to affilaate of Silver Lake Partners, I, L.P, or SL® private equity firm. As a result of these
transactions, Nasdaq owns INET ECN. We acquiredllii&cause we believe it enables us to enhanceremnigr electronic equities market
and provides superior execution opportunities foraistomers.

Our integration of INET is well underway. We expérbegin migrating trading activity to the INETapflorm early in the third quarter
of 2006. The migration of the customer communicatietworks resulting from the migration of tradentfivity to the INET platform is
expected to continue into the fourth quarter, tasylin a full integration of INET in the fourth quter of 2006. These time frames assume
Nasdaq will receive prompt SEC approval of‘single book” and other integratia®lated rule proposals. We believe that the mignatid the
INET platform will enable us to compete more effeelly for trade executions in NYSE- and Amex-listturities and to deliver increased
capabilities demanded by our customers. As pati@fntegration, on February 1, 2006, we mergedTlIMES, Inc., the entity operating the
INET ECN, into our broker-dealer subsidiary, BiuitC.

Nasdaq History and Structure

We were founded in 1971 as a wholly-owned subsidifiNational Association of Securities Dealers;.Jror NASD, which operates
subject to the oversight of the U.S. Securities Brehange Commission. NASD is the largest selfdaguy organization, or SRO, in the
United States with a membership that includes &llyutevery
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broker-dealer that engages in the securities bssiwéhin the United States. Beginning in 2000, NDA@®structured and broadened our
ownership through a two-phase private placementiokecurities. Securities in the private placemardre offered to all NASD members, as
well as some issuers listed on The Nasdag Stockéfland investment companies.

In connection with the restructuring, on Novembg2®00, we applied with the SEC for registratioraastional securities exchange.
January 13, 2006, the SEC approved our exchandeapm. We will begin operating as an exchangeeowe satisfy conditions specified
the SEC. We expect to satisfy these conditionsbysecond quarter of 2006. However, since somieesktconditions require action by third
parties or approval by the SEC, we can give norasses that we will begin operating as an exchéyghat time.

Until we satisfy the conditions specified by theCSte operate as an exchange, NASD has delegatexiiégal authority to operate as a
stock market under a Delegation Plan approved &6HC. The SEC also requires that NASD retain gréhan 50.0% of the voting control
over us while the Delegation Plan is in place. aithh we exercise primary responsibility for markedtted functions, including market-
related rulemaking and interpretations, all actitak®en pursuant to authority delegated by NASDsatgect to review, ratification, or
rejection by the NASD board. As long as the DelegaPlan remains in effect, the NASD board will tone to have control of and broad
authority over us.

Once we are operative as an exchange, we willvrearir own status as a self-regulatory organizatoisRO, separate from that of
NASD. Pursuant to securities laws, an SRO is resiptsfor regulating its members through the adwptind enforcement of rules a
regulations governing the business conduct of émivers. As an SRO, Nasdaq will have its own ruégtaming to its members and listed
companies regarding listing, membership and trathagare distinct and separate from those rulpicafle to broker-dealers that are
administered by NASD. Broker-dealers will be alnehoose to become members of Nasdag, in addditretr memberships with other
SROs, including NASD. NASD will provide regulatosgrvices to us once we begin to operate as an egeh&ee “—Regulatory Contractu
Relationships with NASD and NASDR.”

Industry

Listing Function. Nasdaq and the NYSE are the two primary listinguesnfor equity securities in the United States. ragjmately
3,200 companies were listed on The Nasdaq Stockéflas of December 31, 2005, compared to approgignat760 listed on NYSE and
750 companies listed on Amex. As of December 305268rcaEx was the sole listing venue for only déhpanies. While the status of
ArcaEx as a listing venue following its merger WilYSE is not entirely clear, published statementsdate that the combined entity may use
the ArcaEx as a junior listing venue to competecfampanies that have not historically qualifiedlfsting on the NYSE.

There is substantial competition for listings fraompanies that are selling shares for the firse tinmough an IPO. Of the 213 IPOs on
U.S. equity markets during 2005, 126, or approxalyab9%, chose to list on The Nasdaq Stock Markdtthey raised approximately $12.3
billion in equity capital. The remainder listed thre NYSE or other markets.

There is also substantial competition among theketarto encourage companies to switch listing vermueo list on more than one
venue. In 2004, Nasdaq implemented an initiativalltmwv NYSEdisted companies to list their stock both on Thesdhay Stock Market and t
NYSE. Since announcing th“dual-listing” service,
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several high profile companies have dual-listed’ba Nasdaq Stock Market, including American FinahGroup, Chicago Mercantile
Exchange, Harmony Gold, Hewlett-Packard and Waflggeadditionally, during 2005, Cadence Design Systand Charles Schwab
switched their listings to Nasdaq exclusively, afieeviously maintaining a dual-listing on Nasdagl ¢he NYSE. In 2005, Sears switched its
listing to Nasdaq from the NYSE as a result ofrisrger with Kmart. International exchanges, sucthad.ondon Stock Exchange plc, or
LSE, are becoming more significant competitorsifieernational listings.

Trading Execution Function.The principal market centers for buying and sell#ogity securities in the United States are Theddas
Stock Market, other national securities exchangediding the NYSE and Amex and, to a lesser exthmetregional stock exchanges, and
ECNs (sometimes referred to as alternative tragyistiems). These market centers employ differerinbss models for displaying current
bids, offers and orders for the purchase and daleaurities and for executing those bids, offers arders against each other.

Nasdaq competes vigorously for executions in alitgcsecurities traded in the United States. Wedlatrades in a significant majority
of shares executed in Nasdag-listed securitieaddfition, we are the largest single market for Adigbed securities and represent the largest
alternative in NYSE-listed securities. We compéteugh offering efficient, fair, highly reliable driransparent executions as well as
innovative and flexible order types. As industrmdtions such as smart order routing and order pgggi other new functions become
commonplace, we compete by providing those funstatriow cost due to our efficiencies in scale sxape as well as the reliability of our
systems. Although we do not charge additional feethese value-added services, we benefit by bringdditional orders into our systems
for matching.

Unlike specialist-based auction markets, such@adNWSE and Amex, The Nasdaq Market Center, ous#aetion-based electronic
platform, is a fully computerized, screen-basedesyghat links over 233 competing market makers wdramit capital and buy inventory to
sell to market participants from their own accodifite average Nasddigted stock has over 25 market makers, who arneired) at all times t
post their bid and offer prices into The NasdaqgRkdaCenter, where the bids and offers can be readeand accessed for automatic execution
by all market participants. In addition, our systeravides a mechanism for broker-dealers (i.e eoettry firms) to post nomarketable limi
orders for their own account and from their custenua an agency basis, further enhancing liquiditfhe Nasdaq Market Center.

Nasdag-listed securities trade not just through Nasdaq Market Center, but also through other ntadeaters such as NYSE, Amex,
ECNSs and regional exchanges. Currently, Nadidéed securities trade on several ECNs and regexehanges and are reported to Amex,
Chicago Stock Exchange, the Boston Stock Exchahgd\ational Exchange, NASBAlternative Display Facility, and the Pacific Beange
Competition among market centers for trading volusnatense because trading volume has becomeaisiagdy portable, with broketealer:
developing systems that quickly enable them to kaneously view liquidity across all venues anddote orders to the destination offering
the best price or execution service. Nasdaq gdpeyaherates fees for transaction execution sessim@ugh a transaction execution charge,
assessed on a per share basis to the party thessascthe liquidity by another market participant.

Nasdaq earns revenues based on its share of treglingities listed on the NYSE and Amex via TheddasMarket Center, although t
majority of trading at least with respect to NYS&#dd securities continues to occur on the printiating market. For example, 76.8% of the
trading volume in NYSE securities occurred on théSE and 16.9% was executed on The Nasdag MarkeeCi@an2005. With the
acquisition of INET, we are now one of the largaster flow providers to the floor of the NYSE. Wien efficiencies in our business model
that have enabled us recently to increase oumgaghlume in NY SE-listed securities.

The Market Data Function.Nasdag provides proprietary data to the investuigip. Because our systems are electronic and $haun
nature, we are able to provide a level of marlaidparency to all investors that is only availdble small segment of the investing
population in a floobased model. We use our broad distribution netwbdpproximately 100 market data vendors and mar&icipants tc
deliver data regarding
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our market depth, index values, mutual fund vatugtorder imbalances, market sentiment and otheytical data. We expect our data
opportunities to continue to expand as we work withindustry and with investors to meet their detads as they become more complex.

Nasdagq also serves as a central consolidator af iesed-time quote and trade data for Nasdaq seesirMWe act jointly with other
exchanges to collect and disseminate a consoliditedm of quotation and transaction informatiodarmational market system plans
approved by the SEC, the Consolidated Tape Plaheo€TA Plan, and the Consolidated Quotation Rlathe CQ Plan, in the case of
exchange-listed securities, and the Nasdaq Unlistading Privileges Plan, or the UTP Plan, in tasecof Nasdaqg-listed stocks. The
information collected under these national marlstesm plans is sold for a fee to data vendors, whorn sell the information to the public.
These fees are referred to as “tape fees.” Aftetscare deducted, the tape fees are distributed@the participants in each of the national
market system plans based on their transactiorm@l$ome regional exchanges, such as the Natiomet Exchange, have established
programs to share the tape fee revenue they retaivder the UTP Plan with market participants exacute and/or report trades in securi
through their facilities, in order to increase ttahare of tape fee revenue. Nasdaq also impleh@npeogram to share the tape fee revenue it
earned from the UTP Plan.

Regulation NMS will change the method for sharirgrket data revenues under the plans. The changdiéstvaduce a quote
component to the sharing methodology. Until the heécomes effective, expected in September 2086¢etrenue impact of the change is not
completely predictable. Because Nasdagq is an agtieéing exchange participant the impact on ourdsdgdisted revenue should be
negligible. Nasdaq also receives a share of theer@aenue that is generated in non-Nadddee securities because of our quoting and tg
success in those securities. Additionally, dueuoeadectronic nature, and thus our active quotiaelgavior in non-Nasdaq securities, the
Regulation NMS-generated change in the sharing adelbgy may have a positive impact on Nasdaq'sesbathe non-Nasdaq market data
revenue. To the extent that our trading in NYSHIg&es increases, our share of the data reveno@alalso increase. Finally, to the extent
we continue to increase our trading volume in NYs&&€ks, our opportunity to provide enhanced depthanalytical data to investors on
NY SE stocks will also increas

Nasdags share of UTP and CTA/CQ Plan market data feedapalfee revenue is directly tied to our shareaafe executions, execut
dollar volume and quote activity in Nasdaq and Nasdaqg-listed securities. Any increase in our ntaskare will have a positive impact on
our market data fees and tape fee revenue.

Products and Services

Nasdaq operates in two segments: Issuer ServickBlarket Services. Financial information about segte and geographic areas may
be found in Note 18, “Segments,” to our consoliddteancial statements.

Issuer ServicesOur Issuer Services segment includes our seculigt@sgs business and our financial products bessn

Securities Listings Busines$Ve operate our securities listings businessa€trporate Client Group, which provides custonu@psrt
services and products to Nasdag-listed companissaresponsible for obtaining new listings on Nesdaq Stock Market. More companies
list on The Nasdaq Stock Market than any other bh&ket. The Nasdaq Stock Market currently hastiers of listed companies: The
Nasdaq National Market, which included 2645 comesuiais of December 31, 2005, and The Nasdaq Chfatikt, which included 56
companies as of December 31, 2005. During 2004 n280companies listed on The Nasdag Stock Markiét, 225 listings on The Nasdaq
National Market. During 2005, 269 new companieetison The Nasdag Stock Market, with 227 listingsTbe Nasdaqg National Market.
addition, we had 335 foreign companies listed onnoarkets in 2004, and 343 in 2005.

In February 2006, we announced plans to createvenragket tier for public companies. The standaadshe new “NASDAQ Global
Select Market” will have financial and liquiditygeirements that are higher than those of any atiaket. Subject to regulatory approvals,
we expect to implement the new market tier on dylg006.
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The companies that list on The Nasdaq Stock Marketate in diverse industries. The following clsfidws the percentage of Nasdag-
listed U.S. companies by industry as of DecembefB05.

Percentage of Nasdaq-listed Companies by Industry

Telecommunication
Services
2%
| Litiliteas
Matasals |
Energy
2%
Consumer Slaples

Infarmation Technology

% 2855
Industrials
10%
Consumar Descretionany —
13%
Finamncials
4%,
Hoafth Care |
18%
We aggressively pursue new listings from companietergoing IPOs.
Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003
Initial public offerings listed on The Nasdaq Stddkrket 12€ 14¢€ 54
Percentage of initial public offerings on primarySUmarket: 59% 61% 64%
Capital raised by initial public offerings listed @he Nasdaq Stock Market (in
billions) $ 12.: $ 15.C $ 6.2

The fluctuation in the number of U.S. IPOs on Trastlag Stock Market from 2003-2005 was primarily ttuearket conditions. Over
the past few years, competition for new listings bame primarily from the NYSE, although therelg&astrong international competition.

After the initial listing, our Corporate Client Grp provides customer support services, productgpergrams to Nasdag-listed
companies. To offer additional services to ouetistompanies, we acquired Carpenter Moore and dised Insurance Agency, LLC,
independent insurance brokerage firms, in 2005Sirateholder.com, a firm specializing in sharehott@nmunications and investor relatic
intelligence services in February 2006. Additiopailh 2005, we entered into a joint venture wittuRes to form the Independent Research
Network, which will aggregate multiple, independesgearch providers to distribute equity researchehalf of unde-covered companies.
See Footnote 3, “Business Combinations.”

Since we announced an initiative to allow NY SEelistssuers to dually list their stock on The Nas8turk Market and the NYSE in
January 2004, several high profile NYSE-listed canips have dual-listed with Nasdag. The dual-iistintiative did not have a material
effect on listing revenues during 2004 and 2005bse we agreed to waive fees for dually listed N¥8Epanies for the first year of listing.
Companies that
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continue to dual list after the initial year payeduced annual fee of $15,000. We continue to tadéitional companies about joining the
dual-listing program. The dual-listing program isimportant part of our strategy to convince NY $&ffeld companies to switch and list
exclusively on The Nasdaqg Stock Market. In 2005)é2&e Design Systems and Charles Schwab switcteddeing dual-listed to listing
solely on The Nasdaqg Stock Market. In 2006, UAL i@wation, the parent company of United Airlinestdd with Nasdag. We have also
attracted listings from foreign companies seekgdcess U.S. capital markets, and we believesthaificant opportunities exist to gain new
listings from foreign companies.

Each year some companies cease listing with usefegral reasons. In 2005, 332 companies ceased @t The Nasdaq Stock Market
compared with 322 in 2004. Companies cease listinthree primary reasons: failing to meet ouiitigtstandards, merger and acquisition
activity and, to a lesser extent, switching to &eolisting venue. Delistings of issuers listedTdre Nasdaq Stock Market during 2005
increased by only 3% compared with 2004.

Nasdaqg charges issuers an initial listing feestinlj of additional shares fee and an annual fee.iifitial listing fee for securities listed
on The Nasdaq Stock Market includes a listing apilbn fee and a total shares outstanding fee f@ééor listing of additional shares is
based on the total shares outstanding, which Nasdaégws quarterly. Annual fees for securitieselisbn The Nasdaq Stock Market are based
on total shares outstanding. Initial listing argitig of additional shares fees are recognized straight-line basis over estimated service
periods, which are six and four years, respectjvaged on our historical listing experience, pansto the requirements of SEC Staff
Accounting Bulletin Topic 13: Revenue Recognition.

Financial Products BusinesdNasdaq develops and licenses Nasdaq-brandedeisdessociated derivatives and financial prodwgts a
part of Nasdag Financial Products. We believetthede indexes and products leverage, extend armhealthe Nasdaq brand. Nasdaq'’s
license fees for its trademark licenses vary bylpob based on assets or number or underlying dedlaie of contracts issued. In addition to
generating licensing revenues for Nasdagq, thesdupts, particularly mutual funds and ETFs, leathtmeased investments in companies
listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market, which enhancesbility to attract new listings. In 2005, we tioned to provide growth by launching
Nasdaq Index Watch, a subscription based indexnmdtion service, and launching eight new inde

Our flagship index, the Nasdag-100 Index, incluthestop 100 non-financial companies listed on Thsdhq Stock Market. As of
December 31, 2005, it was the benchmark for apprately 33 domestic and international mutual fuitdssdaq licenses cash-settled options,
futures and options on futures on its indexes dkageoptions and single stock futures on QQQ.dditeon to license fees, Nasdaq is
reimbursed by the QQQ trust for marketing actigitikesigned to promote the trust.

During 2004, QQQ's average daily trading volume ®8<$ million shares and its average daily dolialume was approximately $3.6
billion. During 2005, QQ average daily trading volume was 90.4 millionreband its average daily dollar volume was appnaseély $3.5
billion. QQQ is one of the most actively traded ETik the world and the most actively traded listgdity security in the United States. As of
December 31, 2005, the QQQ trust had issued appatzly 502 million shares and assets under managedrad reached $20.3 billion.

Market ServicesOur Market Services segment includes our transadtased business and our market information ses\dasiness.

The Nasdaqg Market Centérhe Nasdaq Market Center is our transaction-baketbpm that provides market participants with the
ability to access, process, display and integreders and quotes in The Nasdaq Stock Market. Di&0@pH, The Nasdaq Market Center also
allowed us to route and execute buy and sell oraledsreport transactions for over 7,700 equity sges (including ETFs) consisting of
Nasdarlisted securities and securities listed on otheclsexchanges, such as the NYSE and Amex. Madeicjpants include market
makers, broker-dealers operating as ECNSs, regisstoek exchanges and other broker-dealers. Wada dlvese services for Nasdag-listed
and exchange-listed securities.
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Trade Execution Service$Ve provide market participants with the abilibyaiccess, process, display and integrate orderguaotds in
The Nasdaq Stock Market. Specifically, The NasdagKet Center:

Provides a comprehensive display of the interesturymarket participants at the highest price éi@pant is willing to buy a
security (best bid) and also the lowest price dgpant is willing to sell that security (best efj.

Provides subscribers quotes, orders and total anony interest at every price level in The NasdagkstaCenter for Nasdag-listed
securities and critical data for the Opening Ciarss Closing Cros:

Provides anonymity to market participants, i.erfipgpants do not know the identity of the firm pliaying the order unless that firm
chooses to reveal its identity, which can contedtatimproved pricing for securities by reducing potential market impact that
transactions by investors whose trading activitinown, may influence other

Our execution services generate revenues from:

Transaction execution charges, which are chargesasd on a per share basis to the party thatsasci liquidity provided by
another market participant. In most circumstanegscredit a portion of the per share executionghas a rebate (presented as

of revenues) to the market participant that prowithe liquidity (liquidity is the number and rangfebuy and sell orders available to
our market participants). These charges represariramary fee for execution servict

Our share of tape fees for the trading of securlitsted on the NYSE and Amex.

On December 8, 2005, we completed the acquisiidNBT ECN. The migration of our current tradingstgms to INET’s
technologically advanced trading system will acke our transition to a lower cost system.

We have announced plans to introduce the fully gsmaus Nasdaq Crossing Network, which includes midated post-close crosses, in
2006 subject to regulatory approvals, which withyide investors with an efficient and accurate k&rgice at specific times during the
trading day. To enhance market transparency, wedunted the Opening Cross and Closing Cross in.ZD%& Opening Cross is a process for
pre-market open trading and price discovery coingisif a centralized order facility that provideanket participants and investors with a
highly transparent and accurate opening price isdidg-listed securities. Similarly, the Closing Grissa centralized order facility that
provides an orderly market close for Nasdag-listeclrities.

Trade Reporting ServicedAll registered stock exchanges and securitiescasons are required to establish a transactponting plar
for the central collection of price and volume imf@tion concerning trades executed in those marlétsprovide three primary revenue-
generating reporting services:

Trade reporting—Currently, we do not charge mapeaticipants for most of the trades they reporidoWe do, however, earn
revenues for all trades reported to us in the fofishared market information revenues under the BIBR. A large percentage of
trades reported to us are orders that broker-dehbare matched internally, or internalized, andsatamitted to us for reporting
purposes only. These trades are reported to theifes Information Processor as part of the UT&hF

Trade comparison—We also generate revenues bydingvirade comparison to our market participantsiayching and locking-in
the two market participants to a trade that thexelsubmitted to us for reporting and cleari

Risk management—We provide clearing firms with nisknagement services to assist them in monitohieiy &éxposure to their
correspondent broker

Access Services to Our Trading PlatforiVe provide our market participants with seveteraatives for accessing The Nasdag Ma
Center for a fee. Some of the access service attees that we have historically provided are loargin businesses, and we have taken steps
to retire them. By shifting connectivity to The Mas| Market Center from proprietary networks todkparty networks, we have significantly
reduced our technology and network costs and iseckaur systems’ scalability without affecting penfiance or reliability.

11



Table of Contents

The Nasdag Market Center may be accessed usirfgimamcial Information Exchange, or FIX, producttthaes the FIX protocol, a
standard method of financial communication betwieading firms and vendors, which enables firmssteerage their existing FIX technology
with cost-effective connections to us. We have diseeloped QIX, a new proprietary programming iiaeg that will provide a more
streamlined and efficient protocol for our userthveixpanded functionality, including quotation ufasathat is also more cost effective than
previous Nasdaq proprietary interfaces. With theement of the proprietary MCI network in 2005dividual market participants are now
responsible for directly maintaining connectivityThe Nasdaq Market Center, in most cases by ctinggbrough a third party financial
extranet provider. Market participants may alsceascThe Nasdaqg Market Center using Computer-to-Qtenmterface, another protocol,
which allows market participants to enter transadidirectly from their computer systems to our patar systems. Both Nasdag Worksta
Il and our application program interface were estiat the end of 2005 and all current market gp#its using these access methods were
migrated to FIX and/or QIX, and to the New Nasdagrkgtation, an internet browser based front entahews firms to view market data
and enter orders, quotes and trade reports. Weaatadjusers away from Nasdaq Workstation Il in padause we are exiting the low-margin
business of providing proprietary network conndttito The Nasdaq Market Center.

Market InformationWe provide varying levels of quote and trade infation to market participants and to data vendohg im turn sel
subscriptions for this information to the publicgEst of our Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptiarsrzss. We collect information, distrib
it and earn revenues in different roles.

We operate as the exclusive Securities Informaimtessor as part of the UTP Plan for the collactiod dissemination of the best bid
and offer information and last transaction inforimatfrom the exchanges and markets that quoterade in Nasdag-listed securities. We do
not generate any profits from our role as the Sgesrinformation Processor. In our role as theusigies Information Processor, we collect
and disseminate quotation and last sale informdtipall transactions in Nasdaqg-listed securitié®ther on The Nasdaq Stock Market or
other exchanges. We sell this information to da&taders, which the data vendors then sell to théigpukfter deducting costs associated with
acting as an exclusive Securities Information Pseog we distribute the tape fees to the respettiM@ Plan participants, including us, based
on a combination of the participants’ respectiagl& volume and share volume. In addition, all Theddqg Market Center trades in exchange-
listed securities are reported and disseminateeahtime, and as such, we share in the tape éeésformation on NYSE- and Amex-listed
securities.

As an exchange, we will no longer have to sharaewenues under the UTP Plan related to informattwout our individual market
participants’ quotations. We will still be requiremlshare UTP Plan revenue related to trade repadghe best priced quotations in our
market. We hope to become operational as an exetduming the second quarter of 2006. See “—RegulatSEC and Self-Regulatory
Organization Regulation.”

Our market participants have real-time access tbdeqand trade data. Interested parties that ardirestt market participants in The
Nasdaq Stock Market also can receive-time quote and trade information beyond the bekthd offer quotes through a number of
proprietary products that we offer. We offer a g proprietary data products, including TotalVjewr flagship market depth quote
product. TotalView shows subscribers quotes, ordedstotal anonymous interest at every price lev&he Nasdaq Market Center for
Nasdarlisted securities and critical data for the Opgnross and Closing Cross. TotalView is offereatigh distributors to professional
subscribers for a monthly fee per terminal anddo-professional subscribers for a lower monthlygeeterminal. In 2005, our TotalView
subscribers doubled in number. In addition, we ghdhne distributor a monthly distributor fee.

We operate several other proprietary services atal products to provide market information, whicblude:

e OpenView, launched in 2005, a product providing ptate depth-of-book liquidity for The Nasdaq Marknter in NYSE- and
Amex-listed securities
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» ModelView, launched in 2005, a product designegrtivide greater insight into the patterns of lidyidh The Nasdaq Market
Center;

e OrderView, launched in 2005, a market data feetlftt@litates program and algorithmic trading;

» the Mutual Fund Quotation Service, a listing ses\fimr over 20,000 mutual funds, money market fuamts$ unit investment trusts
that supports fund data, including net asset valued capital gains and dividend income distribuaod provides print and
electronic media exposure for the fun

« the Mutual Fund Dissemination Service, a servieg flficilitates the real-time and end-of-day reciagamination of all mutual fund
pricing information and is used by data vendors media to receive complete net asset value dafarmts listed with us

» Nasdag.com, a leading financial website for thegter community that generates revenues from adirgrtand product sale

» NasdagTrader.com, a financial website that proviteke -dealers and market data venders with informatiahdata regarding ol
corporate initiatives (such as Open and Closing§€¥s) and other products and services for a mositigcription fee; an

* Nasdaqg Index Dissemination service, a-time data feed that carries the values for a nurabbroad-based and sector indexes and
ETFs.

Other Products and Markets

On September 2, 2005, Nasdag executed the OTCtiaulleard Agreement with NASD related to the OTCRIB,electronic screen-
based quotation service for securities that, anuthgr things, are not listed on The Nasdag Stocik®taor any U.S. national securities
exchange. Under the OTCBB Agreement, effective Bmtd, 2005, Nasdaq transferred responsibilititferOTCBB back to NASD. This
transfer is designed to address concerns expréysthé SEC regarding our continuing to operateQR€BB after our registration as a
national securities exchange. Consideration foQf€BB Agreement is NASD’s agreement to outsouneedperation of the OTCBB to
Nasdagq for an initial two year period, subject e gear renewals upon mutual consent. NASD will Jagdaqg $14.2 million in the first ye
and $14.7 million in the second year for Nasdagiwises under the OTCBB Agreement.

Fee Changes

We may change the pricing of our products and sesvin response to competitive pressures or changearket or general economic
conditions. Pursuant to the requirements of thenBrge Act, Nasdaq must file all proposals for angean its pricing structure with the SEC.
Nasdaq provides updated information on the pricihigs products and services on its websitwww.nasdaqtrader.comSee also “—
Competition” and “—Risk Factors—We face significanmpetition in our securities trading businessictvltould reduce our transactions,
trade reporting and market information revenuesraghtively impact our financial results.”

Technology

Over the past three years, we have reduced oundaryy costs, consistent with our regulatory oliligas, by migrating to fewer, less
expensive technology platforms, introducing legsessive network solutions, and by reducing our fiayde. We believe that our transaction
speed throughput and system reliability will be amted as we migrate to the INET platform.

The Nasdag Market Center systems are located in@gsing complex in Trumbull, Connecticut. Thetsys have handled trade
volume of over three billion shares daily and o2@000 transactions per second and are desigmadxinize transaction reliability and
network security across each of the most critigatesn services that comprise The Nasdaq Stock Mdrkaddition, our systems have the
ability to handle increased capacity. To maximigébility, we have developed a backup system énebent the primary systems are unable
to perform.
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Market data from our quote and trade executioresystare transferred via high-speed communicatioks to a market data repository
and are available for real-time analysis, histdracealysis, market surveillance and regulation, daih mining. The information is provided to
applications and users through relational databbagber-level access facilities and Internet agians.

Competition

The equity securities markets are intensely cornipetie compete based on a number of factors,dtieg the quality of our
technological and regulatory infrastructure, tétahsaction costs, the depth and breadth of ouketarthe quality of our value-added
customer services, reputation and price.

We operate our business to emphasize efficieneyildility and service to our customers and the stiveg public. We became fully
demutualized in 2000-2001 to reduce conflicts betwie interest of our trading participants anddibeisions affecting our businesses. As
part of the demutualization, NASD remained our tetps. We believe that having an established, fintjependent and non-profit regulator
enhances the transparency of our markets andampaetitive advantage. NASD will continue as ourulagpr on a contract basis once we
meet SEC conditions to operate as an exchange.

Our acquisition of INET and the merger between NY&8HE Archipelago are causing significant changebdaompetitive landscape.
contrast to Nasdagq, the NYSE was structured hestllyi as a mutual non-profit organization relyinga predominantly manual market
structure. The NYSE now has converted from mutuwadarship to stockholder ownership in connectiorhwiti acquisition of Archipelago’s
ECN. The combined NYSE-Arca has announced platsutsition to a “hybrid” system, which is expectedncorporate certain elements of
an electronic system while retaining many elemehtstraditional trading floor and continuing toespte Archipelago as a third trading
system.

With the Nasdag-Instinet and NYSE-Arca transacticorapleted, the original wave of ECNs have beewiaed. The marketplace is
now being altered by the entry of new ECNs thau$ogrimarily on the trade execution business andketgarticipants’ acquisition and
investment in existing ECNSs or regional exchan§es.example, TradeBot is developing the Better idliéive Trading System, or BATS
ECN. Citigroup recently announced its acquisitib®aTrade, Inc. from NexTrade, and Knight Capitab®, Inc. acquired Attain (Direct
Edge). Citadel Derivatives Group, Citigroup, Cresliisse, Merrill Lynch, Morgan Stanley and UBS pased stakes in the Philadelphia
Stock Exchange. Citigroup, Credit Suisse, Fideitg Lehman Brothers invested in the Boston Stoah&mge to create a new electronic
stock exchange, the Boston Equities Exchange. fadit new entrants may emerge, potentially posiograpetitive threat to more
established industry participants. Although moghefnew entrants have limited liquidity, some jgasssufficient levels of equity order
volume from their other business lines, particyléinose that have broker-dealer investors. In &ddithere has been increased use of
electronic trading systems specializing primaniyarge block trades, such as LiquidNet, Pipelineding and Investment Technology
Group’s POSIT platform.

Acquisition StrategywWe have grown our business through acquisitior00¥ and 2005. Our strategy for acquisitions islémtify and
acquire only those elements that are most impottaotir success. We integrated the key componénite Brut technology and the Brut te
into Nasdaq in 2005. Our integration of INET is liweiderway, and we expect to begin migrating owta@mers to the INET platform in the
third quarter of 2006, with a full integration te bompleted in the fourth quarter of 2006. Alsosistent with this focused approach, we
acquired Carpenter Moore and Shareholder.com td speeific needs of our listed companies and athetomers. Additionally, we entered
into a joint venture with Reuters to form Indepemtdesearch Network, which will aggregate multipelependent research providers to
distribute equity research on behalf of under-cesterompanies. Finally, we are currently expandiegpid equity securities and will offer
options routing services to customers seekingttonalize their connections to the markets.

We regularly explore and evaluate strategic actioins and alliances, including assessing ratinghegeand regulatory implications,
among other things, both in the United States dmdaal, some of which could be
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material. We intend to pursue acquisitions anéuadles with the objective of strengthening our eurbeisiness and advancing our technolt
In addition, we continue to evaluate implicatiofisiategic transactions involving other industaytitipants both in the United States and
abroad.

As contemplated by our acquisition strategy, ondfi&@, 2006, we submitted a non-binding indicatibmterest to acquire the London
Stock Exchange. On March 10, 2006, LSE announcadttitended to continue with its previously annoed share capital return plan and
did not intend to pursue Nasdaq’'s proposal. Inaesp, we announced our belief that the proposedardion would represent an attractive
offer for shareholders, listed companies and théirig community and would reflect unique benefitslfSE which have not to date been
proffered by other parties. While we will continteeexplore and evaluate strategic opportunitiedutiing acquisition of the LSE, there car
no assurance whether we will enter into any sumfstictions and, if so, on what terms. See “Riskdfsie-Future acquisitions, partnerships
and joint ventures may require significant resosiraed/or result in significant unanticipated lossests, or liabilities.”

Issuer Services.

Listings.Our primary competitor for larger company listimgs The Nasdaq Stock Market is the NYSE. We alsopsde) to a limited
extent, with the Amex for listing of smaller, lesstive companies. In addition, at least one redierehange, the Pacific Exchange, together
with Archipelago, its exclusive equities tradingifdy, has indicated that it intends to expandidgtings business. We expect the NYSE-
Archipelago merger to increase competition foirigs, particularly if the combined entity seeksattract listings of smaller companies that
have not historically qualified for listing on tiNYSE.

Financial ProductsNasdag-sponsored financial products are subjdotéase competition from other ETFs, derivatived simuctured
products as investment alternatives. The sourtei®tompetition is not only large ETF family spors but also, increasingly, from other
mutual fund sponsors originating ETFs. Likewisee Nasdaq Stock Market is subject to intense comipefior the listing of these products
from other exchanges. The indexes on which thesgugts are based face competition from other insl@es@ch can be considered
competitive with Nasdaq indexes. For example, tlaeeea number of indexes that aim to track therteldgy sector and may from time to
time have a high degree of correlation with thedéas100 Index and Nasdaq Composite Index. We fagmetition among other investment
banks, markets or other product developers in degigoroducts that meet investor needs.

Market ServicesWe experience competition in our core trading di#iy such as execution services, quoting andrigadapabilities,
and reporting services. Many of our competitorsehangaged in aggressive price competition by redutie trade execution transaction fees
they charge their customers. As a result of thispetition, we significantly reduced the trade exmeutransaction fees we charge our
customers during 2005, particularly our large-vaducnstomers. In early 2006, in connection withaequisition of INET, we adjusted our
transaction fees to harmonize our pricing structith INET, whose fees had been higher than ours pétiodically reexamine our pricing
structure to ensure that our fees remain competitiv

Our revenues from the sale of market informatiosdprcts and services are also under competitivatifimem other securities exchang
that trade Nasdag-listed securities. Current SEQlations permit these regional exchanges and NAZMDernative Display Facility to quote
and trade certain securities that are not listed national securities exchange, including Nasddgd securities. Nasdaq's UTP Plan entitles
these exchanges and NASD'’s Alternate Display Rgdii a share of UTP Plan tape fees, in propottibosuch exchange’s share of trading as
measured by share volume and number of tradesciparits in the UTP Plan have used tape fee rewetwestablish payment for order flow
arrangements with their members and customersnnaly 2004, we implemented a new tiered pricingctiire and the Nasdag General
Revenue Sharing Program, which provided incentiweguoting market participants to send orders part trades to The Nasdaq Market
Center. To remain competitive, Nasdaq continuoasbluates and refines both programs. This proe=ssdted in changes in our tiered pric
program and in our General Revenue Sharing Progresughout 2005 and in early 2006. We may adjukeeiprogram in the future to
respond to competitive pressures.

15



Table of Contents

We are also responding aggressively to competitionpdating and innovating new data products teigemarket participants with
increased functionality and new and more extensigeket information.

Regulation

Federal securities laws establish a two-tieredesggor the regulation of securities markets, mapiagticipants and listed companies.
The SEC occupies the first tier and has primargaasibility for enforcing federal securities lav@elf-regulatory organizations, or SROs,
which are non-governmental organizations, occupystttond tier. Self-regulatory organizations agéstered with the SEC and are subject to
the SEC’s extensive regulation and oversight. NASBn SRO. Until we are operational as a natioealisties exchange, we operate
pursuant to delegated authority under NASD’s SRfisteation. This regulatory framework applies ta business in the following ways:

» regulation of The Nasdaq Stock Market; and

» regulation of our broker-dealer subsidiaries.

The rules and regulations that apply to our busires focused primarily on safeguarding the inte@f the securities markets and of
market participants and investors generally. Wividebelieve that regulation improves the qualityfbé Nasdaq Stock Market and, therefore,
our company, these rules and regulations are ot on the protection of our stockholders. Fédeurities laws and the rules that go\
our operations are subject to frequent change.sdimgequent change in law or regulation, or chaimgie interpretation or enforcement of
existing laws or regulations may adversely affagtlousiness, financial conditions and operatingltss

SEC and Self-Regulatory Organization Regulatiodn January 13, 2006, the SEC approved our apgitédir registration as a
national securities exchange. We believe that wiebenefit from exchange registration for the feliag reasons:
» We will no longer have to share revenue from prariy products with other exchanges that are ctiyrpart of a UTP Plan.

* NASD will no longer have voting control over usasesult of our redemption of the sole outstandimare of series D prefern
stock for $1.00

» We will be able to more clearly establish our saf@identity and gain greater access to the capaakets to obtain financing,
which will help us improve our operations and erdgaour busines:

» We will separate our regulated exchange activities our other business operations through our dopf a holding company
corporate structure

We will not begin to operate as an exchange, howenwntil the following conditions are met:

* We must join five national market system plans.

» NASD must provide a collection and disseminatiagiliy for collecting and disseminating quotaticesd trade reports f
securities listed on exchanges other than Nas

« We must join the Intermarket Surveillance Grougraup of U.S. and foreign securities and futureshaerges that provides a
framework for sharing information and coordinatmfrregulatory efforts among its membe

* We must establish a framework for imposing finesrmmbers, in lieu of commencing disciplinary pratiags, for designated rule
violations.

*  We must enter into an SEC-approved agreement ubddrange Act Rule 17d-2 with NASD which will allaego NASD
regulatory responsibility for enforcement of exchamules

* We must submit and receive SEC approval of a fingeting plan to provide a framework for our menbty submit fingerprints ¢
their employees to the United States Departmedtstice, as required by the Exchange .

16



Table of Contents

We are in the process of satisfying these conditiand we hope to become operational as an excladamig the second quarter of
2006. However, since some of these conditions reqgtion by third parties and approval by the SE€ cannot assure you that we will m
SEC conditions to operate as an exchange in thatfiame. In particular, we note that in July 200B,SD filed a proposal with the SEC that
would establish the Trade Reporting Facility, of-TRor the purpose of collecting reports of traniges in Nasdag-listed and non-Nasdag-
listed securities that are executed otherwise tliaan exchange. The TRF will be a facility of NASperated by Nasdaqg and regulated
exclusively by NASD, and will be available soletyNASD members. Timely approval of this proposatliyy SEC would assist Nasdaq and
NASD in fulfilling several of the conditions dedeeid above, while delayed approval or adverse aatiay delay our ability to satisfy tt
conditions. Several of our competitors have filechments in opposition to the TRF, and the propisssiill pending at the SEC. See “—Risk
Factors—The SEC’s approval of our application terage a national securities exchange contains tonslithat must be satisfied before we
implement the order.”

Additionally, we are in the process of convertingatholding company structure and have receivezkbtder approval to adopt this
structure at the time when or before we begin dpgras an exchange. Our newly formed subsidialng NASDAQ Stock Market LLC, will
hold the operations of The Nasdaq Stock Marketamdexchange license.

Once we meet SEC conditions to operate as an egeh&lASD Regulation, Inc., or NASDR, a wholly-owrsgbsidiary of NASD, will
provide regulatory services of the same genera &m scope to our subsidiary licensed as an egehasare currently provided, which will
preserve the regulatory separation currently icglén addition, we will receive our own SRO statu®ugh our exchange subsidiary,
separate from that of NASD. As an SRO, we will haue own rules pertaining to our members and lis@upanies regarding listing,
membership and trading that are distinct and sép&@m those rules applicable to broker-dealeas dine administered by NASD. Broker-
dealers will be able to choose to become membeéexasflaqg, in addition to their other SRO memberslhifeéuding membership in NASD.

As the operator of a securities market or natieealrities exchange, virtually all facets of oueigtions are, and will be, subject to the
SEC'’s oversight, as prescribed by the ExchangeaAdtwe are subject to periodic and special exaimimaby the SEC. We also are
potentially subject to regulatory or legal actigntbe SEC or other interested parties at any tim@mhnection with alleged regulatory
violations. We have been subject to a number dimeueviews and inspections by the SEC. To thersxguch actions or reviews and
inspections result in regulatory or other chang&smay be required to modify the manner in whichoeeduct our business, which may
adversely affect our business. We are also sutgeBection 17 of the Exchange Act, which imposesneé-keeping requirements, including
the requirement to make certain records availabteeg SEC for examination.

Section 19 of the Exchange Act provides that wetrsuBmit proposed changes to any of the SRO rptestices and procedures,
including revisions to provisions of our certifieatf incorporation and by-laws that constitute SRI@s, to the SEC. The SEC will typically
publish the proposal for public comment, followwwgich the SEC may approve or disapprove the prdpasat deems appropriate. The
SEC'’s action is designed to ensure that applic8R© rules and procedures are consistent with the af the Exchange Act and its rules and
regulations. If the SEC disapproves a proposalwieahave submitted, it could have an adverse immactur business, financial condition ¢
operating results. In addition, pursuant to theiimegnents of the Exchange Act, we must file allgmsals for a change in our pricing structure
with the SEC.

Until we satisfy the conditions specified by theCS become operational as a national securitiesange, our authority to operate The
Nasdaq Stock Market is delegated to us pursuahet®elegation Plan by NASD. SROs in the securitidsstry are an essential compon
of the regulatory scheme of the Exchange Act fowjaling fair and orderly markets and protectingastors. The Exchange Act and the rules
thereunder impose on the SROs many regulatory pedhtional responsibilities, including the day-ty¢desponsibilities for market and
broker-dealer oversight. In general, an SRO isarsible for regulating its members through the éidopand enforcement of rules and
regulations governing the business conduct of émivers.
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NASD is currently responsible for the regulatiorttud trading activity on The Nasdaqg Stock Marketvali as segments of the over-the-
counter market. Nasdaq has a limited role in cotidgeeal-time market monitoring through its Matk&tch department. This department,
among other things, monitors for trades whose prage away from the current market and initiatadifig halts as necessary. Suspicious
trading behavior discovered by MarketWatch staff ath other Nasdag employees is referred to NASOudher investigation. NASD
performs the surveillance and investigative funwifor Nasdag. We will seek to preserve this rdguyeseparation once we satisfy the
conditions specified by the SEC to become operatias a national securities exchange.

We have additional regulatory functions relateddampanies listed on The Nasdaqg Stock Market tleahandled by our Listing
Qualifications department. This department is rasfile for maintaining a compliance-monitoring @amdorcement program with respect to
our requirements for initial and continued listit@pmpanies that wish to list on The Nasdaq Stockkbtaare required to satisfy a variety of
guantitative and qualitative requirements to bectisted and to continue to be listed, includingall corporate governance listing standards.
Companies that fail to maintain compliance withséheequirements are subject to delisting. To pewidjulatory transparency and assist
issuers in maintaining compliance, our Listing Qficdtions department provides written interpreiat with respect to the application of our
listing requirements and maintains a website piiogidhterpretive guidance.

When we transferred our own listing from the OTC®Bhe Nasdaq National Market in 2005, the SEC eyt special listing
standards with respect to listing our common stutk he Nasdaq Stock Market. These listing standaisire periodic reporting of
compliance to the SEC and an annual compliance bydin independent accounting firm. Our failurertaintain compliance with these
listing standards could result in our common stoeig delisted from The Nasdaq Stock Market.

Broker-Dealer RegulationBrut, LLC, our broker-dealer subsidiary, is subjectegulation by the SEC, the SROs and the vastais
securities regulators. In addition, we acquired TNETS, Inc. and Island Execution Services, LLC anpection with the INET acquisition
which are also subject to regulation as registereer-dealers. On February 1, 2006, INET ATS,,Itiee entity operating INET ECN, was
merged into Brut, with Brut as the surviving entifys a result, Brut, LLC currently operates the tBilatform and the INET platform.

Brut, LLC is registered as a broker-dealer with 8f&C and in all 50 states, the District of Colundnia Puerto Rico. It is also a member
of the NYSE, NASD, the Pacific Stock Exchange amNational Stock Exchange. Island Execution SesyitLC is a member of the NAS
and National Stock Exchange.

The SEC, NYSE and NASD adopt rules and examinedsrdkalers and require strict compliance with thdies and regulations. The
SEC, SROs and state securities commissions mayicbadministrative proceedings which can resutténsure, fine, the issuance of cease-
and-desist orders or the suspension or expulsi@anbobker-dealer, its officers or employees. Th€ Sd state regulators may also institute
proceedings against broker-dealers seeking andtipmor other sanction. The SEC and SRO rulesromany aspects of a broker-dealer’'s
business, including capital structure and withddaysales methods, trade practices among brokderdease and safekeeping of customers’
funds and securities, record-keeping, the finanoifngustomers’ purchases, broker-dealer and emploggistration and the conduct of
directors, officers and employees. All broker-dealeave an SRO that is assigned by the SEC agdkerbdealer’s designated examining
authority, or DEA. The DEA is responsible for examg a broker-dealer for compliance with the SEf@iancial responsibility rules. NYSE
is Brut’s current DEA and the NASD is Island ExecontServices’ DEA. A failure to comply with the SEBGequest in a satisfactory manner
may have adverse consequences and changing Bifa&sniay entail additional regulatory costs.

Brut has received inquiries from NASD regarding ptiance with Brut’s obligations regarding shortesglfirm quotes and other
reporting and disclosure requirements, some of ivhétate to activity prior to Nasdaq'’s acquisitimiBrut. Although we cannot currently
estimate the amount of any potential fines or pgerglwe do not believe they would be significant.
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As registered broker-dealers subsidiaries, BruCLINET ATS, Inc. and Island Execution Services{,lare subject to regulatory
requirements intended to ensure their general ¢ishsoundness and liquidity, which requires thattcomply with certain minimum capital
requirements. The SEC and NASD impose rules tliptire notification when net capital falls below taén predefined criteria, dictate the
ratio of debt to equity in the regulatory capitahgosition of a broker-dealer and constrain thételuf a broker-dealer to expand its business
under certain circumstances. Additionally, the dmif Net Capital Rule and NASD rules impose cenaguirements that may have the eft
of prohibiting a brokedealer from distributing or withdrawing capital aregjuiring prior notice to the SEC and NASD forta@r withdrawal:
of capital.

As of December 31, 2005, Brut was required to naanminimum net capital of $0.3 million and hadalatet capital of approximately
$6.7 million or $6.4 million in excess of the minim amount required. As of December 31, 2005, IsExetution Services was required to
maintain minimum net capital of $1.0 million anddhatal net capital of approximately $1.5 million$0.5 million in excess of the minimum
amount required.

As of December 31, 2005, INET ATS, Inc. was rediite@ maintain minimum net capital of $1.0 millioncahad a net capital deficiency
of approximately $48.0 million. This deficiency waise to INET ATS'’s investment in a non-U.S. basexhay market fund that is not
registered under the Investment Company Act of 1848ordingly, the balances in the fund are a nibmsable asset under SEC Rule 15c¢3-
1, the net capital rule. INET ATS provided hindfgigotice that the net capital was below the mimmamount required under the net capital
rule. On February 8, 2006, the funds were redeeamddnvested in a money market fund registered uthdelnvestment Company Act of
1940, which corrected the net capital deficiencygioan. No funds were lost and no customers suffergy loss.

Recent Regulatory Developmen®egulation NMS, which is scheduled to become eiffedh stages throughout 2006, has been one of
the key drivers behind the changes in the execws#ovices and market data businesses in the UBttds. The most significant provisions
Regulation NMS are order protection, referred tthas‘best price” rule, and fair access. The besepule requires exchanges and other
trading centers to establish procedures designpretent the execution of trades at prices infengrrotected quotations displayed by other
trading centers. Many market centers have annouple@d to adopt electronic trading capabilitiesichtNasdaqg has had in place for many
years. In particular, the NYSE has announced #@a9to transition to “hybrid” system, which is expected to incorporagetain elements of
an electronic system while retaining many elemehtstraditional trading floor.

As a result of the best price rule, market paréiois will be required to route order flow to markenters with the best execution
performance, including liquidity, reliability anghesed. We believe that Nasdaq is well positiondaetwefit from this provision of Regulation
NMS, because we have long been a fully automatetlenand the INET acquisition provides an additldizpiidity pool. This will increast
the probability that Nasdaq’s electronic tradingteyn will display the best prices, and other exgearwill need to route their orders to
Nasdars platform. We expect the best price rule will bavsignificant impact on the trading of securjtfticularly non-Nasdag-listed
securities. We believe that electronic trading vélult in increased average daily trading voluamerading becomes fully automated.

Under the best price rule, each exchange mustictterith the market center offering the best pheéore it can execute a trade at an
inferior price on its systems. We believe that Ration NMS is likely to remove many of the delayslampediments to trading NYSE- and
Amex-listed securities through Nasdagq that existenrihe current trade through rule of the Interraailikading System. Accordingly, we have
announced plans to withdraw, subject to SEC apprérean the Intermarket Trading System upon impletagon of Regulation NMS. We
will rely instead upon faster private linkages wifteater capacity to comply with the order protatind fair access rules.

The fair access rule requires market centers teigeedfair and non-discriminatory access to quotetjestablishes a limit on access fees
to harmonize the pricing of quotations across diffi trading centers and requires all exchangesaiotain written rules that prohibit their
members from displaying quotations that lock
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or cross automated quotations. We expect thiswilldenefit Nasdaq because we already have fadtealiable automated access into all
market centers and the logic that will permit coiepte with locking or crossing automatic quotatidnsaddition, while it is yet to be
determined how this rule will affect market pricjrour fees are compliant with the rule.

Regulation NMS also contains a market informatiale that updates the requirements for consolidatiiggributing and displaying
market information. This rule amends the CTA/CQ &fidP Plans for disseminating market informatiomtodify the formulas for allocating
plan revenues and to broaden participation in gtarernance. As we are an active quoting marketedlsas a trading market, we believe the
changes in the market data revenue calculationige wifficult to predict and likely to differ acrgshe two data plans, should have little
negative impact. Finally, the sub-penny rule prakimarket participants from displaying quotatiomgricing increments smaller than a
penny, with exceptions for quotes and orders pratddss than $1.00 per share.

We do not expect any of these rules per-se to haignificant impact on Nasdag. The changes irctinepetitive landscape driven by
these rules, however, have potentially far reachimgdj unforeseeable impacts on our businesses.etgiice rule and the fair access rule
apply to a small group of stocks beginning June2®96, with expected implementation for all seéesicurrently required by August 31,
2006. The market information rule is scheduledpplybeginning September 1, 2006, and the sub-pprining rule took effect on
January 31, 2006. The SEC has recently announegthi future implementation dates may be delayed.

In addition, the SEC has recently proposed Reguiail, a new regulation that would institute a setules for demutualized exchan
and securities associations that intend to list then securities or those of an affiliate. If Régjion AL is adopted by the SEC, we may have
to alter our operation and business to comply Rigigulation AL to the extent that Regulation AL sigeeles our listing standards.

The SEC also proposed a separate regulation, kasviRegulation SRO, simultaneously with Regulatidn @ontaining new rules
regarding the governance of SROs. The proposedulew would, among other things:

* require a majority independent board for each SR®raquire the establishment of nominating, gowecaaaudit, compensation
and regulatory oversight committees of the bodtdcenposed solely of independent directc

e require separation of an SRO'’s regulatory functimom its market operations and other businessests;
» restrict ownership and voting levels of memberthefSRO that are broker-dealers to no more tharn 20%

» require that all regulatory fees, fines and peeslteceived be used to fund regulatory programsiahde made available for
distribution to stockholder:

Finally, the SEC published a concept release reupgegublic comment on the structure of the seffulatory system, including
alternative approaches to securities industry ggjtdation. Some of the approaches discussed bgHEi@ein the release call for a single SRO,
or the Universal Regulator, that would be respdaeditr all rules, markets and members. Under tinesdels, all markets, both Nasdaq and
other exchanges, would be registered with the UsaldRegulator and would not have any self-reguyadaithority. Other models discussed
by the SEC would significantly reduce or even efiate securities industry self-regulation altogether

Nasdaq’s ability to compete effectively in the ftumay be impacted by the provisions of RegulaitMiS and Regulation AL, if
approved by the SEC, and any changes resulting thenSEC’s concept release.
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Employees

As of March 8, 2006, Nasdaq had 917 employees. Nbite employees is subject to collective bargajrigreements or is represented
by a union. Nasdaq considers its relations witleitgployees to be good.

Nasdaq Website and Availability of SEC Filings

We file periodic reports, proxy statements and othirmation with the SEC. The public may read angy any materials we file with
the SEC at the SE€Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wa#hiin DC 20549. The public may obtain informationtbe operatio
of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internetlséecontains reports, proxy and
information statements, and other information rdipay issuers that file electronically with the SEDch as us) and the address of that site is
(http://lwww.sec.gov).

Our website is www.nasdag.com. Information on oabsite is not a part of this Form 10-K. We will redvailable free of charge on
our website, or provide a link to, our Forms 10F¢rms 10-Q and Forms 8-K and any amendments te th@esuments, that are filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) offkehange Act as soon as reasonably practicaldevaé electronically file such material
with, or furnish it to the SEC. To access thesad#, go to Nasdag's website and click on “Invefetations,” then click on “Financial
Information—SEC Filings.”

Regulatory Contractual Relationships with NASD andNASDR

Regulatory Services Agreememursuant to the Delegation Plan, NASDR providewitls regulatory services, including the regulation
of trading activity on The Nasdaq Stock Market #melsurveillance and investigative functions of tas We do not have a formalized
written agreement with NASDR for the performanceegfulatory services prior to us operating as athaxge. We paid NASDR $41.7
million for 2005 and $45.6 million for 2004 for relgtory services provided pursuant to the Delegafitan, versus $61.8 million in 2003. 1
reduction was due in part to changes in the NAZiD&cation of technology expenses. The decrea0@5 was also due to the transfer of
ownership of the OTCBB to NASD which reduced theoatated regulatory costs.

We have entered into a regulatory services agreeumeter which NASDR would provide regulatory seeddo us for ten years
commencing when we meet SEC conditions to opesmmaxchange. Since these conditions have nbieget satisfied, no services have
been performed under this agreement. Under thdategy services agreement, the services providddwiof the same type and scope as are
currently provided by NASDR to us under the DelegaPlan. Each regulatory service is to be proviftied minimum of five years, then the
parties may determine to terminate a particulariser The termination of a particular service wjiinerally be based upon a review of pricing
and the need for such services. Under the agreeiddASDR will bill us a fee for each required servigrovided that it is based on NASDR'’s
direct and indirect costs plus a markup of six pet@n compensation costs related to NASDR’s engasyised to provide the services. Any
services other than those required by the agreewiltfte billed at cost, plus a mutually agreed npoarkup.

Similar to the services NASDR currently provideswrsder the regulatory services agreement, NASDR wi
* review and approve new member applications;
« perform automated surveillance of trading on Thed¥g Stock Market;

» review member firm compliance with the rules angutations applicable to trading and market-makumgctions in The Nasdaq
Stock Market

e investigate suspicious activity in quoting and ingdon The Nasdaq Stock Market;

» conduct examinations of member firms;
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* initiate the disciplinary process once it is detiwed that a potential violation of a federal setbesilaw or rule, or an SRO rule, may
have occurred; an

e operate an arbitration program and a mediationnaragor the resolution of customer, member firm &@yee, and Nasdag member-
to-member dispute!

For further discussion of these agreements andthier related party transactions, see “—Risk FaetddASD will continue to
maintain voting control over us until we meet SEDditions to operate as an exchange and may htarests that are different from yours
and, therefore, may make decisions that are adtenrgeur interests” and “Item 13. Certain Relatioips and Related Transactions.”

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The risks and uncertainties described below areti@ibnly ones facing Nasdaqg. Additional risks endertainties not presently known
to us or that we currently believe to be immatenily also adversely affect our business. If arth@following risks actually occur, our
business, financial condition, or operating resutaild be adversely affected.

If we do not integrate INE7s operations successfully, we may not realize bemefits we expect to derive from the acquisition.

We paid $934.5 million in cash to acquire the INETN, subject to post-closing adjustments and hawerred significant costs in
connection with the acquisition. As of December&105, these costs were $34.4 million. We areénpttocess of integrating INET’s
business with ours, and we anticipate incurringveen $60.0 million and $70.0 million of pre-tax ofs in 2006, principally related to the
INET acquisition as well and also related to ountgwiing efforts to reduce operating expenses arptave the efficiency of our operations.
The integration involves consolidating productghiy-complex technology, operations and administeatunctions of two companies that
previously operated separately. If we are unabbiotthis successfully, then we may not achieveptgected efficiencies, synergies and cost
savings of the transaction. Key risks related ititegration include:

e Timing. The integration could take longer than pledh and be subject to unanticipated difficultied erpenses. Any expenses
could, particularly in the near term, offset or exd the anticipated cost savings we expect toeémm the INET acquisitior

» Technology. We are planning to migrate our existiagling systems to INET’s platform. We may facéoveseen difficulties in
achieving the migration, which could impose additibobstacles to completing the migration and coedilt in adverse
consequences to our operations or could lead tmuachieving the synergies we anticipi

* Management diversion. The demand placed on thedfroar management team in managing the INET imtign may adversely
affect the operation of our existing busines

» Loss of business relationships. We may not betahletain business relationships with suppliers e@mstomers of INET. In
particular, when we combine the books of The Naddarket Center, Brut and INET, we may lose som#hefbusiness that we
enjoyed when we operated the books separ:

» Personnel losses. We may lose key INET persommalding technology personnel.

» Cultural changes. Employees in the acquired orgdiniz may be resistant to change and may not agsalpto our corporate cultur
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Our high leverage limits our financial flexibility.

We incurred $750.0 million of senior term loan dedsttered into a $75.0 million revolving creditifag, although we had not drawn
down any proceeds under the revolving credit figcds of December 31, 2005, and issued $205.0amibf convertible notes to pay for our
recent acquisition of INET, bringing our total deistof December 31, 2005 to $1.192 billion. ThigngBicant leverage may:

* impair our ability to obtain additional financing ihe future for refinancing indebtedness, acqois$t, working capital, capital
expenditures, or other purpos

» reduce funds available to us for our operationsgerteral corporate purposes or for capital exparetitas a result of the dedication
of a substantial portion of our consolidated cédstv from operations to the payment of principal amgrest on our indebtedne

» place us at a competitive disadvantage comparddaouit competitors with less debt;
» increase our vulnerability to a downturn in genex@nomic conditions; and

« curtail our flexibility to respond to changing ecwmnic or competitive conditions or to make acquisisi.

In addition, our credit facility covenants restrietr ability to grant liens, incur additional indetiness, pay dividends, sell assets, make
certain payments, conduct transactions with afésand merge or consolidate, and our convertiBilesncontain a covenant restricting our
ability to incur senior debt.

We may not be able keep up with rapid technologiaatl other competitive changes affecting our indryst

The markets in which we compete are characterigednidly changing technology, evolving industrgreards, frequent enhancements
to existing services and products, the introductibnew services and products and changing custderaands. If the INET platform fails to
work as expected, our business would be negatafédgted. In addition, our business, financial dbad and operating results may be
adversely affected if we cannot successfully dgvglitroduce, or market new services and productvee need to adopt costly and
customized technology for our services and proddietaddition, our failure to anticipate or respaukquately to changes in technology and
customer preferences, or any significant delaygaauct development efforts, could have a matedakrse effect on our business, financial
condition and operating results.

We must adapt to significant competition in ourtiisg business.

We face significant competition in our listing busss from other exchanges. Historically, the NY@E lbeen our largest competitor,
we have competed with them primarily for listingdarger domestic and international companies. H@rewith the NYSE's acquisition of
Archipelago, the competitive landscape is changang, the merged exchange may seek listings of ¢malld-size companies, in direct
competition with our listing business. The NY SEeawity decreased its maximum annual listing fee @ 5rom $1 million to $500,000,
which is still significantly higher than, althougitore competitive with, our maximum annual fee 06 9D0. Also, it is likely that after the
merger, Archipelago will use the NYSE brand to oftev-cost listings. If we are required to lower disting fees in response, it could have
an adverse effect on our operating results. Inteadion occasion, issuers may transfer theimggifrom Nasdaqg to other venues. Significant
transfers could have a material adverse effectunifioancial results.

Declines in the IPO market have an adverse effegtaur revenues

Stagnation or decline in the IPO market impactsiimaber of our new listings on The Nasdaq Stockkdiarand thus our related
revenues. We recognize revenue from new listinga stnaight-line basis over an estimated six-yearise period. As a result of the decline
in the IPO market from 200R002, our deferred revenues associated with theaesyill be lower than our recent deferred reveasssciate
with the years immediately preceding that periodr @ew IPO listings decreased from 148 in 200426 ih 2005.
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The Sarbanes-Oxley Act, commonly known as SOX, deayipen IPO activity. SOX requires Nasdaq and dth8r markets and
exchanges to impose corporate governance requitsrarrall listed companies. Additionally, Sectidimdbf SOX requires all of our listed
companies to complete an internal control audiictvimany companies find to be burdensome and cd&&®X has particularly received a
significant amount of focus among international pamies. International exchanges, such as the Lo8tiwok Exchange, and Deutsche Borse
are not required to impose these requirementseainltbted companies and, as a result, are becomorg significant competitors, particula
for international issuers. The LSE’s “AIM” markethich has minimal listing standards, has recembeived significant attention as an
alternative listing venue. We may have troubleaating and maintaining listings of foreign basecthpanies in light of this competition.

Losses in listings to a combined NYSE and Archipgdacould cause a reduction in revenues in both dssuer Services and Marke
Services segment

While the reduction in initial listings or the lossone or more large issuers could decreasedisémenues for our Issuer Services
segment, it could cause an even more significarredse in revenues from our Market Services segrteetite extent that we derive revenues
from the quoting, reporting and trading of thosuesrs’ securities. If the combined NYSE/Archipelagsuccessful in competing with us for
our core listings, we would lose not only the higtifees associated with those companies, but asbstantial amount of the trade execution
fees generated by trading in those companies’ gesur

Delistings may have an adverse effect on our revesu

Delistings generally increase under poor economi@itions, since issuers are not able to compli witr minimum bid price, market
capitalization and/or shareholders’ equity requigats. Companies are also delisted when they cditatitieir periodic reports with the SEC
on time. During 2005, 85 companies were delistechém-compliance with one or more of these requ@ets and 247 companies voluntarily
delisted primarily due to mergers, going privamsactions, or changing listing venues. In additibea SEC has recently proposed new rules
which will make it easier for foreign private isssi¢o delist and stop being U.S. reporting compariégnificant delistings would have a
material adverse effect on our financial results.

A decrease in trading volume will decrease our tirggirevenues

Trading volume is directly affected by economic g@atitical conditions, broad trends in business fimance, changes in price levels of
securities and the overall level of investor coafide. Weak economic conditions or a reduction @usges prices could result in a decline in
trading volume. A decline in trading volume woulsivier revenues from our Market Services segmentiamdadversely affect our operating
results. We are particularly affected by declimerading volume in technology-related securitiesguse a significant portion of our
customerstrade in these types of securities and approxima#do of the companies listed on The Nasdaq Stoakt are in the technolog
sector. In addition, investor confidence and trad@rest, and thus trading volume, can be affebtefhctors outside our control, such as the
publicity surrounding investigations and proseautifor corporate governance or accounting irregfidarat public companies.

We may experience fluctuations in our operating tdis.

The financial services industry is risky and unjetable and is directly affected by many nationad international factors beyond our
control. Any one of these factors could have a naltadverse effect on our business, financial dismand operating results by causing a
substantial decline in the financial services merkad reduced trading volume.

Our revenue, margins and operating results havedrar the past and are likely to fluctuate siguafitly in the future, making them
difficult to predict. These difficulties are patiarly exacerbated in light of our acquisition BfHT and the uncertainties surrounding the
benefits and costs associated with integration.itfathlly, since our senior term loan debt beatsrigst at a variable rate and we do not have
interest rate
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hedges in place on this debt, any increase indsteates will increase our interest expense asaceeour cash flow. Other than our variable
rate debt, we believe our business has relatiaebel fixed costs and low variable costs, which nfegnthe impact of revenue fluctuations
our operating results. As a result, a decline inreuenue may lead to a relatively larger impacbparating results. A substantial portion of
our operating expenses is related to personned,cesgjulation and corporate overhead, none of wtachbe adjusted quickly. Our operating
expense levels are based on our expectationstfmefeevenue. If actual revenue is below managesierpectations, or if our expenses
increase before revenues do, both gross margineerdting results would be materially and advgraéfected. Because of these
fluctuations, it is possible that our operatingufessor other operating metrics may fail to meet ¢éxpectations of stock market analysts and
investors. If this happens, the market price of@mmon stock is likely to decline.

We must control our costs to remain profitable.

We base our cost structure on historical and erpldetvels of demand for our products and servisaetecline in this demand for our
products and services may reduce our revenuesutithoorresponding decline in our expenses sinceaenot be able to adjust our cost
structure on a timely basis. Our ability to managecosts will be particularly challenging as autesf INET acquisition and integration
efforts. Failure to achieve our goals on cost sgavinill have an adverse impact on our results efafions. We may fail in our initiatives to
increase our business. We also may not have addgpaisitioned ourselves in the increasingly contipetsecurities markets or a weakened
equities market.

The separation of Instinet’s institutional brokeragbusiness from Instinet and the related sale toaffiliate of Silver Lake Partners could
result in unexpected costs.

In connection with our acquisition of Instinet, w@ncurrently sold Instinet’s institutional brokeealgusiness and specified Instinet
corporate-level assets to Instinet Holdings Incompexd, or Instinet Holdings, an affiliate of SLRstinet Holdings agreed to assume the
liabilities of the institutional brokerage busingas well as the additional corporate-level lidi@§ not directly related to the institutional
brokerage business, such as tax, severance, tatd Esases and historical restructuring obligatidle may be subject to claims related to
these assets. In addition, we may be subject tmslarising from Instinet’s institutional brokeralgesiness. Under the terms of the
institutional brokerage transaction agreementjriasHoldings agreed to indemnify us after the iclggor liabilities primarily related to the
businesses, assets and liabilities that it purchas®l, similarly, we have agreed to indemnifyimstt Holdings after the closing for liabilities
primarily related to INET. Our ability to seek indaification from Instinet Holdings is, however, ted by the strength of Instinet Holdings’
own financial condition, which could change in th&ure. Instinet Holdings may not have the abita@yfulfill its indemnification obligations t
us in connection with the institutional brokerageuisition, in which case, we may be liable forstaelaims. These liabilities could be
significant, and if we are unable to enforce tratiintional brokerage indemnification obligatioheh our business, financial condition and
operating results could be adversely affected.

We face significant competition in our securitiesatling business, which could reduce our transactignrade reporting and market
information revenues and negatively impact our fineial results.

We compete for trading of Nasdaq-, NYSE- and Anistedl securities. Any decision by market particigan quote, execute or report
trades through exchanges, ECNs or the Alternatigpel®y Facility maintained by NASD, could have @ative impact on our share of quotes
and trades in securities traded through The Nabtiaget Center.

While we trade a fairly large percentage of semgibf Nasdag-listed companies, we face strong etitign from exchanges and
emerging players in the market. For non-Nasdagdisecurities, the national exchanges offer grdigtedity in more non-Nasdag-listed
securities than we do. Accordingly, we face majostacles in trying to attract trading volume in fidasdaqg-listed securities.

25



Table of Contents

Our responses to competition may not be suffidiemegain lost business or prevent other marketgiaants from shifting some of the
quoting and/or trade reporting to other industritipgants. We may need to reduce prices to reroampetitive. Our inability to compete for
transactions, trade reporting and market infornmat&venues could have an adverse effect on oundsssifinancial condition and operating
results.

The merger of NYSE and Archipelago will create astg competitor.

The recent merger of NYSE and Archipelago will teestrong competition for us, particularly if NY $Eable to create its own
electronic trading platform or migrate its tradimgsiness to Archipelago’s platform. NYSE has stéled it intends to develop electronic
trading capabilities that will compete directly wilasdaq’s. In addition, the merger with Archipeldgs given NYSE access to ArcaEx’s
electronic systems. If NYSE's trading volume in@esito our detriment as a result of the merger ithipelago, it would have a negative
impact on our operating results.

New competitors could reduce our revenues and intpaga ability to increase our market share of traastions in Nasda-listed and
exchange-listed securities.

It is possible that the Nasdag/INET acquisition #r&NY SE/Archipelago merger will create demandrfew or expanded trading
venues. For example, Knight Capital Group, Inenaaket maker in Nasdag-listed securities, recaarityounced the acquisition of Attain
ECN, a competitor of ours. TradeBot Systems regemrthounced the establishment of BATS ECN, whiéhdicated would be operational
early in 2006. Citigroup Inc. recently announceahgl to launch its own electronic stock-trading rekwfrom its acquisition of OnTrade Inc.,
an ECN previously operated by NexTrade Holdings We believe Regulation NMS may enhance competitiddasdag-listed securities
from these or other new competitors. Additionafigywy ECNs may develop trading platforms that areencompetitive than ours. Finally,
there has been increased use of electronic trayistgms specializing in large volume trades, ssdhguidNet, Pipeline Trading and
Investment Technology Group’s POSIT platform, whichy divert trading volume from The Nasdaq Markenter. If these or other trading
venues are successful, our business, financialitoménd operating results could be adverselyciéfe.

Price competition has affected and could continuedffect our business

The securities trading industry is characterizedhitgnse price competition. We have in the pasel®d prices and increased rebates to
attempt to gain market share. These strategiesrahaways been successful and have at timehudperating performance. Additionally,
we have also been, and may once again be, redoitjust pricing to respond to actions by our cetitprs, which have adversely impacted
our operating results.

Price competition with respect to market data rebat our program relating to sharing revenuescéstsal with trading Nasdag-listed
securities could attract trading volume away frasnlaading to loss of market share and decreasedues.

System limitations, failures or security breachesutd harm our business

Our business depends on the integrity and perfocmahthe computer and communications systems stipgat. If our systems cannot
expand to cope with increased demand or othenaiséofperform, we could experience unanticipatiugbtions in service, slower response
times and delays in the introduction of new produsid services. These consequences could resoltén trading volumes, financial losses,
decreased customer service and satisfaction amthategy sanctions. We have experienced occasigstéms failures and delays in the past
and could experience future systems failures ataydeespecially as we implement new systems agsatcwith the INET migration.
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We use internally developed systems to operatduasiness, including transaction processing systerascommodate increased
capacity. If our trading volume increases unexpigteve will need to expand and upgrade our teabgltransaction processing systems
and network infrastructure. We do not know whetlierwill be able to accurately project the rate,itign or cost of any increases, or expand
and upgrade our systems and infrastructure to acemiate any increases in a timely manner.

Our systems and operations also are vulnerablartade or interruption from human error, naturadstisrs, power loss, sabotage or
terrorism, computer viruses, intentional acts afdalism and similar events. We have active andesgiye programs in place to identify and
minimize our exposure to these vulnerabilities ek in collaboration with the technology industoyshare corrective measures with our
business partners. Although we currently maintaidtiple computer facilities that are designed toyde redundancy and back-up to reduce
the risk of system disruptions and have facilitteplace that are expected to maintain servicendusi system disruption, such systems and
facilities may prove inadequate. Any system faililmat causes an interruption in service or deceetigeresponsiveness of our service could
impair our reputation, damage our brand name agédtively impact our business, financial conditiow @perating results.

The adoption and implementation of Regulation NM$ the SEC could adversely affect our business.

On April 6, 2005, the SEC adopted Regulation NM8icl has four primary components: the Order PratadRule, the Access Rule,
the Market Data Rule and the Sub-Penny Rule. Weinmay technological and other costs in changingsystems and operations so that we
can comply with these rules. Additionally, the irapaf Regulation NMS is hard to predict and theiayrbe problems or competitive
challenges that we do not foresee that adverstdgtadur business as Regulation NMS is implemerfadally, there is also a risk that the
rules may materially change during implementatidriclv would undermine business plans and investnthatdhave been made based on the
current form of the rules.

Our revenues may be affected by competition in bhesiness for financial products.

We have grown our financial products business, lvbieates indexes and licenses them for Nasdagiamancial products. Nasdag-
sponsored financial products are subject to intensepetition from other ETFs, derivatives and stieed products as investment alternati
Our revenues may be adversely affected by incrgagimpetition from competitors’ financial produdissigned to replicate or correlate with
the performance of Nasdaq financial products. Witaah, the legal and regulatory climate, which gorts the licensing of these financial
products, may change in a manner which adversgaats our ability to successfully license our pduFurther, many other entrants have
recently emerged who not only compete with us éidure growth opportunities, but who may also introel products that erode the positiol
our current offerings, thereby adversely affecting business, financial conditions and operatirsylts.

We must continue to invest in our operations toagrate INET and to maintain and grow our businessd we may need additional funds
to support our business.

In addition to our debt service obligations, wel wéded to make substantial investments in our dipgrmon a continuing basis during
2006 to integrate the INET acquisition. If our @nt level of operating results decrease, our nesgénd cash to service debt payments may
impair our ability to make investments in our besig or to integrate INET.

We depend on the availability of adequate capitah&intain and develop our business. We believiediimacurrent capital requirements
will be met from internally generated funds andhcas hand. However, based upon a variety of facsansie of which are not within our
control, our ability to fund our capital requirent®may vary from those currently planned.

Should we raise funds through incurring additiatetht, we may become subject to covenants even rasirictive than those contained
in our current debt instruments. Furthermore, ifisgeie additional equity our equity holders mayesuflilution. There can be no assurance
that additional capital will be available on a tignbasis, or on favorable terms or at all.
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Future acquisitions, partnerships and joint ventusanay require significant resources and/or resuitsignificant unanticipated losses,
costs, or liabilities.

In the future we may seek to grow our company biingpadditional acquisitions or entering into paiships and joint ventures, which
may be material. As contemplated by this strategyhave submitted a non-binding indication of iagtito acquire the LSE, although the
LSE announced that it intended to continue witlpisviously announced share capital return plandahdiot intend to pursue Nasdaq's
proposal. In response, we announced our belietiiegproposed transaction would represent an &tteaaffer for shareholders, listed
companies and the trading community and would ceflaique benefits for LSE which have not to daerbproffered by other parties. In
light of the substantial amount of consideratidiferted in our non-binding proposal, completiortted acquisition of the LSE would require
significant financing.

We may finance future acquisitions by issuing adddl equity and/or debt. The issuance of addifieqaity in connection with any
such transaction could be substantially dilutivexsting stockholders. The issuance of additiakeddt could increase our leverage
substantially. In addition, announcement or impletagon of future transactions by us or others ddwdve a material effect on the price of
our stock. We could face financial risks associatéd incurring additional debt, particularly ifetdebt resulted in significant incremental
leverage. Additional debt may reduce our liquidayrtail our access to financing markets and irggeahe cash flow required for debt service.
Any incremental debt incurred to finance an acdgoisicould also place significant constraints om ¢fperation of our business. Additionally,
acquisitions, partnerships or investments may recgignificant managerial attention, which may beeded from our other operations.

These equity, debt and managerial commitments magir the operation of our businesses. Furthernzong future acquisitions of
businesses or facilities could entail a numberdofitional risks, including:
» problems with effective integration of operations;

» the inability to maintain key pre-acquisition buesss relationships;

* increased operating costs;

» problems with regulatory bodies;

e exposure to unanticipated liabilities;

» difficulties in realizing projected efficienciesjreergies and cost savings; and

» changes in our credit rating and financing costs.

Regulatory changes and changes in market structamild have a material adverse effect on our busig

We operate in a highly regulated industry. In régemars, the securities trading industry and, iipaar, the securities markets, have
been subject to significant regulatory changes.@dwer, the securities markets have been the sutfi@atreasing governmental and public
scrutiny in response to a number of recent devedopisand inquiries. Any of these factors or evemdy result in future regulatory or other
changes, although we cannot predict the natureesiet changes or their impact on our businesssatitiné. Our customers also operate in a
highly regulated industry. The SEC and other regmaauthorities could impose regulatory changes tlould impact the ability of our
customers to use The Nasdaq Market Center or @ulvdrsely affect The Nasdaq Stock Market. The dbsssignificant number of custom
or a reduction in trading activity on The NasdagcktMarket as a result of such changes could hamatarial adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and operating results.

We are subject to extensive regulation that may tmaour ability to compete with less regulated ergi

Under current federal securities laws, changesiimales and operations, including our pricing stuge, must be reviewed, and in many
cases explicitly approved by the SEC. The SEC npayave, disapprove, or recommend changes to prigptiss we submit. In addition, the
SEC may delay the initiation of the public
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comment process or the approval process. This delayproving changes, or the altering of any psgglochange, could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition andrapieg results. We must compete not only with E@Ng are not subject to the same SEC
approval process, but also with other exchangeashtige lower regulation and surveillance costs tanThere is a risk that trading will shift
to exchanges that charge lower fees because, antlbegreasons, they spend significantly less onlatign services.

In addition, Brut and some subsidiaries of INET lareker-dealers. Broker-dealers are subject tolatigns that did not apply to us
before the Brut acquisition. Any failure to comphith these broker-dealer regulations could haveaterial effect on the operation of our
business, financial condition and operating res#@ist is currently the subject of an investigatipnthe NASD. An adverse outcome may
result in the imposition of fines or other sancti@m Brut.

We have self-regulatory organization obligations @also operate a for-profit business, and these twkes may create conflicts of interest.

We have obligations to regulate and monitor aééigsibn The Nasdaq Stock Market and ensure compliawtb applicable law and the
rules of our market by market participants and Magslisted companies. The SEC staff has expressezboo about potential conflicts of
interest of “for-profit” markets performing the n@lgtory functions of a self-regulatory organizatidvhile we outsource the majority of our
market regulation functions to NASD, we do perfasgulatory functions related to our listed compardad our market. In addition, as part
of our application for exchange registration, weeéhagreed that 20% of the directors of our exchaudsidiary will be elected by member:
our exchange rather than the equity holders ofabsidiary. Any failure by us to diligently andrfgiregulate our market or to otherwise
fulfill our regulatory obligations could significiig harm our reputation, prompt SEC scrutiny andeaigely affect our business and reputa

Failure to protect our intellectual property rightsould harm our brand-building efforts and abilityo compete effectively.

To protect our intellectual property rights, weyreh a combination of trademark laws, copyrightdapatent laws, trade secret
protection, confidentiality agreements and otherti@actual arrangements with our affiliates, cliestsategic partners and others. The
protective steps that we have taken may be inadedoaeter misappropriation of our proprietaroimfiation. We may be unable to detect
unauthorized use of, or take appropriate stepsaftaree, our intellectual property rights. We haggistered, or applied to register, our
trademarks in the United States and in over 40darpirisdictions and have pending U.S. and foreigplications for other trademarks.
Effective trademark, copyright, patent and tradeeteprotection may not be available in every couint which we offer or intend to offer o
services. Failure to protect our intellectual pmypadequately could harm our brand and affectadniity to compete effectively. Further,
defending our intellectual property rights coulduk in the expenditure of significant financialdamanagerial resources, which could
adversely affect our business, financial condiiod operating results.

Failure to attract and retain key personnel may aatgely affect our ability to conduct our business.

Our future success depends, in large part, upoke@uemployees who execute our business stratedjidentify and pursue strategic
opportunities and initiatives. In particular, we &ighly dependent on the continued services oeRdbreifeld, our President and Chief
Executive Officer, and other executive officers &eg employees who possess extensive financial emknowledge and technology skills.
We do not have employment agreements with someroéxecutive officers, which would prevent thenmfrteaving and competing with us.
We do not maintain “key persofife insurance policies on any of our executivaagffs, managers, key employees or technical peetofhe
loss of the services of these persons for any reasowell as any negative market or industry patrae arising from that loss, could have a
material adverse effect on our business. We mayr ioasts to replace key employees that leave, andlility to execute our business model
could be impaired if we cannot replace departinglegees in a timely manner.
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We are subject to risks relating to litigation armbtential securities laws liability.

Many aspects of our business potentially involMessantial liability risks. While we enjoy immunifyom private suits for self-
regulatory organization activities, we and our lmekealer affiliates could be exposed to liabiliyder federal and state securities laws, other
federal and state laws and court decisions, asagallles and regulations promulgated by the SE#rer regulatory agencies. These risks
include, among others, potential liability from pliges over the terms of a trade, or claims thastem failure or delay cost a customer
money, that we entered into an unauthorized traiosaor that we provided materially false or mislewy statements in connection with a
securities transaction. As we intend to defendsargh litigation actively, significant legal expessmuld be incurred. An adverse resolution
of any future lawsuit or claim against us or odiliates could have an adverse effect on our bussinBnancial condition and operating rest

In addition, we are subject to oversight by the SH@& SEC regularly examines us and our brokeredesdfiliates for compliance with
our obligations under the securities laws. In thgecof non-compliance with our obligations undesthlaws, we or our broker-dealer
affiliates could be subject to investigation andi¢ial or administrative proceedings that may resusubstantial penalties.

We are in the process of becoming a holding comp#mt will depend on cash flow from our subsidiasiéo meet our obligations.

At our 2005 annual meeting of stockholders, oumgpsecurityholders approved our reorganizatioa ahew holding company
structure through the transfer of all or substdigtell of our assets and liabilities to one or maf our subsidiaries. This restructuring
facilitated SEC approval of our registration asadional securities exchange. Once we affect tlEgweturing, we will be a holding company
with no material assets other than the equity @stisrof our subsidiaries. Accordingly, all our gems will be conducted by our subsidiaries.
As a holding company, we will require dividends atlder payments from our subsidiaries to meet caghirements or to pay dividends. If
our subsidiaries are unable to pay us dividendsaeaike other payments to us when needed, we wilhiable to pay dividends or satisfy our
obligations.

NASD will continue to maintain voting control ovars until we meet SEC conditions to operate as anteange and may have interests tt
are different from yours and, therefore, may makeaisions that are adverse to your interests.

The SEC requires that NASD retain greater than 60%e voting control over us until we operate agachange and no longer rely on
NASD’s SRO license to operate The Nasdaqg Stock MaN&ED maintains voting control through the singléstanding share of our series
D preferred stock. Therefore, NASD will continuerédain voting control over us until we meet SE@ditons to operate as an exchange. As
a result, until such time, NASD will continue toveathe ability, if it so elects, to dictate the aarne of matters brought to a vote of our
stockholders. NASD may have interests that conflith the interests of holders of our common std¢ASD’s voting control may delay or
prevent a change in control, impede a merger, diolagion, takeover, or other business combinatiomiving us or discourage a potential
acquirer from making a tender offer or otherwiderapting to obtain control of us or result in andhat may be opposed by other
stockholders.

The SEC'’s approval of our application to operatenational securities exchange contains conditionsathmust be satisfied before we
implement the order.

On January 13, 2006, the SEC approved our apitéti register a newly formed limited liability cpany, The NASDAQ Stock
Market LLC, as an exchange. The SEC’s approvalrardetains several conditions that must be satidfigfore we can operate as an
exchange, some of which are subject to SEC appamuhke actions of third parties. The primary cdietdiimposed by the SEC requires us to
become a participant in national market systemsplge will need to pay amounts, which have notagein determined, but which may be
significant, in order to join these plans. Addittly, we may need to adjust our business pract@@sin these plans in a manner that will
impose costs on us.

30



Table of Contents

Other conditions require NASD to offer a facilityrfdisseminating over-the-counter quotations anigcting over-the-counter trade
reports, for non-Nasdag-listed securities. Satigfa®f this condition is dependent on, among othargs, NASD’s ability to obtain the
approval of the participants in certain of the oadil market system plans for this facility. We déouné to rely on NASD'’s SRO license to
operate The Nasdaq Stock Market and all actiorentély us pursuant to authority delegated by NASDsabject to review, ratification or
rejection by NASD’s Board of Governors.

Volatility in our stock price could adversely affeour stockholders.

The market price of our common stock is likely ®oumlatile. Broad market and industry factors mdyeaisely affect the market price
our common stock, regardless of our actual opayagierformance. Factors that could cause fluctuatioour stock price may include, among
other things:

e actual or anticipated variations in our quartege@ting results;
» changes in financial estimates by us or by anyri@esianalysts who might cover our stock;

« conditions or trends in our industry, includingdireg volumes, regulatory changes or changes isd¢barities marketplace,
including with respect to the NYSE/Archipelago nem

e announcements by us or our competitors of sigmifiegquisitions, strategic partnerships or divests;
» announcements of investigations or regulatory soyudf our operations or lawsuits filed against us;
* additions or departures of key personnel; and

» sales of our common stock, including sales of ammon stock by our directors and officers or otaitegic investors.

The market price of our common stock could be negaly affected by sales of substantial amounts af oommon stock in the public
markets.

Sales by our stockholders of a substantial numbghares of our common stock in the public markatshe perception that these sales
might occur, could cause the market price of ounmmon stock to decline or could impair our abilibyraise capital through a future sale of
pay for acquisitions using our equity securities.ok March 8, 2006, there were 92,490,271 sharesiofommon stock outstanding. All of
our outstanding shares are freely transferableegbshares held by our “affiliates,” as definedRinle 144 under the Securities Act of 1933,
and 14,201,625 shares of common stock acquirelllerta be acquired from NASD upon exercise of watsassued by NASD, or the
Warrant Shares. The Warrant Share are held byrduarel former NASD members. The Warrant Sharesaireurrently registered under the
Securities Act and are transferable only to thempermitted by securities laws, such as Rule Wetplan to provide for the sale of the
remaining Warrant Shares by filing a prospectugpkipent with the SEC no later than May 2006. Uganfiling of the prospectus
supplement, holders of these Warrant Shares willibe to freely transfer these shares. If any efwhirrants expire without being exercised,
then we expect NASD would be able to sell the ulyiey shares under the prospectus supplement.

The number of freely transferable shares of ourrmomstock will increase upon any exercise of ontiteg options pursuant to our
stock compensation and stock award plan for oud@yeps. There were 5,316,755 options exercisabté Becember 31, 2005 at a weighted
average exercise price of $10.30. The number akshaf our common stock outstanding will also iaseupon any conversion of our
convertible notes held by SLP and Hellman & Friedroatheir respective affiliates, which are conimetat a conversion price of $14.50 per
share into approximately 30.7 million shares of cmummon stock, or any exercise of our warrants hgl8LP and Hellman & Friedman or
their respective affiliates, which are exercisadila price of $14.50 per share into approximatedyniillion shares of our common stock. The
notes and the shares underlying the notes andah@anis are not transferable without our consetit 8aptember 8, 2006. In addition, the
notes and the shares underlying the notes andah@amis may only be sold pursuant to a

31



Table of Contents

registration statement, prospectus supplement examption from registration. We have granted Shé ldellman & Friedman and their
affiliates demand and piggyback registration righith respect to the convertible notes and theeshaf our common stock underlying those
notes and warrants. These shares become entitthd trenefits of such registration rights as easlyseptember 2006. Upon the effectiveness
of such a registration, all shares or notes covbyed registration statement will be freely tramskbde.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation andpproved exchange rules, including provisions indied to address SEC concerns, g
Delaware law could delay or prevent a change in thof our company and entrench current manageme

Our organizational documents place restrictionghenvoting rights of certain stockholders. Our ifiedte of incorporation limits the
voting rights of persons (either alone or with tethparties) owning more than 5% of the then onthtey votes entitled to be cast on any
matter, other than NASD or any other person as loesgpproved by our board of directors prior totthme such person owns more than 59
the then outstanding votes entitled to be casthgmaatter. The SEC has proposed rules that wilbisepvoting and ownership limitations on
broker-dealers of 20%, but not require other votngwnership limitations. We have not determinethi time if we will seek to raise our
5% voting limitation if the SEC adopts the proposglé. Any change to the 5% voting limitation wouktjuire SEC approval.

In response to the SEC’s concern about a concinmtrat our ownership, our approved exchange rulekide a rule prohibiting any
Nasdaq member or any person associated with a jasdmber beneficially owning more than 20% of autstanding voting interests. SE
consent would be required before any investor cobtdin more than a 20% voting interest in us. BExge rules will also require the SEC’s
approval of any business ventures with one of ceimirvers, subject to exceptions.

In addition, our organizational documents contamwvisions that may be deemed to have an anti-takesffect and may delay, deter or
prevent a change of control of us, such as a tewitiar or takeover proposal that might result jpramium over the market price for our
common stock. Additionally, certain of these prasis make it more difficult to bring about a chargéhe composition of our board of
directors, which could result in entrenchment afent management.

In addition, our certificate of incorporation angtlaws:

e require supermajority stockholder approval to reendivectors;

» do not permit stockholders to act by written conserio call special meetings;

e require certain advance notice for director nonidmest and actions to be taken at annual meetings;

* require supermajority stockholder approval withpexs to certain amendments to our certificate obiporation and constitution
(including in respect of the provisions set forboee); anc

e authorize the issuance of undesignated preferoat,sor “blank check” preferred stock, that coutdissued by our board of
directors without stockholder approv

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation,laviDGCL, imposes restrictions on mergers andrdibisiness combinations
between us and any holder of 15% or more (or, mesoases, a holder who previously held 15% or mafreur common stock. In general,
Delaware law prohibits a publicly held corporatfoom engaging in a “business combination” with amérested stockholder” for three years
after the stockholder becomes an interested stéd&hainless the corporation’s board of directord stockholders approve the business
combination in a prescribed manner.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.

Item 2. Properties.

In June 2005, we completed the sale of the buildiagpwned in Rockville, Maryland to NASD for $1h@llion. This facility was our
disaster recovery site. Effective September 200bdasaster recovery site was relocated to a fharty outsource facility.

The following is a description of Nasdaq's matepedperties as of December 31, 2005.

Size
(approximate,

in square feet

Location Use Type of Possession

New York, New York Location of MarketSite 26,00( Leased by Nasde

New York, New York Nasdaq headquarte 115,000  Subleased from NASI

New York, New York General office spac 53,000  Subleased to third parti

Rockville, Maryland General office spac 78,00C Leased by Nasde

Trumbull, Connecticut Location for Nasdaq'’s technology 162,00 Owned by Nasdaq
services and market operatic

Trumbull, Connecticut Location for Nasdag's systems 47,000 Leased by Nasdaq
engineering

In addition to the above, we currently lease adstiative, sales and disaster preparedness fegiiiti€hicago, Illinois; Menlo Park,
California; San Francisco, California; Jersey CNew Jersey; London, England, Washington, DC armgeBa, Oregon.

We continue to explore options for decreasing eal estate commitments. As of December 31, 20@534square feet of space was
available for sublease.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently a party to any litigation tieg believe could have a material adverse effedwrbusiness, financial condition, or
operating results. However, from time to time, ve@dbeen threatened with, or named as a defenddatisuits or involved in regulatory
proceedings.

As a result of the INET acquisition, Nasdaq hasobee an interested party with respect to a pendid§Dl arbitration between Instinet
and Archipelago. In response to an NASD arbitratilaim by an Instinet subsidiary in 2002, Archiggddiled a counter-claim alleging
(1) that Island and Instinet conspired to set fa®s (2) that Island used dominant market poweniargi-competitive manner. In February
2003, Archipelago filed a separate NASD arbitratitaim against Instinet seeking to recoup feesithad paid Instinet, alleging that the f¢
Instinet charged were differential and violated ®ation ATS, and alleging an antitrust claim simiia that described above. The two
arbitrations have been consolidated, bringing tiralined claim against Instinet and one of its gibsies to $213.0 million. The
consolidated arbitration has been set for heargigrb an NASD arbitration panel. The parties hdweat completed discovery and Nasdaq
has proposed that the parties exchangdr@akemotions. We do not believe that the impactha$ arbitration should result in a material acde
effect on our business, financial condition, ormapieg results.
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Securitydolders.
No matters were submitted to a vote of Nasdaqskstwlders during the fourth quarter of 2005.

Part Il

Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters.

Market Information. Our common stock has been listed on the NasdagidtMarket since February 9, 2005, under the tiskenbol
“NDAQ.” From July 1, 2002 through February 8, 2005y common stock traded on the OTC Bulletin Baarder the symbol “NDAQ.”

Before February 9, 2005, there was a limited traairarket for our common stock. The following cHastls the quarterly high and low
bid prices for shares of our common stock for 2804 2005. These prices are between dealers anok daciude retail markups, markdowns
or other fees and commissions and may not represtuml transactions.

High Low

Fiscal 2005

Fourth quarte $45.2¢ $25.3¢

Third quartel 25.7¢ 18.8(

Second quarte 20.0C 9.81

First quartel 11.8¢€ 7.6C
Fiscal 2004

Fourth quarte $10.5( $ 6.4C

Third quartel 7.0C 5.5¢

Second quarte 8.8( 6.3(C

First quartel 12.6( 8.5¢

As of March 8, 2006, we had approximately 1,013l of record of our common stock. As of MarcB@)6, the closing price of our
common stock was $38.56. We do not pay, and damtitipate paying in the foreseeable future, ashaividends on our equity.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data.

The following sets forth selected consolidatedritial information on a historical basis for Nasdahe following information should |
read in conjunction with the consolidated finansi@tements and notes thereto of Nasdaq inclugesavbEre in this Form 10-K.

Statements of Income Data
Total revenue

Cost of revenue®

Gross margir

Total expense

Net income (loss) from continuir
operations

Net income (loss) from discontinu

operations, net of ta®
Net income (loss
Net income (loss) applicable to comnmr
stockholder:
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per sh
Basic earnings (loss) per sha
Continuing operation
Discontinued operatior

Total basic earnings (loss) per sh

Diluted earnings (loss) per sha
Continuing operation
Discontinued operatior

Total diluted earnings (loss) per sh

Weighted average common shares
outstanding for earnings (loss) per
share;

Basic
Diluted

Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalents and investr
availablefor-sale

Total asset$)
Total long-term liabilitie$®
Total stockholders’ equittp)

Selected Consolidated Financial Data

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands, except share amounts)
$ 879,91¢ $ 540,44: $ 589,84! $ 787,15 $ 848,07(
(353,909 (55,84 — — —
526,01: 484,59¢ 589,84! 787,15¢ 848,07(
412,34¢ 476,41: 647,15¢ 675,30° 764,53:
61,69( 1,80¢ (45,119 65,02! 60,05¢
— 9,55¢ (60,33F) (21,899 (19,597)
61,69( 11,36: (105,44’ 43,12¢ 40,46
55,09: (1,826) (113,729 33,36¢ 40,46¢
$ 0.6€ $ (0.14 $ (0.6¢) $ 0.6€ $ 0.52
— 0.1z (0.77) (0.26) (0.17)
$ 0.6€ $ (0.02) $ (1.45) $ 0.4C $ 0.3t
$ 0.57 $ (0.14) $ (0.6¢) $ 0.6€ $ 0.52
- 0.12 (0.77) (0.26) (0.17)
$ 0.57 $ (0.02) $ (1.45) $ 0.4¢ $ 0.3t
80,543,39 78,607,12 78,378,37 83,650,47 116,458,90
111,913,71 78,607,12 78,378,37 84,073,38 116,739,69
December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
(in thousands)

$ 344,60¢ $ 233,09¢ $ 334,63 $ 423,58¢ $ 521,76(
2,046,78I 814,82( 851,25 1,175,91. 1,326,25.
1,467,45: 449,94 452,92° 636,21( 529,02¢
253,00° 156,56 160,69¢ 270,87 518,38t

@  Pursuant to the Emerging Issues Task Force, or Eiffthe Financial Accounting Standards Board I884 9, “Reporting Revenue
Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Ag&tasdaq records execution revenues from transaatiogrsuted through Brut and INET o

gross basis in revenues &
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"ds expenses such as liquidity rebate paynasntsst of revenues as Brut and INET act as pahdiefore the second quarter
, Nasde's other execution revenues were reported nefgjafdity rebates as Nasdaq does not act as princ¢ioavever, during and
» the second quarter of 2005 under Né's new Limitation of Liability Rule, Nasdaq, subjgo certain caps, provides
yensation for losses due to malfunctions obtider-execution systems of The Nasdaq Market Centenefbie, pursuant to EITF
), Nasdaq herecorded all execution revenues from transactieesuged through The Nasdaq Market Center on a dpass in
ution and trade reporting revenues and hasdeddiquidity rebate payments as cost of revemmsadasdaq now has certain r
ciated with trade execution subject to rulé@ditions and caps. This rule change in fact wasamada prospective basis beginn
1, 2005, as required under U.S. generallyeated accounting principles. This rule change dichave a material impact on t
olidated financial position or results of opierss of Nasdaq in the second, third or fourth tgrarof 2005

@  Net of tax provision (benefit) for income taxes$s595, $(3,663) and $128 in 2004, 2003 and 2@3hactively, and $0 in 200

®  Includes continuing and discontinued operation2f#3, 2002 and 2001.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analgéthe financial condition and results of openas of Nasdaq in conjunction with
our consolidated financial statements and relatgdsincluded in this Form 10-K, as well as thewdsion under “ltem 1A. Risk Factors.”
We have reclassified prior period amounts preseintéte discussion and analysis to conform to B@52presentation.

Overview

Nasdaq had a highly successful year in 2005. @antiial performance improved substantially, goirgrf net income of $1.8 million
and a loss of $0.14 per diluted share in 2004etantome of $61.7 million or $0.57 per diluted han 2005. We also acquired the INET
ECN, which we expect will provide us with a techogitally superior trading platform, enhance outigbio compete with U.S. and
international market centers, and generate cogigathrough technology. We describe the INET agitjoh in more detail below. We expect
to begin migrating trading activity to the INET fftam early in the third quarter of 2006. The migwa of the customer communication
networks resulting from the migration of tradindiaity to the INET platform is expected to continumo the fourth quarter, resulting in a full
integration of INET in the fourth quarter of 20@uring 2005, we also continued with our cost reucprogram, and were able to decrease
expenses by $64.1 million, or 13.5%, in 2005.

We have recently completed several other acquisitimcluding:
. On September 7, 2004, we acquired Brut for totsha@nsideration of $190.0 million.

. On January 1, 2005, we acquired the remainingesten Nasdaq Insurance Agency, and on Octobedd5,2ve acquired
Carpenter Moore, adding independent insurance baigkeand risk management services to the rangmdfipts that we offe

. On February 6, 2006, we acquired Shareholder.cdrichawill allow us to offer a comprehensive suiférvestor relations
products and service

Our 2005 results were positively impacted by insesain gross margin (revenues less cost of reviimoes our Market Services
segment and revenues from our Issuer Services seg@mss margin from Market Services increased®gillion, or 7.5%, to $299.7
million in 2005, compared with $278.7 million in@®. This increase was primarily due to increasesiimmarket share of trade executions
increase in the percentage of share volume reptwthidsdaq’s systems, additional trading activipnf the Brut and INET acquisitions,
increases in market subscription users, and chandbhe amount shared under Nasdaq's General Rev@haring Program. These increases
were partially offset by amounts that Nasdaq paiticaiidity rebates due to increases in marketeshad activity from Brut and INET and
changes to the liquidity rebate tiers. Also, péistiaffsetting the increase in gross margin were ffeductions for The Nasdag Market Center
introduced in 2004 and a decline in the subsctilse for access services legacy products, whidtisgentinued as of December 31, 2005.
Issuer Services segment revenues increased $20@mor 9.9%, to $226.1 million in 2005, companeih $205.8 million in 2004, primari
due to an increase in Nasdaq's annual listing ifepgemented in 2005 and revenues from the Nasdagdmce Agency, including from the
acquisition of Carpenter Moore. These current amat gear items are discussed in more detail below.

Our priorities in 2006 are to complete the inteigrabf INET, continue to increase our market shafrd.S equity trading and company
listings, and raise the value of our proprietaryketdata products, while maintaining the disciplivecessary to complete our cost reduction
program. At the same time, we will look for additéd sources of revenue through enhanced produstiadfs and/or potential acquisitions t
complement our business. In addition, as contemgly our acquisition strategy, we have submittadrabinding indication of interest to
acquire the LSE. See “Business—Competition—AcqoisiStrategy.”

INET Acquisition

On December 8, 2005, we completed our acquisitidnstinet Group Incorporated and the immediataleesf Instinet's Institutional
Brokerage division to an affiliate of Silver Lakarhers, or SLP, a private equity firm. As a resftilthese transactions, Nasdaq owns INET
ECN. The aggregate purchase price for all outstandi
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shares of Instinet was approximately $1.878 billioeash. Nasdaq paid total cash consideratioppfaximately $934.5 million, subject to
post-closing adjustments, and SLP paid approxim#&207.5 million of the purchase price pursuarthisale of the Institutional Brokerage
division. The balance of the $1.878 billion refeedh part, Instinet’s available cash, and, in paash dividend of approximately $109.0
million, which Instinet previously paid to its stdwlders from the net after-tax proceeds of the shlnstinet’'s Lynch, Jones & Ryan, Inc., or
LJR, brokerage subsidiary. As of December 31, 20@&daq incurred direct acquisition costs of $3dil8on in connection with the
acquisition of Instinet.

Nasdaq funded the Instinet acquisition throughstile of Instinet’s Institutional Brokerage divisj@acredit facility, and the previous
issuance of convertible notes and warrants to SidPHellman & Friedman, or H&F (another private agdirm, which has been an investor
in Nasdag since 2001), and with cash on hand frasdslg and Instinet. See Note 3, “Business Combimati and Note 7, “Debt
Obligations,” to the consolidated financial statemsefor further discussion.

We believe that INET’s technologically superior daa cost trading platform will enable us to congatore effectively for trade
executions in NYSE—and Amex-listed securities anddliver the increased capabilities demanded lbyostomers. By the end of 2006, we
expect the INET acquisition to begin to accretstazkholders, primarily as a result of technologgtcsavings and other synergies, including
cost savings from operating a combined trading'@iat, reduced clearing and settlement expensesg¢egdoccupancy, compensation and
benefits costs, and increased market data reve®ue2005 results include activity related to INEGm December 8, 2005 through
December 31, 2005.

Business Segments

We manage, operate and provide products and serivice/o business segments, our Market Servicessegand our Issuer Services
segment. The Market Services segment includesaunsadction-based business (Nasdag Market Centgiuamarket information services
business (Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptionsghware interrelated because the transaction-bHasgidess generates the quote and trade
information that we sell to market participants aadia vendors. The Issuer Services segment incluttesecurities listings business and our
insurance business (Corporate Client Group) andioancial products business (Nasdaq Financial ®rts). The companies listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market represent a diverse arraydofsinies. This diversity of Nasc-listed companies allows us to develop industrycgjme
and other Nasdaqg indexes that we use to develoficamse financial products and associated devigatiBecause of these interrelationships,
our management allocates resources, assesseqati@ and manages these businesses as two sepgraents. See Note 18, “Segments,”
to the consolidated financial statements for furttiscussion.

Discontinued Operations

Included in our 2004 results is a net gain of $filion from discontinued operations related to thkease of a reserve for potential
claims established in December 2003 in conjunatidh the transfer of Nasdaq's ownership of Nasdatpge S.A./N.V. Following the
transfer of Nasdaq’s interest in Nasdaqg Europeltefrom this subsidiary were reclassified as aiigimued operations in Nasdaq's
Consolidated Statements of Income. All prior peiiddrmation has been presented on the same IsessNote 19, “Discontinued
Operations,” to the consolidated financial stateiméor further discussion. The disclosures in Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
reflect results from continuing operations, unlef®erwise noted.

Cost Reductions and Operating Efficiencies

During the past several years, we have taken signif steps to grow our business and enhance oupetitive position. We have
successfully reduced our technology costs, elirrthaion-core products, scaled back our workforcecandolidated our real estate facilities
and operations. We expect to realize additionahggvfrom the outsourcing of our disaster recowstems, which began in September 2
As a result of
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outsourced disaster recovery systems, we soldestale that was no longer needed to house outelisasovery data center. We are in the
process of migrating our technology to INET’s tealogically advanced, low cost platform. We alsotommed to take steps to exit low-
margin products, primarily relating to providingoprietary network connectivity to The Nasdaq Ma®enter. As of December 31, 2005, we
completed the phase out of these low margin agarsices and expect our revenues and the corresgpexipenses to decrease as Nasdaq
migrates to industry standards and third party petal The net impact of migrating to these industandards and third party products will be
an increase to Nasdaq’s operating results.

As a result of our cost reduction steps, in 2005edriced total direct expenses by $60.3 milliorl.40%, from $430.8 million to
$370.5 million as compared with the same period0ff4. During 2005, we incurred incremental nettaseexpenses of approximately $20.0
million in connection with taking actions to impmwur operational efficiency. Excluding the releaba sublease loss reserve described in
Note 4,“2005 and 2004 Cost Reductions and Strategic ReVimtal pre-tax charges taken during 2005 were $3aillion. During 2004, we
incurred similar charges of approximately $62.6ioml See Note 4, “2005 and 2004 Cost ReductiomsStrategic Review,” to the
consolidated financial statements for further désbon.

Some of the key steps we have taken to reduceasts and expenses include:

» Reducing our computer operations and data commtimnsaexpense primarily through the renegotiatibonamtracts with major
suppliers and a reduction in the number of techmpliperating platforms that we support. In 2005, camputer operations and
data communications expense was $62.4 million coetpaith $98.9 million for 2004, a decrease of $3®illion, or 36.9%

* Reducing our headcount by eliminating 69 positidnsng 2005. However, headcount increased fromat&ecember 31, 2004 to
865 at December 31, 2005, as a result of 147 erapkogcquired in the INET, Carpenter Moore and Npbturance Agency
transactions

» Consolidating our real estate facilities from ocgng approximately 528,800 square feet as of Deegrih, 2004 to occupying
approximately 442,800 square feet as of Decembe2@15. As of December 31, 2005, Nasdaq is comdnitepproximately
512,400 square feet; of these amounts, we havetsabproximately 69,600 square fe

Sources of Revenues
Market Services
Nasdaq Market Cente

The Nasdaqg Market Center is our transaction-bakdfbpm that provides our market participants vatitess to The Nasdaq Stock
Market execution services, such as quoting andngachpabilities, and reporting services such adetreporting and risk management. We
provide these quoting, trading, and trade reposiryices for securities listed on The Nasdaq MatiMarket and The Nasdaq Capital
Market, formerly known as The Nasdaq SmallCap Miarked up until September 30, 2005, for secur#igthorized for trading on the
OTCBB and for securities that are traded in ther@kre-Counter, or OTC, market by NASD members. &ffe October 1, 2005, we
transferred responsibility for the OTCBB and OTQMASD. See Note 11, “Related Party Transactiorsthé consolidated financial
statements for further discussion.

We provide our customers with the ability to exeduades electronically in equity securities. Thenary fee for these execution
services is a transaction execution charge, assessa per share basis to the party that accassdigitiidity provided by another market
participant. In most circumstances, we credit diporof the per share execution charge as a reébdbe market participant that provides the
liquidity. We also earn revenues based on our sbitrading securities listed on the NYSE and Amdany of our competitors engage in
aggressive price competition by reducing the treisa fees they charge customers for trade exetutie a
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result of this competition, during 2005, we sigediintly reduced the transaction fees we chargeustomers for trade execution, particularly
for large-volume customers. In early 2006, in cario® with our acquisition of INET, we adjusted dransaction fees to harmonize our
pricing structure with INET, whose fees had beaghbr than ours. We plan to periodically re-exanunepricing structure to ensure that our
fees remain competitive.

The Nasdaqg Market Center also provides three pyimarenue-generating reporting services: tradertigyp trade comparison and risk
management. Although we do not currently chargekatgrarticipants for most of the trades they repmris, we do earn revenues for all
trades reported to us in the form of shared marietmation revenues under the UTP Plan.

Trade comparison revenues are generated by mattshinmarket participants to a trade that they hadamitted to us for trade
reporting for a fee. We also provide clearing firwigh risk management services for a fee to aisé&sh in monitoring their exposure to their
correspondent brokers.

Finally, The Nasdaq Market Center provides marlketigipants with the ability to access, processpldiy and integrate orders and
guotes. We provide our market participants withesalalternatives for accessing The Nasdaq Marketet for a fee. During 2005 we
completed the necessary steps to exit low-margéiniesses such as access services legacy prodeets—®perating ResultSasdaq Marke
Center .”

Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptit

The primary source of revenues for Nasdaq Marketi&ss Subscriptions is the collection and dissetidm of price quotations and
information regarding price and volume of executades. We collect information, distribute it aradrerevenues in two capacities: as a
member of the UTP Plan and as a distributor ofpwaprietary market data. We also operate as thieigixe Securities Information Processor
as part of the UTP Plan for the collection andelisimation of the best bid and offer information &t transaction information from the
exchanges and markets that quote and trade in Ndistied securities. We do not generate any préfis our role as the Securities
Information Processor.

In our role as the Securities Information Processerdisseminate information to data vendors, whhiehdata vendors then sell to the
public. After deducting our expenses incurred asShcurities Information Processor, we distribheetape fees to the respective UTP Plan
participants, including ourselves, based on a coatlin of the participants’ respective annual tradieme and share volume. Since our
sharing in the UTP Plan is based on our markeesivar revenues from the sale of market informapimducts and services are under
competitive pressure from other securities exchanigat trade Nasdag-listed securities. As a resalthave implemented the General
Revenue Sharing Program, which provides an inceriitiw quoting market participants to send ordecsraport trades to The Nasdaq Market
Center to stabilize Nasdag'’s share of UTP Planmags. Once we become operational as an exchangeillwe longer have to share our
revenues under the UTP Plan related to informattosut our individual market participantgiotations. We will still be required to share L
Plan revenues related to trade reports and thepbiestd quotations in our market.

We also sell proprietary data products to markeigpants that choose to display trading intecasThe Nasdaq Market Center. We
offer a range of proprietary data products inclgdiiotalView, our flagship market depth quote prddMée operate several other proprietary
services and data feed products, including the BItFund Quotation Service; the Mutual Fund Dissetidam Service; our financial websites,
Nasdag.com and NasdaqTrader.com; and Nasdaq IridegrBination Service. In January 2005, we laundteestag OpenView, which
similar to TotalView, but displays market depth foY SE-listed and Amex-listed stocks. In additiorg also introduced OrderView and
ModelView in 2005. See Item 1. “Business—Producid Services” for a discussion of our proprietarjadaroducts.
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Issuer Service:
Corporate Client Group

The Corporate Client Group provides customer supgmwices and products to Nasdetied companies and is responsible for obtai
new listings on The Nasdaq Stock Market. We chagigers an initial listing fee, a fee for listinfaalditional shares and an annual fee. The
initial listing fee for securities listed on The $tfq Stock Market includes a listing applicatiom &&d a total shares outstanding fee. The fee
for listing of additional shares is based on thaltshares outstanding, which we review quartéhnual fees for securities listed on The
Nasdaq Stock Market are based on total sharesaadtsg. In the beginning of 2005, Nasdag incredglsecamount of its annual fees for b
The Nasdag National Market and The Nasdaq Capitak®t in a range of approximately 14.0% to 31.084idl listing and listing of
additional shares fees are recognized on a strilghbasis over estimated service periods, whielsar and four years, respectively, base
our historical listing experience, pursuant to thguirements of SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin Top®: Revenue Recognition (“SAB Topic
13").

On January 1, 2005, we purchased the remaining®hterest in the Nasdaq Insurance Agency from fihominal consideration.
The agency provides insurance brokerage serviaksertializes in the director and officer liabiligurance market. On October 1, 2005
completed the acquisition of Carpenter Moore, aBancisco-based insurance brokerage firm speiciglim management liability. The
purchases of the Nasdaq Insurance Agency and Garpdnore provide current and future Nasdiatpd companies and other customers
a full service corporate insurance broker offelgngtomized risk management advice and insurancemlant services. Carpenter Moore also
added depth of brokerage expertise in directorsofficers, errors and omissions and other manageliadaility insurance products, and has
significantly expanded regional coverage. Our 2@&hilts include the full year results of the Nasbieyirance Agency and activity related to
Carpenter Moore from October 1, 2005 through Deearhh, 2005. See Note 3, “Business Combinationstfi¢ consolidated financial
statements for further discussion.

Nasdaq Financial Product

Nasdaq Financial Products is responsible for intoaay products that leverage, extend and enharecBalsdaq brand. Nasdaq Financial
Products oversees the licensing of third party ldgdatanded financial products based on Nasdaq @sdéx addition to licensing revenues,
these products, particularly ETFs, can lead togiased investments in companies listed on The NaStedx Market, which, in turn, could
benefit our Market Services revenues. The NasdaediQQQ is one of the most actively traded ETRlénworld and the most actively
traded listed equity security in the United States.

On December 1, 2004, the QQQ transferred its §isiinNasdaq from Amex. Nasdaq and Amex reachedtaahdecision to transfer the
QQQ earlier than the contractual date of June 2@@&des under the symbol “QQQQ.” We have aldmutuced financial products based on
other Nasdaq indexes, including the Nasdaq Conmmpbsiex and the Nasdag Biotechnology Index. Weekelthat these products leverage,
extend and enhance the Nasdaq brand.

We license the right to use our trademarks in cotioie with trading QQQ under the UTP Plan to majimck markets in the United
States. Every major options market in the UnitexteSt also licenses the right to use our trademarkade the equity options on QQQ from
us. In addition, QQQ has a national advertisingmaign, which is separate from ours and paid foRIQ, which demonstrates the succe:
the companies included in the Nasdaqg-100 Index.

Nasdagq's ability to collect licensing revenuesdptions on ETFs that track its indexes (such as RQ&Y be impacted by the outcome
of two pending cases involving other index prov&dd@rhe U.S. District Court for the Southern DigtoENew York recently dismissed these
actions brought by McGraw-Hill and Dow Jones agaamsoptions market that threatened to trade optih@sed on their proprietary indexes
without a license.
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Both plaintiffs have appealed the dismissals ansididg, while not a party to these actions, has &edmicus brief in both cases supporting
plaintiffs’ positions. Nasdag intends to protestright to require licenses with options markett thade options on ETFs that track its
indexes. Should the plaintiffs not be successfahis litigation, it could impact our ability to Bect licensing revenues.

Nasdaq’'s Operating Results

The following table includes data showing averagitydshare volume in Nasdag-listed securities &edpercentage of share volume of
Nasdarlisted securities reported to The Nasdaqg Markett€re In addition, the table shows drivers for msuer Services segment, including
initial public offerings and number of listed conmpes. In evaluating the performance of our businegssenior management closely watches
these key drivers.

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Average daily share volume in Nasrlisted securities (in billions 1.8C 1.81 1.6¢
Percentage of share volume of Nasdag-listed sexsurgported to The Nasdaq

Market Centef? 57.(% 51.2% 67.(%
Initial public offerings 12¢€ 14¢ 54
Secondary offering 222 23¢ 19C
New listings® 26¢ 26C 134
Number of listed compani«® 3,20¢ 3,271 3,33¢

@  For 2005, consists of all trades in Nasdaq-lisexuigties reported to The Nasdaq Market Centeredkas INET activity since
December 8, 200!
@ Includes initial public offerings, including thosempleted on a best efforts basis, and listingssWwiched from other listing venues.

@  Number of listed companies as of period ¢

The following table shows our total revenues bynsegt, cost of revenues and gross margin:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(in millions)
Market Service: $ 653.¢ $334.5 $383.7
Issuer Service 226.1 205.¢ 204.2
Other 0.2 0.1 1.¢
Total revenue $ 879.¢ $540.4 $589.¢
Liquidity rebates (255.5 (38.7) —
Brokerage, clearance and exchange (98.9 (7.9 —
Total cost of revenue (353.9) (55.9) —
Gross margir $ 526.( $484.¢ $589.¢
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MARKET SERVICES
The following table shows total revenues, coseokenues and gross margin from our Market Serviegsent:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(in millions)
Nasdaq Market Cente
Execution and trade reporting reven $ 496.1 $ 289.1 $ 285.¢
Access services revenu 80.4 89.¢€ 103.1
Liquidity rebategV (35.5) (130.J) (127.9)
Tape fee revenue shari (11.5) (8.2 (13.9)
Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing Prog (0.9 (2.3 —
Total Nasdaq Market Center reveni 529.1 238.2 247
Cost of revenue
Liquidity rebates? (255.5) (38.7) —
Brokerage, clearance and exchange (98.9) (17.9) —
Total cost of revenue (353.9 (55.9) —
Gross margin from Nasdaq Market Cer 175.2 182.¢ 2472
Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptia
Revenue$® 187.€ 183.( 179.(
Nasdaq General Revenue Sharing Proc (5.5 (17.¢) —
UTP Plan revenue sharit (77.9 (79.9 (50.8)
Total Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions reve 104.2 85.¢ 128.2
Other Market Services revent 20.: 10.t 8.2
Gross margin from Market Servic $ 299.% $ 278.7 $ 383.%

@  As noted in Note 2, “Summary of Significant AccomgtPolicies,” to the consolidated financial stagets, Nasdaq began reporting all
execution revenues from transactions executed ghrdine Nasdaq Market Center on a gross basis icuére and trade reporting
revenues and has recorded liquidity rebate paynantest of revenues as Nasdaq now has certaiagssiciated with trade execution
subject to rule limitations and caps. This chamg&ct was made on a prospective basis beginning A@005 as required under
United States GAAP. The Nasdaq Market Center litpi@bates were $35.5 million for the period Jagug 2005 through March 31,
2005 and was $94.0 for the period of April 1, 28@®ugh December 31, 2005. The remainder of thedity rebates shown in cost of
revenues relates to Brut and INE

@ Includes eligible and non-eligible UTP Plan revenugligible UTP Plan revenues are associated Wwétcalculation and dissemination
of the consolidated national best bid and best ¢ffieside quote”)and last sale information. These revenues are dlaameng UTP Pla
participants. Non-eligible UTP Plan revenues asoeisited with the calculation and disseminatioproprietary Nasdaq information
and are not shared among UTP Plan particip.

Nasdaq Market Center

Execution and trade reporting revenues increaséd.82nillion, or 71.6%, in 2005 compared with 2G0@ increased $3.7 million, or
1.3%, in 2004 compared with 2003. The increas®bb2avas primarily due to increases in Nasdaq's @@t market share for both Nasdag-
listed securities and securities listed on otheharges, an increase in the percentage of sharmeakeported to Nasdaq's systems, despite a
decrease in average daily share volume and adaliticading activity due to the acquisitions of Baumd INET. In 2004, Brut results were
included beginning September 7, 2004, compared avitiil year of operations in 2005.
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Partially offsetting these increases were decreiaseade reporting and fee reductions for The NMaselarket Center introduced in 2004. The
increase in execution and trade reporting reveiru2604 compared with 2003 was primarily due toitiioal activity from the acquisition of
Brut and an increase in average daily share vol@asially offsetting these increases was a dedfiriee percentage of share volume
reported to Nasdaq's systems and the effect oépaductions. In January 2004, we implemented atie#ed pricing structure geared toward
drawing increased liquidity to Nasdaqg's tradingtfolan. The new tiered pricing structure lowers ax@mn charges to market participants
based on the amount of liquidity a participant jleg. Despite increases in execution and tradetigoevenues, gross margin from Nasdaq
Market Center decreased $7.2 million, or 3.9%,d62compared with 2004, and decreased $64.9 milkin26.2%, in 2004 compared with
2003. The decreases in gross margin were due teases in the amount that Nasdag rebated as Aoégud increases from Brut activity and
changes to the liquidity rebate tiers. Additionatlye decrease in gross margin in 2005 was dugcteases in the amount Nasdaq rebated as :
result of additional INET activity and an increasenarket share.

Access services revenues decreased $9.2 millidt.8f6, in 2005 compared with 2004 and decreasad$iillion, or 13.1%, in 2004
compared with 2003, primarily due to a declinehia subscriber base for access services legacy gmdvhich we discontinued as of
December 31, 2005. The revenues for these disemdtiproducts totaled $58.3 million in 2005 compawét $74.1 million and $89.0 millic
for the same periods of 2004 and 2003, respectitel005, we migrated users away from Nassggoprietary network connectivity towa
industry standards and third-party networks. Byndao, we have been able to and will continue doce our technology and network costs
and increase our systems’ scalability without dffecperformance or reliability. Expenses relaedhie discontinued products were $46.5
million, $94.3 million and $115.6 million for theegr ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, resggcThe industry standards and
third-party products are more efficient and cofgatfve but produce lower revenues. However, tipgeducts will contribute more to
Nasdars operating results than Nasdaq's access serlégasy products. Also contributing to the decreas&9d05 and 2004 were continued
market participant consolidations.

Nasdaq Market Center liquidity rebates, in whicharedit a portion of the per share execution chawghe market participant that
provides the liquidity, were $255.5 million and $B&nillion for the year ended December 31, 200520(#, respectively, of which $94.0
million relates to liquidity rebate payments foethon-Brut and non-INET portion of The Nasdaq Magenter in 2005. The remaining
rebate amounts of $161.5 million and $38.1 millior2005 and 2004, respectively, are Brut liquidipates and beginning December 8, 2
INET liquidity rebates. Brokerage, clearance anchexge fees were $98.4 million and $17.7 millio2005 and 2004, respectively, and are
additional cost of revenues for Brut and INET. Tierease in both liquidity rebates and brokeratggrance and exchange fees in 2005 were
primarily due to a full year of Brut's operationsnepared with four months in 2004, additional atyiviom INET’s operations and increases
in market share.

Pursuant to EITF 99-19, Nasdaq records executieenuges from transactions executed through Brut @mss basis in revenues and
records expenses such as liquidity rebate paynasntest of revenues as both Brut and INET actiasipal. Before the second quarter of
2005, Nasdaq reported other execution revenuesf figuidity rebates, which totaled $35.5 milliok1.30.1 million and $127.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, tasggcas Nasdag does not act as principal. Howeliring and since the second quz
of 2005 under Nasdag'’s new Limitation of LiabilRule, Nasdag, subject to certain caps, providegpeosation for losses due to
malfunctions of the order-execution systems of Nasdaq Market Center. Therefore, under EITF 99NE&daqg has recorded all execution
revenues from transactions executed through Thdadgslarket Center on a gross basis in executiortrade reporting revenues and has
recorded liquidity rebate payments as cost of regsras Nasdaq now has certain risk associatednaith execution subject to rule limitatic
and caps. This rule change in fact was made onsppctive basis beginning April 1, 2005 as requineder United States GAAP. This rule
change did not have a material impact on the caleteld financial position or results of operatiofitNasdaq in the second, third or fourth
quarters of 2005. The increase in liquidity reb&e2004 compared with 2003 was due to an incraafee per share liquidity rebate in April
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and November 2004 for Nasdag-listed securitieshégider overall average daily share volume of mapleticipants on The Nasdag Stock
Market. Partially offsetting the increase in 2004s the elimination of the liquidity rebate for Bl SE-listed securities in December 2003
and certain Amex-listed securities in May 2004.

Nasdaqg Market Center tape fee revenue sharingased=$3.4 million, or 42.0%, in 2005 compared 204 and decreased $5.7
million, or 41.3%, in 2004 compared with 2003. Weare tape fee revenues from NYSE-listed and Afisteed securities through The Nasc
Market Center tape fee revenue sharing. We eamftaprevenues from NYSE-listed and Amex-listedigges based upon both the
percentage of trades reported to The Nasdaq M@éxeter for securities listed on these exchangestansgize of NYSE and Amex revenue
sharing pools. The increase in 2005 was primamky t an increase in Nasdaq's market share inN¥®BE-listed and Amedisted securities
The decrease in 2004 was primarily due to INET réapg additional trading activity to The Nationabo8k Exchange in the first quarter of
2004 as opposed to us as it had previously dorsa thiroughout 2004, Archipelago significantly iresed the number of trades it printed,
which resulted in lower market share for Nasdag@hith a decrease in the amount of tape fee revsharing.

In January 2004, The Nasdaq Market Center begamgh@venues under the Nasdaq General Revenuem§lrmogram. This
discretionary program requires us to share operatimenue, which is interpreted to mean net revaffiee expenses from all services that
derive revenue from member trading and trade-rempéctivity in Nasdag-listed securities. As suitte, program is designed to provide an
incentive for quoting market participants to sendeos and report trades to The Nasdaq Market Ceftteramount of Nasdag Market Center
revenues shared under the Nasdaq General ReveatiagsRrogram decreased $1.9 million, or 82.692005 compared with 2004. This
decrease was primarily due to changes in the anstiared under the program.

Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions

We provide subscribers with inside quote and lastet information through Level 1, the best quofermation for each market
participant through Nasdaq Quotation Disseminafiervices, or NQDS, and all price levels for eachkagparticipant through TotalView.
These services are provided for securities listeditee Nasdaqg Stock Market to both professionalreordprofessional users. We also provide
subscribers with quote information at all pricedsvfor each market participant’s trading of NY$&edd and Amex-listed stocks through
OpenView. In addition, we provide Mutual Fund Quimia Service, or MFQS, a service that collects disdeminates daily price and related
data for unit investment trusts, mutual funds amh@y market funds that are subscribers to thisemrifhese subscription revenues, which
include eligible and non-eligible UTP Plan revenuesreased $4.6 million, or 2.5%, in 2005 compasti 2004 and increased $4.0 million,
or 2.2%, in 2004 compared with 2003. The increas#)D5 was primarily due to an increase in TotalWw#ibscribers and the launch of
OpenView in January 2005. Level 1 and NQDS protessliand nonprofessional subscriptions remainedively flat year over year.
However, nomprofessional Level 1 and NQDS subscriptions andegssional NQDS subscriptions increased in 2004ltiegun an increase
revenues compared with 2003. In addition, we inioedl a distribution fee for MFQS beginning in tbarth quarter of 2003, which resulted
in additional revenues in 2004.

In January 2004, we began sharing Market Serviabs@iptions revenues under the Nasdaq Generalneev@haring Program, as
discussed above. The amount of Nasdaq Market ®sr@abscriptions revenues shared under the Naselzey& Revenue Sharing Program
decreased $12.3 million, or 69.1%, in 2005 compavrigd 2004. This decrease was primarily due to glearin the amount shared under the
program.

Nasdagq also shares tape fee revenues (i.e., revénone the sale of tape data) for Nasdag-listedr#es through the UTP Plan. Under
the revenue sharing provision of the UTP Plan, ldgsd permitted to deduct costs associated wiihgets the exclusive Securities
Information Processor from the total amount of tgees collected. After these costs are deducted fhe tape fees, we distribute to the
respective UTP Plan participants, including Nasdagjr share of tape fees based on a combinatitime@frespective trade volume and share
volume. Nasdagq tape fee revenue sharing allocated P Plan participants decreased $1.5 milliort,.886, in
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2005 compared with 2004 and increased $28.6 mjlbor56.3%, in 2004 compared with 2003. The deer@a& TP Plan revenue sharing in
2005 was primarily due to a stronger market shahéch includes Brut trade reporting activity fofudl year, decreasing the amount Nasdaq
shared with UTP participants. Brut began to refisrrades to The Nasdaq Market Center on Septeint#904. Partially offsetting the
stronger market share, was a reduction in the adgiperating the Securities Information Processut administering the UTP Plan. Nasdaq
operates the Securities Information Processor dndrasters the UTP Plan, and due to significant ceduction efforts within Nasdaq,
Nasdaqg has been able to reduce the costs of thbgiies, to the benefit of all UTP Plan exchangest trade Nasd«listed securities. The
cost reductions resulted in an increase in neesle income. The increase in UTP Plan revenuénshiar 2004 compared with 2003 was
primarily due to a decline in the percentage ofsh@lume reported to Nasdag's systems as contiooenpetitive pressures from ECNs
continued to draw activity away from Nasdaqg'’s sysdo regional exchanges that are members of tHeRIan and that trade Nasdag-listed
securities. In 2004, the increase was partiallgaifby a decline in trade reporting activity frommeTBoston Stock Exchange after Brut began
to report its trades to The Nasdaq Market CenteéBaptember 1, 2004. This change resulted in a dser® UTP Plan revenue sharing of
approximately $6.0 million for the year ended Deben31, 2004.

Other Market Services

Other Market Services revenues increased $9.8omijlbr 93.3%, in 2005 compared with 2004 and irsgd&2.3 million, or 28.0%, in
2004 compared with 2003. The increase in 2005 wiazapily due to a new contract between NASD andddgsfor the operations of the
OTCBB, which took effect on October 1, 2005. Nasttagsferred responsibility for the OTCBB back t&$D, but agreed to continue to
operate the OTCBB on a contract basis for two yesansject to renewals. See Note 11, “Related Paggsactions,” to the consolidated
financial statements for further discussion. Alsatcibuting to the increase in 2005 and the in@@a004 was the receipt of revenues from
NASD for technology and development support ses/tbat we provided to NASD for a fixed income tradgorting platform beginnin
November 1, 2004. As discussed in Note“Related Party Transactions,” to the consolidatedrfcial statements, Nasdaq entered into a new
contract with NASD in November 2004 for the tectogyl and development support services.

ISSUER SERVICES
The following table shows the revenues from oundsServices segment:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(in millions)
Issuer Services
Corporate Client Grou $187.¢ $165.: $168.<
Nasdaq Financial Produc 38.t 40.5 35.¢
Total Issuer Services revent $226.1 $205.¢ $204.2

Corporate Client Group

The following table shows the revenues from thepGaate Client Group as reported in accordance Witited States GAAP (“as
reported”) and as would be reported on a non-GAA&D(“billed basis”). We believe that the prestataof billed basis revenues, as they
relate to listing of additional shares and initisling fees, is a good indicator of current CogterClient Group activity since the billed basis
information excludes the effects of recognizingemwes related to initial listing fees and listifgadditional shares fees over the six and four
year periods, respectivel
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Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

As Billed As Billed As Billed

Reported Basis Reported Basis Reported Basis

(in millions)

Annual renewal fee $107.¢ $107.& $ 914 $91.4 $ 93¢ $ 93.¢
Listing of additional shares fe 37.€ 37.4 36.¢ 45.¢ 37.1 30.2
Initial listing fees 29.2 24.F 31.1 27.1 32.: 16.€

Nasdaq Insurance Agen 8.1 8.1 — — — —
Other Corporate Client Group revent 4.¢ 4.9 6.C 6.C 5.C 5.C
Total Corporate Client Group revent $187.6 $182.7 $165.2 $170.4 $168.5 $146.(

Corporate Client Group revenues, on an as repbasis, increased $22.3 million, or 13.5%, in 200@pared with 2004 and decreased
$3.0 million, or 1.8%, in 2004 compared with 2003.

Corporate Client Group revenues are primarily datifrom fees for annual renewals, listing of additil shares and initial listings for
companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Market. Feegemerally calculated based upon total sharesamding for the issuing company.
These fees are initially deferred and amortized tive estimated periods for which the servicegpaogided. Revenues from annual renewal
fees are amortized on a pro-rata basis over tlemdal year and initial listing fees and listingadtitional shares fees are amortized over six
and four years, respectively. The difference betwbe as reported revenues and the billed basistes is due to the amortization of fees in
accordance with United States GAAP. See Note 6f¢Ded Revenue,” to the consolidated financialestants for further discussion.

Annual renewal fees on both an as reportedbédliet basis increased $16.4 million, or 17.9% @92 compared with 2004 and decre:
$2.5 million, or 2.7%, in 2004 compared with 2008e increase in 2005 was primarily due to an irggen the annual renewal fees in 2005
for both The Nasdaqg National Market and The Nagdapjtal Market in a range of approximately 14.098100%. A decrease in the number
of companies listed on The Nasdaq Stock Marketglgroffset the increase in fees in 2005 and viesgrimary cause for the decrease in
2004. The number of companies listed on The NaStiack Market on January 1, 2005, 2004 and 20033)&4L, 3,333 and 3,659
respectively, the date on which listed companiesbdted their annual fees. The decrease in thebaurof listed companies in 2004 was du
322 issuers delisted by Nasdaq during 2004, pyrtffiset by 260 new listings in 2004. The decreiasine number of listed companies in
2003 was due to 460 issuers delisted by Nasdaqg@@fi03, partially offset by 134 new listings in030 The delistings in both 2004 and 2003
were primarily for failure to meet The Nasdaq Sttdrket’s listing standards and other reasonsuitiolg mergers and acquisitions.

Listing of additional shares fees, on an as repdstesis, increased $0.8 million, or 2.2%, in 206fpared with 2004 and decreased
$0.3 million, or 0.8% in 2004 compared with 2003 ®billed basis, listing of additional shares fdesreased $8.5 million, or 18.5%, in 2!
compared with 2004 and increased $15.7 milliorg200%, in 2004 compared with 2003. The decrea$isting of additional share fees on a
billed basis in 2005 was primarily due to a declimsecondary offerings as well as the size ofr#éspective offerings. The increase in listing
of additional shares fees on a billed basis in 2084 primarily due to an improved economic envirentrin 2004, which resulted in higher
activity for secondary offerings as well as othéditional share activity. There were 222, 233 a@il 4econdary offerings during 2005, 2004,
and 2003, respectively. In 2004, the increasestinty of additional share fees on a billed basis alao due to the adoption of a new fee
structure. This fee structure increased the mininfegrand eliminated a quarterly cap. The annuakleagpnot impacted.

Initial listing fees, on an as reported basis, dased $1.9 million, or 6.1%, in 2005 compared ®@04 and decreased $1.2 million, or
3.7%, in 2004 compared with 2003. On a billed hasital listing fees decreased $2.6 million, 06%, in 2005 compared with 2004 and
increased $10.2 million, or 60.4%, in 2004 compared
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with 2003. The decrease in initial listing feesaohilled basis in 2005 was primarily due to a dexin the number of initial public offerings.
Also, contributing to the decrease in 2005 wasslmination of entry fees in 2005 for companied thaitched to The Nasdaq National
Market or The Nasdaq Capital Market from other exajes and a decline in the number of companiestiathed between The Nasdaq
National Market and The Nasdaq Capital Market.dd-companies are charged an entry fee for switchetg/een the two Nasdaq markets.
There were 269 new listings, including 126 newiahpublic offerings, during 2005 compared with 2@ listings, including 148 new initi
public offerings, during 2004. The increase iniatilisting fees on a billed basis in 2004 was @ity due to an increase in the number of
listings and initial public offerings. In 2003, tleewere 134 new listings, including 54 new inipablic offerings.

Nasdag Insurance Agency revenues on both an agedpnd billed basis were $8.1 million for the yeaded December 31, 2005.
Beginning January 1, 2005, as a result of acquitiegemaining 50.0% interest in the Nasdaq Instgakgency, the accounts of the Nasdaq
Insurance Agency are now consolidated with Nasdaglts. Also included in Nasdaqg Insurance Agenggmaes are revenues from Carpe
Moore beginning October 1, 2005.

Other Corporate Client Group revenues on both ap@arted and billed basis decreased $1.1 milbori,8.3%, in 2005 compared with
2004 and decreased $1.0 million, or 20.0%, in 288Mpared with 2003.

Nasdaq Financial Products
The following table shows revenues from Nasdaq téied Products:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(in millions)

Licensing revenue $34.5 $ 36.7 $32.¢

Other Nasdaq Financial Products rever 4.C 3.8 3.C

Total Nasdaq Financial Products reven $38.L $40.t $35.¢

Nasdaqg Financial Products revenues decreased $fldhpor 4.9%, in 2005 compared with 2004 andreased $4.6 million, or 12.8%,
in 2004 compared with 2003.

Licensing revenues decreased $2.2 million, or 6169005 compared with 2004 and increased $3.8anjlbr 11.6% in 2004 compatr
with 2003. The decrease in 2005 was primarily duestiuced licensing revenues related to the QQarasult of its listing moving from
Amex to The Nasdaq Stock Market in the fourth geraof 2004. The increase in 2004 was primarily thuan increase in options trading
volume on QQQ and an increase in options and fatwaeling volume on Nasdaq indexes. Also contnifguto the increase in 2004 was a fee
increase implemented during the year. Licensingmees primarily include trademark and licensingereies related to the QQQ and other
financial products linked to Nasdaq indexes issndtie United States and abroad.

Other Revenues

Other revenues increased $0.1 million, or 100.0f2005 compared with 2004 and decreased $1.8 milin94.7%, in 2004 compared
with 2003. In September 2003, Nasdaq recordedebeipt of a business interruption insurance clalated to the events of September 11,
2001 of $1.9 million.
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Direct Expenses
The following table shows our direct expenses:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
(in millions)

Compensation and benef $152.1 $148.2 $159.]
Marketing and advertisin 9.C 12.¢ 19.5
Depreciation and amortizatic 67.C 76.% 90.C
Professional and contract servi 29.1 23.7 37.t
Computer operations and data communicat 62.4 98.¢ 125.¢
Provision for bad debt 3.C 11 14
Occupancy 28.4 28.7 31.2
General and administratiy 19.5 41.1 28.4
Total direct expense $370.5  $430.6  $492.%

Direct expenses decreased $60.3 million, or 14i0%005 compared with 2004 and decreased $61.®&milbr 12.6%, in 2004
compared with 2003. These decreases were pringuéyto a reduction in general and administratiygease in 2005 and reductions in
computer operations and data communications expernbsdepreciation and amortization expense in Bo@b and 2004.

Compensation and benefits expense increased $Bi@mor 2.6%, in 2005 compared with 2004, andrdased $10.9 million, or 6.9%,
in 2004 compared with 2003. The increase in 2005 pvamarily due to higher salary expense as atre$an increase in headcount in 2005
and increased incentive compensation reflectirangtr financial performance. Total headcount was@6December 31, 2005 compared
with 786 on December 31, 2004. The increase indmatt was due to the acquisitions of INET, Carpelteore and Nasdaq Insurance
Agency, partially offset by reductions in forced@05. Partially offsetting the increase in 2005 Veager severance and outplacement charges
compared with 2004. In 2004, 146 positions wenmiglated and in 2005, there were workforce redustigliminating 69 positions. The
decrease in compensation and benefits in 2004 vimsuply due to lower costs associated with dearddsadcount due to workforce
reductions as a result of our 2003 strategic revielich eliminated a total of 329 positions, anditidnal headcount reductions in 2004.
Total headcount was 956 on December 31, 2003 aftaiffsetting the decrease in 2004 were chargesrded in 2004 for severance and
outplacement costs related to workforce reductarsadditional costs for a sales commission programaduced in the fourth quarter of
2003. In 2003, severance charges were recordéa ialimination of non-core product lines, initiasvand severance line item in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. See Note 4,520@ 2004 Cost Reductions and Strategic Reviewtfig consolidated financial
statements for further discussion.

Marketing and advertising expense decreased $3li®mior 29.7%, in 2005 compared with 2004 andrdased $6.7 million, or 34.4%,
in 2004 compared with 2003. These decreases wignailly due to a decline in overall marketing amvertising expenditures, as part of
Nasdars cost reduction plan.

Depreciation and amortization expense decreas@&iiilion, or 12.2%, in 2005 compared with 2004 aletreased $13.7 million, or
15.2%, in 2004 compared with 2003. These decreasipreciation and amortization expense were piiyndue to declines in incremental
depreciation and amortization expense on equipamstciated with Nasdaq's quoting platform andritdihg and quoting network as Nasdaq
migrates to lower cost operating environments asgdaur cost reduction plan. However, as a restthe acquisition of INET, Nasdaq has
begun to migrate The Nasdaq Market Center to INEeer cost trading system and expects to comphetenigration by the fourth quarter
of 2006. Therefore, beginning December 8, 2005dda@secorded additional amortization expense d@ecttange in estimated useful life of
some of The Nasdag Market Center assets, partiifgtting the decrease noted above. Also partéffisetting the decrease in 2005 was
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intangible amortization expense on identifiabl@angible assets acquired in the INET, Brut, Nasdagriance Agency and Carpenter Moore
acquisitions. Amortization expense on the intarggddsets acquired in the INET transaction wererdecosince the date of acquisition of
December 8, 2005 through December 31, 2005. Theredonortization expense on these intangible ags&06 will be significantly higher.
The elimination of certain products as part of Napsl 2003 strategic review also contributed todéeline in depreciation and amortization
expense in 2004. See Note 3, “Business Combinatiand Note 4, “2005 and 2004 Cost Reductions anat&jic Review,” to the
consolidated financial statements for further désgon.

Professional and contract services expense inaektsd million, or 22.8%, in 2005 compared with 2@¢hd decreased $13.8 million
36.8%, in 2004 compared with 2003. The increas#®bb was primarily due to reduced cost reimbursésiien support services from NASD
related to a new contract entered into with NASCNmvember 1, 2004 for a fixed income trade repgrptatform. See Note 11, “Related
Party Transactionstb the consolidated financial statements for furthiscussion. Also contributing to the increas@®5 was an increase
professional fees associated with Sarbanes-Oxlmpkance due to our recent acquisitions. The deer@ga2004 was primarily due to less
reliance on outside contractors as part of Nasdampsreduction plan.

Computer operations and data communications expleased $36.5 million, or 36.9%, in 2005 comparith 2004 and decreased
$26.7 million, or 21.3%, in 2004 compared with 200Bese decreases were primarily due to lower chstdo the favorable renegotiation of
certain maintenance contracts and hardware leasetdhe planned retirement of certain equipmedtlawer costs associated with
providing communication lines to customers dueotedr demand for access services legacy producishvals of December 31, 2005 were
discontinued. Also contributing to the decreaseev@ver costs associated with our renegotiatedraonwith MCI effective in the second
quarters of 2004 and 2002. For further discussfadhediscontinuation of access services legacdymts, See “— Operating Results-Nasdaq
Market Center.” For the year ended December 314 20@ elimination of certain products as part astaq’s 2003 strategic review further
contributed to the decrease, partially offset lmhange in the terms of operating leases assoaitedNasdaq’s quoting platform and our
trading and quoting network as Nasdaq migratesw@i cost operating environments.

Provision for bad debts increased $1.9 million®% compared with 2004 and decreased $0.3 mikio@]1.4%, in 2004 compared w
2003. As a result of the INET acquisition, an aiddial bad debt reserve for INET was recorded inB2@0rder for INET to be in compliance
with Nasdaqg’s reserve policy. An increase in cditets and decreases in past due account balandedlp®ffset the increase in 2005 and
was the primary cause for the decrease in 2004.

Occupancy expense decreased $0.3 million, or 192905 compared with 2004 and decreased $2.5omjlbr 8.0%, in 2004
compared with 2003. These decreases were pringuéyto consolidation of leased office space asgiatasdaq’s cost reduction plans.

General and administrative expense decreased $#llli¢n, or 52.6%, in 2005 compared with 2004 andreased $12.7 million, or
44.7%, in 2004 compared with 2003. The decrea0@® was primarily due to decisions affecting Nagslaeal estate. In 2004, Nasdaq
recorded sublease losses totaling $17.6 milliomarily for expansion space at Nasdaqg's headquddeased in New York which Nasdaq's
management did not intend to occupy. However, r@salt of the acquisition of INET, Nasdaqg will n@ecupy the expansion space for INET
operations and recorded a release of the sublessedserve of $12.1 million, net of rental payrageint the fourth quarter of 2005. In 2004
Nasdag released a sublease loss reserve of $liéhnilet of rental payments, in the third quad®2004, on leased property in Rockuvil
Maryland. Nasdaq management re-evaluated its decisivacate this space and decided instead ta &eiilding owned by Nasdag. We
recorded a charge of $7.4 million in the fourth meiaof 2004 for the writelown of this building to fair market value. Nasdsgan marketir
the building for sale in the fourth quarter of 2G# completed the sale of the building in Junes2@@rther contributing to the decrease in
general and administrative expense was a $2.6

50



Table of Contents

million loss recorded in the fourth quarter of 2@4a lease transaction for certain of Nasdaqglsnelogy equipment. Partially offsetting the
decrease in general and administrative expense®as8 million charge recorded in the third quanfe2005 for the change in the fair market
value on the amount of additional payment to NASDNasdaq'’s Series C Cumulative Preferred Sto,.4 million loss recorded on the
restructuring of the $240.0 million convertible estin April 2005 in connection with the financinfitbe INET acquisition and a $1.1 million
loss recorded on the early extinguishment of Nasd$25.0 million senior notes also in connectiorhwiite financing of the INET acquisitic
See Note 3, “Business Combinations,” Note 4, “2808 2004 Cost Reductions and Strategic Review,&NotDebt Obligations,” and Note
11, “Related Party Transactions,” to the consoliddtnancial statements for further discussion.

The increase in general and administrative expgn2604 was primarily due to the sublease lossesrded for the space at Nasdaq's
headquarters, the write-down of the owned buildings fair market value and the loss on a leasestiction for certain of Nasdaq's
technology equipment all discussed above. Theseases were partially offset by the release obtli#ease loss reserve on leased prope
Rockville, Maryland, lower overall spending in 2084 a result of Nasdaq'’s cost reduction plan assel® from Nasdaq's equity investment in
Nasdaq LIFFE Markets, LLC, or NQLX, recorded in flvet and second quarters of 2003. On July 24 3208&sdaq redeemed its interes
the NQLX joint venture and transferred its ownepshiterest to London International Financial FusuExchange, or LIFFE. See Elimination
of Non-Core Product Lines, Initiatives and Seveeasection below for further discussion.

Elimination of Non-Core Product Lines, Initiatives and Severance
Strategic Reviev

In the second quarter of 2003, we initiated a styiatreview, which included the elimination of noore product lines and initiatives a
resulted in a reduction in our workforce. The &gat review of our operations was designed to fowsiis for improved profitability and
growth. In 2003, we recorded a total pre-tax chaogearnings of $145.5 million. The net impact sowas a total pre-tax charge of $143.5
million. The difference represented charges absbblyeminority shareholders of Nasdaq Europe. Tteggdnrecorded reflects the completion
of the charges associated with our strategic reviashown in the following table, the total chage$145.5 million included $97.9 million
from continuing operations and $47.6 million froisabntinued operations related to Nasdaq EuropdratigoMarkets Ltd. Nasdaq
completed the sale of IndigoMarkets on SeptembeP303 and completed the transfer of Nasdag'séstén Nasdaq Europe on
December 18, 2003. See Note 19, “Discontinued Qipag” to the consolidated financial statementddiother discussion.
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The following table summarizes the strategic revadarge included in the Consolidated Statemeniisaoime:

Year Ended
December 31, 20C

(in millions)

Continuing Operations
Nor-Core Product Lines and Initiative

Impairment of capitalized software and fixed as $ 21.1

Impairment of goodwill and intangible ass 8.2

Contract cancellatior 11.4

Other exit cost 11.€
Total nor-core product lines and initiativi 52.2
Severance and benefit co 32.4
Loss on early extinguishment of d¢ 13.2
Total continuing operations strategic review chg $ 97.¢

Discontinued Operations
Nasdaq Europe

Impairment of technology platfori $ 29.4
Severance and benefit co 2.5
Impairment of goodwil 8.1
Other exit costs including contract cancellati 8.2
Total Nasdaq Eurog 48.2
Gain on disposition of IndigoMarke (0.6)
Total discontinued operations strategic review ga $ 47.€
Total strategic review charg $ 145t

Continuing Operations
Non-core product lines and initiatives includedhe strategic review were:

* Primex—Primex was an electronic auction system. Nasddeakits exclusive rights agreement with Primex irrgdN.A., L.L.C.
on December 31, 2003. Nasdaq decided to consolideiteading services to a common functionalityhivitthe SuperMontage
system and ceased offering Primex effective JanLér004

» Nasdag Tool—Nasdaq Tools was an order management systemathainrthe Nasdaq Application Programming Interizgiag
the Nasdaq Workstation Il and was wound-down thihoug 2003. Nasdaq Tools was previously our whoWyred subsidiary and
was merged with and into us on July 31, 2(

*  NQLX—NQLX was a joint venture with LIFFE to create arket for single stock futures and other futuresdpiais. On July 24,
2003, Nasdaq redeemed our interest in the NQLX ja@nture and transferred its ownership interestifd-E. LIFFE assumed
financial and management responsibility for NQLXis'change did not have any impact on the operaficdQLX, but usage of
the Nasdaq brand by the company cea

e The Bulletin Board Exchange (“BBX3-BBX was a proposed platform for companies notilelegfor the Nasdaq SmallCap Market
to raise equity capital and increase the visibiityheir stock. OTCBB continued its existing oféras.
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» Liquidity Tracker—Liquidity Tracker was an automated order routiggtem designed to allow traders to direct orderspexific
market makers based on recent trading activityuidity Tracker ceased operations as of June 3(3..

» MarketSite Towe—MarketSite Tower is located at our Times SquamyN ork location. The video wall portion of the Texwas
deemed impairec

The charge related to the elimination of the abawmecore products and initiatives was approximately.$%8illion in 2003. Included i
the charge was the reduction of our investment@iX of $6.3 million due to the redemption of outérest in the NQLX joint venture, the
impairment of goodwill of $4.1 million associatedhvNasdaq Tools, the impairment of certain inthfgassets of $4.1 million, impairment
of various capitalized software and fixed assets2df.1 million, contract cancellations of $11.4lmil and other costs of $5.3 million.
Included in the $21.1 million impairment of variocspitalized software and fixed assets is a $12I®mimpairment on the MarketSite
Tower. See “Valuation of Long-Lived Assets,” of A&, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policiey"the consolidated financial
statements for further discussion. The remainingaimment of capitalized software and fixed asselstes to the eliminated products
specifically Nasdaq Tools, Primex, BBX and Liquydiracker.

In addition, the recorded charges from continuipgrations included severance costs of $32.4 milliodh the loss on early
extinguishment of long-term debt of $13.2 millidrhe severance costs included $13.8 million relatettie reductions in force of 329
employees. The remaining $18.6 million of severazasts relate to the fulfillment of employment aats and obligations associated with
the retirement and departure of certain membesgwoior management. Total headcount was 956 asasrtger 31, 2003 versus 1,227 as of
December 31, 2002 (excluding 48 employees in dismeed operations). The extinguishment of debtsosfate to the redemption of $150.0
million in aggregate principal amount of our 5.83&#ior notes due 2007, or the $150.0 million sendtes. In conjunction with our strategic
review, we reassessed our capital needs and detirthat we no longer needed the liquidity of thBG0 million senior notes.

Discontinued Operations
Discontinued operations included in the strategidaw were:

» Nasdag Europ—Nasdag Europe was a pan-European stock markaes#den Belgium. See below for complete discuseifdhe
wind-down and eventual transfer of shares of Nasdaqp&u

* IndigoMarkets—IndigoMarkets was a joint venture with SSI Linditer SSI, to develop international trading platisr On
September 30, 2003, Nasdaq Global, a former Nasalagjdiary, sold its interest in the joint venttoeSS1 and recognized a gain
the sale of approximately $0.6 millic

Europe

As a result of the strategic review, Nasdaq supgglattie closing of the market operated by Nasdaqgeyin which Nasdaq owned a
63.0% interest through December 18, 2003. At amaextlinary General Meeting held on June 26, 20@8shareholders of Nasdaq Europe
voted to discontinue operations of the market asdj result, market operations were wound-dowrupmtgo a Transition Plan approved by
the Belgian Banking and Finance Commission.

As Nasdaq Europe was winding-down its market opmrat Nasdaq reached an agreement to transfefr [dislaq’s shares in Nasdaq
Europe to one of that company’s original investthis; cash consideration for the transaction wasimainirhe transfer of Nasdaq'’s shares of
Nasdaq Europe was completed on December 18, 20@3eftity ceased using the Nasdaq Europe namettadtéransaction. As part of tl
transaction, Nasdaq Europe’s new owner committesbédk to restructure that company’s obligations anthat context, to request from
certain major creditors releases of any claims thght have against Nasdaq Europe’s former dirsctfficers and shareholders (if such
claims are related to Nasdaq’s prior ownershipré@gtin Nasdaq Europe).
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At the time of the transfer, Nasdaqg Europe had Bdllion of external debt, accrued interest artekotiabilities. Nasdaq recorded
liabilities of $15.1 million that management bekeMwere sufficient to satisfy any potential claiagginst Nasdaq. Nasdag and Easdaq
SA/NV, or Easdaq, formerly known as Nasdaq Eurepésred into an agreement dated as of October0®4, providing in relevant part that
Easdaq was to reach agreements with certain ofatfitors to settle these creditors’ existing climgainst Easdag. On November 9, 2004,
Nasdaq was provided evidence that these claimetécbto Nasdée's prior ownership interest in Nasdaq Europe) afaiea Easdaq’s creditors
were satisfied or otherwise settled without angility for Nasdag. Nasdaq was the third party bamefy of these creditor agreements and in
the fourth quarter of 2004 released the $15.1 omilfieserve it maintained in connection with suetines and liabilities. The release of the
reserve was recorded as income from discontinuedatipns in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Also, as part of Nasdaqg's strategic review, duthmgythird quarter of 2003, Nasdaq supported Na&daqpe’s position in favor of the
decision of the shareholders of Nasdaq Deutschi®dor Nasdaqg Deutschland, a German exchange iohwliasdaq Europe had a 50.0%
interest, to suspend that company’s trading opmrateffective August 29, 2003. Nasdaq Europe tearesd all of its shares in Nasdaq
Deutschland to one of the other shareholders, BVBBliHg AG, as of August 29, 2003. All shareholdef®asdaq Deutschland agreed to
release and discharge each other from certain sltiat they may have had against each other inemtiom with certain agreements relate:
the operations and control of Nasdaq Deutschland.

The charge related to the orderly wind-down anditigtion of market operations in Belgium and Gennamas approximately $48.2
million (excluding the minority interest benefit 2.0 million) for the year ended December 31, 200% $48.2 million charge includes the
$29.4 million impairment of certain technology [ptains held-for-sale and owned by Nasdaq Europeintpairment of goodwill of $8.1
million (Nasdag Europe and Nasdaq Deutschlandgrsexe costs of $2.5 million and other costs o2 $8illion including contract
cancellations. During the third quarter of 2002 lisses incurred by Nasdaq Europe exceeded tharitpishareholders’ interests. Therefore,
once the minority shareholders reached this pbiasdaq absorbed 100.0% of Nasdaq Europe’s lossestiategic review charges.

Nasdaq Japan Impairment Loss

During the second quarter of 2002, we recognizedther-than-temporary impairment charge on ourtgqovestment in Nasdaq Japan
of $15.2 million. Nasdaq Japan entered into ligtiadastatus in late November 2002 and was complelissolved in May 2003.

During the second quarter of 2003, we reversed $lbn of the reserves related to Nasdag Japantddavorable contract
negotiations and lower legal costs resulting frbmd¢omplete liquidation of Nasdaqg Japan.

Support Costs From Related Parties, net

Support costs from related parties, net were $aillgn, $45.6 million and $61.5 million for the geended December 31, 2005, 2004
and 2003, respectively, a decrease of $3.8 milborB.3%, in 2005 compared with 2004 and a decreb$&5.9 million, or 25.9%, in 2004
compared with 2003. These decreases primarilyatedfl@eduction in surveillance and other regulatdrgrges from NASDR primarily due to
NASD's review and allocation of expenses among the etarknd members it regulates. The decrease in\288%ilso due to the transfer of
ownership of the OTCBB to NASD which reduced theoagated regulatory costs. Also contributing todleerease in 2004 was lower
depreciation charges as certain technology assets fwlly depreciated during the year ended Decer®be2003.

Net Interest Expense

Net interest expense was $7.6 million, $5.6 millzord $9.0 million for the year ended December 80522004 and 2003, respectively,
an increase of $2.0 million, or 35.7%, in 2005 canggl with 2004 and a decrease
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of $3.4 million, or 37.8%, in 2004 compared witfD20 The increase in 2005 was primarily due to amltktl interest expense from the $205.0
million convertible notes issued in April 2005 anom the $750.0 million senior term debt issue@®&cember 2005, in connection with the
financing of the INET acquisition. We recorded et expense on the $750.0 million senior term difee the date of the INET acquisition,
December 8, 2005, through December 31, 2005. sttesgense in 2006 on the $750.0 million seniantdebt will be significantly higher
than the amount recorded in December 2005. Theaserwas partially offset by interest income eaorethe proceeds from the issuance of
the $205.0 million convertible notes, which wasthiel a restricted cash account from April 22, 2@@®ugh December 8, 2005, and a lower
interest coupon rate on the $240.0 million contégtnotes. The decrease in net interest exper2@0ith was primarily due to a decrease in
interest expense as a result of the redemptiontstanding debt in the third quarter of 2003. Opt&mber 30, 2003, Nasdag redeemed the
$150.0 million senior notes. Interest expensedmd under these notes totaled approximately $@lBbmfor the year ended December 31,
2003. In addition, interest income also decrease&2D0D4 due to the acquisition of Brut. Nasdaq dsads from available cash and
investments to finance both the redemption of Wtesand acquisition of Brut. See Note 3, “Busin@smbinations,” and Note 7, “Debt
Obligations,” to the consolidated financial statemsefor further discussion.

Income Taxes

Nasdag’s income tax provision was $44.6 million &3d7 million for the year ended December 31, 2808 2004, respectively,
compared with an income tax benefit of $21.2 millfor the year ended December 31, 2003. The oveffalttive tax rate in 2005, 2004 and
2003 was 41.9%, 29.3% and 32.0%, respectively.chla@ge in Nasdag’s tax provision in 2005 comparild 2004 was primarily due to a
loss on the restructuring of the $240.0 millionwemible notes, a portion of which is not deductifidr U.S. income tax purposes. In addition,
in 2004 the effective tax rate was reduced by dadization of research and development tax cregitsell as a reduction of a valuation
allowance related to a foreign net operating l@syforward. The change in Nasdadax provision (benefit) in 2004 compared with 20@as
primarily due to a reduction of a valuation allowarrelated to a foreign net operating loss carvyéod.

The effective tax rate may vary from period to pdridepending on, among other factors, the geograptd business mix of earnings
and losses. These same and other factors, incliniiayy of pre-tax earnings and losses, are takeraccount in assessing the ability to
realize deferred tax assets.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Nasdaq's Treasury department manages Nasdaq sicsipitcture, funding, liquidity, collateral andatonships with bankers,
investment advisors and creditors.

The Nasdaq Board of Directors approved an investmelicy for Nasdaq and its subsidiaries for intdiynand externally managed
portfolios. The goal of the policy is to maintaideguate liquidity at all times and to fund currbatigeted operating and capital requirements
and to maximize returns. All securities must meetlit rating standards as established by the palicymust be denominated in subsidiary
specific currencies. The investment portfolio disratmust not exceed 18 months. As of October 26@8policy prohibits the purchasing of
any investment in equity securities. The policyogisohibits any investment in debt interest in atitg that derives more than 25.0% of its
gross revenue from the combined broker-dealer amu/estment advisory businesses of all of its &liases and affiliates. Nasdag'’s
investment policy is reviewed annually and wasppraved by the Board on January 17, 2006. Nasdaperiodically reviews its
investments and investment managers.

Cash and cash equivalents and available-for-sa&siments totaled $344.6 million as of Decembe2B05 compared with $233.1
million at December 31, 2004, an increase of $1iilkon, or 47.8%. This increase was primarily doghe receipt of funds from employee
stock options exercises, the sale of the Key Weitding to NASD, and positive cash flows generdietn operations. Partially offsetting
these increases
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were the payment for the partial redemption of MasiSeries C Cumulative Preferred Stock and paynmatke for the acquisitions of INE
and Carpenter Moore. See Note 3, “Business Conibimat Note 4, “2005 and 2004 Cost Reductions atndt&gic Review,” Note 11,
Related Party Transactions,” and Note 12, “Caj8tatk,” to the consolidated financial statementstdiather discussion. Also in February
2006, Nasdaq raised proceeds from a public offaimdjredeemed our Series C Cumulative Preferrezk Sidhich increased our cash and
cash equivalents balance. See Note 20, “Subsegwents,” to the consolidated financial statemeotddrther discussion.

Operating Activities

We rely primarily on cash flows from continuing eggons to provide working capital for current dntlre operations. Cash flows fri
continuing operating activities totaled $120.9 il $117.0 million and $145.8 million in 2005, 2D@nd 2003, respectively. Cash inflows
are primarily due to cash received from customess tash paid to suppliers, employees and relartids The increase in operating cash
flows in 2005 as compared to 2004 was primarily tuan increase in net income. The decrease iratipgrcash flows for year ended
December 31, 2004 as compared to 2003 was pringuéyto a decrease in revenues partially offséblgr expenses and lower non-cash
items included in net income.

Investing and Financing Activitie

Cash used in investing activities was $953.4 milli$201.3 million and $0.2 million in 2005, 2004da2003, respectively. The increase
in cash used in investing activities in 2005 as parad with 2004 was primarily due to the acquisgiof INET and Carpenter Moore
completed during 2005. We paid $934.5 million améat acquisition costs for of $34.3 million for BY and paid $27.5 million for Carpen
Moore. In 2004, we acquired Brut for $190.0 millignius post-closing adjustments. See Note 3, “BassirCombinations,” to the consolidated
financial statements for further discussion. Dur2@5, we purchased $591.6 million of availabledale investments and $32.0 million of
held-to-maturity investments. Capital expendituaed proceeds from sales of property and equipmerg $25.4 million and $18.0 million,
respectively, in 2005. Investing activities alsolided proceeds of $585.4 million and $62.7 millicmm the redemption and maturities of
available-for-sale investments and held-to-maturitiestments, respectively, in 2005. The increasesh used in investing activities in 2004
as compared to 2003 was primarily due to the aitgqprisof Brut. During 2004, Nasdaq purchased $23billon of available-for-sale
investments and $29.1 million of held-to-maturityéstments. Capital expenditures and proceeds $edes of property and equipment were
$26.0 million and $11.3 million, respectively, iB@. Investing activities in 2004 also includedgaeds of $240.9 million from the
redemption of available-for-sale investments angl.&2nillion from the maturities of held-to-maturityvestments. During 2003, we
purchased $179.2 million of available-for-sale stveents and $18.5 million of held-to-maturity intreents. Capital expenditures for
property and equipment were $31.6 million in 20@8esting activities in 2003 also included proceefi$212.7 million from the redemption
of available-for-sale investments and $18.6 millimym the maturities of held-tmaturity investments. In 2003, we contributed $Ribion to
Nasdaq LIFFE joint ventur:

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities \8889.5 million, $(6.5) million and $(157.6) milkidn 2005, 2004 and 2003,
respectively. The increase in 2005, as compareud 2004 was primarily due to the issuances of tfE0%¥million senior term debt issued in
December 2005 and the $205.0 million convertibleadn April 2005 partially offset by the partigidemption of Nasdaq's Series C
Cumulative Preferred Stock and the redemption ®25.0 million senior notes. See Note 7, “Debtigations,” Note 11, “Related Party
Transactions,” and Note 12, “Capital Stock,” to tomsolidated financial statements for further désion. Also in 2005, Nasdaq received
proceeds from the issuances of common stock, pitynfesm employee stock option exercises. The dasean 2004 as compared with 2003
was primarily due to the redemption of Nasdaq's@@5nillion senior notes on September 30, 200&oimunction with its strategic review,
Nasdaq reassessed its capital needs and deterthatétino longer needed the liquidity of theseigenotes. See Elimination of N-Core
Product Lines, Initiatives and Severance sectiavalfor further discussion. Financing activities in
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2005, 2004 and 2003 also consisted of paymentseténped stock dividends to NASD of $3.2 millior8.4 million and $8.3 million,
respectively. At December 31, 2005, none of Nassikiders were affiliated with Nasdag, except ®dktent, if any, that H&F and SLP
would be deemed affiliates of Nasdag due to theimership of the $240.0 million convertible notesl &205.0 million convertible notes and
associated warrants. See Note 7, “Debt Obligatidoghe consolidated financial statements forHartdiscussion.

Capital Resources and Working Capital

Working capital (calculated as current assets,aeddor held-to-maturity investments classifiedcagent assets, less current liabilities)
was $271.6 million at December 31, 2005 compared $469.3 million at December 31, 2004, an incredsk102.3 million, or 60.4%. This
increase was primarily due to additional receivalalequired in connection with the INET and Carpekteore acquisitions, an increase in
revenues and an increase in cash and cash equé/akediscussed above.

Nasdaqg has been able to generate sufficient funds dperations to meet working capital requiremeBtsept for the un-drawn $75.0
million five-year revolving line of credit obtainaéd connection with the financing of the INET acgjtion, we do not have any lines of credit.
We believe that the liquidity provided by existicgsh and cash equivalents, investments and cashaged from operations will provide
sufficient capital to meet current and future ofiagarequirements. In conjunction with the issuaotthe $750.0 million senior term debt,
Nasdagq prepaid in full the $25.0 million seniore®and recorded a loss on the early extinguishofatgbt of the $25.0 million senior not
of approximately $1.1 million which is recordedganeral and administrative expense in the Congelid&tatements of Income. See Note 7,
“Debt Obligations,” to the consolidated financitatements for further discussion. Nasdaq will awndi to explore alternative sources of
financing that may increase liquidity in the future

On February 15, 2005, we issued 7,000,000 shampimlic offering of our common stock, and recdinet proceeds of $268.9
million. We used $104.7 million of these proceaulsedeem our Series C Cumulative Preferred Stohlchnis described in more detall
below. We plan to use the remaining proceeds foegs corporate purposes, including potential agitjohs. See Note 20, “Subsequent
Events,” to the consolidated financial statemeaotdurther discussion.

Broker Dealer Net Capital Requiremel

Our broker-dealer subsidiaries, Brut, INET ATS &slend Execution Services, LLC, are subject to tafguy requirements intended to
ensure their general financial soundness and liguithich require that they comply with certainmmum capital requirements. As of
December 31, 2005, Brut was required to maintammmuim net capital of $0.3 million and had total oapital of approximately $6.7 million
or $6.4 million in excess of the minimum amountuieed. As of December 31, 2005, Island ExecutiorviBes was required to maintain
minimum net capital of $1.0 million and had totet eapital of approximately $1.5 million or $0.5llioh in excess of the minimum amount
required.

As of December 31, 2005, INET ATS was required sntain minimum net capital of $1.0 million and headet capital deficiency of
approximately $48.0 million or $49.0 million beldive minimum amount required. This deficiency was tuINET ATS'’s investment in a
nonU.S. based money market fund that is not registengér the Investment Company Act of 1940. Accaghjinthe balances in the fund ¢
a non-allowable asset under SEC Rule 15¢3-1, theapétal rule. INET ATS provided hind-sight notitteat the net capital was below the
minimum amount required under the net capital rOle.February 8, 2006, the funds were redeemedrarestied in a money market fund
registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940ch corrected the net capital deficiency positiNo funds were lost and no
customers suffered any loss.
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk

Market risk represents the risks of changes invétlee of a financial instrument, derivative or nderivative, caused by fluctuations in
interest rates and equity prices. Our primary mtatik& is associated with fluctuations in interestes and the effects that such fluctuations
may have on our investment portfolio and outstagdiebt. At December 31, 2005, investments consifsted income instruments with an
average duration of 0.3 years. Our primary investrojective in debt securities is to preserve@pial while maximizing yields, without
significantly increasing risk. At December 31, 2066r $205.0 million convertible notes and $240ibiom convertible notes specify a fixed
interest rate until October 22, 2012 and for Na&l$@50.0 million senior term debt a floating irgst rate until maturity in 2011. These
investment securities and outstanding debt obbgatare subject to interest rate risk and theindaiues may fluctuate with changes in
interest rates. Management does not believe th@0dasis point fluctuation in market interest satéll have a material effect on the carrying
value of our investment portfolio or outstandindpdebligations at December 31, 2005. However, #ievialue of Nasdaq’s debt obligations
exceeds its carrying value as discussed in NotéFrdr, Value of Financial Instruments.” Nasdaq daes currently hedge any variable
interest rates on either the investment portfotidebt obligations.

At December 31, 2005, we had no significant foraigrency exposure or related hedges. We periddicsgvaluate our hedging
policies and may choose to enter into future treinsias.

We are exposed to credit risk from third parties|uding customers, counterparties and clearingtag&hese parties may default on
their obligations to us due to bankruptcy, lackigdidity, operational failure or other reasons plrticular, our subsidiaries, Brut and INET,
may be exposed to credit risk, due to the defdulanling counterparties, in connection with théeemal routing and agency brokerage
services Brut and INET provide their customers. /hie are not exposed to counterparty risk fordsagikecuted on The Nasdaq Market
Center, we are exposed to counterparty risk in ection with trades executed on or through the BGN and INET ECN systems, or Brut
and INET System Trades, given that Brut and INEET @& central counterparty on an agency basidhésettrades.

Brut System Trades in Nasdag-listed securitiesNIYi8E-listed securities routed to the NYSE DOT systeith broker-dealer clients
are cleared by Brut, as a member of the Nationali®ées Clearing Corporation, or NSCC. Brut SysfBrades with non-broker-dealer
customers were cleared by Merrill Lynch Professi@iearing Corporation pursuant to a clearing agrexat. Effective December 31, 2005,
Brut no longer participates in non-broker-dealansactions. INET System Trades in Nasdag-listedriixs and NY SE-listed securities
routed to the NYSE with broker-dealer clients deared pursuant to a clearing agreement with lestifearing Services, Inc., or ICS. At
December 31, 2005, INET did not have any non-bralealer customers.

Pursuant to the rules of the NSCC and Brut's agpaigreement, Brut is liable for any losses ina@idee a counterparty or a clearing
agent’s failure to satisfy its contractual obligais, either by making payment or delivering semgitAdverse movements in the prices of
securities that are subject to these transactiansncrease our credit risk. However, we beliew the risk of material loss is limited, as Brut
customers are not permitted to trade on margin, Gl8({es limit counterparty risk on self-clearedhsactions by establishing credit limit and
capital deposit requirements for all brokers thaficwith NSCC, and transactions with institutionastomers are cleared only if the
institutional customer delivers the appropriateusigies or funds on the appropriate settlement.dgitet has never incurred a liability due to a
customer’s failure to satisfy its contractual obtigns as a counterparty to a Brut System TradediCdifficulties or insolvency or the
perceived possibility of credit difficulties or iolsency of one or more larger or visible markettiggrants could also result in market-wide
credit difficulties or other market disruptions. \&lso have credit risk related to transaction fhasare billed to customers on a monthly
basis, in arrears. Our potential exposure to ctedifes on these transactions is represented bgthvable balances on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets. Our customers are financial itistits whose ability to satisfy their contractualigations may be impacted by volatile
securities markets. Credit losses such as thoseilded above could adversely affect our consoll&iteancial position and results of
operations.
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As a result of INET’s relationship with ICS, INES éxposed to substantial credit risk from bothipario a securities transaction during
the period between the transaction date and thlerseint date. Adverse movements in the priceseddlsecurities can increase our credit
All of INET’s transactions and, consequently, tleecentration of its credit exposure are with bretealers primarily located in the United
States. INET seeks to control its credit risk thytoa variety of reporting and control proceduresluding establishing credit limits and
enforcing credit standards based upon a revieWwetbunterparties’ financial condition and credttrrg. INET monitors trading activity and
collateral levels on a daily basis for compliandthwegulatory and internal guidelines and obtaidditional collateral, if appropriate.

Contractual Obligations and Contingent Commitments

Nasdaqg has contractual obligations to make futayenents under debt obligations by contract matumiypnimum rental commitments
under non-cancelable operating leases and othigatibhs and has contingent commitments under ietyaof arrangements. The following
table shows these contractual obligations at Deeer®b, 2005:

Payments due by period

More
Less thar 1-3 3-5 than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years
(in millions)
Debt obligations by contract maturity (Note” Debt Obligation”) $1,195.( $ 7.5 $15.C $15.C $1,157.
Minimum rental commitments under non-cancelableraiigy leases, net (Note 16,
“Lease”) 237.¢ 33.2 445 37.2 122t
Other obligations (Note 1*Commitments and Contingenc”) 26.¢ 14.¢ 9.3 2.7 —
Total $1,459.. $ 555 $68.6 $55.1 $1,280.(

General Litigation

We may be subject to claims arising out of the cmhdf our business. Currently, there are variegal proceedings pending against us.
One of these proceedings is a pending arbitratadwéeen Instinet and Archipelago. Nasdaq has be@mieterested party in this proceedings
as a result of the INET acquisition. See “Item 8g&l Proceedings.” We believe that any liabilibesettiements arising from these
proceedings will not have a material effect on amsolidated financial position or our results pérations. Management is not aware of any
unasserted claims or assessments that would haegesial adverse effect on our consolidated firdrmosition and results of operations.

Credit Facility and Other INET Financing Arrangenign

Credit Facility. Nasdaqg entered into a credit agreement, datefiscember 8, 2005. The credit agreement proviaesp to $825.0
million of senior secured financing and is guaradtby most of Nasdaq’s domestic subsidiaries. B2 $ million available under the credit
agreement includes:

» asix-year $750.0 million senior term loan facilignd

» afive-year $75.0 million revolving credit facilityith a letter of credit subfacility and swinglif@an subfacility.

We drew the full $750.0 million under the seniantdoan facility on December 8, 2005, in orderuad a portion of Nasdaqg's
consideration for the INET transaction. As of Debem31, 2005, we had not drawn any funds underabalving credit facility.
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The interest rate on loans made under the revolsiedit facility varies depending upon Nasdaqg'shage ratio and LIBOR, and the
interest rate on Nasdag'’s senior term loan fadsityIBOR plus 150 basis points. Accordingly, théerest rate will vary over time. As of
December 31, 2005, borrowings under the creditifiatiore interest at an average rate of 6.14%agp@um. Nasdag pays customary fees and
expenses related to the credit facility, includingommitment fee of 0.50% per annum on the avedadg unused portion of the revolving
credit facility.

The credit agreement contains customary covenanitéagsdaq and its subsidiaries including the foltayvi
* maintenance of minimum interest expense coverdgeaad maximum leverage ratio as defined in tleglitifacility and pursuant-

the following schedule

Interest Expense Coverage Ratio

Period Ratio

January 1, 2006 to September 30, 2 2.751t0 1.0C
October 1, 2006 to December 31, 2( 3.00to 1.0C
January 1, 2007 to March 31, 2C 3.25t0 1.0C
April 1, 2007 to June 30, 20( 3.50 to 1.0C
July 1, 2007 to September 30, 2( 3.751t0 1.0C
October 1, 2007 to December 31, 2! 4.00 to 1.0C
January 1, 2008 to March 31, 2C 4.25 to 1.0(
April 1, 2008 to September 30, 20 4.75 to 1.0C
Thereafte 5.00 to 1.0C

Leverage Ratio

Period Ratio

January 1, 2006 to March 31, 2C 5.75 to 1.0C
April 1, 2006 to September 30, 20 5.50 to 1.0C
October 1, 2006 to December 31, 2! 5.00 to 1.0C
January 1, 2007 to March 31, 2C 4.25 1o 1.0C
April 1, 2007 to June 30, 20( 4.00 to 1.0C
July 1, 2007 to September 30, 2( 3.751t0 1.0C
October 1, 2007 to December 31, 2! 3.50 to 1.0C
January 1, 2008 to March 31, 2C 3.251t0 1.0C
April 1, 2008 to December 31, 20 3.00to 1.0C
January 1, 2009 to September 30, 2 2.75 10 1.0C
Thereafte 2.50 to 1.0C

limitations on the payment of dividends and redeamst of our capital stock;

limitations on loans, guarantees, investments,riecice of debt and hedging arrangements;

limitations on issuance and amendment of prefesteck and amendment of subordinated debt agreements
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» prohibition of prepayments, redemptions and repasel of debt other than debt under the crediitigcil
» limitations on liens and sale-leaseback transastion

» limitations on mergers, recapitalizations, acqigag and asset sales;

+ limitations on transactions with affiliates;

» limitations on restrictions on liens and other rietive agreements; and

« limitations on changes in our business.

The credit agreement also contains customary adfika covenants, including access to financiakst&nts, notice of certain events i
defaults and maintenance of business and insurandegvents of default, as well as cross-defaduitts both the $205.0 million convertible
notes and $240.0 million convertible notes and @iased warrants (discussed below) and any thertamdimg subordinated debt.

We are permitted to repay borrowings under theitfadility at any time in whole or in part, subjdo our remaining in compliance
with the covenants discussed above and our oldig&ti pay additional fees in certain circumstanBegjinning in 2007, we also are required
to use a percentage of our excess cash flow, awedah the credit agreement and calculated wispeet to the prior fiscal year, to repay Ic
outstanding under the senior term loan facilitye Percentage of cash flow we are required to useefimyments varies depending on our
leverage ratio at the end of the year for whicthdémw is calculated, with the maximum repaymentcpeatage set at 50.0% of excess cash
flow.

Convertible NotesOn April 22, 2005, we entered into a securitieechase agreement with Norway Acquisition SPV, Lb€Norway
SPV, an affiliate of SLP and Hellman & Friedmamding for the sale by us to Norway SPV of $20&iion aggregate principal amount
of 3.75% convertible notes due October 2012 andamés to purchase 2,209,052 shares of our comnock at $14.50 per share. The $205.0
million convertible notes will be convertible inbmir common stock, subject to certain adjustmentiscamditions at a purchase price of $1:
per share, which would equal 14,137,931 sharesa$keciated warrants will be exercisable by Nor&RBY and its permitted transferees on
or after April 22, 2006, or earlier under certairtemstances, and will terminate on December 88280th the $205.0 million convertible
notes and warrants and the shares underlying &.@2nillion convertible notes and warrants aretrantsferable without our consent until
September 8, 2006. In addition, the $205.0 miltonvertible notes, warrants and the shares undertyie $205.0 million convertible notes
and warrants can only be transferred pursuant examption to the Securities Act or if they areiseged under the Securities Act. The
$205.0 million convertible notes and warrants pasgd by Norway SPV are owned by SLP and Hellmamiédfan or their respective
affiliates.

On April 22, 2005, we also entered into a note adnent agreement with Hellman & Friedman, providiogthe exchange by us of our
$240.0 million aggregate principal amount of 4.08fiertible subordinated notes due 2006 for $240lmaggregate principal amount of
3.75% convertible notes due 2012 and, together thét$205.0 million convertible notes, the “Noteasid Warrants (the warrants associated
with the $240.0 million convertible notes and, tibge with the warrants associated with the $205I0om convertible notes, the “Warrants”)
to purchase 2,753,448 shares of our common stdkk4ab0 per share. The $240.0 million convertitdten will be convertible into our
common stock, subject to certain adjustments amglrg) conditions, at a purchase price of $14.5Gpare, which would equal 16,551,724
shares. The associated warrants will be exercidggbléellman & Friedman and their permitted transés on or after April 22, 2006, or ear
under certain circumstances, and will terminat®enember 8, 2008. Both the $240.0 million convéstitotes and warrants and the shares
underlying the $240.0 million convertible notes avatrants are not transferable without our consetit September 8, 2006. In addition, the
$240.0 million convertible notes and associatedavdas and the shares underlying the $240.0 miimmvertible notes and warrants can only
be transferred pursuant to an exemption to ther8suAct or if they are registered under the Siies Act.
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The holders of the Notes and the Warrants ardeuhtid the benefits of a registration rights agreeiramong us, SLP and Hellman &
Friedman commencing September 8, 2006. Under tiistration rights agreement, we have agreed todigstration statements to cover the
resale of the Notes or the common stock issualbe gpnversion of the Notes or exercise of the Whsrat the request of the holders and
grant rights to the holders to register their comratock if we file registration statements to régi®ur common stock.

In addition, our stockholders approved an amendrueotir restated certificate of incorporation pétimg the holders of the Notes to
vote on all matters submitted to a vote of our ldtotders. Under the terms of the amendment, ealctehof the Notes is entitled to the
number of votes equal to the number of shares ofammon stock that could be acquired upon conerrsf such holder’'s Notes on the
applicable record date, subject to the 5.0% vdimgation contained in our restated certificaterforporation.

The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of dgamk pari passu in right of payment with all &xig and any future senior unsecu
indebtedness of us and are senior in right of payneeany future subordinated indebtedness of be.Notes will be convertible on and after
April 22, 2006 (or earlier under certain circumst@s) by their holders into our common stock atéiai conversion rate of 0.0689655 shares
of our common stock per $1.00 principal amount ofds, subject to adjustments, or, at our optiao, Gash and our common stock.

We may redeem the Notes at any time after April2Z4,1 for a cash payment equal to the aggregateipal amount of the Notes plus
any accrued and unpaid interest on the Notes, cigjehe holders’ option to convert the Notes iotw common stock after notice of such
redemption is given. The indenture pursuant to tviiie Notes were issued is subject to customamtea# default, including failure to ma
required payments, failure to comply with certagmeeements or covenants, acceleration of certaier atldlebtedness rendering of final
judgments for the payment of certain money, anthoeevents of bankruptcy and insolven

Additionally, in connection with the issuance oé tRotes and the Warrants, we entered into an ardeanttérestated securityholders
agreement with SLP and Hellman & Friedman. Undertéhms of this agreement, SLP and Hellman & Frelare each entitled to (i) hav:
representative appointed to our board of direc{@sbtain additional information about us anii) ertain consultation and information
rights; provided that SLP and its affiliates andlidan & Friedman and its affiliates maintain owrtgépsof a certain percentage of the Notes.
Messrs. Glenn Hutchins and Patrick Healy are orboard of directors as a result of these provisions

Redemption of Series C Preferred St

On February 15, 2006, we redeemed all outstandiages of our Series C Cumulative Preferred Stoak wre required to redeem the
Series C after the closing of our public offerifigcommon stock, which took place on the same dkttéhe time of redemption, the Series C
accrued dividends at an annual rate of 3.0%, wivichld have increased to 10.6% after July 1, 200 tbtal redemption price was $104.7
million, which included accrued and unpaid dividerahd a make-whole premium. We paid this entiretarnto NASD, which was the sole
holder of the Series C. As a result of the redepmptive are no longer bound by covenants contaiméuei Exchange Agreement between us
and the NASD dated November 29, 2004. These coteganerally required us to obtain NASD's consefbte we could incur specified
debt obligations or transfer assets. NASD will ran@ur controlling shareholder until we become agienal as an exchange.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
Nasdaq did not have any off-balance sheet arrangtsnas of December 31, 2005.

Consolidation Trends in Industry

The equity exchange industry provides servicedudhing securities listing, market information amade execution, both in the United
States and internationally. There has been a recave of acquisitions in our
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industry, particularly in the trade execution seed area. This trend has been driven by a varfdiysiness and regulatory factors. Broker-
dealers are demanding greater efficiency in tradupgjty securities, new sophisticated order typekiacreased execution speed. At the same
time, recent initiatives, including Regulation NMShcourage a transition by all equity exchangesdotronic trading systems. Another
driving factor is the focus on profitability fromdustry participants. As equity exchanges have daatimed and become for-profit public
companies, they have focused on achieving econashigsale, improved technology and greater profitglihrough acquisitions. Recent
acquisitions have resulted in the original entrapteial ECN entrants being absorbed by other ptayes discussed above, we acquired the
INET ECN in December 2005 and Brut in September20bie NYSE has also completed its acquisition mf#pelago. Since 2002,
Archipelago merged with REDIBook ECN LLC and Instimcquired The Island ECN Inc. This consolidatiemd is also occurring in

Europe. Many of the same forces that have led nsa@ddation in equity trade execution servicesdiiging changes in other asset classes,
such as equity options, where large volumes inngadf commoditized products reward scale efficieac

The recent consolidation activity, including the SIE¢ merger with Archipelago, may intensify competitin both our Market Services
and Issuer Services segments. New entrants maynals@ase competition. Our business has been dhdomtinue to be impacted by the
following key external factors:

» the number of companies seeking equity financirtgchvis affected by factors such as investor demtmedeconomy, alternative
sources of financing, and tax polic

» trading volumes in U.S. equity securities, whicé driven primarily by overall macroeconomic cortits;
e competition (in terms of listings, market sharecipg, and product and service offerings);
» technological advancements; and

» regulatory developments, particularly the impleraéon of Regulation NMS.

These factors may affect our future gross margwvemues and net income.
The merger between NYSE and Archipelago is caudiagges to the competitive landscape.
For a further discussion of competitive trends, “Baesiness—Competition.”

Regulation NMS

Regulation NMS is scheduled to become effectivetéiges throughout 2006, although the SEC recentiguanced that it may delay its
implementation. Regulation NMS will change the noetlfior sharing market data revenues under our plEmes changes will introduce a qu
component to the sharing methodology. Until the hecomes effective, the revenue impact of thegdh&not completely predictable.
Because Nasdagq is an active quoting exchange iparii¢ the impact on our Nasdag-listed revenue Ishimel negligible. Nasdaq also receives
a share of the data revenue that is generatedhifNasdaq-listed securities because of our quotitbteading success in those securities.
Additionally, due to our electronic nature, andgtowr active quoting behavior in non-Nasdaq sdestithe Regulation NMS-generated
change in the sharing methodology may have a pesitipact on Nasdag's share of the non-Nasdaq rndsite revenue. To the extent that
our trading in NYSE securities increases, our sbtbe data revenue should also increase. A fastlussion of the provisions of Regulation
NMS in contained in the section entitl’‘Business—Regulation.”

Exchange Registration

On January 13, 2006, the SEC approved our apmitébr registration as a national securities exglealVe will begin operating as an
exchange once we meet conditions imposed by the $BICh we expect to occur
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in the second quarter of 2006. We do not expedtaxge registration to have a material impact orfioancial or operating results. For a
further discussion of exchange registration, iniclgdhe conditions that we must meet, and the arpgdoenefits, see “Business—Exchange
Registration.”

Critical Accounting Policies

The following provides information about our cralaccounting policies. Critical accounting pol&i&re defined as those that are
reflective of significant judgments and uncertastiand potentially result in materially differeasults under different assumptions and
conditions. These policies relate to revenue reitiognand cost of revenues, reserve for bad deltsation of goodwill and intangible assets,
software costs and related party transactionsaRoummary of our significant accounting policiesluding the accounting policies discussed
below, see Note 2, “Summary of Significant AccongtPolicies,” to the consolidated financial statatador further discussion.

Revenue Recognition and Cost of Revenudsirket Services revenues (74.3% of total revenndssad.0 % of gross margin in 2005)
derived from Nasdaq Market Center and Nasdaq M&ketices Subscriptions revenues. Nasdaq Markee€evenues are variable, based
on service volumes, and recognized as transaabiorig. Nasdagq Market Services Subscriptions reveatebased on the number of
presentation devices in service and quotes delivil®ugh those devices. Nasdaq Market Servicescsiplions revenues are recognized in
the month that information is provided. These ressnare recorded net of amounts due under revéiauieg arrangements with market
participants. Pursuant to EITF 99-19, executioreneres from transactions executed through both@rdtINET are recorded on a gross basis
in revenues and expenses such as liquidity relzgte@nts are recorded in cost of revenues as BUINIET act as principal. Prior to the
second quarter of 2005, Nasdaqther execution revenues were reported net widiity rebates as Nasdaq does not act as prindifgatever,
during and since the second quarter of 2005 undsday’s new Limitation of Liability Rule, Nasdagpgect to certain caps, provides
compensation for losses due to malfunctions obtider-execution systems of The Nasdaq Market Centerefore, pursuant to EITF 99-19,
Nasdaq records all execution revenues from traiosecexecuted through The Nasdag Market Centergross basis in execution and tr:
reporting revenues and has records liquidity repatenents as cost of revenues as Nasdaq now hamaésk associated with trade execu
subject to rule limitations and caps. This rulerd®in fact was made on a prospective basis begjripril 1, 2005, as required under Uni
States GAAP. This rule change did not have a nadtenipact on the consolidated financial positiomesults of operations of Nasdagq in the
second, third or fourth quarters of 2005.

Issuer Services revenues (25.7% of total revenuegtd.0% of gross margin in 2005) include Corpo€ltent Group revenues and
Nasdaq Financial Products revenues. Corporate tGlissup revenues include annual fees, initialdgtiees and listing of additional sha
fees. Annual fees are recognized ratably overdhewing 12-month period. Initial listing and listy of additional shares fees are recognized
on a straight-line basis over estimated servicegsy which are six and four years, respectiveigdal on our historical listing experience.
Corporate Client Group revenues also include comiorisincome from Nasdag Insurance Agency. Commissicome is recognized when
coverage becomes effective, the premium due uhe@epdlicy is known or can be reasonably estimaiad,substantially all required services
related to placing the insurance have been provitled effect on income of subsequent premium adljeists, including policy cancellations,
is recorded when the adjustments is known. Feenedor services other than placement of insuranegerage is recognized as those serv
are provided. Broker commission adjustments andneissions on premiums billed directly by underwistare recognized when such
amounts can be reasonably estimated. For Nasdaqdtah Products’ revenues, we receive licenseffasur trademark licenses that vary by
product based on assets or number or underlyingrdalue of contracts issued. Nasdaq primarilythastypes of license agreements,
transaction-based licenses and asset-based licGmaasaction-based licenses are generally reneviaihg-term agreements. Customers are
charged based on transaction volume or a minimurtract amount, or both. If a customer is chargeskan transaction volume, Nasdaq
recognizes revenue when the transaction occuascustomer is charged based on a minimum contnactiat, Nasdaq recognizes revenue on
a pro-rata basis over
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the licensing term. Asset-based licenses are @rerglly long-term agreements. Customers are ctidr@sed on a percentage of assets undel
management for licensed products, per the agreememt monthly or quarterly basis. These revenueseorded on a monthly or quarterly
basis over the term of the license agreement.

Reserve for Bad Debt3he reserve for bad debts is maintained at a »atimanagement believes to be sufficient to abestimated
losses in the accounts receivable portfolio. Tisemee is increased by the provision for bad delbistwis charged against operating results
and decreased by the amount of charge-offs, netcofveries. The amount charged against operatsuitsas based on several factors
including, but not limited to, a continuous assemshof the collectibility of each account, the léngf time a receivable is past due and our
historical experience with the particular custonhercircumstances where a specific customer’s litgltd meet its financial obligations is
known (i.e., bankruptcy filings), we record a sfiegprovision for bad debts against amounts duetluce the receivable to the amount we
reasonably believe will be collected. Due to chaggiconomic, business and market conditions, wiewethe reserve for bad debts monthly
and make changes to the reserve through the poavisi bad debts as appropriate. If circumstanbasge (i.e., higher than expected defe
or an unexpected material adverse change in a roagpomer’s ability to pay), our estimates of rezability could be reduced by a material
amount.

Valuation of Goodwill and Intangible Asset©ur business acquisitions typically result in thearding of goodwill and other intangible
assets, and the recorded values of those assetisaoame impaired in the future. As of December2BD5, goodwill totaled $961.9 million
and intangible assets, net of accumulated amadizabtaled $215.5 million. The determination loé tvalue of such intangible assets requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiézit@ur consolidated financial statements. Wessgotential impairments to
intangible assets when there is evidence that s\@rthanges in circumstances indicate that thrgingramount of an asset may not be
recovered. Our judgments regarding the existenampédirment indicators and future cash flows ralateintangible assets are based on
operational performance of our acquired businessasget conditions and other factors. Although ¢hee inherent uncertainties in this
assessment process, the estimates and assumpéarsewvare consistent with our internal planninghdte estimates or their related
assumptions change in the future, we may be redjtireecord an impairment charge on all or a portibour goodwill and intangible assets.
Impairment exists if the carrying value of the ifidie-lived intangible asset exceeds its fair walkor intangible assets subject to
amortization, impairment is recognized if the cargyamount is not recoverable and the carrying amhexceeds the fair value of the
intangible asset.

Software CostsWe capitalize and amortize significant purchaseuliegition software and operational software thatam integral part
of computer hardware on the straight-line methoer dleir estimated useful lives, generally twoite fyears. We expense other purchased
software as incurred.

Nasdaq uses Statement of Position 98-1, “Accourfinthe Costs of Computer Software Developed aia®led for Internal Use,” for
accounting for internally developed software. S@PL3equires that certain costs incurred in coniaratith developing or obtaining internal
use software be capitalized. We capitalize inteamal third party costs incurred in connection wlith development of internal use software.

Related Party Transaction®Related party receivables and payables are thé t#suarious transactions between us and ouriaffi$.
Payables to related parties are comprised primafitiie regulation charge from NASDR. Receivabtesirelated parties relates to cash
disbursements funded by us on behalf of our affiiaNASDR charges us for costs incurred relatédasdaq market regulation and
enforcement.

Future Accounting Requirements

In December 2004, the FASB issued Statement offEinbAccounting Standards 123 (revised 2004), Y&t@ased Payment,” or,
SFAS 123(R), which revises SFAS 123, “AccountingS$tock-Based Compensation,” or, SFAS 123, andrsedes Accounting Principles
Board Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued tm@oyees,” or, APB 25. SFAS 123(R) also amended$&BB, “Statement of Cash
Flows.” SFAS 123(R) requires that new, modified angested share-based payment transactions wittogegs, such as
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stock options and restricted stock, be recognirdte financial statements based on their fairevalud recognized as compensation expense
over the vesting period.

We adopted SFAS 123(R) effective January 1, 208iBguthe modified prospective transition method] aill recognize share-based
compensation cost on a straight-line basis overdbeisite service periods of awards. Under theifieatdprospective method, non-cash
compensation expense will be recognized for thégroof outstanding stock option awards grantedmio the adoption of SFAS 123(R) for
which service has not been rendered, and for anyestock option grants. The pro forma informatwesented in Note 10, “Stock
Compensation and Stock Awards,” presents the estth@mpensation charges under SFAS 123(R). Nasdagessment of the estimated
compensation charges is affected by the Compastpck price as well as assumptions regardingr@euof complex and subjective variak
and the related tax impact. These variables in¢lodeare not limited to, Nasdag'’s stock price tititg and employee stock option exercise
behaviors.

In 2004, the EITF issued EITF 03-1, “The Meaninddtfier-Than-Temporary Impairment and its Applicatio Certain Investmentstd
provide detailed guidance on assessing impairnoassel on debt and equity investments. In Septetifier, the FASB voted unanimously to
delay the effective date of EITF 03-1. On Novem®e2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS-11“The Meaning of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairment and its Application to Certlimestments,” revising the guidance in EITF 03vhjch did not have a material impact
on Nasdaq's consolidated financial statements.dig$wosures required by EITF 03-1 are included ate\b, “Investments,” to the
consolidated financial statements.

Summarized Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr
2005 2005 2005 2005

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Total revenue $180,19: $219,68t $220,46! $ 259,57!
Cost of revenue (53,919 (89,225 (89,82) (120,94
Gross margir 126,27¢ 130,46: 130,64- 138,62¢
Total expense 103,52( 104,13¢ 99,28: 105,40°
Operating incom: 22,75¢ 26,32 31,36: 33,22
Net income $ 12,77 $ 13,97 $ 17,80: $ 17,14¢
Net income applicable to common stockholc $ 10,84C $ 11,727 $ 16,42¢ $ 16,10(
Basic earnings per she $ 01£ $ $0.1f $ $0.2( $ 0.2
Diluted earnings per sha $ 01 $ $0.1: $ $0.1¢ $ 0.1f
1st Qtr 2nd Qtr 3rd Qtr 4th Qtr
2004 2004 2004 2004

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Total revenue $128,40:  $120,017  $123,97( $ 168,05:
Cost of revenue — — (9,177) (46,66¢)
Gross margir 128,40« 120,01: 114,79: 121,38«
Total expense 119,80( 111,45( 123,75¢ 121,40:
Operating income (lost 8,60¢ 8,56: (8,96¢€) (18)
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic 4,631 4,78¢ (5,485 (2,127
Net income from discontinued operations, net ol — — — 9,55¢
Net income (loss $ 4,631 $ 4,78¢ $ (5,487 $ 7,431
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockhol $ 1,832 $ 1,23¢ $ (6489 $ 1,59

Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per st
Continuing operation $ 00z $ 00z $ (009 $ (0.10
Discontinued operatior — — — 0.12

Total basic and diluted net earnings (loss) peres $ 00z $ 00z $ (00§ $ 0.0z
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures Aout Market Risk.

Information about quantitative and qualitative thscres about market risk is incorporated hereindfgrence from “ltem 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations—Quantitative @ualitative Disclosures About
Market Risk.”

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Nasdaq's consolidated financial statements, inolgidionsolidated balance sheets as of Decembe08%,ghd 2004, consolidated
statements of income for the year ended Decemhe&t(8b, 2004 and 2003, consolidated statementsasfges in stockholdersguity for the
year ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, ¢dated statements of cash flows for the year efkbmber 31, 2005, 2004 and 2(
and notes to our consolidated financial stateméngether with a report thereon of Ernst & YoundA, ldated March 3, 2006, are attached
hereto as pages F-1 through F-50.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accounté&on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

(a). Disclosure controls and procedurefNasdaq'’s management, with the participation cfdéa’s President and Chief Executive
Officer, and Executive Vice President and Chiefdficial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveneddaddaq’s disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Radelb(e) under the Securities Exchange Act aseotid of the period covered by this
report. Based upon that evaluation, Nasdaq's Reasihd Chief Executive Officer and Executive Viresident and Chief Financial Officer
have concluded that, as of the end of such peNaddaq’s disclosure controls and procedures aeetefé.

(b). Internal controls over financial reporting There have been no changes in Nasdaq’s inteomédats over financial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) unither Exchange Act) that occurred during Nasdagtsafifourth quarter that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materiallfeaf, Nasdaq's internal controls over financialogmg.

Managemen's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Repadrtg

Management is responsible for the preparation atedjiity of the consolidated financial statememisearing in the reports that we file
with the SEC. The consolidated financial statememise prepared in conformity with U.S. generallgeqated accounting principles and
include amounts based on management’s estimatgsi@guients.

Management is also responsible for establishingnaaigitaining adequate internal control over Nasslfigancial reporting. We
maintain a system of internal control that is daeijto provide reasonable assurance as to tharfdireliable preparation and presentation of
the consolidated financial statements, as welbasteguard assets from unauthorized use or ditgpo#tiat could have a material effect on
the financial statements.

Our management assessed the effectiveness oftetmahcontrol over financial reporting, as of Dexdxer 31, 2005, based on criteria
forth in the framework innternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway
Commission (COSO). This evaluation included revihe documentation of controls, evaluation of dlesign effectiveness of controls,
testing of the operating effectiveness of contamd a conclusion on this evaluation. Although trereeinherent limitations in the
effectiveness of any system of internal controlrdireancial reporting, based on its assessmenth@mmragement believes that, as of
December 31, 2005, our internal control over finaheporting is effective.
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Management’s assessment of and conclusion on fibetigéness of internal control over financial repg did not include the internal
control of Norway and its subsidiaries, includiéET ECN (the “INET Entities”), which are included ihe 2005 consolidated financial
statements and in 2005 reflect total assets catiatit54.8% (which includes 47.4% related to godidavid intangible assets) and gross
margin constituting less than 1.2% of the relateasolidated totals. We did not assess the effautis® of internal controls over financial
reporting at the INET Entities because we did mohplete our acquisition of these entities until Bmber 2005.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered pusticounting firm, has issued an attestation repornanagement’s assessment of
internal controls over financial reporting, whighinclude herein.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountifigm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of The Ngs8tock Market, Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, inclodbd accompanyiniyflanagement’s Report on Internal Controls Over Ficiah
Reporting that The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. maintained &ffednternal control over financial reporting asecember 31, 2005, based
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrakgdmework issued by the Committee of Sponsorirmgafizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). The Nasdaq StockkBtalnc.’s management is responsible for maimaimeffective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifrecéiveness of internal control over financial oefing. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinitimeceffectiveness of the company’s internal adrdver financial reporting based on
our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staddof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri8q@nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethetigfaénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
evaluating management’s assessment, testing ahgaéiag the design and operating effectivenessateirnal control, and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary airthenstances. We believe that our audit providesaaonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesamssuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegenerally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over firgal reporting includes those policies and proceduhat (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accuratelyfainly reflect the transactions and dispositionshef assets of the company; (2) provide
reasonable assurance that transactions are recasdeztessary to permit preparation of financétkestents in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipdsexpenditures of the company are being madeinrdgcordance with authorizations of
management and directors of the company; and (8jige reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposition of the companygseds that could have a material effect on then@izé statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periagssabject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policeprocedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanyiipnagement’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting,management’s assessment of
and conclusion on the effectiveness of internatrobover financial reporting did not include theedrnal controls of Norway and its
subsidiaries, including INET ECN (the “INET Ent#i§, which are included in the 2005 consolidatedficial statements of The Nasdaq
Stock Market, Inc. and constituted 54.8% (whicHudes 47.4% related to goodwill and intangible tsaf the consolidated net assets and
less than 1.2% of the consolidated gross margof Becember 31, 2005. Management did not assess the
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effectiveness of internal control over financighogting at this entity because the Company didcoatplete its acquisition of these entities
until December 2005. Our audit of internal contreér financial reporting of The Nasdaq Stock Market. also did not include an evaluat
of the internal control over financial reportingldbrway and its subsidiaries, including INET ECN.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that ThdadpStock Market, Inc. maintained effective inatigontrol over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2005, is fairly stabte@ll material respects, based on the COSOriitélso, in our opinion, The Nasdaq Sti
Market, Inc. maintained, in all material respeef$ective internal control over financial reporting of December 31, 2005, based on the
COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of The Nasdaq Stocke¥lanc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20@52004, and the related consolid:
statements of income, changes in stockholderstggumnd cash flows for each of the three yearténperiod ended December 31, 2005 of
The Nasdaqg Stock Market, Inc. and our report ditacth 3, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinionetbier

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
March 3, 2006

Part Il

Iltem 9B. Other Information.
None

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Rgistrant.

Information about Nasdaq’s code of ethics, as éefin Item 406 of Regulation S-K, and Nasdaq's acminmittee composition and
financial expert, as defined in Items 401(h) ap@{iRegulation S-K, are incorporated by referefioen the discussion under the captions
“Nasdag Codes of Ethics” and “Board and Committeseihgs—Audit Committee,” in Nasdaq's proxy statetfer the 2006 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders, or the Proxy. Informataiyout Nasdaq’s directors is incorporated by refeedrom the discussion under Proposal 1
in the Proxy. Information about Nasdaq's executiffeers is incorporated by reference from the déston under the caption “Executive
Officers” in the Proxy. Information about Nasdalfeminating Committee is incorporated by refererroenfthe discussion under the caption
“Board and Committee Meetings—Nominating Committaethe Proxy. Information about Section 16 repaatsrequired by Item 405 of
Regulation S-K, is incorporated by reference frtwa discussion under the caption “Section 16(a) BeakOwnership Reporting
Compliance” in the Proxy.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information about executive compensation is incomped by reference from the discussion under tlaglihg “Executive Compensation”
in the Proxy.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial @Qvners and Management and Related Stockholder Mattet

Information about security ownership of certain df@sial owners and management is incorporated fareace from the discussion
under the heading “Security Ownership of Certainéieial Owners and Management” in the Proxy.
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

Nasdaq’'s Equity Incentive Plan, or the Equity Plaoyvides for the issuance of our equity securtiesfficers and other employees,
directors and consultants. In addition, employdd@sasdaq and its subsidiaries are eligible to pgrdite in the Employee Stock Purchase F
or the ESPP, at 85% of the fair market value ofaummon stock on the price calculation date. TheitigdPlan and the ESPP have been
approved by our stockholders. In 2003, we granfgtbos for 1,000,000 shares of common stock and0D@0shares of restricted stock to
Robert Greifeld as inducement awards to securerhigoyment as CEO and President of Nasdag. Thessmtiucement awards were outside
of the Equity Plan. The following table sets fortformation regarding outstanding options and shagserved for future issuance under a
Nasda’s compensation plans as of December 31, 2005:

Number of shares
remaining available

Number of shares for future issuance
to be issued Weighted-average under equity
upon exercise of exercise price of compensation plan
outstanding options outstanding options (excluding shares
warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in
Plan Category @) (b) column (a)) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholder: 11,412,10 $ 9.4¢ 9,194,14®
Equity compensation plans not approved by stocldrsld 700,00(2®) $ 5.2¢ -
Total 12,112,10 $ 9.2¢ 9,194,140

@  This includes 1,665,250 shares of common stockrttzst be awarded other than through options purdoahe Equity Plan and
1,103,268 shares of common stock that may be igsuesdiant to the ESP

@  Mr. Greifeld received an inducement award of noalifjed stock options exercisable for 1,000,000rekaf common stock pursuant to
the terms of his employment agreement, of whichdmeexercised 300,000 options. The award was gramté\pril 15, 2003 at an
exercise price of $5.28 per share and expires ail 2, 2013 (the “Expiration Date”). The Optiondaane exercisable with respect to
250,000 shares on July 10, 2003 and became ob&gdthme exercisable with respect to 250,000 sharesach of April 15, 2004, 2005
and 2006. In the event Mr. Greifeld’s employmerteisninated by Nasdaq for Cause or by Mr. Greifeitiout Good Reason (each as
defined in his employment agreement) the unvestetion of the option will be forfeited and the vedtportion will remain exercisable
for a period ending on the earlier of ten daysraétamination or the Expiration Date. In the evitit Greifeld’s employment is
terminated by Nasdaq without Cause, by Mr. Greifeldsood Reason or in the event of death or diggbany portion of the option
that would vest within 12 months shall vest, in tr@scumstances, as of termination and the remaiwilebe forfeited. In this case,
Mr. Greifeld would have the earlier of 24 month&eathe termination date or the Expiration Datexercise the vested portion of the
option. If Mr. Greifeld’s employment terminatesasgesult of retirement (as defined in his employhagmeement) unvested options that
would have vested within 12 months will continuevést. Mr. Greifeld would have the earlier of 3&Ysl or the Expiration Date to
exercise the vested portion of the option. In thené Mr. Greifeld’s employment terminates as a ltesfua non-renewal by Nasdag, any
vested portion will be exercisable until the earie24 months from termination or the Expiratioat® and the unvested portion will be
forfeited. This inducement award is transferablévy Greifeld only to certain immediate family meetb or to a trust or other entity
the exclusive benefit of such immediate family mensk

@  Does not include 100,000 shares of restricted sjoakted to Mr. Greifeld as an inducement awardwre 11, 2003. The shares of
restricted stock vest in equal amounts on eacheofitst three anniversaries of May 12, 2003, Mrifeld’s employment date. In the
event Mr. Greifeld’s employment is terminated bysNaq for Cause, by Mr. Greifeld without Good Reasioas a result of a non-
renewal by Mr. Greifeld, all unvested restricteocgtis forfeited. In the event Mr. Greifeld’s empinent is terminated by Nasdaq
without Cause, by Mr. Greifeld for Good Reasonrothie event of death, disability or retirementrafitricted shares that would have
vested within 12 months of termination will vestiahe remaining shart
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will be forfeited. In the event Mr. Greifeld’s enggiment terminates as a result of a non-renewaldsdilg, any unvested shares shall

vest as of termination. This inducement awardardferable only by the laws of descent and didiobu
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transaans.

Information about certain relationships and tratieas with related parties is incorporated hergindference from the discussion under
the heading “Certain Relationships and Related Saetions” in the Proxy.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information about principal accountant fees andises is incorporated herein by reference fromdiseussion under the heading
“Proposal 2. Ratify the Appointment of IndependRegistered Public Accounting Firm” in the Proxy.

Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules ahReports on Form 8-K.
(a)(2) Financial Statements
See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

(2)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
See “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements.”

All other schedules for which provision is madeha applicable accounting regulations of the S¢éiesrand Exchange Commission are
not required under the related instructions orirapplicable and therefore have been omitted.

(a)(3) Exhibits:

Exhibit

Number

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Nas8&urk Market, Inc. (“Nasdaq”) (previously filedtwiNasdaq's Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 fileN@rember 14, 2003

3.1.1 Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certificat Incorporation of Nasdaq filed on May 25, 2C

3.1.2 Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certifimabf Incorporation of Nasdagq filed on March 1808.

3.1.3 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and RighBeries C Cumulative Preferred Stock of Nasgaevjously filed with
Nasdals Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 1, 2004

3.1.4 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Righteries D Cumulative Preferred Stock of Nasgagyiously filed with
Nasdals Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 20, 200~

3.2.1 First Amendment to By-Laws of Nasdaq (previouslgdiwith Nasdaqg’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K fog tlear ended
December 31, 2002, filed March 31, 20(

4.1 Form of Common Stock certificate (previously fiwith Nasdaqg's Registration Statement on Form 16 (fumber 000-32651)

filed on April 30, 2001)
71



Table of Contents

Exhibit
Number

4.2

4.3

4.4

441

4.5

4.6

9.1

9.1.1

9.1.2

9.1.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Apyi2Q@5, between Norway Acquisition SPV, LLC and Nasdag Stock
Market, Inc. (previously filed with Nasd’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Note Amendment Agreement, dated as of April 22,52@Bnong The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., Hellman&dman Captia
Partners IV, L.P. , H&F Executive Fund IV, L.P., Hdnternational Partners IV-A, L.P., and H&F Intational Partners IV-B,
L.P. (previously filed with Nasdis Current report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Indenture, dated as of April 22, 2005, between Nhsdaqg Stock Market, Inc. and Law Debenture Trush@any of New York
as Trustee (previously filed with Nas(s Current Report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Decei®b2005, by The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. to Lave&gure Trust
Company of New York (previously filed with Nasc's Current report on Forn-K, filed December 14, 2005

Amended and Restated Securityholders Agreemergd det of April 22, 2005, among Norway Acquisitid\§ LLC,
Hellman& Freidman Captial Partners 1V, L.P. , H&kdeutive Fund IV, L.P., H&F International PartnévsA, L.P., and H&F
International Partners IV-B, L.P., Silver Lake Pars TSA, L.P., Silver Lake Investors, L.P., VARéstors, LLC and Integral
Capital Partners VI, L.P. (previously filed with 8ta¢s Current report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of AprjlZ05, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., Hal@nBreidman Captial
Partners IV, L.P. , H&F Executive Fund IV, L.P., Hdnternational Partners IV-A, L.P., and H&F Intational Partners IV-B,
L.P., Silver Lake Partners TSA, L.P., Silver Lakedstors, L.P., VAB Investors, LLC and Integral @alpPartners VI, L.P.
(previously filed with Nasde's Current report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Voting Trust Agreement dated June 28, 2000, amdrgNasdaq Stock Market, Inc., the National Assamiadf Securities
Dealers, Inc. and The Bank of New York (previoudlsd with Nasdaq's Registration Statement on Fafr(file number 000-
32651) filed on April 30, 2001

First Amendment to the Voting Trust Agreement, dade of January 18, 2001, among The Nasdaq Stocketldnc., the
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inad @he Bank of New York (previously filed with Nag|'s Registration
Statement on Form 10 (file number -32651) filed on April 30, 2001

Second Amendment to the Voting Trust Agreemengdias of July 18, 2002, among The Nasdag Stock &fdrc., the
National Association of Securities Dealers, Indhie Bank of New York and Mellon Investor Services{ (previously filed
with Nasda's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, fireN@vember 14, 2002

Third Amendment to Voting Trust Agreement among Nasdag Stock Market, Inc., National Associatiorseturities
Dealers, Inc., and The Bank of New York, datedfaspril 31, 2005 (previously filed with Nasdaq's @ent Report on Form 8-
K, filed September 1, 200E

Regulatory Services Agreement, dated June 28, 2#®een NASD Regulation, Inc. and Nasdaq (preWdiled with
Nasda’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (file numb&-32651) filed on April 30, 2001).

Nasdaq 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (preyifilesl with Nasda’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number
00(-32651) filed on April 30, 2001

Nasdaqg Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed wNsda’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (file numi@3-32651) filed
on April 30, 2001)
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Exhibit
Number

10.3.1

10.3.2

10.3.3

10.4

10.5

10.5.1

10.5.2

10.6

10.6.1

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.9.1

10.10

10.11

First Amendment to Nasdaq Equity Incentive Plaeyously filed with Nasdaq’s Quarterly Report orrfaal0-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed on August 1@2pI

Form of Nasdag Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreem@#rformance Accelerated Stock Options) (previofild with
Nasda’s Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005¢ fda March 14, 2005

Form of Nasdag Restricted Stock Award Agreemer®$2§rant based on performance metrics establisteadhivi, 2005)
(previously filed with Nasdag’'s Annual Report onrifcl0-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2€iG% on March 14,
2005).

Employment Agreement by and between Nasdaq andrR@beifeld, effective as of May 12, 2003 (previlyufiled with
Nasda’s Registration Statement on For-8 filed on July 10, 2003

Employment Letter from Nasdaq to David P. Warreated November 30, 2000 (previously filed with NagdaAnnual Report
on Form 1K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed Mdrgh2004)

Loan Agreement, dated December 28, 2001, by avdeleet Nasdaqg and David P. Warren (previously filiéth Wasdaq'’s
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed M&8h2002)

Revised Letter Agreement, effective as of MarchZ®)5, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. anddlR Warren
(previously filed with the Quarterly Report on Fofi€-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, filed ory i@, 2005)

Employment Agreement between Nasdaq and Edwardnredfective as of December 29, 2000 Nasdaq (ptesly filed with
Nasda’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed M&th2003)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement betweerdbligsnd Edward Knight, effective February 1, 20@3dvaq
(previously filed with Nasdé's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed M&th2003)

Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of Februar@02, between Nasdaq and the National Associafi@ecurities Dealers,
Inc. (previously filed with Nasd¢ s Current Report on Forn-K filed on February 22, 2002

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of AprilZZI)5, by and among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Narway Acquisitions
Corp. and Instinet Group Incorporated (previouggdfwith Nasda’'s Current Report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Transaction Agreement, dated as of April 22, 2@¥5and among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., Nomeyuisitions Corp.
and Iceland Acquisition Corp. (previously filed lviNasda’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Amendment to the Transaction Agreement , dated Becember 8, 2005, by and among The Nasdaq Stacke¥] Inc. and
Iceland Acquisition Corp. (previously filed with Bidac s Current Report on Forn-K, filed on December 14, 200¢

Guarantee Agreement, dated as of April 22, 200%r/among The Nasdaqg Stock Market, Inc., Norwagudsition SPV, LLC
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administratieatagreviously filed with Nasdaq’'s Current RepamtForm 8-K, filed
April 28, 2005).

Contract of Sale, dated as of June 10, 2005, betWke Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and National Asgamni of Securities
Dealers, Inc. (previously filed with Nasc's Current Report on Forn-K, filed June 16, 2005
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Exhibit
Number

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

11

12.1
21.1
23.1
241
311

31.2
32.1

OTCBB and OTC Equities Revocation of Delegation Asdet Transfer and Services Agreement among TlsdddpStock
Market, Inc. and Association of Securities Deal#rs,, executed September 2, 2005 (previously f¥é@t Nasdaqg's Current
Report on Form -K, filed September 9, 200~

Revised Letter Agreement, effective as of MarchZ®)5, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. anddBAust (previous!
filed with the Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, filed ory i@, 2005)

Revised Letter Agreement, effective as of MarchZR)5, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. arehAdrriedman
(previously filed with the Quarterly Report on Foli€-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, filed ory i@, 2005)

Revised Letter Agreement, effective as of MarchZ®)5, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. ahd loJacobs
(previously filed with the Quarterly Report on Foli€-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, filed ory i@, 2005)

Credit Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2005ngriibe Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and the otheigzatthereto
(previously filed with Nasde's Current Report on Forn-K, filed December 14, 2005

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of Dece®pb2005, by and among The Nasdag Stock Market, limtinet Holding
Incorporated f/k/a Iceland Acquisition Corp., andrivay Acquisition Corp. f/k/a Instinet Group (preusly filed with
Nasda’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed December 14, 2005

License Agreement, dated as of December 8, 200&8ntybetween Instinet Holdings Incorporated f/k&ldnd Acquisition
Corp. and Norway Acquisition Corp. f/k/a Instineto@p Incorporated (previously filed with Nasdaurrent Report on Foi
8-K, filed December 14, 2005

Brace Assignment and Support Agreement, dated Beoémber 8, 2005, by and between The Nasdaqg $tadket, Inc.,
Instinet Clearing Services, Inc. and INET ATS, Ifareviously filed with Nasdaq's Current Reportfeorm 8-K, filed
December 14, 2005

Co-Location Agreement, dated as of December 8, 20and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, InctingisHoldings
Incorporated, f/k/a Iceland Acquisition Corp. andrivay Acquisition Corp. f/k/a Instinet Group Incorated (previously file:
with Nasda's Current Report on Forn-K, filed December 14, 2005

Amendment No. 1 to Fully Disclosed Clearing Agreemdated as of December 8, 2005, between Inddilestring Services,
Inc. and INET ATS, Inc. (previously filed with Naat's Current Report on Forn-K, filed December 14, 2005

Statement regarding computation of per share egsr(incorporated herein by reference to “ltem D&ikits, Financial
Statement Schedules and Reports on F-K” of this Form 1-K).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Char
List of all subsidiaries

Consent of Ernst & Younc

Powers of Attorney

Certification of President and Chief Executive ©éfi pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Ox&tyfA2002 (“Sarbanes-
Oxley”).

Certification of Executive Vice President and Cht@fancial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sads-Oxley.
Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1280adopted pursuant to Section 906 of Sarl-Oxley.
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* Confidential treatment has been requested frontBe Securities and Exchange Commission for cegaitions of this exhibil

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:
The following reports on Form 8-K were furnishedited during the three months ended December G252
1. Form 8-K, dated October 26, 2005 (Items 2.02%0d);
2. Form 8-K, dated November 30, 2005 (Items 5.G2%01);
3. Form 8-K, dated December 2, 2005 (Items 1.02508);
4. Form 8-K, dated December 14, 2005 (Items 1.@11,,2.03 and 9.01);
5. Form 8-K, dated December 20, 2005 (Items 3.@2,%.03 and 9.01).

(c) Exhibits:
See Item 15(a)(3) above.

(d) Financial Statement Schedules:
See Item 15(a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of #mufties Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, thésRagt has duly caused this reg
to be signed on its behalf by the undersignedetimo duly authorized, on March 15, 2006.

T HEN ASDAQ STOCK M ARKET, I NC.

By /sl Robert Greifeld
Name: Robert Greifeld
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on
behalf of the registrant in the capacities indidede of March 15, 2006.

Name Title
/s/ Robert Greifeld Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
Robert Greifeld
/s/ David P. Warren Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
David P. Warren

/s/ Ronald Hassen Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)

Ronald Hassen

* Chairman of the Board

H. Furlong Baldwin

* Director

Michael Casey

* Director

Daniel B. Coleman

* Director

Jeffrey N. Edwards

* Director
Lon Gorman
* Director

Patrick Healy

* Director

Glenn H. Hutchins

* Director

Merit E. Janow

* Director

John D. Markese
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Name

Thomas F. O'Neill

James S. Riepe

Arvind Sodhani

Thomas G. Stemberg

Deborah L. Wince-Smith
*  Pursuant to Power of Attorne

By: /sl Edward S. Knight

Edward S. Knight
Attorney-in-Fact
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INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHE DULE

The following consolidated financial statementbé Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and its subsidiaiegpresented herein on the page
indicated:

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing F -2
Consolidated Balance She: F -3
Consolidated Statements of Inco F -4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockh¢ Equity F -5
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Financial Statement Schedule: Schedi—Valuation and Qualifying Accoun F-50
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
The Nasdag Stock Market, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. anddialiss (“Nasdaq” or the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, aaddtated consolidated statements of income, clsingstockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeghbecember 31, 2005. Our audits also includedinheacial statement schedule listed in the
Index at Item 15(a). These financial statementssaheédule are the responsibility of the Companyasagement. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statementseimedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tildasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting ptegused and significant estimates made by marageas well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe thataodits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
Nasdaq and subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 &} 28d the consolidated results of their operatanmd their cash flows for each of -
three years in the period ended December 31, 20@®nformity with U.S. generally accepted accoongtprinciples. Also, in our opinion, the
related financial statement schedule, when consitlier relation to the basic consolidated finansiatements taken as a whole, presents fairly
in all material respects the information set fattérein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the
effectiveness of The Nasdag Stock Market, Incterimal control over financial reporting as of Detxm31, 2005, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framéwssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiratiaf the Treadway Commission and
our report dated March 3, 2006 expressed an urfigaatipinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

New York, New York
March 3, 2006
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and par value amounts)

December 31,

2005 2004
Assets
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 165,23 $ 58,18¢
Investments:
Available-for-sale, at fair valu 179,36 174,91
Held-to-maturity, at amortized cost — 28,60(
Receivables, net 207,63. 104,25¢
Receivables from related parties 18 3,22¢
Deferred tax asse 9,95: 24,20¢
Other current assets 34,75¢ 12,80:
Total current asse 596,96: 406,19
Held-to-maturity investments, at amortized cost — 2,00¢
Property and equipment:
Land, buildings and improvemer 60,92( 97,32:
Data processing equipment and software 179,99: 205,27
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements 115,55: 140,02t
356,46 442,62
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (233,88f) (268,78)
Total property and equipment, net 122,57t 173,84(
Non-current deferred tax asst 133,33t 48,76
Goodwill 961,89: 141,38:
Intangible assets, net 215,47¢ 40,78¢
Other asset 16,54( 1,842
Total assets $2,046,78! $ 814,82(
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 118,88 $ 40,18(
Accrued personnel costs 55,28¢ 49,38
Deferred revenu 53,59 59,537
Other accrued liabilities 61,84¢ 42,46
Current portion of debt obligations 7,50( —
Payables to related parties 28,21¢ 16,74¢
Total current liabilities 325,32¢ 208,31t
Debt obligations 1,184,92: 265,00(
Accrued pension cos 25,84: 25,67:
Non-current deferred tax liabilities 95,15: 29,51«
Non-current deferred revenue 92,01¢ 89,82:
Other liabilities 69,51« 39,93t
Total liabilities 1,792,78 658,25
Minority interest 99¢ —
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 300,000,000 sharth®rzed, shares issued: 130,684,783 at Decenmhe0®5 and 130,653,191 at December 31, 2004;
shares outstanding: 83,148,909 at December 31, 20058,973,085 at December 31, 2004 1,307 1,30¢
Preferred stock, 30,000,000 shares authorizede$€riCumulative Preferred Stock: shares issuedarstnding: 953,470 at December 31, 2005 anc
1,338,402 at December 31, 2004; Series D (at Deeef3ith 2005) and Series B (at December 31, 200gdhate issued and outstanding 95,01% 130,13
Additional paid-in capital 383,66¢ 355,94
Common stock in treasury, at cost: 47,535,874 shatr®ecember 31, 2005 and 51,680,106 shares anibes 31, 200 (613,36%) (662,00:)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,290 (1,05€)
Deferred stock compensation (4,930 (2,030
Common stock issuable 6,80¢ 2,561
Retained earning 385,79« 330,70:
Total stockholders’ equity 253,00 156,56
Total liabilities, minority interest and stockhotdeequity $2,046,78! $ 814,82(

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbsteitements.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Revenues
Market Service: $653,65¢ $334,51° $ 383,71!
Issuer Service 226,03: 205,82: 204,18¢
Other 23z 10¢ 1,944
Total revenue 879,91¢ 540,44: 589,84!
Cost of revenues
Liquidity rebates 255,50: 38,11+ —
Brokerage, clearance and exchange 98,40° 17,73 —
Total cost of revenue 353,90¢ 55,84¢ —
Gross margin 526,01: 484,59¢ 589,84!
Expenses
Compensation and benef 152,11¢ 148,15! 159,09°
Marketing and advertisin 9,03¢ 12,79( 19,51¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 66,98¢ 76,33¢ 89,98:
Professional and contract servi 29,14% 23,70¢ 37,54«
Computer operations and data communicat 62,38¢ 98,90: 125,61¢
Provision for bad debt 2,99¢ 1,074 1,365
Occupancy 28,43: 28,73( 31,21:
General and administrati 19,47( 41,12¢ 28,41
Total direct expense 370,56¢ 430,82! 492,74!
Elimination of noi-core product lines, initiatives and severa — — 97,91(
Nasdaq Japan impairment Ic — — (5,000
Support costs from related parties, 41,77¢ 45,58¢ 61,50«
Total expense 412,34¢ 476,411 647,15¢
Operating income (los 113,66: 8,18: (57,319
Interest incom 12,73¢ 5,85¢ 9,513
Interest expens (20,339 (11,489 (18,555
Minority interest 20z — —
Operating income (loss) from continuing operatibefre income taxe 106,26: 2,55¢ (66,352
Income tax provision (benefi 44 57: 74¢ (21,240
Net income (loss) from continuing operation: $ 61,69( $ 1,80¢ $ (45,117
Net income (loss) from discontinued operations,afieaix — 9,55¢ (60,33%)
Net income (loss $ 61,69( $ 11,36 $(105,44)
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholder
Net income (loss $ 61,69( $ 11,36 $(105,44’)
Preferred stock
Loss on exchange of securit — (3,909 —
Dividends declare (3,220 (8,359 (8,279
Accretion of preferred stoc (3,377 (92€) —
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockhol $ 55,09: $ (1,826)  $(113,72f)

Basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per shart
Basic net earnings (loss) per shi



Continuing operation $

Discontinued operatior

Total basic net earnings (loss) per st $

Diluted net earnings (loss) per she

Continuing operation $

Discontinued operatior

Total diluted net earnings (loss) per sh $

0.6¢ (0.14) (0.6¢)
— 0.12 (0.77)
0.6¢ (0.02) (1.45)
0.57 (0.12) (0.6¢)
— 0.1z (0.77)
0.57 (0.02) (1.45)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholdergquity
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Preferred
Stock
Series
Néjon;?niggf Common Cand D Preferred Accumulated Deferred
Shares Common Additional Stock in (at 12/31/05 Stock Retained Comgrtgﬁtrensiw Stock Common
Outstanding Paid-in Treasury @ at Series A Earnings Compensatior Stock
Stock  Capital 12/31/04) and B (Loss) Income Issuable  Total
Balance, January 1, 2003 78,266,700 $ 1,30t$ 358,23° $(669,45) $ — $ 133,84( $446,25 $ (2,326) $ (1,920 % 4,937 $270,87:
Net loss — — — — — —  (105,44) — — —  (105,44)
Change in unrealized losses on available

for-sale investments, net of tax of

$(340) — — — — — — — 76C — — 76C
Foreign currency translation — — — — — — — 1,94¢ — — 1,94¢
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of

$191 — — — — — — — (29€) — — (29¢)
Comprehensive loss for the year ended

December 31, 2003 — — — — — — — — — —  (103,03)
Preferred stock dividends declared — — — — — — (8,279) — — — (8,279
Distribution to NASD for insurance agency — — (139 — — — — — — — (139
Restricted stock awards, net of forfeitu — — — — — — — — 86¢ (86€) —
Amortization and vesting of restricted stock ~ 92,30( 1 1,187 (14¢) — — — — (50) (1,189 (19¢)
Other purchases of common stock by

related parties or affiliated entities 124,91 — (362 1,831 — — — — — — 1,47¢
Balance, December 31, 2003 78,48391 $ 1,30¢$ 358,92 $(667,76") $ — $133,84( $332,52" $ 86 $ (1,109 $ 2,881 $ 160,69t
Net income — — — — — — 11,36: — — — 11,36:
Change in unrealized losses on available

for-sale investments, net of tax of $5¢ — — — — — — — (920) — — (920)
Foreign currency translation — — — — — — — 232 — — 23z
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of

$293 — — — — — — — (454 — — (454
Comprehensive income for the year end:

December 31, 200 — — — — — — — — — — 10,22(
Exchange of securities — — — — 129,20¢ (133,84() (3,909) — — — (8,540
Accretion of preferred stoc — — — — 92€ — (926) — — — —
Preferred stock dividends declared — — — — — — (8,359 — — — (8,359
Distribution to NASD for insurance agency — — (290) — — — — — — — (290
Restricted stock awards, net of forfeiture — — — — — — — — (469) 46¢ —
Amortization and vesting of restricted stc 77,77C — 324 45¢ — — — — 541 (789) 541
Stock options exercised 310,29¢ — (2,309 3,97¢ — — — — — — 1,672
Other purchases of common stock by

related parties or affiliated entiti 101,10¢( — (711) 1,32¢ — — — — — — 61¢
Balance at December 31, 2004 78,973,08 $ 1,30¢$ 355,94 $(662,00)$ 130,13: $ — $330,70: $ (1,056 $ (1,030 $ 2,567 $ 156,56:
Net income — — — — — — 61,69( — — — 61,69(
Change in unrealized losses on available

for-sale investments, net of tax of

$(253) — — — — — — — 392 — — 392
Foreign currency translatic — — — — — — — (157) — — (157)
Minimum pension liability, net of tax of

$303 — — — — — — — (46¢) — — (469)
Comprehensive income for the year end:

December 31, 2005 — — — — — — — — — — 61,45¢
Partial redemption of preferred stc — — — — (37,699 — (800) — — — (38,499
Accretion of preferred stock — — — — 2,571 — (2,577 — — — —
Preferred stock dividends declared — — — — — — (3,220 — — — (3,220
Distribution to NASD for insurance agen — — (1,612) — — — — — — — (1,612)
Restricted stock awards, net of forfeiture — — — — — — — — (5,25¢) 5,25¢ —
Amortization and vesting of restricted stock 114,66 1 (113 1,12¢ — — — — 1,35¢ (1,01¢) 1,35¢
Stock options exercise 4,131,05! — 20,16: 53,10¢ — — — — — — 73,27:
Other purchases of common stock by

related parties or affiliated entities 106,34" — 98 1,292 — — — — — — 1,391
Transactions related to the acquisition ar

financing of the Instinet transaction (176,25() — 9,19(C (6,897) — — — — — — 2,29:
Balance at December 31, 2005 83,148,990 $ 1,307$ 383,66¢ $(613,369) $ 95,017 $ — $38579: $ (1,290 $ (4,930% 6,80¢ $ 253,00



See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsients.

F-5



Table of Contents

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Reconciliation of net income (loss) to cash provideby operating activities
Net income (loss
Net income (loss) from discontinued operati:

Net income (loss) from continuing operatic
Non-cash items included in net income (los
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of restricted stock awards
Provision for bad debt
Charge on the restructuring of the $240.0 milliomertible notes
Deferred taxes, net
Elimination of nor-core product lines and initiative
Other non-cash items included in net income (loss)
Net change in operating assets and liabilitiespheffects of acquisition:
Receivables, ne¢
Receivables from related parties
Other assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued personnel cos
Deferred revenue
Other accrued liabilities
Obligation under capital leas
Payables to related parties
Accrued pension costs
Other liabilities

Cash provided by continuing operations
Cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations

Cash provided by operating activities

Cash flow from investing activities

Proceeds from redemptions of availe-for-sale investment
Purchases of available-for-sale investments

Proceeds from maturities of available-for-sale stweents
Proceeds from maturities of h-to-maturity investment
Proceeds from redemptions of held-to-maturity itvesnts
Purchases of held-to-maturity investments

Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash and caslvalgnts acquired
Capital contribution to Nasdaq LIFFE joint venti
Purchases of property and equipment

Proceeds from sales of property and equipment

Cash used in investing activities

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from the issuances of debt obligai
Redemption of senior notes

Payments for treasury stock purchases

Issuances of common stock

Partial redemption of Series C Cumulative PrefeSeatk
Preferred Stock dividends

Contribution to NASD

Cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental Disclosure Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for (received

Interest

Income taxes, net of refund
Supplemental Disclosure Non-Cash Flow Activity
Exchange of preferred securities

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
$ 61,69 $ 11,36 $(105,44)
— 9,55¢ (60,335
61,69( $ 1,804  $ (4511
66,08¢ 76,33¢ 89,98:
1,35¢ 541 (50)
2,99¢ 1,074 1,36¢
7,39: — —
3,46¢ 26,97( 2,10¢

— — 33,92
2,54% 14,98: 12,15
(20,089 26,36( 44,50(
3,211 5,101 2,511
(24,96) (4,282 14,06¢
27,03( (2,132 (31,679
(2,869 (1,329 2,21¢
(3,749 4,91¢ (22,256
(4,119 (21,069 40,84¢
— (1,607) (7,815
8,58¢ (13,95) (5,766
48¢ (1,160 3,27¢
(9,080) 4,45¢ 11,55¢
120,90: 117,02t 145,82:
— — (40,552
120,90: 117,02: 105,26
559,20( 240,88: 212,72!
(591,64) (235,23)) (179,15)
26,20( = =
47,921 26,82¢ 18,60(
14,781 — —
(32,009 (29,059 (18,459
(970,46) (190,00() —
— — (2,500)
(25,409 (26,029 (31,599
18,04( 11,29¢ 142
(953,38)) (201,31) (231)
955,00( — —
(25,000 — (150,000
(73 (85) (14¢)
52,93( 2,27: 99¢
(38,499 = =
(3,220) (8,354 (8,279
(1,619 (290) (139
939,53 (6,456 (157,570)
107,05: (90,749 (52,539
58,18¢ 148,92¢ 201,46:
$ 165,23 $ 58,18¢  $ 148,92
$ 15,70¢ $ 11,48  $ 1585
$ 37,06 $ (49,980  $ (25,93¢
$ — $ (8,540 $ —
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and Nature of Operations

Nasdaq is a leading provider of securities listingging and information products and services.ddgoperates The Nasdaq Stock
Market, the largest electronic equity securitieskatin the United States, both in terms of nundfdisted companies and traded share
volume. Nasdagq is a subsidiary of NASD. Prior tbrieary 15, 2005, NASD owned 54.7% of Nasdaq inclgdinexpired outstanding
warrants to purchase Nasdaq's common stock. Oruggpf5, 2005, NASD’s ownership decreased to 338% result of the completion of
an underwritten offering of common stock. At DecemB1, 2005 NASD'’s ownership percentage of comntocksdecreased to 18.4% due to
the exercise of outstanding warrants to purchasel&tgs common stock (“warrant shares”) during 2@% February 15, 2006, Nasdaq
completed another underwritten offering of commtmrtls further decreasing NASD’s ownership to 12.®#e Note 11, “Related Party
Transactions,” and Note 20, “Subsequent Events,fuidher discussion. Although NASD’s ownership gartage has decreased, NASD still
has voting control, including over warrant shases] NASD consolidates Nasdaq's financial positind eesults of operations in its
consolidated financial statements based on its oshife of Nasdaq’'s Series D Preferred Stock. Sule@do Nasdaq becoming operational as
a registered securities exchange, the Series [@rRedfStock will be automatically redeemed, NASI mo longer have voting control, and
NASD will no longer consolidate Nasdagq in its cdigated financial statement

Nasdaq is the parent company of Nasdaq Global Fuimcls Nasdag International Market Initiativescif*NIMI”); Nasdaq Europe
Planning Company, Limited; Nasdaq Internationatl.{ Nasdaq Canada, Inc.; Nasdaq Technology Serlit€} as of September 7, 2004,
Toll Associates LLC; as of January 1, 2005, Naddagrance Agency, LLC; and as of December 8, 20@5way Acquisition Corp.,
collectively referred to as “Nasdaq”. These enditaee wholly-owned by Nasdaqg. Nasdaq Global Funitisel sponsor of the Nasdago Trust
Nasdaq Global Funds (Ireland) Limite‘Nasdaq Ireland”) is a wholly-owned subsidiary adgdlaq Global Funds. Nasdaq Ireland is the
manager of The Nasdaq ETF Funds plc. NIMI is aityetitat employed Nasdaq's expatriates assignéthsdaq’s international subsidiaries.
Nasdaq determined to dissolve Nasdaq Europe Plgramid it was placed into memb’ voluntary liquidation on July 27, 2005. Nasdaq
expects Nasdaq Europe Planning to be completedpldisd by the end of the first quarter of 2006. déagsinternational is a London-based
marketing company. Nasdaq Canada is an extensiNiasdaq'’s North American trading platform withinr2da, which provides trading
access in two provinces, Quebec and British Colamasdaq Technology is a company establisheddd gDprovide software, hosting and
disaster recovery services.

On December 8, 2005, Nasdaqg completed the acaquisifilnstinet Group Incorporated, subsequenthaneed Norway Acquisition
Corp., and the immediate sale of Instigdtistitutional Brokerage division to an affiliad&SLP. As a result of these transactions Nasdatps
Norway. Norway owns 100.0% of INET Holding Compamg. (‘IHC"), which owns 100.0% of INET ATS, Inc. (“INET); an electronic
communication network and Island Execution Servité€, broker-dealers registered pursuant to theu8tes Exchange Act of 1934.

On October 1, 2005, Nasdag completed the acquisiticCarpenter Moore Insurance Services, Inc.j\afely held, San Francisco-
based insurance brokerage firm specializing in gament liability. Carpenter Moore is a wholly-owrsdbsidiary of Nasdaq Insurance
Agency.

On June 7, 2005, Nasdag and Reuters announcedrthation of the Independent Research Network (“IRM"new joint venture
created to help public companies obtain indepenalealyst coverage. The IRN began operations ithing quarter of 2005.

On January 1, 2005, Nasdaq purchased the rema@0i0§s interest in the Nasdaq Insurance Agency #& NJV, Inc. for nominal
consideration.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Contired)

On September 7, 2004, Nasdag completed its adguisif Toll and affiliated entities from SunGardt@a®ystems Inc. Toll is a holding
company that owns a 99.8% interest in Brut, LL@, tkwner and operator of the Brut ECN, a brokerate@gistered under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934. Toll also holds a 100.0%r&dein Brut Inc., which owns the remaining 0.2%erest in Brut and serves as its man
under an operating agreement. At December 31, 280 also owned Brut Europe Limited as a whallyned subsidiary. Nasdaq determi
to dissolve Brut Europe Limited and it was placet imembers’ voluntary liquidation on July 27, 208&sdaqg expects Brut Europe Limited
to be completely dissolved by the end of the fitsarter of 2006.

For further discussion of the above purchase aitiuis and combinations see Note 3, “Business Coatlains.”

On October 31, 2003, Quadsan Enterprises, Inovjqusely a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nasdaq thatvyided investment management
services to Nasdaqg, was merged with and into Na®kfgre December 18, 2003, Nasdag owned a 63.68est in Nasdaq Europe, which
had previously operated an equity market licenedgriissels, Belgium. On December 18, 2003, Nasdagferred its interest in Nasdaq
Europe to a third party. Also, on September 30320asdaq Global sold its 55.5% interest in Indigokéts to its partner SSI. See Note 4,
“2005 and 2004 Cost Reductions and Strategic ReViewfurther discussion.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include to®ants of Nasdaq and its wholly-owned subsidiaAdissignificant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminateohisotidation.
Financial Statement Preparation

The preparation of consolidated financial states@ntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acdamgnprinciples requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiztttae reported amounts and the disclosure oficgent amounts in the consolidated
financial statements and accompanying notes. Acasallts could differ from those estimates. Cergaior year amounts have been
reclassified to conform to the current year presstion.

Segments
Nasdag manages, operates and provides its proguttservices in two business segments, our Magwicg®s Segment and our Issuer
Services Segment. For further discussion of Nasdsggments, see Note 18, “Segments.”

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in bankalbndn-restricted highly liquid investments wihginal maturities of three months
or less at the time of purchase. Such equivalemisiments included in cash and cash equivalentei€onsolidated Balance Sheets were
$159.1 million and $52.9 million at December 3102@nd 2004, respectively. Cash equivalents aréedaat cost plus accrued interest,
which approximates fair value due to the short mitzs of these instruments.

Investments

Under SFAS 115, “Accounting for Certain Investment®ebt and Equity Securities,” management deteesithe appropriate
classification of investments at the time of pusshdnvestments for which Nasdaq
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Contired)

does not have both the intent and ability to holchiturity are classified as “available-for-saletlare carried at fair market value, with the
unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, repoedseparate component of stockholders’ equity.Jédile is determined based on quoted
market prices when available, or if quoted marké&tgs are not available, on discounted expectek faws using market rates commensu
with the credit quality and maturity of the investnt. Investments for which Nasdaq has the intedtadnility to hold to maturity are classified
as “held-to-maturity” and are carried at amortizedt. The amortized cost of debt securities clessis held-to-maturity or available-for-sale
is adjusted for amortization of premiums and aéonedf discounts, which are included in interestime in the Consolidated Statements of
Income. Realized gains and losses on sales ofigesware included in earnings using the specifentification method.

Nasdaq regularly monitors and evaluates the rdaéazalue of its securities portfolio. When assggsecurities for other-than-
temporary declines in value, Nasdaq considers faathrs as, among other things, the duration fackvthe market value had been less than
cost, the performance of the investee’s stock prigelation to the stock price of its competitanishin the industry and the market in general,
any news that has been released specific to thestee and the outlook for the overall industry ok the investee operates. Nasdaq also
reviews the financial statements of the investedetermine if the investee is experiencing finandifficulties. If events and circumstances
indicate that a decline in the value of these ads&$ occurred and is deemed to be other-than-tamypthe carrying value of the security is
reduced to its fair value and the impairment isrghd to earnings.

Receivables, net

Nasdagq's receivables are concentrated with NASD beerfirms, market data vendors and Nasdag-listetpemies. Receivables are
shown net of reserves for uncollectible accountte feserve for bad debts is maintained at a léatlrhanagement believes to be sufficient to
absorb estimated losses in the accounts receipabtflio. The reserve is increased by the providiar bad debts which is charged against
operating results and decreased by the amountaofietoffs, net of recoveries. The amount chargeghagoperating results is based on
several factors including, but not limited to, anttouous assessment of the collectibility of eactoant, the length of time a receivable is past
due and our historical experience with the paréiceustomer. In circumstances where a specifiooust’s inability to meet its financial
obligations is known (i.e., bankruptcy filings), wexord a specific provision for bad debts agaamsbunts due to reduce the receivable to the
amount we reasonably believe will be collected. Buehanging economic, business and market conditiwe review the reserve for bad
debts monthly and make changes to the reserveghritne provision for bad debts as appropriateir¢unstances change (i.e., higher than
expected defaults or an unexpected material adebi@gge in a major customer’s ability to pay), estimates of recoverability could be
reduced by a material amount. Total reserves natjathst receivables in the Consolidated BalanezShwere $7.2 million and $3.2 million
at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Related Party Transactions

Related party receivables and payables are th# mészarious transactions between Nasdaq andfitmtes. Receivables from related
parties relates to cash disbursements funded by behalf of Nasdaq's affiliates. Payables to ezlgiarties are comprised primarily of the
regulation charge from NASDR, a wholly-owned sulzsiglof NASD. NASDR charges Nasdaq for costs inednrelated to Nasdaq market
regulation and enforcement.

Deposits

Other current assets include $4.2 million and $2ildon of deposits at December 31, 2005 and 208dpectively. These deposits wh
are held at clearing organizations and clearinggdn®are for Brut and INET and serve primarily égarance and settlement services.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Contired)

Property and Equipment, net

Property and equipment, including leasehold impnosets, are carried at cost less accumulated depimctand amortization. Land is
recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortizatiorgareerally recognized over the estimated usefakliof the related assets. Estimated useful
lives generally range from 10 to 40 years for hindd and improvements, two to five years for datcessing equipment and software and
five to 10 years for furniture and equipment. Léwde improvements are amortized over the shortéheif estimated useful lives or the
remaining term of the related lease. Depreciatimhamortization are computed by the straight-lirthad. Depreciation and amortization
expense for property and equipment was $28.4 mjl§y1.3 million and $81.9 million for the year eddDecember 31, 2005, 2004 and 2(
respectively. These amounts are included in degtieni and amortization expense in the Consolidgtatements of Income.

At December 31, 2004, property and equipment, Isetiacluded an asset held-for-sale with a carryialgie of $17.6 million, related to
an owned building in Rockville, Maryland. In Jun@08, Nasdaq completed the sale of the buildingA&N for $17.8 million. See Note 4,
“2005 and 2004 Cost Reductions and Strategic ReViewd Note 11, “Related Party Transactions,” fattier discussion.

Property and equipment, net included a capitabl@@$6.4 million and accumulated amortization 4f8million at December 31, 2003.
Nasdars capital lease expired in February 2004.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase pridealated costs over the value assigned to theangtble and identifiable intangible
assets of a business acquired. Gooduwill is testenirfpairment at the reporting unit level annuadlyjn interim periods if certain events occur
indicating that the carrying value may be impaiiéthe fair value of the reporting unit is lesathits carrying value, an impairment loss is
recorded to the extent that the fair value of tbedyvill is less than the carrying value. The fatue for goodwill is determined based on
discounted cash flows. Nasdaq completed the redjain@aual impairment test, which resulted in no impant of goodwill in 2005.

Intangible Assets, net

Intangible assets, net, which primarily includehi@a@logy and customer relationships, are amortized straight-line basis over their
estimated average useful lives, ranging from 1 y@&0 years. Upon the adoption of SFAS 142, “Gadémd Other Intangible Assets,”
intangible assets deemed to have indefinite usighs are not amortized and are subject to anmauphirment tests. Impairment exists if the
carrying value of the indefinite-lived intangibles@t exceeds its fair value. For finite lived infifole assets subject to amortization,
impairment is considered upon certain “triggeringrgs” and is recognized if the carrying amountasrecoverable and the carrying amount
exceeds the fair value of the intangible asset.

Valuation of Long-Lived Assets

Nasdaq assesses potential impairments to itslieed-assets when there is evidence that evertbanges in circumstances indicate
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recdvéme impairment loss is recognized when the cagyimount of the long-lived asset is
not recoverable and exceeds its fair value. Theyicey amount of a long-lived asset is not recovkrahit exceeds the sum of the
undiscounted cash flows expected to result fronmueeand eventual disposition of the asset. Anyired impairment loss is measured as the
amount by which the carrying amount of a long-liaesdet exceeds its fair value and is recordededuation in the carrying value of the
related asset and a charge to operating results.
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Nasdaq recorded write-downs for property and eqgaigrof $7.4 million related to long-lived assettdh®r-sale in the fourth quarter
2004, related to an owned building. This chargadbided in general and administrative expenséénQonsolidated Statements of Income.
See Note 4, “2005 and 2004 Cost Reductions antke§tcaReview,” for further discussion.

During the fourth quarter of 2003, Nasdaq recogha&12.3 million impairment charge on the vided wartion of the MarketSite
Tower at its Times Square, New York location, basea significant adverse change in the extentnaaner in which the Tower portion of
the MarketSite was used. The impairment chargeim¢hisded in the elimination of non-core produceln initiatives and severance in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Revenue Recognition and Cost of Revenues

Market Services revenues are derived from Nasdatidl&€enter and Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptievenues. Nasdaq Market
Center revenues are variable, based on servicenesluand recognized as transactions occur. NasdakghServices Subscriptions revenues
are based on the number of presentation devicssruice and quotes delivered through those devikesdaq Market Services Subscriptions
revenues are recognized in the month that infoonas provided. These revenues are recorded reghofints due under revenue sharing
arrangements with market participants.

Market Services Revenues
Nasdaq Market Cente

Pursuant to EITF 99-19, Nasdaq records executioenges from transactions executed through BrutldBd on a gross basis in
revenues and records expenses such as liquidigerglayments as cost of revenues as both BrutNigd &ct as principal. All indicators of
gross vs. net reporting for Brut and INET have beamsidered. However, the following are the primiadicators of gross reporting for Brut
and INET:

» Primary Obligor and Risk of Loss: Brut and INET téhative Trading Systems, are registered witf8€ as a broker-dealer. Brut
and INET, as broker-dealers, act as principal éottansactions executed through the respective E@Mh exposes both Brut and
INET to clearance and settlement ri

Before the second quarter of 2005, Nasdaq repottest execution revenues net of liquidity rebatesesNasdaq does not act as
principal. All indicators of gross vs. net repogicontained in EITF 99-19 were considered. Howether following were considered as the
primary indicators of net reporting for Nasdaqg’ketexecution revenues:

« Primary Obligor: Nasdaq, through the order-execusigstem of The Nasdaqg Market Center, is not thateoparty and does not act
on a principal basis on any trades executed thrasglystem. Therefore, Nasdaq does not take siesupiositions and does not
record in its books and records the value of tleisiies executed on this market. The buyer andrstr each transaction executed
on The Nasdaqg Market Center are responsible far@tee and settlement of the transaction, throug@®ldirectly or a clearing
broker that is a participant in NSCC, and refléet positions on their respective books and recdradstefore, Nasdaq does not have
any settlement risk; this risk is assumed by thekatgarticipants transacting through Nag<'s system

* Risk of Loss: Under NASD Rule 4705, Nasdaq histdhycdisclaimed any liability for losses arisingfn malfunctions of The
Nasdaq Market Center. This rule eliminated liapitit risk of loss to Nasdaq for system failureswidaer, in the second quarter
2005, under Nasd’s new Limitation of Liability
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Rule, Nasdag, subject to certain caps, providegpeosation for losses due to malfunctions of thewesekecution systems of The
Nasdaq Market Center as follov

Q) For one or more claims made by a single markeicipant related to the use of The Nasdag Matieatter on a single
trading day, compensation would be limited to #rgér of $100,000, or the amount of any recovetginbd by Nasdaq
under any applicable insurance poli

(2 For the aggregate of all claims made by allkeparticipants related to the use of The Nasdadkkt Center on a single
trading day, compensation would be limited to rgér of $250,000, or the amount of the recovetgiobd by Nasdaq
under any applicable insurance policy; i

) For the aggregate of all claims made by allkeaparticipants related to the use of The Nasdackbt Center during a
single calendar month, compensation would be linitethe larger of $500,000, or the amount of #wvery obtained by
Nasdaq under any applicable insurance po

If all the claims arising out of the use of The NMag Market Center cannot be fully satisfied becaogether they exceed the maximum
amount of compensation dollars available, thenlalks monies will be allocated on a proportionadibamong all the claims arising on a
single trading day or during a single calendar mpas applicable. All claims for compensation mhestmade in writing and submitted to
Nasdaq no later than the opening of trading omthe business day after the day on which the ud¢astia’s facilities gave rise to the
compensation claim.

Nasdaq applies the new Limitation of Liability Ritea non-discriminatory manner, and believes thatproposed rule change provides
a uniform non-discriminatory method to compensdte Wasdaq Market Center users for losses arisimg §ystem malfunctions in the order
execution process. Therefore, pursuant to EITF®MNhsdaq has recorded all execution revenuestfiamsactions executed through The
Nasdag Market Center on a gross basis in execatidrirade reporting revenues and has recordedliiguebate payments as cosi
revenues as Nasdaqg now has certain risk assoeidttetrade execution subject to rule limitationslaraps. This rule change in fact was made
on a prospective basis beginning April 1, 2005eaiired under United States GAAP. Nasdaqg doesagotd a liability for any potential
claims that may be submitted unless they meetringions of SFAS 5 “Accounting for Contingenciess such, losses arising as a result of
the rule are accrued and charged to expense otfig 1bss is probable and estimable. This rule gbatid not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial position or results of opiers of Nasdagq in the second, third or fourth tgrarof 2005.

Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions

Nasdaq Market Services Subscriptions revenuesaamedoon the number of distributors receiving infation, the reported presentation
devices in service and quotes delivered througbdluzvices. Nasdag Market Services Subscriptioehtes are recognized in the month the
information is reported. These revenues are redonéé of amounts due under revenue sharing arraggsmith market participants.

The most significant component of Nasdaq MarkeviSes Subscriptions revenues presented on a nistihaeccordance with EITF 99-
19 is the UTP Plan revenue sharing. All indicatafrgross vs. net reporting pursuant to EITF 99-4@ehbeen considered in analyzing the
appropriate presentation of UTP Plan revenue shaHowever, the following are the primary indicataf net reporting:

« Primary Obligor: Nasdaq is the Securities InformatProcessor for the UTP Plan, in addition to beinmrticipant in the UTP Pla
In its unique role as Securities Information PrecesNasdaq onl
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facilitates the collection and dissemination ofaewes on behalf of the UTP Plan participants. paréicipant, Nasdaq shares in the
net distribution of revenue according to the plartiee same terms as all other plan participz

» Risk of Loss/Credit Risk: Risk of loss on the rewetris shared equally among plan participants adogitd the UTP Plan.

» Price Latitude: The Operating Committee of the UPI&n which is comprised of representatives fronhedche participants,
including Nasdaq solely in its capacity as a UTénRlarticipant, is responsible for setting the lefdees to be paid by vendors,
subscribers and taking action in accordance witptiovisions of the UTP Plan, subject to SEC apgt«

Issuer Services Revenues

Issuer Services revenues include Corporate ClieotiGrevenues and Nasdaq Financial Products rese@agporate Client Group
revenues include annual fees, initial listing fagd listing of additional shares fees. Annual faresrecognized ratably over the following 12-
month period. Initial listing and listing of additial shares fees are recognized on a stréilghbasis over estimated service periods, whie
six and four years, respectively, based on ouphicsl listing experience.

Corporate Client Group revenues also include comsiorisincome from Nasdag Insurance Agency. Commissicome is recognized
when coverage becomes effective, the premium dderuhe policy is known or can be reasonably eséthaand substantially all required
services related to placing the insurance have pemnded. The effect on income of subsequent premadjustments, including policy
cancellations, is recorded when the adjustmenm@svk. Fee income for services other than placemieinsurance coverage is recognized as
those services are provided. Broker commissionsaiients and commissions on premiums billed dirdmtlynderwriters are recognized
when such amounts can be reasonably estimated.

For Nasdaq Financial Products’ revenues, Nasdajvexlicense fees for its trademark licensesedltd the QQQ and other financial
products linked to Nasdag indexes issued in théedribtates and abroad. Nasdaq primarily has twestgplicense agreements, transaction-
based licenses and asset-based licenses. Tramshated licenses are generally renewable long-dgmements. Customers are charged
based on transaction volume or a minimum contraaiat, or both. If a customer is charged basedamséaction volume, Nasdaq recognizes
revenue when the transaction occurs. If a custésngrarged based on a minimum contract amount, &psetognizes revenue on a pro-rata
basis over the licensing term. Asset-based liceasealso generally long-term agreements. Custoarersharged based on a percentage of
assets under management for licensed productth@eagreement, on a monthly or quarterly basiss@mevenues are recorded on a monthly
or quarterly basis over the term of the licenseagrent. Recognition of licensing revenues is ctarsisvith SAB Topic 13 as follows:

» Each agreement is evidenced by an executed liggrsement representing persuasive evidence ofrarragnt;
* Revenues are recognized over the period that ssreie performed in accordance with the term ofitease agreements;

» Licensing revenues are fixed or determinable ardased on a contractual amount, assets under eraragor transaction
volume; anc

» Collectibility of fees is reasonably assured.
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Stock Compensation

Nasdaq accounts for stock option grants in accaelanth APB 25. Nasdaq grants stock options witkexgrcise price equal to the fair
market value of the stock at the date of the gramd, accordingly, recognizes no compensation expexiated to option grants.

As required under SFAS 123 and SFAS 148 “Accourfiimgtock-Based Compensation—Transition and Dgale,” the pro forma
effects of share-based payments on net incomeaméhgs per share as if the fair value method leshlapplied in measuring compensation
expense are provided in Note 10, “Stock Compensatia Stock Awards.”

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123(R), lwhéwises SFAS 123, supersedes APB 25 and amerds S See Future
Accounting Requirements in Item 7. Management'ssission and Analysis of Financial Condition anduRssof Operations for further
discussion.

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents cash received and bélteivables for the Corporate Client Group, whiod unearned until services are
provided. See Note 6, “Deferred Revenue,” for farttiscussion.

Advertising Costs

Nasdaq expenses advertising costs, which includkanaelvertising and production costs, in the periodvhich the costs are incurred.
Media advertising and production costs includethasketing and advertising expense in the Cons@di8tatements of Income totaled $3.7
million, $6.3 million and $9.7 million for the yeanded December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, resplgctive

Software Costs

Significant purchased application software and afi@nal software that are an integral part of corepbardware are capitalized and
amortized on a straight-line basis over their eatad useful lives, generally two to five years. dither purchased software is charged to
expense as incurred.

The provisions of SOP 98-1 require certain costarired in connection with developing or obtainintgernal use software to be
capitalized. Unamortized capitalized software depeient costs of $32.4 million and $53.7 milliorDetcember 31, 2005 and 2004,
respectively, are carried in data processing egeigrand software in the Consolidated Balance ShAatsrtization of costs capitalized uni
SOP 98-1 totaled $30.2 million, $18.9 million arb$® million for 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectiv@lyese amounts are included in
depreciation and amortization expense in the Cadeteld Statements of Income. Additions to capiéalizoftware were $8.9 million and
$11.1 million in 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Income Taxes

Nasdaq and its eligible subsidiaries file a comtattd U.S. federal income tax return and all applie state and local returns. Nasdaq
uses the asset and liability method required by SEB9, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” to providedme taxes on all transactions
recorded in the consolidated financial statemdd$erred tax assets and liabilities are determbeeskd on differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts and the tax basis sfiegiassets and liabilities (i.e., temporary défeces) and are measured at the enacted rate
that will be in effect when these differences @alized. If necessary, a valuation allowance ial#isthed to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realized.
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ign Currency Translation
Assets and liabilities of non-U.S. subsidiaried thizerate in a local currency environment are teded to U.S. dollars at exchange rates

in effect at the balance sheet date. Revenuesxaahses are translated at average exchange raieg the year. Translation adjustments

resul

ting from this process are charged or creddetther comprehensive (loss) income.

3. Business Combinations

Purc

hase Acquisitions and Combinations

Nasdaq completed the following acquisitions ane@tagarchases in 2005 and 2004:

» Acquisition of Instinet Group, December 8, 2—Through this acquisition, we acquired the INET EGNe expect to migrate our
existing Nasdaq and Brut trading platforms to tRET platform by the fourth quarter of 20(

» Acquisition of Carpenter Moore, October 1, 2(—We acquired Carpenter Moore to increase Nasddepth of brokerage expert
in directors and officers, errors and omissions @thér management liability insurance productstarekpand the regional cover:
by Nasdaq's insurance business through Carpenter@/ounique co-brokerage distribution model. Nagslacquisition
encompasses four of Carpenter Mc's geographic locations, including California, Texdgnesota and Massachuse

» Purchase of remaining 50.0% interest in the Naskiagrance Agency, January 1, 2—Nasdaq purchased the remaining 50.0%
interest in the Nasdaq Insurance Agency from AlfBe Ppurchase did not have any impact on the opesatibthe agency. As of
January 1, 2005, Nasdaqg consolidated Nasdaq Insurgency’s financial position and results of opierss in its consolidated
financial statements. Before January 1, 2005, Npadaounted for its investment in Nasdag Insuragsncy under the equity
method of accounting

« Acquisition of Brut, September 7, 2—We acquired Brut to enhance our execution qualitgyide additional quote information
and create a deeper pool of liquidity in Nas-listed securities and securities listed on otheharges
The following table presents a summary of the agitjans and asset purchases in 2005 and 2004:

Total Net (Liabilities)

Purchase Purchased

Consideration Assets Acquired® Intangible Asset: Gooduwill
(in thousands)

2005
INET $ 968,90( $ (3,100 $ 172,87 $799,13(
Carpenter Moore 27,50(@ 24C 8,60( 18,66(
Nasdaq Insurance Agen — (1,577 1,00C 577

Total for 2005 996,40( (4,437%) 182,47( 818,36’
2004
Brut 190,00 6,27( 42,00( 141,73(
Total $1,186,40! $ 1,83: $ 224,47 $960,09°

()]

We acquired net assets of INET totaling $64.7 milland recorded non-current deferred tax liab#lit€$67.8 million related to INET’s
intangible assets resulting in total net liabiltecquired of $3.1 million. We acquired net assétSarpenter Moore totaling $2.5 million
and recorded non-current deferred tax liabilitie$23 million related to Carpenter Moore’s intanigi assets resulting in total net assets
of $0.2 million.
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@  Includes $11.8 million held in escrow for post-dhgssettiement adjustments. This balance will hid paer the next three years in
accordance with the purchase agreen

As of September 7, 2005, Nasdagq finalized the atlon of the purchase price for the acquisitioBnft accept for related tax
adjustments. The purchase price allocation for B@sdother acquisitions and asset purchases wifihbaéized within one year from the
purchase date. Nasdaq expects future adjustmeatsd¢o taxes and settlement of post-closing adjests.

The consolidated financial statements include fherating results of each business from the daéegdisition. Unaudited pro forma
combined historical results for the years endedeDdxer 31, 2005 and 2004 are included in the tadlaab For the year ended December 31,
2005 and 2004 the unaudited pro forma combineadtiisi results combine the historical consolidagetements of income of Nasdag, Brut
and INET, giving effect to the acquisitions ashiéy had occurred on January 1, 2005 and 2004,atsgly. The acquisitions of Carpenter
Moore and Nasdaq Insurance Agency are not inclidétese pro forma results as these acquisitions wet considered significant under
Regulation S-X.

Year Ended
December 31,

2005 2004

(in thousands, except per
share amounts)

Revenue: $1,286,46 $1,096,70.
Gross margir 641,89: 624,32¢
Net income from continuing operatio 90,74: 13,27:
Basic earnings per she $ 1.04 $ 0.0C
Diluted earnings per sha $ 0.8 $ 0.0C

The pro forma results include amortization of thiaingible assets presented above and the elimmatimtercompany transactions had
Nasdag, Brut and INET acted as a combined comgrgy pro forma results are not necessarily indieabf/what actually would hay
occurred if the acquisitions had been completeaf ése beginning of 2004, nor are they necessardicative of future consolidated results.
Purchased Intangible Assets

The following table presents the details of thechased intangible assets acquired during 2005 @d4: 2

Technology Customer Relationships Other Total
Estimated Estimated Estimated
Useful Useful Useful
Life Life Life
(in Years) (in Years) (in Years) Amount
Amount Amount Amount
(in thousands, except years)
2005
INET 5 $ 9,40( 13 $163,10( 1 $ 37C $172,87(
Carpenter Moor: 10 1,00( 20 6,00( 4.t 1,60( 8,60(
Nasdaq Insurance Agen — — 7 1,00( — — 1,00C
Total for 200& 10,40( 170,10( 1,97(C 182,47(

2004
Brut 100 15,70 10 26,30( — — 42,00(
Total $26,10( $196,40( $1,97C  $224,47(
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@ The Brut technology software license was originaltyortized over an estimated useful life of terrgem a straight-line basis. As a result
of Nasdaq's acquisition of INET and Nasdaq’s plemegeplace Brut's technology with INET technologyrecoverability test was
performed pursuant to SFAS 144, “Accounting for limpairment or Disposal of Long Lived Assets,” s ticquisition and planned
technology retirement was deemed an impairmergdéiing event”. As a result of the recoverabilégtt Nasdaq determined that the Brut
technology software license was not impaired. Haveas a result of the plans, Nasdaq changed timatsd useful life of the technology
software license to nine months, consistent withglanned implementation of INET technolo

The following tables present details of Nasdagtaltpurchased intangible assets by business segment

December 31, 2005

Market Services Issuer Services Total
Gross
Gross Carrying Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Accumulated Carrying Accumulated Intangible
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization Amount Amortization Assets

(in thousands)

Technology $ 25100 $ (4,08) $1,00C $ (25 ¢ 26,10C $ (4,109 $ 21,99:
Customer relationshiy 189,40( (4,557 7,00( (21¢) 196,40( (4,775 191,62!
Other 37C (29 1,60(C (86) 1,97(C (209) 1,861
Total $21487( $ (8,669 $9,60C $ (329) $22447C $ (8,997 $215,47¢

December 31, 2004

Market Services Issuer Services Other Total
Gross Gross Net
Gross Carrying Carrying Gross Intangible
Carrying Accumulated Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Assets

(in thousands)

Technology $15,70C $ 6660 $ — % — $ — %1570 $ (66€) $15,03¢
Customer relationshiy 26,30( (935) — — — 26,30( (935) 25,36t
Pension intangible ass — — — — 31¢ 31¢ — 31¢
Other — — 35C (28)) — 35C (281) 69
Total $42,000 $ (1,60) $ 35C $ (281) $ 31 $42,66¢ $ (1,887 $40,78¢

Amortization expense for purchased intangible assas $7.5 million, $1.7 million and $1.3 millioorfthe year ended December 31,
2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The estimated future amortization expense of pe@théntangible assets as of December 31, 2005fidlaws:

(in thousands’

2006 $ 30,21«

2007 18,06+
2008 17,86¢
2009 17,83¢
2010 17,56¢
Thereaftel 113,93¢
Total $ 215,47¢
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Goodwill

The following table outlines the changes in gootliagl business segment:

Balance Balance
December 31 Acquired/Purchase December 31

2004 Price Adjustments 2005

(in thousands)

Market Service! $ 141,38: $ 799,89 $ 941,27"
Issuer Service — 20,61¢ 20,61¢
Total $ 141,38: $ 820,51: $ 961,89:

The increase in goodwill in 2005, primarily relateghe acquisitions discussed above and settleofgrust-closing adjustments related
to the acquisition of Brut.

Nasdag expects to deduct approximately $9.5 mitibgoodwill for income tax purposes for the yeaded December 31, 2005.

Acquisition of Joint Venture

* Independent Research Network Joint Venture, Jug®@d5—Nasdaqg and Reuters announced the formation dRiNea new joint
venture created to help public companies obtaippeddent analyst coverage. The IRN’s businessipkanaggregate multiple,
independent research providers to procure andhiistrequity research on behalf of under-coveredpamies to increase the
market's understanding of a compasmjundamental prospects. The service will be tadyétd all companies listed in the U.S. as-
as private companies looking for research covel

To fund the operations of the IRN, Nasdag and Rewuentributed $1.8 million and $1.2 million, respeely, in July 2005. The
IRN began operations in the third quarter of 2008 Hasdaq consolidated IRN’s financial position egslilts of operations. At
December 31, 2005, Nasdaq recorded minority intefespproximately $1.0 million in the ConsolidatBdlance Sheets for
Reuters’ share of IRN’s equity.

4. 2005 and 2004 Cost Reductions and Strategic Rewi
2005 and 2004 Cost Reductions

During 2005 and 2004, in connection with actionsteak to improve our operational efficiency, weuned expenses of approximately
$20.0 million and $62.6 million, respectively. Tlilowing table summarizes the cost reduction chargcluded in the Consolidated
Statements of Income:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004
(in millions)
Real estate consolidation, r $ (5.9 $ 29.(
Reductions in forc 4.€ 9.4
Technology migratiol 20.¢ 24.2
Total cost reduction charg $ 20.C $ 62.¢€

Real Estate Consolidatio

During 2004, Nasdaqg's management re-evaluated dlasdaq’s owned and leased real estate and deedrthat Nasdaq would
consolidate staff into fewer locations and saveifitant costs. As part of this
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re-evaluation, management decided not to occupgresipn space that it had leased at Nasdaeadquarters in New York. As a result, for
year ended December 31, 2004, Nasdaq recordedeshaf$29.0 million. However, as a result of thguasition of INET, management h

now determined that Nasdaq will occupy the expansface for INET operations. As a result of thisisien, we recorded a release of part of
the sublease loss reserve recorded in 2004, waglited in a net benefit of $5.4 million for theayended December 31, 2005. More detalil
on our lease at our headquarters, as well as ber tgased, subleased and owned properties isdem\ielow.

New York

As of December 31, 2003 Nasdaq had a subleasedsss/e of $20.5 million related to its leased propat 1500 Broadway. In 2004,
Nasdaq signed subleases for all of its space 41 Bs@adway. At December 31, 2005 and 2004, Nas@dgted the sublease loss estin
based on current assumptions and known subleasmé@scand recorded an additional loss of $1.7 millind $1.2 million, respectively, to
general and administrative expense in the Congelidgtatements of Income. In 2005, the additiovsd recorded was primarily due to an
increase in real estate taxes as a result of agsament of the building. The additional loss réedrin 2004 was primarily due to a change in
the assumption of sublease term commencement dates.

During 2004, Nasdaq recorded a sublease loss res€f12.8 million, included in general and adntiaive expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Income, for expansiagespt its headquarters in New York, which wasotmmence on October 1, 2004. Nas
began marketing the expansion space for subleageydbe third quarter of 2004. Nasdagq is obligatader the terms of the expansion space
lease to pay $33.9 million over the remaining tifdhe lease. As a result of the INET acquisitiod ghe Company’s intention to occupy the
expansion space, Nasdaq released the subleasedesge recorded for the expansion space whicletb&l 2.1 million, net of rental
payments, in the fourth quarter of 2005, whichls® aecorded in general and administrative expentiee Consolidated Statements of
Income.

In the fourth quarter of 2004, Nasdaq’s managerdeoided to consolidate additional space at its dpeaders in New York and
recorded an additional estimated sublease loss/esé$4.8 million for such space. This chargm@uded in general and administrative
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Incoraed&d) is obligated under the terms of this leapaydb12.6 million over the remaining
useful life of the lease. In 2005, Nasdaq signsdtdease for this space with NASD.

New Jerse:

As a part of Nasdaq's strategic review, Nasdaqteactne space Nasdaq Tools occupied at 15 ExcHlage, Jersey City, New Jersey.
As of December 31, 2003 Nasdaq was obligated uhéeterms of this lease to pay $2.8 million over thmaining life of the lease and
recorded a sublease loss reserve of $1.2 millitnctwis included in the elimination of non-core @uat lines, initiatives and severance in the
Consolidated Statements of Income. At DecembeB05 and 2004, Nasdaqg updated the sublease |lessedmsed on current assumptions
and recorded an additional loss of $0.6 million &0 million, respectively, to general and adntmaisve expense in the Consolidated
Statements of Income.

Maryland

During 2003, Nasdaq decided to vacate part of plaeesit occupies in Rockville, Maryland locate®@&00 Blackwell Road and recorc
a sublease loss reserve of $2.3 million, whiciméduided in general and administrative expensegrCbnsolidated Statements of Income.
Nasdal’s management re-evaluated its decision to vab&tapace at 9600 Blackwell and decided insteadltéhe building it owned and
occupied in
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Rockville, Maryland located at 9513 Key West AvenBased on Nasdaq's management’s revised deciNasgaq released the sublease loss
reserve recorded for 9600 Blackwell which total@éd®%million, net of rental payments, in Septemb@&r2)04, which is recorded in general
and administrative expense in the ConsolidateceB8tants of Income.

Nasdaq began actively marketing the 9513 Key Wieitdibg for sale in the fourth quarter of 2004 andlune 2005 completed the sale
of the building to NASD for $17.8 million. Duringp¢ fourth quarter of 2004, Nasdaq recognized a 8ifllibn loss, which is included in
general and administrative expense in the Condelid&tatement of Income, on the write-down of thidding’s carrying amount to fair
market value less cost to sell. Fair value wasrdeted using a quoted market price from an indepanthird party. The building was
classified as held-for-sale and was included inlJdildings and improvements in the ConsolidatathBce Sheets with a carrying value of
$17.6 million at December 31, 2004. This facilitpswWNasdaq'’s disaster recovery site. In Septemis, 20asdag relocated its disaster
recovery site to a third party outsource faciltyg. a result of vacating the Key West building, Negdecorded $2.1 million of accelerated
depreciation for certain assets for the year emszbmber 31, 2005.

Connecticut

In 2004, Nasdag also evaluated its real estatesnaettumbull, Connecticut. Nasdaq currently ownd accupies a building located at
80 Merritt Boulevard and leases and occupies anaihiéding located at 35 Nutmeg Drive. Nasdaq's agement determined that based on
staff reductions, all employees in Trumbull woutthsolidate into Nasdaqg'’s building at 80 Merritt Beward. Although Nasdaqg's lease at 35
Nutmeg Drive terminates in July 2008, Nasdag pldroremoving all employees from 35 Nutmeg Drive @oN\8erritt Boulevard before th
end of the lease. To accommodate all employedeierritt building, two data center spaces wemveoted into office space. The data
centers ceased being used by the end of the {iestar of 2005, and accordingly, Nasdaq began aatéig the data centers’ fixed assets and
leasehold improvements over the new estimated LifefuNasdaq recorded $4.5 million of acceleratiegreciation for the data center assets
for the year ended December 31, 2004 and recomdedditional $2.3 million in the first quarter dd@5. As a result of the acquisition of
INET, Nasdag’s management continues to evaluatedtsestate needs in Connecticut which may résualtiditional consolidations and
charges in 2006.

Sublease Loss Reserves

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, the estimated ssbleas reserve for all subleased properties wamapately $23.2 million and
$36.7 million, respectively, and are included is@mts payable and accrued expenses and othéitistin the Consolidated Balance She
The reserve is adjusted throughout the year teceifihterest accretion, rental payments made ddhiegyear, depreciation on leasehold
improvements if applicable and sublease receipts.&stimated losses were calculated using a 7.5#ist®unt rate and estimated sublease
terms ranging from 5 years to 20 years at estimaizdket rates.

Reductions in Force

During the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2@4n6 172 positions were eliminated associated stéff reduction plans,
respectively, and Nasdaq recorded charges of $#li6nmand $9.4 million for severance and outplaesrincosts, respectively, which is
included in compensation and benefits expenseeaiiCdnsolidated Statements of Income. Nasdaq paid=aimately $5.8 million and $4.9
million during the year ended December 31, 2005201#, respectively, for these severance and agplant costs from the staff reduction
plans. Nasdaq expects to pay the remainder ofetherance and outplacement costs by the end ofitfiequarter of 2007. Total headcount
increased from 786 employees at December 31, 20885 employees at
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December 31, 2005 as a result of employees acquithe INET, Carpenter Moore and Nasdaq Insurdgency transactions, partially
offset by staff reductions.

Technology Migration

As a result of a continued review of its technolagfyastructure in 2005 and 2004, Nasdaqg shortéme@stimated useful life of certain
assets and changed the lease terms on certairtingdeases associated with its quoting platform s trading and quoting network as it
migrates to lower cost operating environments, Whesulted in incremental depreciation and amditimeexpense. The incremental
depreciation and amortization expense associatédtihdése assets was $4.2 million for the year efmEmber 31, 2005 and $18.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2004, which industgh incremental depreciation and amortizatigmeese on these assets as well as the
operating leases.

In November 2004, Nasdaq purchased a technologfpptaheld-for-sale and owned by Easdaq, for €1illan ($2.4 million).
Additionally, in order to make use of the purchatmzhnology platform, Nasdaq purchased a licensthfouse of certain software for $0.5
million. Nasdaq had a multi-year initiative to magge The Nasdaq Market Center applications to lmest operating environments and
processes. The purchased platform was intendetide a baseline of functionality for The Nasdagrkit Center. As a result of the
migration initiative, Nasdaq shortened the estimhatgeful life of its then-current application ptatih and, in addition to the incremental
depreciation and amortization expense of $4.2 onilind $18.7 million discussed above, Nasdaq redarttremental amortization expense
of $10.8 million and $2.9 million for the year eddBecember 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

As a result of the acquisition of INET, Nasdag witiwv migrate The Nasdaq Market Center to INET'sdowost trading system by the
fourth quarter of 2006. Nasdaq believes that INE&&hnology platform will enable us to compete mefifectively and deliver increased
capabilities demanded by our customers. Therebaginning December 8, 2005, Nasdaq recorded additamortization expense of $5.8
million due to a change in estimated useful lifesome of The Nasdaq Market Center assets incluimgurchased technology platform fri
Easdaq and Nasdaqg’s current application platfortne. ddditional amortization expense also includelsamge in estimated useful life of the
Brut technology license intangible asset as Nagdhao longer use this technology license oncerthigration to INET’s trading platform is
completed.

In October 2004, Nasdaq entered into an agreernetged¢hnology equipment and also renegotiatedaglaperating leases with a major
vendor. Nasdaq sold equipment with a net book vafi#1 3.6 million and entered into a three yeasdeagreement which included new
upgraded equipment. Nasdaq received $11.0 miliiazash from the vendor and recognized a $2.6 miligs on this transaction, which is
included in general and administrative expenséénQonsolidated Statements of Income. Nasdaq @atdrillion and $1.6 million in 2005
and 2004, respectively, and will pay $0.4 millianbioth 2006 and 2007 under the terms of the legigement. Nasdag also upgraded related
leased equipment and entered into a new threeopeaating lease and extended the terms of licemden@intenance agreements. Under the
terms of the operating lease and license and nma&nte agreements, Nasdag paid $15.3 million an@$tillion in 2005 and 2004,
respectively, and will pay $9.0 million and $3.0Ian in 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Strategic Review

During the second quarter of 2003, Nasdaq annoutheeresults of a strategic review of its operagidasigned to position Nasdaq for
improved profitability and growth. This strateg@&view included the elimination of non-core prodiioés and initiatives and resulted in a
reduction in Nasdaq's workforce. For the year enidedember 31, 2003, a total pre-tax charge to egsmf $145.5 million was recorded.
The net impact to Nasdaqg was a total pre-tax chafr§@43.5 million. The difference represented sadisorbed by minority shareholders
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of Nasdaq Europe. The charge recorded reflectsdhmpletion of the costs associated with Nasdagaesiic review. The total charge of
$145.5 million included $97.9 million from contimg operations and $47.6 million from discontinugémtions related to Nasdaq Europe
and IndigoMarkets. See Note 19, “Discontinued Otpana,” for further discussion.

The liability for strategic review costs are recaiidn other accrued liabilities and accrued persboosts in the current liabilities secti
and in other liabilities in the non-current liabés section of the Consolidated Balance Sheetsd&tpfunded the majority of these reserves,
except for a $4.6 million contract payment whichsvpaid in January 2006 and other contractual sablehligations that will continue
through 2010.

Severance for Products &
U.S. Employee Other Total
(in millions)
Accrued liabilities associated with the strategiciew as of
December 31, 20C $ 5.4 $ 0.¢ $6.3
Cash payment (0.7) (0.5 (1.2
Other — 0.7 0.7
Accrued liabilities associated with the strategeiew as of
December 31, 20C $ 4.7 $ 1.1 $5.8

For further discussion of the strategic review, BBination of Non-Core Product Lines, Initiativaed Severance in Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@hdition and Results of Operations.

5. Investments

Investments consist of U.S. treasury securitiebgations of U.S. government agencies, municipaldsy auction rate securities and
other financial instruments. Following is a summafynvestments classified as available-for-sabg #ve carried at fair market value as of
December 31, 2005:

Gross Estimated
Unrealized Fair Market
Cost Losses Value

(in thousands)

U.S. treasury securities and obligations of U.Segoment agencie $ 50,40( $ 867 $ 49,53
Obligations of states and political subdivisic 6,062 15 6,047
Auction rate securitie 123,85t 67 123,78¢
Total $180,31¢ $ 94¢ $179,36¢

Following is a summary of investments classifieéaailable-for-sale which are carried at fair mankadue as of December 31, 2004:

Gross Gross Estimated
Unrealized Unrealized Fair Market
Cost Gains Losses Value

(in thousands)

U.S. treasury securities and obligations of U.Segoment agencie $ 57,90( $ — $ 69 $ 57,207
Obligations of states and political subdivisic 53,24¢ 86 897 52,433
Auction rate securitie 46,12¢ — — 46,12t
U.S. corporate securitie 19,23« — a0 19,14«
Total $176,50° $ 86 $ 1,68( $174,91:
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The following table shows the fair market valueoaf available-for-sale investments in an unrealipsg position deemed to be
temporary for less than twelve months at DecembePB05 and 2004

December 31, 2005 December 31, 2004
Gross Gross
Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Market Market
Value Losses Value Losses

(in thousands)

U.S. treasury securities and obligations of U.Segoment agencie $ — $ — $ 57,20° $ 69
Obligations of states and political subdivisic 6,047 15 50,64% 897
Auction rate securitie 18,15¢ 67 — —

U.S. corporate securitie — — 14,97( 69
Total $24,20¢ $ 82 $122,82: $ 1,65¢

At December 31, 2005, the fair market value of staeents (U.S. treasury securities and obligatidns.8. government agencies) with
unrealized losses of approximately $0.9 milliondgueriod greater than 12 months, deemed to beot@mypwas $49.5 million. At
December 31, 2004, the fair market value of investimin an unrealized loss position for greaten thia months, deemed to be temporary
immaterial.

The cost and estimated fair market value of deturstes classified as available-for-sale that@gied at fair market value at
December 31, 2005, by contractual maturity, arevshioelow.

Gross Estimated
Unrealized Fair Market
Cost Losses Value

(in thousands)

Due in one year or le: $ 54,54! $ 3l¢ $ 54,22¢
Due after one through five yee 125,77" 631 125,14
Total $180,31¢ $ 94¢ $179,36¢

During the year ended December 31, 2005 and 2@, available-forsale securities with a fair market value at the dditsale of $51.
million and $173.2 million, respectively, were sobliring the year ended December 31 2003 debt quitlyeavailable-forsale securities wit
a fair market value at the date of sale of $86 Mianiwere sold. For the year ended December 302522004 and 2003, the gross realized
gains on such sales totaled $0.1 million, $0.liamland $1.7 million, respectively, and the gresalized losses totaled $1.6 million, $0.3
million and $1.1 million, respectively. The net asiment after tax to unrealized holding losseswailable-for-sale securities included as a
separate component of stockholders’ equity totée@ million, $1.0 million and $0.2 million for 2602004 and 2003, respectively. The net
adjustment after tax to unrealized (gains) losseavailable-for-sale securities included as a sgparomponent of stockholdeexjuity due tc
the sale of securities totaled $(0.4) million, $illion and $1.0 million for 2005, 2004 and 2008spectively.

In accordance with SFAS 115, Nasdaq recognizedgpreharges of $0.9 million for the year ended Daloer 31, 2003, attributable to
the impairment of five publicly-traded equity seities. The impairment charges were related to gtk in the fair market value of
Nasdars publicly-traded equity investments below thestbasis that were judged to be other-than-tenmporiasdaq recorded the
impairment losses in the Consolidated Statemenitsooime and adjusted the cost basis of respeatisarisies down to fair market value as a
new cost basis. As of December 31, 2003, all eqgturities including those impaired were solddocsdance with Nasdag's investment
policy.
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At December 31, 2004, all held-to-maturity investrseconsisted of U.S. treasury securities and atiigs of U.S. government
agencies. The cost of the securities was $30.6omiind had gross unrealized losses of $0.4 milliodh a total estimated carrying value of
$30.2 million. Of the investments having a $0.4lionil of gross unrealized losses, 98.9% had beam innrealized loss position for less than
12 months and are deemed to be temporary.

In conjunction with the financing of the Instinetgaisition, Nasdaq was obligated to repay in fodl $25.0 million senior notes. See
Note 7,“Debt Obligations,” for further discussion. As a&uét, in November 2005, held-to-maturity investnsetnsisting of U.S. treasury
securities and obligations of U.S. government agsnwith a carrying value of $14.8 million weredol he gross realized losses on such
totaled $0.2 million. These funds along with casthand were used to repay the $25.0 million semxes.

At December 31, 2004, held-to-maturity investmenith a carrying value of approximately $30.6 miflizvere pledged as collateral for
Nasdars $25.0 million senior notes. Collateral was liedtto U.S. government and agency securities wittaggined value of not less than
100.0% of the loan and was invested in accordariitethe note agreement.

6. Deferred Revenue

Nasdaq's deferred revenue at December 31, 2005 phlynelated to Corporate Client Group fees anlliva recognized in the
following years:

Listing of

Illr]SIF[:ﬁLJ Additional aﬁgnoutﬁ'er
Fees Shares Total
(in thousands)

Fiscal year ende
2006 $21,19¢ $31,22¢ $ 1,16¢ $ 53,59:
2007 16,17: 24,957 — 41,13(
2008 13,50¢ 14,70¢ — 28,20¢
2009 10,17: 3,87¢ — 14,05:
2010 and thereaftt 8,62¢ — — 8,62¢

$69,67¢ $74,76¢ $ 1,16¢ $145,61:

Nasdaq’s deferred revenue at December 31, 2002@0is reflected in the following tables. The aidais primarily reflect Corporate
Client Group revenues charged during the year vth#deamortization primarily reflects Corporate @ti6&roup revenues recognized during
the respective year in accordance with United St&®RAP.

Initial Listing of
Listing Additional Annual
Fees Shares and Other Total

(in thousands)

Balance at January 1, 20 $ 74,30( $ 75,05¢ $ — $ 149,35¢
Additions 24,57( 37,41 116,80° 178,78t
Amortization (29,19)) (37,709 (115,63 (182,53)
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 69,67¢ $ 74,76¢ $ 1,16¢ $ 145,61
Balance at January 1, 20 $ 78,48t $ 65,95’ $ — $ 144,44
Additions 26,90¢ 45,84¢ 97,44¢ 170,19°
Amortization (31,090 (36,74%) (97,446 (165,28)
Balance at December 31, 2C $ 74,30( $ 75,05¢ $ — $ 149,35¢
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7. Debt Obligations
The following table summarizes Nasdaq's debt oliliges:

December 31,

2005 2004
(in thousands)
Senior note: $ 750,00( $ 25,00(
Convertible notes (net of premium and discol 442 ,42¢ 240,00(
Total debt obligation 1,192,42 265,00(
Less current portio (7,500 —
Total lon¢-term debt obligation $1,184,92 $265,00(

Senior Notes

In order to finance the INET transaction, Nasdagmea into a credit agreement dated as of DeceB #0605, with JPMorgan
Securities, Inc. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fen&eBmith Incorporated acting as co lead arrangedsjaint bookrunners. The credit
agreement provides for up to $825.0 million of semiecured financing. The $825.0 million availaibteler the credit agreement includes (
five-year $75.0 million revolving credit facilityyith a letter of credit subfacility and swinglinean subfacility, and (2) a six-year $750.0
million senior term loan facility. The interesteatn loans made under the revolving credit facildyies depending upon Nasdaq's leverage
ratio and LIBOR, and the interest rate on Nasdaefgor term facility is LIBOR plus 150 basis poimcordingly, the interest rate will vary
over time. On December 8, 2005, Nasdaq drew th&730.0 million senior term debt. As of Decembgr 3005, Nasdag had not drawn any
funds under the revolving credit facility. As of @mber 31, 2005, borrowings under the $750.0 milienior term debt bore interest at an
average rate of 6.14% per annum. Nasdaq pays castdees and expenses related to the credit faditicluding a commitment fee of
0.50% per annum on the average daily unused paofithne revolving credit facility. Interest expedsend paid on the $750.0 million senior
term debt totaled approximately $3.1 million and8®illion, respectively, for the year ended Decem®il, 2005.

Nasdaq's obligations under the credit facility seeured by a security interest in and liens updstamtially all of the assets of Nasdaq
and its subsidiaries. All Nasdaq's domestic subsie§ are guarantors of Nasdag's obligations utidecredit agreement (excluding the
regulated broker-dealer subsidiaries and the imseraelated subsidiaries).

The credit agreement contains customary covenahish, among other things, restricts Nasdaapility to take on new debt, sell ass
issue stock, make loans, and declare dividendschigdit agreement also requires Nasdaq to maiataiimimum interest expense coverage
ratio and a maximum leverage ratio. The credit aguent also contains customary events of defaultiedisas cross-defaults with the
convertible notes as discussed below and descfitigdn the credit agreement. See Contractual @dilons and Contingent Commitments in
Item 7. Management'’s Discussion and Analysis o&Raial Condition and Results of Operations forHartdiscussion.

Upon consummation of the INET transaction, andoinjenction with the issuance of the $750.0 millg@mior term debt, Nasdaq was
obligated to repay in full the $25.0 million seniwtes. On November 30, 2005, Nasdaq repaid irtHal$25.0 million senior notes and paid
and recorded a loss on the early extinguishmettteo$25.0 million senior notes of approximatelyl$illion and used proceeds from the
sale of held-to-maturity investments and cash ordha finance the redemption. The $25.0 millionisenotes were issued in May 1997

F-25



Table of Contents

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Contired)

and were to mature in 2012. These notes requiratthtyointerest payments through May 2007 at an ahrate of 7.41%. After May 2007,
Nasdaq would have incurred interest equal to theédr’'s cost of funds rate, as defined in the agreenpns, 0.5%. Interest expensed and paid
on the $25.0 million senior notes totaled approxetya$l.7 million and $1.9 million, respectivelyprfthe year ended December 31, 2005 and
totaled approximately $1.9 million for each of tfear ended December 31, 2004 and 2003.

In conjunction with the financing of the INET trawsion, which includes the credit facility, issuaraf the $205.0 million convertible
notes and restructuring of the $240.0 million catiteée notes, Nasdaq incurred debt issuance cd$$%0 million. These costs were
capitalized and are included in other assets irCitresolidated Balance Sheets and are being anaizer the life of each debt obligation.
Beginning December 8, 2005, Nasdaq began amortthiexe costs and recorded $0.2 million as additioterest expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Income.

Convertible Notes

In order to finance the INET transaction, Nasdagp édsued $205.0 million convertible notes to &ffds of SLP ($145.0 million) and
H&F ($60.0 million) on April 22, 2005. The $205.0llon convertible notes which were issued at adimt of $4.5 million carry a coupon
3.75% and will be convertible into Nasdaq commantisiat a price of $14.50 per share or 14,137,9ateshsubject to adjustment, in general,
for any stock split, dividend, combination, recafitation or similar event. The $205.0 million centible notes are being amortized over 7.5
years to face value and in 2005, Nasdag recorda@tian of $0.4 million, which was recorded as iagt expense in the Consolida
Statements of Income. SLP and H&F also receivefl artsl 0.65 million warrants, respectively, to pasd Nasdag common stock at a price
of $14.50. The warrants cannot be exercised orfaré April 22, 2006 and expire on December 8, 2808 third anniversary of the closing
of the INET acquisition. The cash received fromidsiance of the $205.0 million convertible notesweld in a restricted cash account until
the closing of the acquisition. We earned inteiresdme on this cash account of approximately $4ldom in 2005 and interest expensed and
paid totaled approximately $5.3 million and $4.8liom, respectively, for the year ended December28D5.

In order to facilitate the transaction, H&F alsstractured the terms of Nasdaq's original convért#240.0 million subordinated notes,
extending the maturity date from May 2006 to Octdi#1 2, lowering the interest coupon rate to 3. 763 4.0% and lowering the
conversion price to $14.50 from $20.00 or 16,554 3i2ares, subject to adjustment, for stock smlitdédends, combinations, recapitalizations
or similar events. The $240.0 million convertibletes were issued at a premium of $1.6 million amdoeing amortized over 7.5 years to f
value. In 2005, Nasdagq recorded accretion of $0liom which was recorded as a reduction to inseexpense in the Consolidated
Statements of Income. H&F also received an additi@r’5 million warrants to purchase Nasdaq comstook at a price of $14.50 per she
These warrants also cannot be exercised on oréo&faril 22, 2006 and will expire on December 8, 0he third anniversary of the
acquisition closing date. In accordance with EI$8uke 96-19, “Debtor’s Accounting for a ModificationExchange of Debt Instruments,” a
substantial modification of terms should be accedrior and reported in the same manner as an eigimgpent of debt. Nasdaq considered
the modification of the terms of Nasdaq’s originahvertible $240.0 million subordinated notes tesbbstantial and therefore recorded a pre-
tax charge of $7.4 million related to the restrdoim of the $240.0 million convertible notes, whistincluded in general and administrative
expense in the Consolidated Statements of Incomiadoyear ended December 31, 2005. Interest erdearsd paid on the $240.0 million
convertible notes totaled approximately $6.2 milland $4.5 million, respectively, for the year eth@ecember 31, 2005. Interest expensed
and paid on the $240.0 million subordinated notésied $3.0 million and $3.4 million, respectivellgr the year ended December 31, 2005
and totaled $9.6 million for both 2004 and 2003.
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On an as-converted basis at December 31, 2005, dw&fed an approximate 22.9% equity interest in Nqsdaa result of H&F's
ownership of the $240.0 million convertible not®80.0 million of the $205.0 million convertible rest 3,400,000 shares underlying warrants
and 500,000 shares of common stock purchased frasdad) in a separate transaction. On an as-conlmséslat December 31, 2005, SLP
owned an approximate 12.2% equity interest in Nqstaa result of SLP’s ownership of $145.0 milladrihe $205.0 million convertible
notes and 1,562,500 shares underlying warrants.

Both the $205.0 million convertible notes and $R4@illion convertible notes are senior unsecuredéyabions of Nasdaq and rank pari
passu in right of payment with all existing and &myire senior unsecured indebtedness of Nasdacseaior in right of payment to any future
subordinated indebtedness of Nasdaq and are jumight of payment to any senior secured indeb#sdnThe indenture governing the notes
limits Nasdagq's ability to incur senior securedabtbdness is limited to the $750.0 million senéont debt and $75.0 million five-year
revolving credit facility that was used to finartbe INET acquisition, the $25.0 million senior rotnd any future senior secured
indebtedness provided that at the time of incueehasdaqg maintains a ratio of aggregate seniarsgéndebtedness to EBITDA (as defit
in the indenture) for the most recent four consgeuwuarters of not greater than 4.0 to 1.0.

If a default under one or more of these financggkaments causes amounts outstanding under thieapelfinancial agreement or
agreements to be declared to be immediately du@ayable, we will be required to expend the furdgay such amounts. If we do not have
sufficient available cash to pay all amounts tretdime due and payable, we would have to seek addditiebt or equity financing, which
may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all

Before the restructuring of H&F’s $240.0 millionroeertible notes, Nasdagjbriginal convertible $240.0 million subordinateates hel
by H&F, did not contain any financial maintenano@enants, but a default under any outstanding &iimgnagreement that would have
resulted in the acceleration of any debt havingrecipal amount in excess of $50.0 million would/baaused a cross default under the
$240.0 million subordinated notes.

We redeemed our Series C Cumulative Preferred Stdwkh had been held by NASD, on February 15, 20§l6g proceeds obtained
from the closing of our stock offering on the satiate. See Note 20, “Subsequent Events,” to theotidased financial statements for further
discussion. The exchange agreement between NardadASD, dated as of November 29, 2004, relatdtiedSeries C Cumulative Prefer
Stock, is no longer in force. Before we redeemed3bries C Cumulative Preferred Stock, the exchaggeement restricted our ability to
incur additional long-term debt and to sell asfetsash outside of the ordinary course of businiassither case that exceeds $200.0 million
without NASD'’s prior written consent. Debt outstarglas of February 21, 2002 and debt incurredfinarce that outstanding debt were
excluded from this calculation. Sales of capitatktand sales or transfers of assets in connesfithna joint venture, strategic alliance or
similar arrangement (if not primarily for cash andaise capital) were excluded from the definitidrsales of our assets for cash outside of
the ordinary course of business. If we had elettigrtoceed with a transaction that exceeded tmigdtion, NASD was permitted to condition
its consent on the proceeds being used to redez@dthies C Cumulative Preferred Stock. As of DeaarBth, 2005, we were in compliance
with this limitation. See Note 12, “Capital Stockg’the consolidated financial statements for frttiscussion.

At December 31, 2005 and 2004, Nasdaqg was in carm®i with the covenants of all of our debt agreg¢men
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8. Income Taxes
The income tax provision (benefit) consists of fiblllowing amounts:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

(in thousands)
Current income taxe:

Federal $39,50: $(24,74) $(26,7579)
State 577 20¢ 11
Foreign 554 3,90¢ 2,79(
Total current income taxe 40,63: (20,625 (23,957
Deferred income taxe

Federal (2,059 22,50¢ 7,18(C
State 5,99¢ 68 (4,46%)
Foreign — (1,200 —
Total deferred income tax 3,93¢ 21,374 2,712
Total income tax provision (benef $44,57: $ 74¢ $(21,240)

A reconciliation of the income tax provision (beitiebased on the U.S. federal statutory rate, asdéq’s actual income tax provision
(benefit) for the year ended December 31, 20054 200 2003 is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

(in thousands)

Federal income tax provision (benefit) at the staturate $37,19: $ 894 $(23,229)
State income tax provision (benefit), net of fetieféect 4,274 17¢ (2,897)
Change in valuation allowan 72C (2,057 1,46¢
Foreign taxe: 17¢ 872 —

Tax preferred investmen (2,19 (601) (681)
Nondeductible expens: 2,56( 92¢ 1,41(C
Tax credits — — (1,717
Goodwill impairment — — 1,431
Prior year tax payabl 417 (49¢) 2,904
Other 42¢€ 26 59
Actual income tax provision (benef $44,57: $ 74¢ $(21,240)
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The temporary differences, which give rise to Nassldeferred tax assets and (liabilities) consistieithe following:

December 31,

2005 2004

(in thousands)
Deferred tax asset

Deferred revenue $ 35,23 $ 33,217
Acquired net operating lo$s 74,69( —
Foreign net operating lo: 1,24¢ 1,50¢
State net operating lo 1,39t 4,911
Compensation and benef 12,80¢ 12,36¢
Lease reserve 8,63¢ 14,02
Capital loss carryforwar 7,58¢ 6,90:
Strategic review chargs 2,48¢ 3,11z
Provision for bad debt 6,14¢ —
Other 1,22t 4,36¢
Gross deferred tax ass 151,43¢ 80,40:
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciatior (6,817 (2,59
Software development cos (18,547 (26,927
Amortization of acquired intangible ass (69,669 —
Other (2,247) (379
Gross deferred tax liabilitie (97,259 (29,887
Net deferred tax asset before valuation allowe 54,17¢ 50,51¢
Less: valuation allowanc (8,149 (7,429
Net deferred tax asse $ 46,03( $ 43,081

@  Nasdag recorded a n-current deferred tax asset of $74.7 million onghke of Instinet’s Institutional Brokerage divisidNasdaq and
SLP have an agreement to share the deferred tafiben the sale of the Institutional Brokerageisiion. To the extent the $74.7
deferred tax benefit is realized approximately $4llion will be paid to SLP. Nasdaq has recorddihkility for the SLP share of the t
benefits in other liabilities in the Consolidatedl&ce Sheet:

Of the $77.3 million net operating losses, fed&rases of $62.3 million will expire in 2025, stésses of $13.8 million will expire
through 2025, foreign losses of $0.4 million witipgre 2007 through 2012 and foreign losses of $@ilBon have no expiration date. Of the
$7.6 million of capital loss carryforwards, $0.7llinh will expire 2006 through 2008, $6.3 millionilkexpire in 2009 and $0.6 million will
expire in 2010.

The change in the valuation allowance from Decem3tie2004 to December 31, 2005 is as follows:

(in thousands’

Balance at December 31, 2C $ (7,429

Foreign net operating loss carryforwa (39)
Capital loss carryforwarc (681)
Balance at December 31, 2C $ (8,149
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Not included in the deferred tax assets for the gaded December 31, 2005 is a capital loss cawngia of $15.8 million generated
through discontinued operations. The carryforwailtlexpire in 2008. We believe that it is more Iikehan not that we will not realize a
benefit on this asset, therefore, we establishealwation allowance of $15.8 million.

The following represents the domestic and foreigmponents of income (loss) before income tax promigbenefit):

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

(in thousands)

Domestic $104,55¢ $(1,127)  $(75,119
Foreign 1,70¢ 3,67¢ 8,762
Income (loss) before income tax provision (ben: $106,26: $ 2,558 $(66,357)

In 2005, Nasdag recorded an income tax benefiRafSsmillion primarily related to employee stockiop exercises. The benefit was
recorded to additional paid-in-capital in the Cditsded Balance Sheets.

Nasdaq is subject to examination by federal, statelocal, and foreign tax authorities. Nasdaq leefjuassesses the likelihood of
additional assessments by each jurisdiction anaéi@blished tax reserves that we believe are atequrelation to the potential for
additional assessments. During 2005 Nasdaq setthelv York City audit with additional tax assessé&1.2 million. This amount had been
previously reserved and had no impact on 2005moetie. Nasdag believes that the resolution of tattars will not have a material effect on
the firm’s financial condition but may be matetialthe firm's operating results for a particularipd and upon the effective tax rate for that
period.

9. Employee Benefits

At December 31, 2005, Nasdaq was a participatingl@yer in a noncontributory, defined-benefit pensptan that NASD sponsors for
the benefit of its eligible employees and the éligiemployees of its subsidiaries. As of JanuaB0D4, the benefits are primarily based on
years of service and the employ career-average salary during employment, sultgeatphase-in period. Before 2004, the benefitewer
primarily based on years of service and the emgsyaverage salary during the highest 60 consexutionths of employment.

As part of our separation from NASD, effective Janyul, 2006, we adopted our own contributory, dafipension plan and transferred
Nasdagq participants in NAS's pension plan to our pension plan. The adoptioouo own plan did not have an impact on our costéd
financial position or results of operations.

Until November 1, 2003, Nasdagq participated in p@@mental Executive Retirement Plan (*“SERP”) thas maintained by NASD for
certain senior executives. On November 1, 2003daig$ormed its own SERP and transferred all amawontsis new plan. Also during 2003,
Nasdaq changed the accrual of benefits from age @ later of age 55 or 10 years of service, pixitethe case of an executive who he
contract with a SERP provision, then benefits a@wed in accordance with the contract terms.
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The following table sets forth the pension and SPRIRs funded status as of December 31:

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of ye
Service cos

Interest cos

Actuarial (gains) losse

Benefits paic

Loss due to change in discount r
Gain due to change in salary sc
Loss to due change in mortality r

Benefit obligation at end of year

Change in plan asset

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \
Actual return on plan asse

Company contribution

Benefits paic

Fair value of plan assets at end of yee

Underfunded status of the pl
Unrecognized net actuarial lo
Unrecognized prior service cc
Unrecognized transition ass

Accrued benefit cosl

Accumulated benefit obligation

Weighted-average assumptions as of December &
Discount rate

Expected return on plan ass

Rate of compensation incree

2005 2004
Pension SERP Total Pension SERP Total
(in thousands)
$ 57,36¢ $ 16,13t $ 73,50 $60,96! $ 18,88: $ 79,84
4 ,55¢ 1,73¢ 6,29¢ 5,10¢ 1,361 6,467
3,09: 96t 4,05¢ 3,44( 921 4,361
(2,802) 1,25% (1,549 (5,659 (499) (6,15¢)
(7,92¢) (580) (8,509  (9,21%) (4,980 (14,199
— — — 5,922 45k 6,371
— — — (3,189 — (3,189
1,21« — 1,21« — — —
55,50z 19,517 75,01« 57,36¢ 16,13¢ 73,50!
32,28¢ — 32,28¢ 32,98¢ — 32,98¢
(471 - (471) 2,467 - 2,467
8,93¢ 58C 9,51¢ 6,044 4,98¢ 11,02¢
(7,924 (580) (8,509 (9,215 (4,98) (14,199
32,82t — 32,82t 32,28¢ — 32,28¢
(22,67)  (19,51) (42,189 (25,08)  (16,13)  (41,21)
19,33¢ 4,09¢ 23,43t 18,75¢ 3,54¢ 22,29¢
(7,457) (56) (7,519 (8,100 31¢ (7,787
(10€) — (10€) (164) — (164)
$(10,90¢)  $(15,469) (26,377 $(14,597) $(12,27:)  $(26,864)
$ 42,81 $ 19,28: $62,10C $43,01! $ 15,63: $ 58,64
5.7%% 5.7%% 5.75% 5.7%%
8.5( — 8.7t —
4.5(C 4.0C 4.5(C 4.0C

F-31



Table of Contents

The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Contired)

The following table sets forth the combined plaasiounts recognized in the Consolidated Statemémtsome:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

(in thousands)
Components of net periodic benefit cost

Service cos $ 6,294 $ 6,467 $ 8,47t
Interest cos 4,057 4,361 5,19¢
Expected return on plan ass (2,655 (2,979 (2,899
Amortization of unrecognized transition as (57) (58) (57)
Recognized net actuarial la 1,65¢ 902 1,243
Prior service cost recogniz: (270) (319) 5,00¢
Curtailment/settlement loss recogni: — 207 2,11z
Benefit cost® $ 9,024 $ 8,58¢ $19,077

@ 2003 includes strategic review amounts relatetieédulfilment of employment SERP contracts andgdiions associated with the
retirement and departure of certain members obsenanagement. See “Strategic Review,” of Note2805 and 2004 Cost Reductions
and Strategic Revie” for further discussior

The investment policy and strategy of the plantasss established by NASD Pension Plan Commidtes adopted by Nasdaq when
established our own plans, is to provide for prestion of principal, both in nominal and real terrimsorder to meet the long-term spending
needs of the pension plan by investing assetshpaatget allocations stated below. Asset allooatare reviewed quarterly and adjusted, as
appropriate, to remain within target allocationseTnvestment policy is reviewed on an annual basider the advisement of an investment
consultant, to determine if the policy or asseaiadtion targets should be changed. The policy Wwasged in 2004 and transition to the
revised asset allocation strategy was in proces$ Becember 31, 2004. The plan assets consistétedbllowing as of December 31:

Target Allocation

2005 2004
Equity securitie: 45.0%-75.0% 65.5% 65.5%
Debt securities and cash equivale 10.0%-40.0% 19.5 26.C
Other investment strategi 10.0%-20.0% 15.C 8.5
Total 100.(% 100.(%

The expected long-term rate of return for the [gdntal assets is based on the expected returacbfe the above categories, weighted
based on the current target allocation for eacksclaquity securities are expected to return 8G¥9t5% over the long-term, other
investment strategies are anticipated to yield 8a0%9.5%, while cash and fixed income is expetdedturn between 6.0% and 6.5%. Ba
on historical experience, the committee expectstiieplan’s asset managers overall will provideaest (1.0% per annum) premium to
their respective market benchmark indexes.

The pension and SERP plans are measured at thenbagbf each fiscal year. Based on the currertriv@l Revenue Service
regulations, Nasdaq expects to contribute appraein&5.1 million to the pension plan in 2006. Tiisludes $1.2 million for the 2005 plan
year contribution and $3.9 million for the 2006mplgear. The SERP is an unfunded p
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Nasdaq expects to make the following benefit paymtmparticipants in the next ten fiscal years:

Pension SERP Total

(in thousands)
Fiscal year ende

2006 $ 296 $ 7,167 $10,130
2007 2,75¢ 4,19: 6,94¢
2008 3,49¢ 761 4,25¢
2009 3,48¢ 747 4,23¢
2010 3,23 732 3,96t
2011 through 201 25,95¢ 5,28¢ 31,24:

$41,89: $18,88:  $60,77¢

During 2004 and 2003, there were settlement loss$6.2 million and $2.1 million, respectively, femployees included within the
SERP plan due to early retirements. There wereetitement losses in 2005.

Beginning in 2001, pursuant to the provisions oASEB7, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” reldte the SERP, we recorded an
intangible asset and an adjustment to stockhol@epsity to recognize the minimum pension liabiliuring 2004, the intangible asset and
minimum pension liability were adjusted to $0.3liail and $1.8 million (net of tax of $1.2 milliomespectively. As of December 31, 2005,
the intangible asset was reduced to zero and thimaim pension liability was $2.3 million (net oktaf $1.5 million).

Prior to April 1, 2002, Nasdaq participated in duwdary savings plan for eligible employees of NA&M its subsidiaries. As of
April 1, 2002, Nasdaq formed its own voluntary s&xa plan and all amounts were transferred to tieg plan. This voluntary savings plan is
a defined-contribution plan. Employees are immediyatligible to make contributions to the plan amd also eligible for an employer
contribution match at an amount equal to 100.0%heffirst 4.0% of eligible employee contributioisigible plan participants may also
receive an additional discretionary match from Nagdowever there was no discretionary match f652@004 and 2003. Savings plan
expense included in compensation and benefits expiarthe Consolidated Statements of Income foy#ae ended December 31, 2005, 2
and 2003 was $2.7 million, $3.1 million and $3.4liom, respectively.

The FASB is currently working on a project thatlwthange the way pension and postretirement pléigaitons are presented on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Nasdag expects tidasthto require companies to record an assetloitity on the Consolidated Balance
Sheet equal to the funded status of the plans.olimgr plan assets or liabilities would be refleatetias an adjustment to stockholdegiity.

10. Stock Compensation and Stock Awards

Effective December 5, 2000, as amended on Febdugrg001 and January 23, 2002, Nasdaq adopted abeay Stock Market, Inc.
Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), under which oialified and qualified incentive stock optionsstrieted stock, restricted stock units, or
other stock based awards may be granted to empgiectors, officers and consultants. A tota24f500,000 shares are authorized under
the Plan. At December 31, 2005, 8,090,874 shares aweilable for future grants under the Plan.062, Nasdaq also issued stock options
and restricted stock outside of the Plan. In 20852004, there were no issuances outside of thre Pla

In 2005, Nasdaqg granted 439,650 stock options tg@raes and officers, 305,000 shares of restristeck to employees and officers
and 25,756 shares of restricted stock to non-eneglaljrectors under the Plan. During 2005, 788,2d&soptions and 64,353 shares of
restricted stock awards were forfeited.
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In November 2002, the Board approved a modificatiiothe Non-Employee Directors Compensation Pdlicgllow non-employee
directors to receive a compensation package vat&d0,000. Later, on April 28, 2004, the Boardrappd a modification to the Non-
Employee Directors Compensation Policy wherebyaii-employee directors would receive a base congpienspackage valued at $50,000.
Each non-employee director may elect to receivébtts® compensation package in cash, payable it g@agiderly installments, shares of
restricted stock or a combination of cash andimstt stock. The shares of restricted stock wilitwe/o years from the date of grant and
unvested shares are forfeited in certain circuntsfsipon termination of the director’s servicetomNasdaqg Board. During 2005, 25,756
shares of restricted stock were awarded to non-@yepldirectors. Directors who serve as committeérgtor as members of the Audit
Committee and the chairman of the board are edtileadditional compensation beyond the base cosatiem package. These additional
amounts are paid in cash rather than restrictazk sto

Restricted stock awards are awarded in the nartteecdmployee or officer at fair market value ondlage of the grant. In 2005, Nasdaq
granted 305,000 shares of restricted stock to eygpwand officers with a weighted-average grawepf $17.70. Restricted stock awards
contain restrictions on sales and transfers, anergdly subject to a five-year vesting period arelexpensed over the vesting period.
Beginning in 2005, Nasdag also granted performaased restricted stock awards, which the numbawafds that vest is based on meeting
certain performance conditions. Nasdaq recognidedl &illion and $0.5 million in amortization expenelated to restricted stock during the
year ended December 31, 2005 and December 31, @&pectively. For the year ended December 31, ,26@3umber of restricted sto
awards forfeited more than offset the yearly amation expense to a $0.05 million benefit.

Stock options are granted with an exercise priegkip the fair market value of the stock on theedd the grant. Nasdaqg accounts for
stock option grants in accordance with APB 25, atdprdingly, recognizes no compensation experateceto such grants.

Options granted generally vest over three yearsapie 10 years from the date of grant. Beginming004, the Board approved the
issuance of Performance Accelerated Stock OptittsS0”) and granted 4,919,000 PASOs during 2004anddditional 52,500 in 2005.
The PASOs include a performance based accelerattihg feature based on Nasdaq achieving speeifald of performance in fiscal years
2004 and 2005. The vestings of the PASO awardeatenger than six years from the grant date. Atians to date have been granted at fair
market value on the date of grant. At Decembe2805, options for 5,316,755 shares were vestetu@itgy grants outside of the Plan), and
exercisable with a weighted-average exercise @fi&i0.30. At December 31, 2004, options for 8,968,shares were vested (including
grants outside of the Plan), and exercisable witleighted-average exercise price of $11.92. Thghted-average remaining contract life
was 7.2 years and 7.6 years at December 31, 2@D3Q0#, respectively.

Stock option activity, including shares from outsf the Plan, during the year ended December@15 B set forth below:

Price per Share

Weighted Average

Shares Range
Balance, January 1, 20! 17,056,76 $5.28-$19.7( $ 9.7t
Granted 439,65( $8.30-$42.2¢ $ 20.5¢
Exercisec 4,131,05! $6.55-$19.7( $ 12.4¢
Cancelec 1,253,25; $6.15-$25.9¢ $ 9.4¢
Balance, December 31, 20 12,112,10 $5.28-$42.2¢ $ 9.27
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The following table presents the options outstagdis of December 31, 2005 by ranges of exercisesri

Outstanding as of

December 31, 20C Weighted Average

Range of Exercise Prices Exercise Price
$ 528 % 7.34 2,360,05! $ 5.9¢
$ 7.35-$ 8.49 3,696,07! $ 7.3¢
$ 8.50- $10.24 2,830,96! $ 8.71
$10.25- $12.99 140,88( $ 10.4¢
$13.00- $13.38 2,724,43: $ 13.0C
$13.39- $19.69 54,30( $ 16.0¢€
$19.70- $25.01 127,30( $ 21.0¢
$25.02- $30.09 117,45( $ 25.9¢t
$30.10- $36.07 39,90( $ 31.0C
$36.08- $42.28 20,75( $ 41.5¢
12,112,10 $ 9.2¢

Stock option activity during the year ended Decen3de 2004 is set forth below:

Price per Share

Weighted Average

Shares Range

Balance, January 1, 2004 5.28 -
13,423,13 $$19.7( $ 10.82

Granted 6.15 -
6,068,80!I $$ 9.1¢ $ 7.5¢€

Exercised 5.28 -
310,29¢ $3$ 8.5 $ 5.3¢

Canceled 6.15 -
2,124,87! $ $13.0C $ 10.9¢

Balance, December 31, 2004 5.28 -
17,056,76 $$19.7C $ 9.7%

Nasdag has an employee stock purchase plan feligible employees. Under the plan, shares of Ngisdaommon stock may be
purchased at six-month intervals (each, an “Offeferiod”) at 85.0% of the lower of the fair markatue on the first or the last day of each
Offering Period. Employees may purchase sharesbavivalue not exceeding 10.0% of their annual eoraation, subject to applicable
annual Internal Revenue Service limitations. Du20@5 and 2004, employees purchased an aggregbf® @47 and 110,408 shares at a
weighted-average price of $11.29 and $5.45 pereshespectively.

Pro forma information regarding net income and e@sper share is required under SFAS 148 and éexs thetermined as if Nasdaq
had accounted for all stock option grants based fair value method. The fair value of each stogliam grant was estimated at the date of
grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model agsgim weighted-average expected life of five yearsighted-average expected volatility
of 30.0% and a weighted-average risk free inteagstof 4.05% and 3.43% for 2005 and 2004, respedgti The weighted-average fair value
of options granted in 2005 and 2004 was $7.05 2vi9$ respectively.
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Pro forma net income includes the amortizatiorheffair value of stock options over the vestingqeeand the difference between the
fair value and the purchase price of common shaueshased by employees under the employee stockg@se plan. The pro forma net

income also includes a reduction in option expehseto the true-up of actual forfeitures. The gmorfa information for the year ended
December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003 is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003
Reported net income (loss) from continuing operet $61,69( $ 1,80« $(45,117)
Stocl-based compensation cost (net of tax of $2,418 482a%d $8,347, respectivel (3,74¢) (3,93¢) (12,937
Pro forma net income (los $57,94¢ $(2,137)  $(58,049)
Reported basic earnings (loss) per sl $ 0.6¢ $(0.19 $ (0.6%)
Reported diluted earnings (loss) per st $ 0.57 $(0.1H) $ (0.6
Pro forma basic earnings (loss) per st $ 0.64 $ (0.1¢ $ (0.89)
Pro forma diluted earnings (loss) per st $ 0.54 $ (0.1¢ $ (0.89)

11. Related Party Transactions

Related party receivables and payables are thé cdstarious transactions between Nasdaq andfitmtes. Receivables from related
parties relate to cash disbursements and loan&6éubg us on behalf of our affiliates. Prior to Jamyul, 2005, receivables from related parties
included Amex, which was sold back to its membgrslASD and is no longer considered a related pafrtyasdaqg. Payables to related
parties are comprised primarily of the regulatibarge from NASDR. NASDR charges Nasdagq for costaried related to Nasdag market
regulation and enforcement.

Surveillance and Other Regulatory Charges from NASR

NASDR currently provides us with regulatory sergicicluding the regulation of trading activity ®he Nasdaqg Stock Market and
surveillance and investigative functions for Nasdé#4SDR charges Nasdaq for these services basedNA8D management’s estimated
percentage of costs incurred by each NASDR depattthat are attributable directly to The NasdaccEtdarket. The following table
represents the composition of costs charged by NA&DNasdaq:

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

(in thousands)

Compensation and benef $20,20¢ $17,88 $19,78:
Professional and contract servit 9,52¢ 11,93: 17,36¢
Occupancy 1,20¢ 1,09¢ 2,53¢
Computer operations and data communicat 2,37(C 3,45¢ 2,95:
Depreciatior 7,044 9,371 18,12(
General and administratiy 1,37¢ 1,841 1,09z
Total $41,72: $45,58¢ $61,84¢

Regulatory charges from NASDR were $41.7 millio#5$ million and $61.8 million for the year endedd@mber 31, 2005, 2004 and
2003, respectively. These costs have decreasedrisirdue to NASD's careful review of NASDR chargadd the allocation of these charges
among the markets and members it regulates. The
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decrease in 2005 was also due to the transfer némship of the OTCBB to NASD which reduced the agged regulatory costs. Lower
expenses in 2004 compared to 2003 also relatenvier depreciation charges as certain technologtasgere fully depreciated during the
year ended December 31, 2003. The ongoing revietveske charges and related services will contimdenaay result in further reductions
these costs in 2006 without affecting the qualftyegulatory oversight.

Support Costs from NASD

During 2003 NASD provided agreed-upon administegtsorporate and infrastructure services to Nadtélagas NASD's policy to
charge these expenses and other operating cdststiaq based upon usage percentages determineanagement of NASD and Nasdag.
Additionally, NASD charged Nasdaq for costs thandurred in the development and maintenance ¢intglogy for Nasdaq. Technology
development costs were allocated directly to Nasdesgd upon specific projects requested by Nagdadpnology maintenance costs were
allocated based upon Nasdaq's share of computgeu$ae services provided by NASD have declinegéent years and were minimal in
both 2005 and 2004 due to continued progress iaraéipg from NASD and the resulting internalizatmfrtechnology and certain other
support functions. Support costs from NASD were$tillion for the year ended December 31, 2003. fBflewing table represents the
composition of these costs charged by NASD to Ngisda

Year Ended
December 31, 200

(in thousands)

Compensation and benef $ 491
Professional and contract servit 31€
Occupancy 91
Computer operations and data communicat 77
Depreciatior 91
General and administratiy 11€
Total $ 1,18¢

Other Related Party Transactions
Preferred Stocl

In March 2002, Nasdaq issued 1,338,402 sharesrasS& Cumulative Preferred Stock and one shai®eoies B Preferred Stock.
NASD owned all of the outstanding shares of Seki€aumulative Preferred Stock and Series B Prefegtedk. The Series A Cumulati
Preferred Stock carried a 7.6% dividend rate ferythar commencing March 2003 and carried a 10.8%datid rate in all subsequent years.
The Series B Preferred Stock does not pay divideddsSeptember 30, 2004, NASD waived a portiorhefdividend for the third quarter of
2004 of $2.5 million and accepted an aggregate ataf$1.0 million (calculated based on an annatd of 3.0%) as payment in full of the
dividend for this period. On November 29, 2004, ddapentered into an exchange agreement with NASBupuat to which NASD exchang
1,338,402 shares of Nasdaq's Series A CumulatigéeRed Stock, representing all the outstandingeshaf Series A Cumulative Preferred
Stock, for 1,338,402 shares of newly issued S&i€umulative Preferred Stock. The Series C Cunudd&ireferred Stock accrues quarterly
dividends at an annual rate of 3.0% for all periodsl July 1, 2006 and at an annual rate of 10f6Pfoeriods thereafter.

On April 21, 2005, Nasdaq and NASD entered intaczlSRepurchase and Waiver Agreement whereby NAS3ented to the
financing used in connection with the acquisitidinstinet. In exchange for the waiver, Nasdaq repased 384,932 shares of its Series C
Cumulative Preferred Stock owned by NASD for
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approximately $40.0 million. On December 20, 209BSD exchanged its one share of Nasdaq's SerieefiPed Stock for one newly
issued share of Series D Preferred Stock, whichtdrads substantially similar to the terms of the&eB Preferred Stock. See Note 12,
“Capital Stock,” for further discussion of the pFafed stock transactions.

The Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock was paidlimn February 15, 2006. See Note 20, “Subsegdeants,” for further
discussion.

Transfer of OTCBB Business to NASD

On September 2, 2005, Nasdag executed the OTCBBefggnt with NASD related to the OTCBB, an elect@ureerbased quotatic
service for securities that, among other things,rart listed on The Nasdag Stock Market or any bafional securities exchange. Under the
OTCBB Agreement, effective October 1, 2005, Naddaasferred responsibility for the OTCBB back to 8IA. This transfer is designed to
address concerns expressed by the SEC regardirggotimuing to operate the OTCBB after our regigiraas a national securities exchange.
Consideration for the OTCBB Agreement is NASD’sesgnent to outsource the operation of the OTCBBasdsq for an initial two year
period, subject to one year renewals upon mutusdeat. NASD will pay Nasdaqg $14.2 million in thesfiyear and $14.7 million in the
second year for Nasdaq’s services under the OTCBB&ment, with payments in any subsequent perambe subject to agreement among
Nasdag and NASD. Any enhancements, directed by NA&GEhe OTCBB system will be billed to NASD onimé and materials basis
described in the OTCBB Agreement.

Nasdaq and NASD structured this transfer of theénasses to be seamless to the customers of the B BG8 OTC trade reporting
businesses. The transfer of the OTCBB to NASD isempected to have a material impact on Nasdagisal@ated financial position or
results of operations. However, Nasdaqg expectaueg&from Market Services to decrease, but themhagf this decrease will be offset by a
decline in our regulatory charges from NASDR, which included in support costs from related partiesin the Consolidated Statements of
Income. The transfer was recorded at book val@@catber 1, 2005 as Nasdaq and NASD are entitiesrisdnmon control and therefore, no
gain or loss was recorded.

Sale of Building

In June 2005, Nasdaq completed the sale of thdibgiit owned in Rockville, Maryland located at 3K ey West Avenue to NASD fi
$17.8 million. See Note 4, “2005 and 2004 Cost R&dns and Strategic Review,” for further discussio

Public Offerings

On February 15, 2005, Nasdaq completed an undéwigtffering of 16,586,980 shares of common stawkeulying warrants, which
had expired unexercised, owned by NASD and aniaddit3,246,536 shares of common stock owned kgiceselling stockholders who
purchased the shares in Nasdaq’s private placenme@0 and 2001. Nasdaq did not receive any gagé&om this offering. On
February 15, 2006, Nasdaq completed another constoak offering of 13,895,229 shares of Nasdaq'sroomstock. The offering consisted
of 7,000,000 primary shares and 6,895,229 sharBasdfaq’s common stock offered by NASD and othaeldtolders who received their
shares through the exercise of warrants they peechisn Nasdag's 2000 and 2001 private placeme®tSINs ownership decreased to 12.9%
as a result of both of the public offering saleme 8Slote 1, “Organization and Nature of Operatiohgte 12, “Capital Stock,” and Note 20,
“Subsequent Events,” for further discussion.
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Related Party Revenu

Nasdaq Technology was established in 2004 and ¢ges\software, hosting and disaster recovery sertthird parties. Effective
November 1, 2004, Nasdaq Technology and NASD eatiete a contract for technology development supgervices for a fixed incorr
trade reporting platform. Revenues for the servazesrecorded in other Market Services revenuést #rthe new contract, Nasdaq provided
these services on a cost reimbursement basis.

12. Capital Stock

At December 31, 2005, 300,000,000 shares of Nasdamfhmon stock were authorized, 130,684,783 sheessissued and 83,148,909
shares were outstanding. The holders of commork stiecentitled to one vote except that our cegtfoof incorporation limits the ability of
any person to vote in excess of 5.0% of the thestanding voting interests of Nasdaq. This limdatdoes not apply to NASD or other
person exempted from this limitation by our boafdiocectors prior to the time such person owns nibas 5.0% of the then-outstanding
voting interest of Nasdag.

In connection with our restructuring in 2000, NAS8ld 10,806,494 warrants to purchase an aggre§d® 225,976 outstanding shares
of common stock owned by NASD. Each warrant isquetlIASD entitled the holder to purchase one shaeath of four one-year exercise
periods. The first three exercise periods expiredune 27, 2003, June 25, 2004 and June 27, 2885 ctively. As of December 31, 2005,
holders had exercised warrants to purchase appabeiyn6,872,149 shares of common stock duringiteethree exercise periods. The fourth
and final exercise period, during which the exergisce per share is $16.00, will expire on June2PD6. The voting rights associated with
the shares of common stock underlying the warrastsvell as the shares of common stock purchasedgh the valid exercise of warrants,
are governed by the voting trust agreement entfetecy Nasdag, NASD and The Bank of New York, asng trustee.

Initially, the holders of the warrants will not leany voting rights with respect to the sharesoofimon stock underlying such warrants.
Until Nasdagq is operating as an exchange, the stodireommon stock underlying unexercised and umedpiarrant tranches, as well as the
shares of common stock purchased through the egentiwarrants, will be voted by the voting trusi¢¢he direction of NASD. The voting
rights associated with the shares of common stadelying unexercised and expired warrant tranebigsevert to NASD. However, NASD
has determined, commencing at the time Nasdaq rB&&fsconditions to operate as an exchange, toamtehares of common stock that it
owns (other than shares underlying then outstandargants) in the same proportion as our otherkstoiders. As soon as Nasdaq meets t
conditions, the warrant holders will have the rightirect the voting trustee as to the votinghaf shares of common stock underlying
unexercised and unexpired warrant tranches umtietrlier of the exercise or the expiration of swelrant tranches. The shares of common
stock purchased upon a valid exercise of a watranthe prior to our satisfaction of SEC condititmeperate as an exchange will be
released from the voting trust agreement upon @hige to occur of such time or the filing of a iggation statement applicable to such shares
underlying a warrant. The shares of common stockh@ased upon a valid exercise of a warrant traaffiee our satisfaction of SEC
conditions to operate as an exchange will not logestito the voting trust agreement.

On February 15, 2005, Nasdag completed an undéwidtfering of 16,586,980 shares of common staekerl by NASD and an
additional 3,246,536 shares of common stock owryeskbing stockholders who received their sharemupe exercise of warrants purchased
in Nasdacs private placements in 2000 and 2001. Nasdagffiters or other employees did not sell any sharake offering and Nasdaq ¢
not receive any proceeds from the offering. On &atyr 15, 2006, Nasdaq completed another underwrittiering of 13,895,229 shares, of
which 7,000,000 shares were primary shares and &89 shares were offered by NASD
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and other selling stockholders. As a result, NA®Dddicially owns 15,243,767 shares of Nasdaq’'s comstock, including shares of
common stock underlying unexpired and unexercisadamts. See Note 20, “Subsequent Events,” fohéurntliscussion.

As part of the separation from NASD, Nasdaq repasel a total of 52,230,433 shares of common stock NASD during 2001 and
2002. Nasdaq purchased the common stock for appadgly $305.2 million in aggregate cash considenati, 338,402 shares of Nasdaq's
Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock (face and tigtion value of $100 per share, plus any accumiilat@aid dividends) and one share of
Nasdar's Series B Preferred Stock, (face and liquidatialue of $1.00 per share). On November 29, 2004dhiq entered into an exchange
agreement with NASD pursuant to which NASD exchaht@38,402 shares of Series A Cumulative Prefestedk, representing all the
outstanding shares of Series A Cumulative PrefeBtedk, for 1,388,402 shares of newly issued S&i€umulative Preferred Stock (face
and liquidation value of $100 per share, plus asgumulated and unpaid dividends). The Series C atme Preferred Stock accrued
quarterly dividends at an annual rate of 3.0% fioperiods until July 1, 2006 and at an annual cft&0.6% for periods thereafter, payable at
the discretion of our board of directors. Nasdawpgaized a loss of $3.9 million on the exchangthefpreferred securities in retained
earnings in the Consolidated Balance Sheets ifotivéh quarter of 2004. This loss was due to tlifedince between the combined fair
market value of the Series C Cumulative PrefertediSand additional dividend ($137.7 million) vesshe redemption value ($133.8 millis
of the Series A Cumulative Preferred Stock.

On April 21, 2005, Nasdag and NASD entered intaaxlSRepurchase and Waiver Agreement whereby NASi3ented to the
financing of the Instinet acquisition. In excharigethe waiver, Nasdaq repurchased 384,932 shaits®eries C Cumulative Preferred St
owned by NASD for approximately $40.0 million, whimcluded all accrued and unpaid dividends anditfaithl Redemption Amounts (as
defined in the Certificate of Designations, Prefiees and Rights of the Series C Cumulative Prafe3teck) due on these repurchased sh

As a result of the Stock Repurchase and Waiver éwgent, the carrying value of the Series C Cumuwdafikeferred Stock was adjusted
to $93.4 million and will accrete to its total redgtion value of $95.3 million by March 31, 2006,9dags revised estimated redemption d
For the year ended December 31, 2005, Nasdaq extatretion of preferred stock of $3.4 million.

NASD may be entitled to an additional payment incwwinstances not to exceed approximately $11.6anillh aggregate depending on
the amount of time the Series C Cumulative Prefe8tck is outstanding and the market price of ldgsdcommon stock at the time Nasdaq
redeems the Series C Cumulative Preferred Stockegember 31, 2005, the value of the additionahpayt is reflected in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets at its fair value of $9.8 millioha@ges in this account balance are reflected i€tresolidated Statements of Income in the
period of change.

On September 30, 2005, Nasdaqg evaluated the ldailof redeeming its Series C Cumulative PrefeBtedk by December 31, 2005,
Nasdars original estimate of its redemption date. Nasslaganagement then expected that it was more plelladt the redemption will take
place by March 2006. Therefore, in the third quanfe2005, Nasdag recorded a pre-tax charge of ®lll®n for the increase in fair market
value of the amount of additional payment to NASMich is included in general and administrativeenge in the Consolidated Statements
of Income.

Nasdaq's Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock isiadatorily redeemable instrument, however SFAS“As@ounting for Certain
Financial Instruments with Characteristics of bloighbilities and Equity,” (“SFAS 150”) further defas mandatorily redeemable instruments
as redeemable on a fixed or determinable date and
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upon an event certain to occur. The redemptioh@&eries C Cumulative Preferred Stock remainsinvihr control and the date of
redemption is not determinable and the event admgation is not certain or determinable. Therefbl@sdaqg’'s Series C Cumulative Preferred
Stock remains a part of stockholders’ equity.

On December 20, 2005, NASD exchanged its one sliddasdaq’s Series B Preferred Stock for one nésglyed share of Series D
Preferred Stock, which had terms substantially lsinto the terms of the Series B Preferred stock.

NASD owns all of the outstanding shares of SeriemB Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock. All ef shares of common stock
repurchased by Nasdaq from NASD are no longer autgtg and are held in common stock in treasuryofA3ecember 31, 2005, there were
30,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorize8l 499 Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock and basesf Series D Preferred Stock
issued and outstanding.

Shares of Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock ddane voting rights, but do have the right to eta® new directors to Nasdaq's
board of directors if distributions on the Serie€@nulative Preferred Stock are in arrears for fmmsecutive quarters. Nasdaq may redeem
the shares of Series C Cumulative Preferred Stbokreoption from time to time and are requiredise the net proceeds from the first sali
us of our common stock in an underwritten publieong, subject to certain limited exceptions, édeem all or a portion of the Series C
Cumulative Preferred Stock.

The Series C Cumulative Preferred was paid indalFebruary 15, 2006. See Note 20, “Subsequenttgldar further discussion.

The Series D Preferred Stock does not pay divideddSD, as holder of the one share of the Seri€&sdderred Stock, is entitled to ¢
the number of votes that, together with all othetieg that NASD is entitled to vote by virtue of @wship, proxies or voting trusts, enables
NASD to cast one vote more than -half of all votes entitled to be cast by stocklestd Once we become operational as an exchange, the
share of Series D Preferred Stock will automatycialée its voting rights and will be redeemed byséi&g for $1.00.

In addition to the voting rights of the common $tend Series D Preferred Stock, the holders o$#@5.0 million convertible notes a
$240.0 million convertible notes have the votirghts discussed in Note 7, “Debt Obligations.” Imeection with the financing of the
acquisition of Instinet, SLP and H&F also receidef6 and 3.4 million warrants, respectively, toghase Nasdagq common stock at a price of
$14.50. The warrants will be exercisable on orrafgril 22, 2006, or earlier under some circumstmand will terminate on December 8,
2008.

In connection with the repurchase of ownershiprageof a shareholder in Nasdaq Europe Planni2@@1, Nasdaq issued a warrant to
purchase up to an aggregate of 479,648 sharesyhoa stock. The warrant is exercisable in four ahiranches ranging from $13.00 to
$16.00 per share beginning June 28, 2002. Therissuzf the warrants has been recorded at fair valatockholders’ equity. As of
December 31, 2005, the warrant is still outstandind no tranches have been exercised; howeverdhthe tranches have expired
unexercised.

13. Earnings Per Common Share

Earnings per common share is computed in accordaitbeSFAS 128, “Earnings Per Share.” Basic earsiper share excludes the
dilutive effects of options, awards, warrants aodwertible notes, and is calculated by dividinginebme available to common stockholders
by the weighted average number of common sharassamating during the period. Diluted earnings persheflects all potentially dilutive
securities.
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The following table sets forth the computation asiz and diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Numerator:

Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholders
Net income (loss

Net income (loss) from discontinued operati

Net income (loss) from continuing operatic
Preferred stock
Loss on exchange of securit
Dividends declare
Accretion of preferred stoc

Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholdien® continuing
operations for basic earnings per st
Net income (loss) from discontinued operationgdf@sic earnings per she

Net income (loss) available to common stockholderdasic earnings pt
share

Interest impact of convertible notes, net of

Net income (loss) applicable to common stockholdiens continuing
operations for diluted earnings per sh

Net income (loss) from discontinued operationsdituted earnings per sha

Net income (loss) available to common stockholdersliluted earnings pe
share

Denominator:
Weighted average common shares for basic earnergshare

Weighted average effect of dilutive securiti
Employee stock options and awa

Convertible notes assumed converted into commark:
Warrants

Denominator for diluted earnings per sh
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share
Basic earnings (loss) per sha
Continuing operation
Discontinued operatior

Total basic earnings (loss) per sh
Diluted earnings (loss) per sha
Continuing operation
Discontinued operatior

Total diluted earnings (loss) per sh

Year Ended December 31,

2005

$ 61,69(

61,69(

(3,220
(3,377)

$ 55,09¢
$ 55,09¢
8,82¢

63,91¢
$ 63,91¢

80,543,39

5,288,06!
25,005,95
1,076,29

111,913,71

$ 0.6¢
$ 0.6¢
$ 0.57
$ 0.57

2004

(in thousands, except share and
per share amounts)

$ 11,360
9,55¢

1,80¢
(3,90¢)

(8,354)
(92€)

$ (11,38
9,55¢
$ (1,826

(11,389
9,55¢

$ (1,826
78,607,12

78,607,12

$ (019
0.12

$  (0.09

$  (0.19
0.1

$  (0.09

2003
$ (105,44)
(60,33%)
(45,11%)
(8,279
$ (53,39)
(60,33%)
$ (113,72
(53,397
(60,33%)
$ (113,720
78,378,37
78,378,37
$ (069
(0.77)
$ (1.4
$  (0.69
(0.77)
$ (1.4

Options to purchase 12,112,103 shares of commak, 163,406 shares of restricted stock, convertibkes convertible into 30,689,¢

shares of common stock and warrants exercisaluesifgB2,412 shares of
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common stock were outstanding at December 31, ZB@¥5the year ended December 31, 2005, 11,897 BO® @ptions outstanding, 378,4
shares of restricted stock, 25,005,952 of the shamderlying the convertible notes and all of thares underlying the warrants were included
in the computation of diluted earnings per shagspectively, on a weighted average basis, asitiairsion was dilutive. The remaining
options, shares of restricted stock and sharesriyimtgthe convertible notes were considered alutidie and were properly excluded.

Options to purchase 17,056,763 shares of commak,s306,662 shares of restricted stock, convertibkes convertible into 12,000,(
shares of common stock and warrants exercisatde2B®,834 shares of common stock were outstandiriggi2004, but were not included
the computation of earnings per share as theingwh would be antidilutive.

Options to purchase 13,423,134 shares of commaR,s286,365 shares of restricted stock, convertibkes convertible into 12,000,(
shares of common stock and warrants exercisatde3B@,736 shares of common stock were outstandiriggi2003, but were not included
the computation of earnings per share as theingwh would be antidilutive.

For the year ended December 31, 2005 and 20041 438 and 310,296 employee stock options were isestcrespectively. There
were no employee stock options exercised durinyélae ended December 31, 2003.

14. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The majority of Nasdaq's assets and liabilitiesramrded at fair value or at amounts that appratenfiair value. These assets and
liabilities include cash and cash equivalents, stments, receivables, net, certain other assatsuats payable and accrued expenses, ac
personnel costs, payables to related parties drat otirrent payables. The carrying amounts repantfte Consolidated Balance Sheets for
the above financial instruments closely approximaeir fair values due to the short-term naturthe$e assets and liabilities. Nasdaq also
considers its debt obligations to be financialrimstents. The fair value of Nasdaq’'s debt obligatiaas estimated using discounted cash flow
analyses based on Nasdaq’'s assumed incrementaligrrates for similar types of borrowing arrangens and a Black-Scholes valuation
technique was utilized to calculate the convertdgton value for the convertible notes. At Decentiik 2005, the carrying value of Nasdaq’
debt obligations was approximately $730.4 milliead than fair value due to the stock appreciatiothe convertible option feature from
$14.50 at time of issuance to $35.18 at Decembe2@15. See Note 7, “Debt Obligations,” for furtliéscussion. At December 31, 2004, the
fair value of these obligations approximates tlairying amounts.
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15. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income is composed of net incomeottrat comprehensive income, which includes the-aéétechange in unrealized
gains and losses on available-for-sale securfiesign currency translation adjustments and ammimn pension liability adjustment.

()]

@

(©)
4)

The following table outlines the components of ott@mprehensive (loss) income:

Unrealized

(Losses)

Gains ()
Balance, January 1, 20! $ (809
Net change 76C
Balance, December 31, 20 $ (49
Net change (920
Balance, December 31, 20 $ (969
Net change 392
Balance, December 31, 20 $ (577)

Translation
Adjustments Minimum Pension
@ Liability
(in thousands)
$ (419 $ (1,099)
1,94¢® (296)
$ 1,53 $ (1,395
232 (454)
$ 1,76: $ (1,849
(157) (469)
$ 1,60t $ (2,318

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
(Loss) Income

$ (2,326)
2,417

$ 86
(1,142

$ (1,056)
(234)

$ (1,290

Primarily represents the after-tax difference bemvthe fair value and cost (after recognition aB%illion in an after tax other-than-
temporary loss in 2003) of the availe-for-sale securities portfolic
Includes aftetax gains and losses on foreign currency transidtimm operations for which the functional currermgyther than the U.

dollar.

Represents the after-tax adjustment to record thermam pension liability for the SERP.

Approximately $1.7 million of foreign currency trslation loss has been included in net income (liveg) discontinued operations, net
of tax in the Consolidated Statements of Income. @éNote 4, “2005 and 2004 Cost Reductions anat&jic Review,” and Note 19,

“Discontinued Operatior” for further discussior

16. Leases

Nasdagq leases office space and equipment undecaraelable operating leases with third partiesadsnl subleases office space from
NASD in New York City. Some of our leases contanewal options and escalation clauses based ozages in property taxes and build
operating costs.

As of December 31, 2005, future minimum lease paymender norcancelable operating leases (net of sublease incamaeas follow:

Year ending December 3
2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

Remaining year

Total future minimum lease paymel

Gross Lease Sublease
Commitments Income

(in thousands)

$ 35,93¢ $ 2,691
27,45( 2,72¢
22,55¢ 2,80¢
21,70¢ 2,771
20,86¢ 2,43
135,47 12,957

$ 263,99( $26,38¢
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Net Lease
Commitments

$ 33,24
24,72
19,75:
18,93¢
18,43¢

122,51¢

$ 237,60t
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Rent expense for operating leases (net of sublaasme of $2.2 million and $0.4 in 2005 and 20@%pectively) was $18.5 million,
$18.3 million and $19.4 million for the year end2ecember 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

In October 2004, Nasdaq entered into an agreernetedhnology equipment and also renegotiatedaglaperating leases with a major
vendor. Nasdaq also entered into a three year Eggsement which included new upgraded equipmdrd.fliture minimum lease payments
associated with these agreements are includea itabite above. See “Technology Migration,” of Né{¢2005 and 2004 Cost Reductions,”
for further discussion.

17. Commitments and Contingencies
Acquisition of Instinet Grou

As a result of the acquisition of Instinet, Nasdagended the original execution and clearing sesvdggeement between INET and ICS,
an affiliate of SLP. Under this amended agreem @8, will provide INET with clearing and executioersices for approximately $6.2 millic
for a period not to exceed six months, unless #régs agree otherwise.

Also as a result of the acquisition, Nasdaq entaredan agreement with a former affiliate of Insti, to have the former affiliate
provide transition services for a period of upitorsonths after the closing date of the acquisitidnder this agreement, the former affiliate
will provide INET with office space, and provide BN and Nasdaq with desktop support, finance sugpuaitaccess to the FIX engines and
Smart Routers. This agreement has a maximum f&6.afmillion per month and could be lower dependingvhether or not the services are
provided. This agreement can be terminated eatly asminimum of thirty days notice.

Brut Agreement

Brut contracted with a subsidiary of SunGard, SudGanancial Systems Inc., for SunGard Financiginavide Brut online processing
report services and related services in conneatitnBrut's clearance of trades. The term of thgse@ment is five years and began in
September 2004 and is automatically renewed atydervals thereafter until terminated by BrutSunGard Financial. The annual service
fee is $10.0 million in the first year, declining$8.0 million in the second year and $6.0 milliorihe third year of the agreement. The ani
service fee is subject to price review in years fmd five based on market rates, but will notdsslthan $4.0 million per year. Some
additional fees may be assessed based on sergededhor requested.

Brut also contracted with SunGard to host certaftware on designated equipment at a SunGardtfaéili a transitional period
beginning in September 2004. SunGard developedparated the computer software programs that en&blg to operate and provide ori
entry and execution over its ECN. Under the terftb® original agreement, which began in Septerab@d through May 2005, Brut was
obligated to pay SunGard approximately $0.1 milli@n month. On November 29, 2004, an amendmensigasd which extended the
original agreement through June 30, 2006 and begirdovember 30, 2005, Brut had the option to chtiagreement within thirty days
written notice to SunGard. In July 2005, an add#éiicamendment was signed, which was effective AUGUR005, and reduced the monthly
payment to a nominal amount for the remainder eftéim of the agreement ($0.7 million in 2006) vahmow expires in December 2006.
After May 1, 2006, Brut may cancel the agreememinuproviding SunGard sixty days written notice.

Brokerage Activitie!

In accordance with FASB Interpretation 45, “GuasaistAccounting and Disclosure Requirements for @atees, Including Indirect
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” Brut andlIpi®vide guarantees to securities clearinghousd®achanges under their standard
membership agreements, which require members t@giee the performance of other members. If a melmmmes unable to satisfy its
obligations to the clearinghouses, other memberddvoe required to meet its shortfalls. To mitigtitese performance risks, the exchanges
and
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clearinghouses often require members to post eollhas well as meet certain minimum financial déads. Brut's and INET’s maximum
potential liability under these arrangements cameofuantified. However, we believe that the paaifior Brut and INET to be required to
make payments under these arrangements is unlikebardingly, no contingent liability is recordenl Nasdacs Consolidated Balance She
for these arrangements.

Nasdaq has received inquiries from NASD regardmgmliance with Brut's obligations regarding shates, firm quotes and other
reporting and disclosure requirements. At this tilMasdaq cannot estimate the amount of any potdimis or penalties associated with th
matters, but we do not believe that any potenities or penalties would be significant.

Litigation

Nasdaq may be subject to claims arising out ottreluct of its business. Currently, there are lpgateedings pending against Nast
which are disclosed in “Item 3. Legal Proceedingsdur Form 10-K. Other than this litigation, Nagdaelieves that any liabilities or
settlements arising from the ordinary course prdcegs will not have a material effect on the coitatked financial position or results of

operations of Nasdag. Management is not awareyfinasserted claims or assessments that wouldehenaterial adverse effect on the
consolidated financial position and results of aiens of Nasdag.

18. Segments

Nasdaq manages, operates and provides its progluttservices in two business segments, our Madwic®s segment and our Issuer
Services segment. The Market Services segmentdeslaur transaction-based business (Nasdag Maekee} and our market information
services business (Nasdaq Market Services Sulisaigpt which are interrelated because the trarmadtased business generates the quote
and trade information that we sell to market pgénts and data vendors. The Issuer Services segnotudes our securities listings business
and our insurance business (Corporate Client Grang)our financial products business (Nasdaq FiahRcoducts). The companies listed
The Nasdaq Stock Market represent a diverse afriangdostries. This diversity of Nasdaqg-listed comies allows us to develop industry-
specific and other Nasdag indexes that we usevelade and license financial products and associdéeatives. Because of these
interrelationships, our management allocates ressyassesses performance and manages these $esimesno separate segments.

Nasdag evaluates the performance of its segmesésitzm several factors, of which the primary finahmeasure is pre-tax income.
Results of individual businesses are presentedd@s®&lasdaq’s management accounting practices asda{’s management structure.
Certain charges are allocated to corporate iterhsastdaq’'s management reports based on the detlisibthose activities should not be used
to evaluate the segment’s operating performancesé kharges in 2003 primarily include all actigténd exit costs related to the elimination
of Nasdaq's non-core product lines and other itivés as well as Nasdaq Japan.

The following table presents certain informatiogamding these operating segments at December 85, 2004 and 2003 and for each
of the year then ended.

Corporate Items

Market Services Issuer Service and Eliminations

Consolidated

(in thousands)

2005

Revenue: $ 653,65 $ 226,03 $ 23z $ 879,91
Cost of revenue (353,909 — — (353,909
Gross margir 299,74t 226,03: 232 526,01:
Depreciation and amortizatic 54,34 12,22¢ 41€ 66,98¢
Pre-tax income (loss 28,00: 88,49’ (10,236 106,26
Assets) 1,420,02: 183,76¢ 442,99! 2,046,78!
Cash paid for property and equipm 16,177 8,92¢ 29¢€ 25,40
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Corporate Items

Market Services Issuer Service and Eliminations Consolidatec

(in thousands)

2004

Revenue: $ 33451 $ 205,82: $ 10¢ $ 540,44:
Cost of revenue (55,845 — — (55,84%)
Gross margir 278,67. 205,82: 108 484,59¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 58,44 17,43¢ 457 76,33¢
Pre-tax (loss) incom (58,945 67,57¢ (6,077) 2,55¢
Assetsh 435,53: 87,24( 292,04t 814,82(
Cash paid for property and equipm 22,30¢ 3,65( 73 26,02¢
2003

Revenue: $ 383,71 $ 204,18t $ 1,94¢ $ 589,84!
Depreciation and amortizatic 60,68t 18,37: 10,92t 89,98:
Pre-tax (loss) incom: (4,539 51,85¢ (113,679 (66,357)
Assets) 250,81( 127,68t 472,75t 851,25¢

Cash paid for property and equipm 23,55t 5,54: 2,497 31,59¢

@  Corporate items also include the assets of Nasdagasury Department (primarily cash and cash edeiis and investments). The
increase in assets in 2005 as compared to 2002G08Iwas primarily due to the Instinet and Carpekteore acquisitions. See Note 3,
“Business Combinatior” for further discussior

For further discussion of Nasdaq’'s segments’ resate Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Anabfdténancial Condition and
Results of Operations.

Geographic Data

The following table presents revenues and promertyequipment, net by geographic area for 2004 20@ 2003. Revenues are
classified based upon the location of the custoReperty and equipment information is based orpthysical location of the assets.

Property and

Equipment,
Revenues Net

(in thousands)

2005:

United State: $830,06( $ 122,02

All other countries 49,85¢ 552
Total $879,91¢ $ 122,57¢

2004:

United State: $494,13. $ 173,08:

All other countries 46,30¢ 757
Total $540,44: $ 173,84(

2003:

United State: $534,45( $ 242,67

All other countries 55,39¢ 271
Total $589,84! $ 242,94

In 2005, 2004 and 2003, no single customer accduotel0.0% or more of Nasdaq's revenues.
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19. Discontinued Operations

On September 30, 2003, Nasdag Global sold itsastén IndigoMarkets to its partner, SSI, and rexized a gain of approximately $0.6
million on the sale. In addition, on December 182 Nasdaq transferred its interest in Nasdaqfeuto one of that company’s original
investors for nominal cash consideration. In thetto quarter of 2004, Nasdaq recognized a gaifhemdlease of a reserve for potential
claims against Nasdaq that management establistied ime of the transfer of Nasdaq's shares afddg Europe. In the fourth quarter of
2004, Easdaq reached agreements with certain afdtbtors to settle these creditors’ existingrolaiagainst Easdaq. Nasdaqg was the third
party beneficiary of these creditor agreementsratehsed the $15.1 million reserve managementlestat. For further discussion of
discontinued operations, see Elimination of NoneéJ@roduct Lines, Initiatives and Severance in Ifeflanagement’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Ggiems.

In accordance with SFAS 144, both Nasdaq EuropdratigoMarkets are reflected as discontinued opanatfor all years presented.
discontinued operations, the revenues, costs gmehers and cash flows of Nasdaq Europe and Indidgat4ahave been excluded from the
respective captions in the Consolidated Statenwritecome and Consolidated Statements of Cash Flamghave been presented separately
as “Income (loss) from discontinued operations,afieéax” and as “Cash provided by (used in) disoordd operations.” There were no assets
and liabilities of Nasdaq Europe and IndigoMarlkat®ecember 31, 2004.

The following table presents condensed, combinedlt®of operations for Nasdaq Europe and Indigddetst

Year Ended
December 31,

2004 2003

(in thousands)

Revenue: $ — $ 10,63:
Pre-tax income (loss 15,15¢ (63,999
Provision (benefit) for income tax 5,59¢ (3,669
Income (loss) from discontinued operatit $ 9,55¢ $(60,339)

20. Subsequent Events
Equity Offering

On February 15, 2006, Nasdaq completed a publeriaff of 13,895,229 shares of Nasdaq's common sfidok offering consisted of
7,000,000 primary shares and 6,895,229 sharessifddgs common stock offered by NASD and certaiiositockholders who received such
shares through the exercise of warrants they paechan Nasdag’'s 2000 and 2001 private placementsd®y and NASD have granted the
underwriters an option to purchase up to an aduiti@, 084,284 shares of Nasdaq's common stockueraver-allotments, if any, which the
underwriters may exercise within 30 days of theadtthe final prospectus. On March 2, 2006, Nasdawpunced that the underwriters
purchased the additional 2,084,284 shares of constomk. Nasdag and NASD contributed equally toaer-allotment option. The
completion of the offering, including the exercifehe over-allotment option, resulted in the tatalle of 15,979,513 shares of which
8,042,142 shares were sold by Nasdaq and 7,938l8##&s sold by NASD and certain other stockholdessa result of the above
transactions, NASD’s ownership decreased to 11.4%

Nasdaq used the proceeds from this offering toeedeur Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock, amdé®d below, and plans to use the
remainder for general corporate purposes, inclugotgntial acquisitions.

Preferred Stock Payao

The Series C Cumulative Preferred Stock was pafdlion February 15, 2006. Nasdaq paid $104.7iomlto redeem our Series C
Cumulative Preferred Stock, which included accraed unpaid dividends and a make-whole premium.
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Shareholder.com

On February 6, 2006, Nasdaq completed the acauisiti Shareholder.com, a privately held, Massadbatbased firm specializing in
shareholder communications and investor relatiotedligence services, for $40.0 million in cashhjset to post-closing adjustments.
Shareholder.com will operate as a wholly-owned slidnyy of Nasdag. Shareholder.com currently seoxes 1,000 clients, including
companies listed on both domestic and foreign exgbs. Shareholder.com will continue to offer itsmpoehensive suite of services to all
publicly traded companies who wish to optimize stee relations capabilities.

Exchange Registratia

On January 16, 2006, the SEC unanimously approwssdidy’s application to operate as a national gesigxchange. This action will
allow Nasdagq to take the final steps needed to ésmnfis separation from NASD. With exchange stailesdaq will be licensed to operate a
newly formed subsidiary, The Nasdaq Stock Marke€L&s its own Self-Regulatory Organization.
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The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Three Years Ended December 31, 2005
(in thousands)

Reserve for Bad Debts

2005 2004 2003
Balance at beginning of peri $ 3,15¢ $ 1,692 $ 5,89(
Additions:
Charges to incom 2,99¢ 1,074 1,365
Recoveries of amounts previously writ-off 1,02¢ 792 107
Acquisition of Instine: 5,271 — —
Acquisition of Brut — 1,24( —
Deductions
Charges for which reserves were provi (5,225 (1,640 (5,670
Balance at end of peric $7,23¢ $ 3,15¢ $ 1,692
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of The Nas8&mrk Market, Inc. (“Nasdaq”) (previously filedtwiNasdaqg's Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 fileN@rember 14, 2003

Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certitcat Incorporation of Nasdagq filed on May 25, 2C

Certificate of Amendment of the Restated Certifimabf Incorporation of Nasdagq filed on March 1808.

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and RighBeries C Cumulative Preferred Stock of Nasgaevjously filed with
Nasdals Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 1, 2004

Certificate of Designations, Preferences and RighBeries D Cumulative Preferred Stock of Nasgagyiously filed with
Nasdals Current Report on Forn-K filed on December 20, 200t

First Amendment to By-Laws of Nasdaq (previouslgdiwith Nasdaqg’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K foe tlear ended
December 31, 2002, filed March 31, 20C

Form of Common Stock certificate (previously fileith Nasdaq's Registration Statement on Form 18 (fumber 000-32651)
filed on April 30, 2001)

Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of Apyi2@@5, between Norway Acquisition SPV, LLC and Nesdaq Stock
Market, Inc. (previously filed with Nasd’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Note Amendment Agreement, dated as of April 22 52@Mong The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., Hellman&idman Captia
Partners IV, L.P. , H&F Executive Fund IV, L.P., Hdnternational Partners IV-A, L.P., and H&F Intational Partners IV-B,
L.P. (previously filed with Nasdis Current report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Indenture, dated as of April 22, 2005, between Nhedaqg Stock Market, Inc. and Law Debenture Trash@any of New York
as Trustee (previously filed with Nas(s Current Report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Dece®b2005, by The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. to Lave&aure Trust
Company of New York (previously filed with Nasc's Current report on Forn-K, filed December 14, 2005

Amended and Restated Securityholders Agreemersiddet of April 22, 2005, among Norway AcquisitidP\§ LLC,
Hellman& Freidman Captial Partners 1V, L.P. , H&kdeutive Fund IV, L.P., H&F International PartnévsA, L.P., and H&F
International Partners IV-B, L.P., Silver Lake Pars TSA, L.P., Silver Lake Investors, L.P., VARéstors, LLC and Integral
Capital Partners VI, L.P. (previously filed with $tka¢ s Current report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of AprjlZ05, among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., Hal@nBreidman Captial
Partners 1V, L.P. , H&F Executive Fund IV, L.P., Hdnternational Partners IV-A, L.P., and H&F Intational Partners IV-B,
L.P., Silver Lake Partners TSA, L.P., Silver Lakedstors, L.P., VAB Investors, LLC and Integral @alpPartners VI, L.P.
(previously filed with Nasde's Current report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Voting Trust Agreement dated June 28, 2000, amdrggNasdaq Stock Market, Inc., the National Assamiadf Securities
Dealers, Inc. and The Bank of New York (previoudlyd with Nasdaq's Registration Statement on Far(file number 000-
32651) filed on April 30, 2001

First Amendment to the Voting Trust Agreement, dae of January 18, 2001, among The Nasdaq Stodketldnc., the
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inad @he Bank of New York (previously filed with Nag|'s Registration
Statement on Form 10 (file number -32651) filed on April 30, 2001
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9.1.2 Second Amendment to the Voting Trust Agreemengdias of July 18, 2002, among The Nasdaq Stock éfdrc., the
National Association of Securities Dealers, Indfie Bank of New York and Mellon Investor ServicesCL(previously filed
with Nasda's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, fiieN@vember 14, 2002

9.1.3 Third Amendment to Voting Trust Agreement among Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., National Associatioiseturities
Dealers, Inc., and The Bank of New York, datedfaspril 31, 2005 (previously filed with Nasdaq’'s €ant Report on Form 8-
K, filed September 1, 200E

10.1 Regulatory Services Agreement, dated June 28, 2#@een NASD Regulation, Inc. and Nasdaq (preWdilsed with
Nasda’s Registration Statement on Form 10 (file numb@&-32651) filed on April 30, 2001).

10.2 Nasdaq 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (preyiéilesl with Nasda’'s Registration Statement on Form 10 (file number
00C-32651) filed on April 30, 2001

10.3 Nasdaq Equity Incentive Plan (previously filed wiNhsda's Registration Statement on Form 10 (file numb@9-82651) filed

on April 30, 2001)
10.3.1 First Amendment to Nasdaq Equity Incentive Playmusly filed with Nasdaq’'s Quarterly Report orrfadl0-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 2002, filed on August 1@2p!

10.3.2 Form of Nasdag Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreem@wrformance Accelerated Stock Options) (previofild with
Nasda’s Annual Report on Form -K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005¢ fda March 14, 2005

10.3.3 Form of Nasdag Restricted Stock Award Agreemer®$2§rant based on performance metrics establisteadhive, 2005)
(previously filed with Nasdag’'s Annual Report onrifcl0-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2€iGs on March 14,

2005).

104 Employment Agreement by and between Nasdaq andrRGbeifeld, effective as of May 12, 2003 (previlyufiled with
Nasda’s Registration Statement on Fori-8 filed on July 10, 2003

10.5 Employment Letter from Nasdaq to David P. Warreated November 30, 2000 (previously filed with NagdaAnnual Report
on Form 1K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed Mdrgh2004)

10.5.1 Loan Agreement, dated December 28, 2001, by amvgeleet Nasdaqg and David P. Warren (previously filéti Wasdaq'’s
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed M&8h2002)

10.5.2 Revised Letter Agreement, effective as of MarchZZ®)5, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. andd’” Warren
(previously filed with the Quarterly Report on Fofi€-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, filed ory i@, 2005)

10.6 Employment Agreement between Nasdaq and Edwardnredfective as of December 29, 2000 Nasdaq (ptesly filed with
Nasdars Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed M&th2003)

10.6.1 First Amendment to Employment Agreement betweerdiligsnd Edward Knight, effective February 1, 20@3dvaq
(previously filed with Nasdé' s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2002, filed M&th2003)

10.7 Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of Februar@02, between Nasdaq and the National Associafi@ecurities Dealers,
Inc. (previously filed with Nasd¢ s Current Report on Forn-K filed on February 22, 2002

10.8 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of AprilZI)5, by and among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Naryay Acquisitions

Corp. and Instinet Group Incorporated (previouggdfwith Nasda’'s Current Report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).
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10.19
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Transaction Agreement, dated as of April 22, 20¥5and among The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc., Nomveayuisitions Corp.
and Iceland Acquisition Corp. (previously filed wviNasda’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed April 28, 2005).

Amendment to the Transaction Agreement , dated Becember 8, 2005, by and among The Nasdaq Stacke¥] Inc. and
Iceland Acquisition Corp. (previously filed with Bidac s Current Report on Forn-K, filed on December 14, 200t

Guarantee Agreement, dated as of April 22, 200%rad/among The Nasdag Stock Market, Inc., Norwagudsition SPV, LLC
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administratiemtagreviously filed with Nasdaqg’'s Current RepamtForm 8-K, filed
April 28, 2005).

Contract of Sale, dated as of June 10, 2005, betWke Nasdaqg Stock Market, Inc. and National Asgam of Securities
Dealers, Inc. (previously filed with Nasc's Current Report on Forn-K, filed June 16, 2005

OTCBB and OTC Equities Revocation of Delegation Asdet Transfer and Services Agreement among TldadpStock
Market, Inc. and Association of Securities Dealbrs,, executed September 2, 2005 (previously fitt Nasdaq’'s Current
Report on Form-K, filed September 9, 200~

Revised Letter Agreement, effective as of MarchZ®)5, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. andeBAust (previously
filed with the Quarterly Report on Form-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, filed ory i@, 2005)

Revised Letter Agreement, effective as of MarchZ®)5, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. arehAdrriedman
(previously filed with the Quarterly Report on Foi€-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, filed ory i@, 2005)

Revised Letter Agreement, effective as of MarchZ®)5, between The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. ahd loJacobs
(previously filed with the Quarterly Report on Fofi€-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2005, filed ory i@, 2005)

Credit Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2005ngriibe Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. and the otheigsattiereto (previous
filed with Nasda’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed December 14, 2005

Transition Services Agreement, dated as of Dece®b2005, by and among The Nasdag Stock Market, imstinet Holdings
Incorporated f/k/a Iceland Acquisition Corp., andrivay Acquisition Corp. f/k/a Instinet Group (prewusly filed with Nasdag
Current Report on Form-K, filed December 14, 2005

License Agreement, dated as of December 8, 2008ntybetween Instinet Holdings Incorporated f/k&ldnd Acquisition
Corp. and Norway Acquisition Corp. f/k/a Instineto@p Incorporated (previously filed with Nasdaqsrfent Report on Form
8-K, filed December 14, 2005

Brace Assignment and Support Agreement, dated Beoémber 8, 2005, by and between The Nasdaqg $tadket, Inc.,
Instinet Clearing Services, Inc. and INET ATS, Ifareviously filed with Nasdaq's Current Reportfeorm 8-K, filed
December 14, 2005

Co-Location Agreement, dated as of December 8, 20and between The Nasdaq Stock Market, InctingisHoldings
Incorporated, f/k/a Iceland Acquisition Corp. andrivay Acquisition Corp. f/k/a Instinet Group Incorated (previously filed
with Nasda's Current Report on Forn-K, filed December 14, 2005

Amendment No. 1 to Fully Disclosed Clearing Agreemdated as of December 8, 2005, between Inddilestring Services,
Inc. and INET ATS, Inc. (previously filed with Naat's Current Report on Forn-K, filed December 14, 2005
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23.1
241
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Statement regarding computation of per share egsr(incorporated herein by reference to “ltem D&ikits, Financial
Statement Schedules and Reports on F¢-K” of this Form 1-K).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Char
List of all subsidiaries
Consent of Ernst & Younc

Powers of Attorney

Certification of President and Chief Executive ©4fi pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Ox&tyfA2002 (“Sarbanes-
Oxley”).

Certification of Executive Vice President and Chi@fancial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of Sads-Oxley.
Certifications Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1280adopted pursuant to Section 906 of Sarl-Oxley.

* Confidential treatment has been requested frontBe Securities and Exchange Commission for cegaitions of this exhibil
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Exhibit 3.1.1

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF THE
RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

The Nasdaqg Stock Market, Inc., a corporation duganized and existing under the General Corporatew of the State of Delaware
(“Nasdaq”), does hereby certify that:

FIRST: The Restated Certificate of IncorporatioNefsdaq is hereby amended as follows:
1. ARTICLE FIFTH paragraph B is hereby amended to iiedts entirety as follows

B. Subject to the provisions of this paragraphh®, Board (other than those directors elected bathaers of any series of
Preferred Stock provided for or fixed pursuanti® provisions of Article Fourth hereof, (the “Pmeésl Stock Directors”)) shall be
divided into three classes, as nearly equal in rarmab possible, designated Class I, Class Il aagsGll. Each director elected or
appointed prior to the effectiveness of this Crudie of Amendment under the General Corporatiom bbthe State of Delaware
shall serve for his or her full term, such that tven of each Class | director shall expire at2887 annual meeting of
stockholders; the term of each Class Il directallséxpire at the 2005 annual meeting of stockhmldand the term of each Class
[l director shall expire at the 2006 annual megiif stockholders. In case of any increase or deeregfrom time to time, in the
number of directors (other than Preferred Stocle@aors), the number of directors in each clasd beahpportioned as nearly
equal as possible. The term of each director elemti¢he 2005 annual meeting of stockholders are@dett subsequent annual
meeting of stockholders shall expire at the firstw@al meeting of stockholders following his or bérction. Commencing with the
2007 annual meeting of stockholders, the foregolagsification of the Board shall cease, and thectiirs, other than the
Preferred Stock Directors, shall be elected byhiblders of the Voting Stock (as hereinafter defjraaatd shall hold office until the
next annual meeting of stockholders and until thespective successors shall have been duly elaotkdualified, subject,
however, to prior death, resignation, retiremersgjgalification or removal from office.

2. ARTICLE FIFTH paragraph C is hereby amended to teat$ entirety as follows

C. Subject to the rights of the holders of any onmore series of Preferred Stock then outstandiegly created
directorships resulting from any increase in thihatzed number of directors or any vacancies énBbard resulting from death,
resignation, retirement, disqualification, remofram office or other cause shall only be filled iz Board. No decrease in the
number of directors shall shorten the term of amymbent director.

3. ARTICLE FIFTH paragraph D is hereby amended by titedethe word<“only for cause ar” from the text of the paragrag

SECOND: The foregoing amendment was duly adopteddordance with the provisions of Section 24zhef&eneral Corporation Law of
the State of Delaware.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Nasdag Stock Market, Iras bhaused this Certificate to be executed by itsaluthorized officer on th
25t day of May, 2005.

T HEN ASDAQ STOCK M ARKET, I NC.

By /sl JoaN C. CONLEY
Name: Joan C. Conley
Office: Senior Vice President and

Corporate Secretary



Exhibit 3.1.2

CERTIFICATE OF AMENDMENT
OF THE
RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
OF
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

The Nasdaqg Stock Market, Inc., a corporation duganized and existing under the General Corporatew of the State of Delaware
(“Nasdaq”), does hereby certify that:

FIRST: The Restated Certificate of IncorporatioNefsdaq is hereby amended as follows:

1.

ARTICLE FOURTH paragraph C is hereby amended td iedts entirety as follows

C. 1. (a) Except as may otherwise be providedismRestated Certificate of Incorporation (includaryy Preferred Stock
Designation) or by applicable law, each holder ofrttnon Stock, as such, shall be entitled to one festeach share of Common
Stock held of record by such holder on all mattersvhich stockholders generally are entitled teeyand no holder of any series
of Preferred Stock, as such, shall be entitlechjoveting powers in respect thereof.

(b) Except as may otherwise be provided in thisté&ed Certificate of Incorporation or by applicalae, the holders of the
3.75% Series A Convertible Notes due 2012 (as neagrbbended, supplemented or otherwise modified fhom to time, the
“Series A Notes”) and the 3.75% Series B Convertidbtes due 2012 (as may be amended, supplemantétteowise modified
from time to time, the “Series B Notes” and, togettvith the Series A Notes, the “Notes”) which nieyissued from time to time
by Nasdaq shall be entitled to vote on all matseitsmitted to a vote of the stockholders of Nasgating together with the holde
of the Common Stock (and of any other shares dtalsgiock of Nasdaq entitled to vote at a meetihgtockholders) as one class.
Each principal amount of Notes shall be entitled tumber of votes equal to the number of voteesgmted by the Common
Stock of Nasdaq that could then be acquired upoaramsion of such principal amount of Notes into @oon Stock, subject to
adjustments as provided in the Notes and the Indemtated as of April 22, 2005 between Nasdaq avd DRebenture Trust
Company of New York, as trustee, as such Indemhag be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified time to time.
Holders of the Notes shall be deemed to be stodkislof Nasdag, and the Notes shall be deemedsbares of stock, solely for
the purpose of any provision of the General Corjamd_aw of the State of Delaware or this Resta&edtificate of Incorporation
that requires the vote of stockholders as a présgguo any corporate action.

2. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Restl Certificate of Incorporation, but subjectubsaragraph 6 of this
paragraph C. of this Article Fourth, in no everdlsti) any record owner of any outstanding Comn$tock or Preferred Stock
which is beneficially owned, directly or indirectlgs of any record date for the determination etlkdtolders and/or holders of
Notes entitled to vote on any matter, or (ii) amyder of any Notes which are beneficially ownededily or indirectly, as of any
record date for the determination of stockholdeid/ar holders of Notes entitled to vote on any aratty a person (other than an
Exempt Person) who beneficially owns shares of ComBtock, Preferred Stock and/or Notes in excefis®percent (5%) of tt
then-outstanding shares of stock generally entttedte as of the record date in respect of suatiem(“Excess Shares and/or
Notes”), be entitled or permitted to vote any Exc8hares and/or Notes on such matter. For all gegbereof, any calculation of
the number of shares of stock outstanding at artycpkar time, including for purposes of determigithe particular percentage of
such outstanding shares of stock of which any peisthe beneficial owner, shall be made in acaoedawith the last sentence of
Rule 13¢-3(d)(1)(i) of the Gener:



Rules and Regulations under the Securities Exchangef 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) rnasfiect on the date of
filing this Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

3. The following definitions shall apply to thisrmagraph C. of this Article Fourth:

(a) “Affiliate” shall have the meaning ascribedtbat term in Rule 12b-2 of the General Rules angluRgions under the
Exchange Act, as in effect on the date of filingg tRestated Certificate of Incorporation.

(b) A person shall be deemed the “beneficial owmdy'shall be deemed to have “beneficial ownersbipdnd shall be
deemed to “beneficially own” any securities:

(i) which such person or any of such person’s Asfis is deemed to beneficially own, directly atiractly, within the
meaning of Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules and Reigms under the Exchange Act as in effect orddte of the filing of this
Restated Certificate of Incorporation;

(i) which such person or any of such person’s liffes has (A) the right to acquire (whether stightris exercisable
immediately or only after the passage of time) pamd to any agreement, arrangement or understafolingr than customary
agreements with and between underwriters and gajlioup members with respect to a bona fide pulffering of securities), or
upon the exercise of conversion rights, exchargfsj rights, warrants or options, or otherwm®yvided, howevethat a person
shall not be deemed the beneficial owner of, doeeficially own, securities tendered pursuant tenaler or exchange offer made
by or on behalf of such person or any of such pesséffiliates until such tendered securities aceepted for purchase; or (B) the
right to vote pursuant to any agreement, arrangeoraimderstandinggrovided, howevethat a person shall not be deemed the
beneficial owner of, or to beneficially own, anysgty by reason of such agreement, arrangememaerstanding if the
agreement, arrangement or understanding to voteseaurity (1) arises solely from a revocable proxgonsent given to such
person in response to a public proxy or conseitisdion made pursuant to, and in accordance whih applicable rules and
regulations promulgated under the Exchange Act(2pi not also then reportable on Schedule 13Ceutite Exchange Act (or
any comparable or successor report); or

(iii) which are beneficially owned, directly or iimdctly, by any other person and with respect tacvisuch person or any of
such person’s Affiliates has any agreement, arnawege: or understanding (other than customary agretsméth and between
underwriters and selling group members with resfmeatbona fide public offering of securities) the purpose of acquiring,
holding, voting (except to the extent contempldigdhe proviso to (b)(ii)(B) above) or disposingsofch securitiegrovided,
howeverthat (A) no person who is an officer, director ormoyee of an Exempt Person shall be deemed, sojelgason of such
person’s status or authority as such, to be thaéfieial owner” of, to have “beneficial ownershipf or to “beneficially own” any
securities that are “beneficially owned” (as defiferein), including, without limitation, in a fidiary capacity, by an Exempt
Person or by any other such officer, director oplayee of an Exempt Person, and (B) the Voting fBeisas defined in the Votil
Trust Agreement by and among Nasdagq, the Natiorabgiation of Securities Dealers, Inc., a Delavearporation (the
“NASD”), and The Bank of New York, a New York banki corporation, as such may be amended from tinient (the “Voting
Trust Agreement”), shall not be deemed, solelydason of such person’s status or authority as $odig the “beneficial owner”
of, to have “beneficial ownership” of or to “bengéilly own” any securities that are governed by haltl in accordance with the
Voting Trust Agreement.

(c) A “person” shall mean any individual, firm, paration, partnership, limited liability company ather entity.

(d) “Exempt Person” shall mean Nasdaq or any Sidrgidf Nasdaqg, in each case including, withouitlition, in its
fiduciary capacity, or any employee benefit plamNasdaq or of any Subsidiary of Nasdaq, or anytyeatitrustee holding stock
for or pursuant to the terms of any such plan otHe purpose of funding any such plan or fundittteoemployee benefits for
employees of Nasdaq or of any Subsidiary of Nasdag.

2



(e) “Subsidiary” of any person shall mean any coafion or other entity of which securities or otl@mership interests
having ordinary voting power sufficient to eleanajority of the board of directors or other perspagorming similar functions
are beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, bych person, and any corporation or other entay ithotherwise controlled by
such person.

(f) The Board shall have the power to construeapply the provisions of this paragraph C. of thidle Fourth and to
make all determinations necessary or desirablepdeiment such provisions, including, but not lirdite, matters with respect to
(1) the number of shares of stock beneficially odvhg any person, (2) the number of Notes benelc@ained by any person,
(3) whether a person is an Affiliate of anothej), Whether a person has an agreement, arrangementlerstanding with another
as to the matters referred to in the definitiotefieficial ownership, (5) the application of anlgestdefinition or operative
provision hereof to the given facts, or (6) anyeotmatter relating to the applicability or effeéttlois paragraph C. of this Article
Fourth.

4. The Board shall have the right to demand thgtpemson who is reasonably believed to hold of oo beneficially own
Excess Shares and/or Notes supply Nasdaq with epenipiformation as to (a) the record owner(s) b$ladres and/or Notes
beneficially owned by such person who is reasonbblieved to own Excess Shares and/or Notes, grahgbother factual matter
relating to the applicability or effect of this pgraph C. of this Article Fourth as may reasondielyequested of such person.

5. Any constructions, applications, or determinasionade by the Board, pursuant to this paragragmt is Article Fourth,
in good faith and on the basis of such informatod assistance as was then reasonably availatdedbrpurpose, shall be
conclusive and binding upon Nasdag, its stockhelded the holders of the Notes.

6. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contragbhparagraph 2 of this paragraph C. of this Agtleburth shall not be
applicable to any Excess Shares and/or Notes l@dsfiowned by (a) the NASD or its Affiliates uhsiuch time as the NASD
beneficially owns five percent (5%) or less of thastanding shares of stock and/or Notes entitlaste on the election of a
majority of directors at such time, (b) any othergon as may be approved for such exemption bBdlaed prior to the time such
person beneficially owns more than five percent)8%he outstanding shares of stock and/or Not¢itied to vote on the electi
of a majority of directors at such time or (c) Hedin & Friedman Capital Partners 1V, L.P., H&F Imiational Partners IV-A, L.P.,
H & F International Partners IV-B, L.P., H&F Exemug Fund, IV L.P.; Silver Lake Partners Il TSA, L.Bilver Lake Technology
Investors II, L.L.C., Silver Lake Partners TSA, L.Bnd Silver Lake Investors, L.P. or their resjppecaffiliated investment funds
that are: (i) under common management and corftlotomprised of members or partners with the saitimate ownership, and
(iii) subject to terms and conditions that are sabigally identical in all material respects, ietBoard has approved an exemption
for any other person pursuant to Section 6(b) isfplaragraph C. of this Article Fourth (other tllanexemption granted in
connection with the establishment of a stratediarade with another exchange or similar marketyjted that in no event shall
the exemption contained in Section 6(c) cause iatexrgd broker or dealer or an Affiliate thereofBaoker Affiliate,” provided
that, a Broker Affiliate shall not include an entihat either owns ten percent or less of the gapfita broker or dealer, or for whi
the broker or dealer accounts for one percentssr ¢é the gross revenues received by the consetidattity) to receive an
exemption for a greater percentage of voting séearihan has been granted to another Broker affilby the Board. The Board,
however, may not approve an exemption under Seétion (i) for a Broker Affiliate or (ii) an indiual or entity that is subject to
a statutory disqualification under Section 3(a)(@8the Exchange Act. The Board may approve an ekiemfor any other
stockholder or holder of Notes if the Board detersithat granting such exemption would (A) noteeably be expected to
diminish the quality of, or public confidence irhd Nasdaq Stock Market or the other operationsasidisq, on the ability to
prevent fraudulent and manipulative acts and prestand on investors and the public, and (B) prerust and equitable
principles of trade, foster cooperation and coation with persons engaged in regulating, cleasedtling, processing
information with respect to and facilitating trangans in securities or assist in the removal géégiments to or perfection of the
mechanisms for a free and open market and a natiwarket system.
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7. In the event any provision (or portion thereaffjhis paragraph C. of this Article Fourth shadlfound to be invalid,
prohibited or unenforceable for any reason, theaiemg provisions (or portions thereof) of this ggraph C. of this Article Four
shall remain in full force and effect, and shalldeaistrued as if such invalid, prohibited or unecéable provision (or portion
hereof) had been stricken herefrom or otherwisdesad inapplicable, it being the intent of Nasdigstockholders and the
holders of the Notes that each such remaining pi@vi(or portion thereof) of this paragraph C.lo$tArticle Fourth remains, to
the fullest extent permitted by law, applicable amfbrceable as to all stockholders and all holdéfdotes, including stockholde
and holders of Notes that beneficially own Excdsar&s and/or Notes, notwithstanding any such fipdin

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, The Nasdaq Stock Market, Iras baused this Certificate to be executed by g authorized officer this 1
thday of March, 2006.

T HEN ASDAQ STOCK M ARKET, I NC.

By /sl JoaN C. CONLEY
Name: Joan C. Conley
Office: Senior Vice President and Corporate Secretary



The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(Dollars in Thousands)

Exhibit 12.1

Unaudited
Year Ended December 31,
2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Pre-tax income (loss) from continuing operatioesglminority
interest) $ 106,2€2*  $ 2,655 $(66,352)*** $105,94: $ 97,54.
Add: fixed charge: 20,33¢ 11,78¢ 19,04: 18,95¢ 9,95t
Pre-tax income (loss) before fixed charg 126,60( 14,34: (47,310 124,90( 107,49°
Fixed charges
Interest expens 20,33¢ 11,48 18,55¢ 18,48¢ 9,771
Other — 30t 487 47C 17¢
Total fixed charge 20,33¢ 11,78¢ 19,04: 18,95¢ 9,95t
Preferred stock dividend requireme 3,22( 8,35¢ 8,27¢ — —
Total combined fixed charges and preferred dividk $ 23,55¢ $20,14: $ 27,32: $ 18,95¢ $ 9,95t
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg 6.22 1.22 (2.4¢) 6.5¢ 10.8C
0.71 (1.73) 6.5¢ 10.8C

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferredkstlividends 5.37

* Includes net costs of $20,000 associated with Ny's 2005 cost reduction

** Includes costs of $62,600 associated with N&'s 2004 cost reduction

** Includes costs of $97,910 associated with N&'s strategic review in 200
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SUBSIDIARIES

Nasdaq Global Funds, Inc. (incorporated in Delajv

Nasdaq International Marketing Initiatives, Inoddrporated in Delawar:
Nasdaq Canada Inc. (organized in Cani

Nasdaq LTDA (incorporated in Braz

Nasdagq International Limited (organized in the ©diKingdom)

The Nasdag Stock Market Educational Foundation,(incorporated in Delaware) (n-profit)
Nasdaq Insurance Agency LLC (organized in New Y1

Nasdaq Technology Services, LLC (organized in Dala)

Toll Associates, LLC (organized in Delawa

Brut, Inc. (incorporated in Delawar

Brut, LLC (organized in Delawart

Nasdaq Execution Services, LLC (organized in Delay

Carpenter Moore Insurance Services, Inc. (incotpdran California)
Carpenter Moore (San Francisco), LLC (organizeDétaware)

Direct Report Corporation (incorporated in Delavy:

Independent Research Network, LLC (60% owned byCihiapany) (organized in Delawal
Inet Holding Company, Inc. (incorporated in Delag)

Inet Futures Exchange, LLC (organized in Delaw

Inet Stock Exchange, LLC (organized in Delaw:

INET Technology Services, LLC (organized in Delag):

INET Clearing, LLC (organized in Delawar

Island Execution Services, LLC (organized in Delesy

Nasdaq Global Funds (Ireland) Limited (organizetrétand)

Norway Acquisition Corp. (incorporated in Delawa

Shareholder.com, Inc. (incorporated in Delaw:

Shareholder.com B.V. (organized in the Netherla

The NASDAQ Stock Market, LLC (organized in Delawe

Exhibit 21.1



Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by reference is #nnual Report (Form 10-K) of The Nasdaq StockRégrinc. of our report dated
March 3, 2006, with respect to the consolidatedrfial statements of The Nasdaq Stock Market, imcluded in the 2005 Annual Report to
Shareholders of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

Our audits also included the financial statemehedale of The Nasdaqg Stock Market, Inc. listedéml 15(a). This schedule is the
responsibility of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.’amagement. Our responsibility is to express aniopibased on our audits. In our opinion,
as to which the date is March 3, 2006, the findrstetement schedule referred to above, when ceresidn relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole, present fairly imaterial respects the information set forth therein

We consent to the incorporation by reference, inftlowing Registration Statements:
(1) Reqgistration Statement (Forn-3 No. 33:-131373) of The Nasdaq Stock Market, It
(2) Reqgistration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-110602) pertaining to The Nasdaqg Stock Market, ity Incentive Plar

(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-106@4%taining to the Employment Agreement with Rol@neifeld of The Nasdaq
Stock Market, Inc.

(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-76@@&4)aining to The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 206tpByee Stock Purchase
Plan.

(5 Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-728&2)aining to The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. 206tpByee Stock Purchase
Plan, anc

(6) Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-70992) pertaining to The Nasdaq Stock Market, Hguity Incentive Plar

of our report dated March 3, 2006, with respe¢htoconsolidated financial statements of The Na&tagk Market, Inc. incorporated herein
by reference, our report dated March 3, 2006, vagipect to The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. managesnasgessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting and ttiteetiveness of internal control over financial ogfing of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.,
included herein, and our report included in thecpding paragraph with respect to the financiabst@nt schedule of The Nasdaq Stock
Market, Inc. included in this Annual Report (For®K) of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

/sl Ernst & Young LLF

New York, New York
March 15, 200¢



Exhibit 24.1

POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individually tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirmnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg StockKdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+ieyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegenfdill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordigmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March 8620

/s/ H. Furlong Baldwir
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March D&20

/s/ Michael Case
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March TB&

/s/ Daniel B. Colema
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March D0&2

/sl Jeffrey N. Edward
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March 8620

/s/ Lon Gormatr
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March TB&

/s/ Patrick J. Heal
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March DO&

/s/ Glenn H. Hutchin
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March 8620

/s/ Merit E. Janov
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March 8620

/s/ John D. Markes
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March TR&

/s/ Thomas F. 'Neill
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March 8620

/sl James S. Rie
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March TB&

/s/ Arvind Sodhan
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March 8620

/sl Thomas G. Stembe
Signature




POWER OF ATTORNEY
ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K
THE NASDAQ STOCK MARKET, INC.

Know all men by these presents, that the underdigméirector of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. edalvare Corporation, hereby
constitutes and appoints Edward S. Knight and @aBonley, and each of them acting individuallyg tndersigned’s true and lawful
attorneys-infact and agents, each with full power and substituand resubstitution, for him and in his namegcp| and stead, in any case
all capacities to:

(1) execute for and on behalf of the undersignedirnual Report on Form 10-K of the Nasdaqg Stockkdg Inc. for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2005, including any and all @ments and additions thereto (collectively, the fidal Report”) in accordance with the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, andutas thereunder;

(2) do and perform any and all acts for and on lietighe undersigned which may be necessary aralas to file, or cause to be filed,
the Annual Report with all exhibits thereto (indlugl this Power of Attorney), and other documentsdnnection therewith, with the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission; and

(3) take any other action or any type whatsoeveoimection with the foregoing which, in the opimiaf such attorneys-in-fact, may be
of benefit to, in the best interest of, or legatbguired by, the undersigned, it being understbatithe documents executed by such attorneys-
in-fact on behalf of the undersigned pursuant i® Bower of Attorney shall be in such form and kbahtain such terms and conditions as
such attorneys-in-fact may approve in such attas+imyfact’s discretion.

The undersigned hereby grants to each attornegeinffill power and authority to do and perform amg every act and thing
whatsoever requisite, necessary or proper to be tfothe exercise of any of the rights and powereih granted, as fully to all intents and
purposes as the undersigned might or could dordgmelly present, with full power of substitutionrevocation, hereby ratifying and
confirming all that such shall lawfully do or causebe done by virtue of this Power of Attorney dhe rights and powers herein granted.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has causediiger of Attorney to be executed as of March 8620

/s/ Deborah L. Winc-Smith
Signature




Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION

I, Robert Greifeld, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 106fK he Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistatdisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatmeg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg toeriod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financégarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registradisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contints procedures, as of the end of the period coveyehis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt’s internal control over financial reportitiat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ameport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the ®tgant’s internal control over financial reportiramd

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) alngiave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sigmiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Robert Greifel
Name: Robert Greifelc
Title: President and Chief Executive Offic

Date: March 15, 2006



Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

[, David P. Warren, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 106fK he Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dméttate a material fact necessal
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistatdisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durithg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financegarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragiisslosure controls and procedures and presentgsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegggnt's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regits fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially affected, or
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the itgant’s internal control over financial reportiremd

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize aqbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@mifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ David P. Warre

Name: David P. Warrer

Title: Executive Vice
President and Chief
Financial Officer

Date: March 15, 2006



Exhibit 32.1

Certification of CEO and CFO Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10fKbe Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc. (the “Company”) thee year ended December 31,
2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cmsion on the date hereof (the “Report”), Roberifeid, as President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and David P. Wayigs Executive Vice President and Chief Finar@féicer of the Company, each here
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopteduant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of22@i@at, to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faiypresents, in all material respects, the finaraalition and results of the
operations of the Company.

/s/ Robert Greifelt

Name: Robert Greifelc

Title: Chief Executive Officer and Preside
Date: March 15, 200¢t

/s/ David P. Warre

Name: David P. Warrer

Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer

Date: March 15, 200¢t

This certification accompanies the Report purstait 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 andl stwd) except to the extent required by
the Sarban-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Compaoryplurposes c8 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as are!
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Shareholder Information

The annual meeting will be held on May 23, 2006
at 10:00 a.m. at NASDAQ’s offices at

One Liberty Plaza, 165 Broadway, 50th Floor,
New York, New York 10006.

Investor Information

NASDAQ’s home page on the World Wide Web
is at www.NASDAQ.com

Stockholders are advised to review financial
information and other disclosure about NASDAQ
contained in its Annual Report on Form 10-K (the
“Form 10-K”). Investor information, including the
Annual Report, Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, Proxy
Statement and other periodic SEC updates, as

well as press releases and earnings announcements
can be accessed directly from our Web site at:
www.NASDAQ.com/investorrelations/ir_home.stm

Investor inquiries should be directed to:

By email: investor.relations@nasdag.com
By phone: 212.401.8742

By mail: NASDAQ Investor Relations,

9600 Blackwell Road, Rockville, MD 20850

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Mellon Investor Services

480 Washington Boulevard
Jersey City, NJ 07310-1900
Domestic: 888.305.3741
International: 201.680.6578
Domestic TDD: 800.231.5469
International TDD: 201.680.6610
www.melloninvestor.com/isd

Headquarters

One Liberty Plaza

165 Broadway, 50th Floor
New York, New York 10006

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
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United States
2500 Sandhill Road, Suite 220
Menlo Park, California 94025

55 West Monroe Street,
Suite 3450
Chicago, lllinois 60603

9600 Blackwell Road
Rockville, Maryland 20850
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NASDAQ MarketSite

4 Times Square
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New York, New York 10036

United Kingdom

120 Old Broad Street
London, United Kingdom
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No. 9, Il Floor, UNI Building
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NASDAQ, NASDAQ-100 Index, NASDAQ-100 Index
Tracking Stock, NASDAQ National Market, QQQ, EQQQ,
TotalView, Market Intelligence Desk and MarketSite are
registered trademarks and NASDAQ Market Center,
OpenView, OrderView, ModelView, Closing Cross, Opening
Cross, Crossing Network, Index Watch and NASDAQ
Online are service marks of The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

All other trade/service marks are the property of their
respective owners.

“Copyright 2006, The Nasdaq Stock Market, Inc.

All Rights Reserved. 3/06

The SEC encourages companies to disclose forward-looking information so that investors can better understand a company’s
future prospects and make informed investment decisions. This annual report and the documents incorporated by reference contain
these types of statements. Words such as “anticipate,” “estimate,” “expect,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe” and words or terms
of similar substance used in connection with any discussion of future events, operating results or financial performance identify
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements involve certain risks and uncertainties. Factors that could cause
actual results to differ materially from those contemplated by the forward-looking statements include, among others, the following
factors: our operating results may be lower than expected; our ability to implement our strategic initiatives, including the integration
of INET, and any consequences from our pursuit of our corporate strategy; competition, economic, political and market conditions
and fluctuations, including interest rate risk; government and industry regulation; or adverse changes that may occur in the securities
markets generally. Most of these factors are difficult to predict accurately and are generally beyond our control. You should consider
the uncertainty and any risk resulting from such uncertainty in connection with any forward-looking statements that may be made
herein. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date
of this document. Readers should carefully review our Form 10-K in its entirety, including, but not limited to, our “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation,” financial statements and the accompanying notes, all of
which are incorporated by reference, and the risks described in “Risk Factors.” Except for our ongoing obligations to disclose material
information under the federal securities laws, we undertake no obligation to release publicly any revisions to any forward-looking
statements, to report events or to report the occurrence of unanticipated events. For any forward-looking statements contained in
any document, we claim the protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
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